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1  Operating income (net interest income + net fee and commission income + gains and losses on trading activities + gains 
and losses on investments + other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments + income from insurance 
business + other net operating income) less administrative expenses

2  Total assets including financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments, trust activities and assets under management 
of the Union Investment Group

DZ BANK GROUP

€ million 2008 2007

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Operating profit/loss1 -929 1,277

Impairment losses on loans and advances -545 -209

Profit/loss before tax -1,472 1,068

Net profit/loss -1,055 897

Cost/income ratio (percent) > 100.0 66.9

FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 70,036 67,531

Loans and advances to customers 117,021 106,307

Financial assets held for trading 114,443 130,025

Investments 66,322 72,957

Investments held by insurance companies 49,040 47,376

Other assets 10,228 7,141

Equity and liabilities

Deposits from banks 59,632 57,935

Amounts owed to other depositors 77,516 77,595

Debt certificates including bonds 65,525 62,996

Financial liabilities held for trading 152,729 163,196

Insurance liabilities 48,205 45,324

Other liabilities 14,800 13,288

Equity 8,683 11,003

Total assets/total equity and liabilities 427,090 431,337

Volume of business2 601,794 637,391

REGULATORY CAPITAL RATIOS 
UNDER SOLVENCY REGULATION (SOLVV)

Total capital ratio (percent) 9.7 10.2

Tier I capital ratio (percent) 7.4 7.7

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notional amount (€ million) 1,363,575 1,329,753

Positive fair values (€ million) 29,986 16,695

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES DURING THE YEAR 24,642 24,210

KEY FIGURES



DZ BANK GROUP
PARTNER TO THE GERMAN COOPERATIVE 
BANKING GROUP

The DZ BANK Group forms part of the German coopera-
tive financial services network, which comprises some 
1,200 local cooperative banks and is one of Germany’s 
largest private-sector financial services organizations 
measured in terms of total assets. Within the cooperative 
financial services network, DZ BANK AG functions both as 
a central institution for around 1,000 cooperative banks 
and their 12,000 branch offices and as a corporate bank. 

The DZ BANK Group includes Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall, 
Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank (DG HYP), 
DZ BANK International, DZ PRIVATBANK  Schweiz, 
R+V Versicherung, TeamBank, Union Investment Group, 
VR LEASING, and various other specialized institutions. 
With their strong brands, the companies of the DZ BANK 
Group constitute key pillars in the range of financial 
products and services offered by the cooperative financial 
services network. The collaboration between the compa-
nies in the DZ BANK Group helps optimize the offering 
available to the cooperative banks and their 30 million 
or so clients. 

This combination of banking, insurance, home savings 
and personal investment products and services has a 
long and successful tradition in the cooperative financial 
services network. The specialized institutions in the 
DZ BANK Group provide top-class, highly competitive 
products at reasonable prices within their specific areas 
of expertise. This ensures that the cooperative banks in 
Germany are able to offer their clients a comprehensive 
range of outstanding financial services.
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LETTER TO 
SHAREHOLDERS
DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In 2008 the DZ BANK Group delivered a strong operating performance – especially in its business 

with the local cooperative banks and in its corporate banking activities – in what were unprecedented 

conditions in both the financial markets and the real economy. Although we too have been hit hard 

by the financial crisis and its effects, which have been impacting on the real economy for some time 

now, we intend to meet these challenges – and will do so – by drawing on the considerable resources 

of the cooperative financial services network. DZ BANK and the specialized service providers within 

the group continued to act as reliable and effective service providers for the cooperative banks in 

2008. This demonstrates the efficiency and robustness of our business model as a financial services 

group with access to 30 million customers. This model is intact and sustainable. 

There are numerous examples of successful collaboration within the cooperative financial services 

network. In our lending to small and medium-sized enterprises, for example, which DZ BANK 

does in collaboration with the local cooperative banks, we achieved double-digit growth in new 

Wolfgang Kirsch, Chief Executive Officer
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business in 2008. Our decentralized consulting and sales support concept proved its worth in what 

were challenging market conditions in the primary banks’ own-account investing activities. 

We are now the leader in the German market for investment certificates with a market share of 

more than 22 percent. Our investment research once again won a number of awards, and 2008 

was an encouraging year for our transaction banking operations as well. 

A cursory glance at the specialized service providers in the DZ BANK Group reveals a positive 

picture. Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall reported new home savings business worth € 32 billion 

in 2008, which was its best-ever result. R+V’s life insurance business increased its new premium 

 income by roughly 7 percent, which was a record. Union Investment is Germany’s largest provider 

of fund-based Riester savings products for over 1.7 million clients. The easyCredit consumer 

finance product offered by TeamBank attracted more than 30,000 new customers in 2008, which 

equated to year-on-year growth of approximately 8 percent. The volume of new equipment and 

vendor finance business generated by VR LEASING in 2008, in Germany and abroad, was in 

line with the high figure achieved in 2007. The transformation of DG HYP into a commercial 

real-estate lender made good progress. This successful collaboration between the specialized 

service providers in the DZ BANK Group and the cooperative banks is reflected in the level of 

commissions and bonuses received: at just under € 1.7 billion they remained virtually unchanged 

on the high figure reported for 2007 despite last year’s turmoil in the financial markets. 

These encouraging trends in our core business played out against a backdrop of unprecedented 

dislocations in the global economy that overshadowed our strong operating performance. Allowing 

for these effects in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 

DZ BANK Group reported a loss before taxes of € 1.47 billion for 2008, having generated a profit  

before taxes of € 1.07 billion in 2007. It incurred a net loss of € 1 billion for the year under 

review compared with a net profit of just under € 900 million in the previous year. These figures 

were adversely impacted in particular by impairments of € 1.76 billion on bonds and asset-

backed securities and by our exposures to Iceland (€ 451 million), Lehman Brothers (€ 364 

million) and Natixis (€ 269 million). Excluding the effects of the financial crisis, the DZ BANK 

Group generated a profit before taxes of just under € 1.78 billion. Its Tier I capital ratio 

amounted to 7.4 percent compared with 7.7 percent in 2007. DZ BANK AG reported a net 

income for the year 2008 of € 59 million in accordance with the German Commercial Code 

(HGB). Consequently, it will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of 5 

cents per share be paid compared with 13 cents in the previous year. 

One of the main advantages of the cooperative financial services network – as demonstrated by 

last year’s market turmoil – is its highly cohesive system of liquidity management. This entails 

DZ BANK performing a central function as liquidity manager for the local cooperative banks and 

our subsidiaries and as an interface to the international money and capital markets. We benefit – 

especially in the current economic climate – from the considerable and growing reputation of the 

cooperative principle, which is reflected in the growth of the cooperative banks’ deposits. 

We reckon we will need additional capital in the order of € 1 billion for 2009 to act as a cushion 

against the persistently high levels of uncertainty as to how the financial markets and the real 

economy will fare going forward. We are mitigating these adverse effects of the financial crisis by 

drawing on the resources already available in the cooperative financial services network. We are 

well aware that this is a highly challenging strategy that will tax the solidarity of the entire coop-

erative organization. We are grateful for this support and are taking this step because, in common 
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Wolfgang Kirsch, Chief Executive Officer Wolfgang Köhler

Dr. Thomas Duhnkrack

Albrecht MerzFrank Westhoff
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DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

04



with the vast majority in the cooperative network, we believe that government assistance should 

only be a last resort – i.e. if we failed to achieve our objectives under our own steam. This approach 

is consistent with our cooperative principles: the best strategy is for us to help ourselves. We will 

combine our capital-raising measures with adjustments to our business model.

The 125th anniversary of DZ BANK and the 200th anniversary of the birth of Hermann 

Schulze-Delitzsch last year gave the entire cooperative financial services network a justified reason 

to be proud – despite or, perhaps, especially in the current climate. After all, new beginnings 

in times of crisis have been a common thread running throughout our history as a cooperative 

institution. We used our anniversary year as an opportunity to raise our profile in our Frankfurt 

location. Our Cityhaus I high-rise building was given a makeover in time for the anniversary 

celebrations. In addition, we supported the plans to extend Frankfurt’s Städel art gallery over a 

number of years. DZ BANK gave the gallery the right to permanently exhibit top-quality works 

from its collection of photographs. Our anniversary year also provided a good opportunity to 

summarize what we do for the community in our first Sustainability Report. This report will ap-

pear regularly from now on and explains what we understand by the term ‘corporate citizenship’. 

Another highlight of our anniversary year was DZ BANK’s gift to its staff: a huge party in 

Frankfurt’s Festival Hall in October 2008. This was the first time in the Bank’s history that all 

circa 3,000 employees from across Germany as well as members of staff based abroad had met up 

at a single event. The official ceremony held in Frankfurt’s Alte Oper concert hall in December, 

which was attended by owners and customers of DZ BANK as well as prominent political and 

industrial representatives, provided a fitting end to our year of anniversary celebrations. Guido 

Westerwelle, the Chairman of Germany’s Free Democratic Party (FDP), congratulated the Bank 

on its 125th anniversary and stressed that there were not many organizations in Germany that 

could look back on such an illustrious history. 

2009 will in all probability be another highly volatile year for the banks and stock markets. 

Given this situation, it would be premature of us at this point in time to make any forecasts that 

went beyond our operating performance. My recently deceased predecessor, Dr. Ulrich Brixner, 

commented at his last Annual General Meeting as Chief Executive Officer in 2006: “We should 

not lose courage when faced with the challenges of the economy, our competitors, the consensual 

euphoria among politicians, and the propensity for conflict in the cooperative financial services 

network. Remember the old proverb: ‘If there’s not enough wind, start rowing!’.” My fellow  

Board Members and I are committed to following this philosophy.

Yours sincerely,

Wolfgang Kirsch

Chief Executive Officer
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and private banking, in business with financial institu-

tions and medium-sized companies, and in transaction 

banking. In 2008 it already implemented or introduced 

the first specific measures aimed at achieving this 

objective by working closely with the local cooperative 

banks. As part of its ‘Verbund First’ approach it launched 

a number of strategic initiatives in the three product areas 

of retail banking, corporate and investment banking, and 

transaction banking. The DZ BANK Group sees its 

priority here as strengthening its support for the coopera-

tive banks to help them exploit market potential.

Apart from assisting in the operational marketing 

activities that the Bank conducts in collaboration with 

the cooperative banks, however, ‘Verbund First’ also 

acts as the key principle underpinning DZ BANK’s 

implementation of its group-wide strategy. In 2008 

the Bank started to systematically and consistently 

 optimize the use of its financial and human resources 

in terms of their direct and indirect benefits for the 

cooperative financial services network and to increase 

their integration in the DZ BANK Group.

» Intact business model is compelling even 

when times are tough

» ‘Verbund First’ determines the Bank’s approach

» Strengthening the marketing activities of the 

cooperative financial services network

The fact that the DZ BANK Group continued to gear 

its business to the needs of the local cooperative banks 

again had a significant impact on the performance and 

all operations of the Bank business segment in 2008. 

In what were persistently tough market conditions – 

largely characterized by extreme turbulence in the 

money and capital markets, increasingly stiff competi-

tion and changing patterns of customer behavior – the 

DZ BANK Group went on the strategic offensive with 

its ‘Verbund First’ approach. Its long-term objective is 

to consistently attain leading positions as one of the 

premier financial services providers in German retail 

BANK BUSINESS SEGMENT: 
ON THE WAY TO BECOMING 
A PREMIER INSTITUTION 
WITH ‘VERBUND FIRST’ 

By gearing its business to the needs of the local 
cooperative banks, the DZ BANK Group managed 
to enhance its image as a leading financial services 
provider  despite the crisis in the financial markets.
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SUPPORT FOR LOCAL COOPERATIVE BANKS 
ACROSS ALL BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Despite the financial crisis, DZ BANK delivered a strong 

performance in the investment certificates market with 

its top-quality AKZENT Invest brand. The coopera-

tive financial services network remains the  undisputed 

leader in the market for guarantee certificates. It even 

managed to stimulate demand from the local coopera-

tive banks’ clients for structured products, which have 

been hit particularly hard by the financial crisis. The 

strength of its intact business model becomes  especially 

apparent when times are tough. 

The Bank’s strict quality-based strategy met investors’ 

demands for security, quality and transparency in every 

respect. Investment certificates provide private investors 

with intelligent investments in equities, interest-bearing 

products and commodities − with a 100-percent capital 

guarantee or safety cushion. Certificates therefore 

constitute an attractive alternative to direct investments 

and offer investors a form of equity culture with capital 

protection. 

MeinZinsKonto is another innovative product solution 

designed to enhance the liabilities side of local coopera-

tive banks’ balance sheets and to increase their customer 

deposits. This enables the cooperative banks to offer 

their clients an attractive, innovative and flexible 

time-deposit product in addition to their investment 

accounts. The unique selling point of this account-

based investment product is that it yields a higher rate 

of guaranteed interest than the fixed-term deposits 

offered by other banks. 

In 2008, DZ BANK managed to consolidate its market 

position in the traditional corporate banking business 

that it transacts with large and medium-sized German 

companies and in its mergers & acquisitions (M&A) 

advisory business despite the extremely tough financial 

market conditions and persistently stiff competition. 

Its extensive product offering – ranging from plain-

 vanilla loans to structured financial solutions and the 

financial products and services distributed by the 

cooperative financial services network – continued to 

meet its clients’ sophisticated requirements. 

Structured finance remained a focal point of ‘Verbund 

First’ in 2008. The Bank used its expertise to boost rev-

enue and diversify risk. In addition, it assisted the local 

cooperative banks with their documentary-credit 

business, syndicated loans for SMEs, the financing of 

acquisitions, and public-private partnerships for 

municipal projects. 

DZ BANK gears all its credit card and payments 

processing operations to the needs of the local coop-

erative banks. As the largest service provider, it used 

its ideas and marketing campaigns to devise further 

innovative concepts during the year under review. 

The main beneficiaries of this approach were the local 

cooperative banks, which were able to draw on custom-

ized credit card solutions that had been specially designed 

to meet their requirements. 

In 2008, DZ BANK’s IT & Organization division 

focused on continuing to improve the organizational 

and technical support it gives to the local cooperative 

banks. DZ BANK and WGZ BANK continued to 

work with the two cooperative computing centers 

FIDUCIA IT AG, Karlsruhe (FIDUCIA), and GAD eG, 

Münster (GAD), as well as with Deutsche Wertpapier-

Service Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main (dwpbank), on a 

project to standardize the support services provided for 

securities processing throughout Germany. 

Although DZ BANK’s branches in London, New York, 

Hong Kong, Singapore and Milan were seriously 

affected by the fallout from the financial crisis, they 

were successful in terms of their operating activities 

and, in some cases, managed to expand their market 

position and increase their revenue.

CAPITAL MARKET ACTIVITIES

CASH-POOLING FUNCTION PROVES ITS 
WORTH IN THE FINANCIAL CRISIS
DZ BANK’s operations in the capital markets during 

the reporting year were severely impacted by the 

financial crisis. In the autumn of 2008 this culminated 

in defaults by international commercial and investment 

banks and the worldwide collapse of the interbank 

market. The widening of credit spreads on an unprec-

edented scale depressed returns on trading portfolios 

across all asset classes. 

DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
BANK BUSINESS SEGMENT 

07



CONSULTING AND ADVISORY SERVICES FOR 
OWN-ACCOUNT INVESTING IMPROVED
As part of the services it offers for own-account invest-

ing and bank-wide management, DZ BANK provided 

the local cooperative banks with pricing models for 

the measurement of trading-account securities in 

annual  financial statements; the local cooperative banks 

have fully automated access to these models, which are 

calculated using the discounted cash flow (DCF) 

method, via GENO-SAVE.

These services had already been approved by the 

German Cooperative and Raiffeisen Confederation 

(DGRV) and its regional associations. The well-estab-

lished CreditMetrics tool used to measure the credit 

risk inherent in own-account investing was thoroughly 

revised to improve aspects such as its functionality and 

user-friendliness. A key modification is the integration 

of a Monte Carlo simulation that takes account of the 

uneven distribution of credit risk. DZ BANK worked 

with IC nova in the field of asset allocation for the 

entire Bank to develop new software that can be used 

to accurately measure all risks of relevance to German 

legislation on minimum requirements for the trading 

activities of credit institutions (MaH) – including the 

pertinent correlations – so that, in an optional second 

stage, specific measures can be taken to optimize 

investment returns.

OWN-ACCOUNT INVESTING BY LOCAL COOPERA-
TIVE BANKS SUCCESSFUL EVEN UNDER PRESSURE
The own-account investing undertaken by the local 

 cooperative banks in 2008 was significantly affected by 

the extremely volatile credit spreads on corporate and 

bank bonds. After bank bonds had come under growing 

pressure in the early part of the year, it was more 

corporate bonds that suffered a sharp rise in credit 

spreads toward the end of 2008. In this market 

environment, DZ BANK used its dual consulting and 

sales support concept to introduce a number of banks 

to the liquid hedging facilities available in the form 

of credit default swaps (CDS). 

The cooperative banks increasingly used interest-rate 

derivatives to manage their interest-rate risks in 2008, 

as recommended by DZ BANK. Option-based hedging 

strategies in particular performed exceptionally well 

owing to the high levels of market volatility.

CORPORATE CLIENTS DRIVING GROWTH IN 
CAPITAL MARKETS BUSINESS  
The solidity and consistency of the cooperative sector as 

a whole – and of DZ BANK as part of the cooperative 

financial services network – was exploited to further 

increase the volume of deposit-taking and foreign-

 exchange business with corporate clients, insurers and 

fund management companies. DZ BANK therefore 

took a record volume of roughly € 18 billion in deposits 

from non-banks during the course of the year. It also 

managed to place a much larger nominal volume of 

commercial papers with investors for corporate finance 

clients in 2008. Clients therefore benefited from loans 

and additional liquidity.

DZ BANK proved its worth as a strategically impor-

tant partner to both the local cooperative banks’ SME 

customers and to its own corporate finance clients 

in its forex and derivatives businesses in what were 

volatile and highly uncertain markets. It achieved this 

by establishing a credible market presence and through 

the high quality of the prices and rates it quotes. Its 

aggregate trading volumes of approximately € 100 

billion in 2008 represented a significant year-on-year 

increase. 

DZ BANK works closely with some 300 local coopera-

tive banks to market its interest-bearing products and 

other financial instruments to the local cooperative 

banks’ SME clients (VR Cross Selling). The VR Cross 

Selling approach combines the outstanding market 

position occupied by the local cooperative banks with 

DZ BANK’s innovative and high-quality products. 

This VR Cross Selling collaboration managed to sell 

derivatives and other products to more than 1,000 

clients in 2008, which was a year-on-year increase of 

over 30 percent.

INSTITUTIONAL BUSINESS PERFORMS WELL
DZ BANK’s business with institutional clients delivered 

a strong performance in 2008. Despite challenging 

market conditions it managed to consolidate and 

expand its market position in business with institutional 

clients both inside and outside Germany. 

One of the keys to this success is the combination of 

the Bank’s extensive product range and commensu-

rate trading capacity with an advisory approach that 

takes both regulatory requirements and the bottom 
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line into account. It was this combination that 

enabled DZ BANK to offer professional solutions to 

institutional clients in its capital markets business. 

On the product side, its business in interest-rate, 

credit and equity derivatives for asset management 

companies and banks grew significantly year on year. 

DZ BANK managed to considerably broaden its 

business base with pension providers and to position 

itself as an expert provider of solutions. This was 

especially the case in the fields of risk management, 

asset/liability management and liability-driven 

investments (LDI).

NEW BOND ISSUANCE IN A 
CHALLENGING  ENVIRONMENT
The volume of new bond issues launched in 2008 was 

significantly affected by the financial crisis. Business 

with financial issuers increasingly focused on names 

with AA ratings. Most issuers with lower credit ratings 

found it impossible to raise funds in the international 

capital markets. This situation was improved to some 

extent by issuers’ renewed interest in raising capital in 

their domestic markets. Business with corporate issuers 

was very strong. Business in debt instruments was espe-

cially buoyant. The placement of a bond for € 5 billion 

issued by Germany’s KfW development bank was 

particularly noteworthy. This was the largest capital 

market transaction to be lead-managed by DZ BANK 

to date. 

FURTHER GROWTH IN STRUCTURED PRODUCTS
Despite the credit crunch, more credit-linked notes 

were issued in 2008 than previously. Consequently, 

DZ BANK managed to extend its lead in the market 

for structured credit products.

It stepped up the internationalization of its risk 

management business in the field of structured equity 

products, as a result of which it now provides German 

and international clients with a wider range of products 

at competitive prices.

Commodities, which were launched as a separate asset 

class two years ago, continue to perform well. These 

products are proving increasingly popular with both 

institutional and private investors, which enabled 

them to generate above-average growth in revenue 

and earnings in 2008. They are expected to continue 

achieving significant growth over the coming years. 

DZ BANK started to do business in hybrid products 

in response to institutional clients’ growing demand for 

products that combine several asset classes and enable 

quantitative trading strategies to be implemented.

The fifth VR Circle transaction was launched in the 

market on schedule in the late summer of 2008. This 

bank management tool enables local cooperative banks 

to improve their ability to sustain credit risk. 

VR-MITTELSTAND

DZ BANK supports and encourages the corporate 

banking operations conducted by the cooperative 

banks by offering needs-based products and services 

that facilitate efficient and comprehensive marketing 

activities as well as the transfer of risk. The Bank’s 

lending business is focused on jointly extended loans 

(syndicated loans and risk transfer instruments) and 

provides the cooperative banks with access to the 

DZ BANK Group’s full range of products and services. 

Despite the market turmoil caused by the financial 

crisis, the cooperative banking group continued to 

strengthen its position as a partner to small and 

medium-sized enterprises in 2008. This related to both 

syndicated loans and to the largely standardized and 

process-optimized products used to transfer risk 

(Standard-Meta and Agrar-Meta). Rising volumes and 

unit sales attest to the growing interest in the manage-

ment of credit risk and portfolios by individual banks. 

There was considerable interest in 2008 in DZ BANK’s 

offering of refined products for the active management 

of interest-rate and currency risks. A growing number of 

cooperative banks employ these highly standardized 

business models in their dealings with corporate clients 

and use them to generate substantial commission 

income.

SPECIAL CREDIT FACILITY OF 
€ 1 BILLION  PROVIDED FOR SMEs
The cooperative central institutions launched a special 

credit facility totaling € 1 billion for small and medium-

sized enterprises at the end of 2008; DZ BANK 

contributed € 750 million of this total. This lending 

of long-term, partially unsecured funds underlines 

the fact that the cooperative banking group remains 

committed to providing finance for SMEs even when 

market conditions are tough. The local cooperative 
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banks can use this funding instrument as a key anchor 

product within their marketing offensives to build new 

business relationships and consolidate existing ones. 

STRONG POSITION IN LOCAL COOPERATIVE 
BANKS’ DEVELOPMENT LENDING
The customized integration of business development 

programs into corporate finance constitutes a key 

competitive advantage in terms of both expertise and 

market visibility. DZ BANK supports the local coopera-

tive banks’ development lending by providing region-

ally-based experts and launching theme-based sales 

campaigns. This is consolidating and extending the 

cooperative financial services network’s market leader-

ship in business with the public-sector development 

banks.

The market share of cooperative banks submitting 

development loan applications to Germany’s KfW 

development bank via DZ BANK grew to over 

14 percent in 2008. One of the main reasons for this 

trend was DZ BANK’s sales campaigns on energy 

efficiency, housebuilding, and capital investment and 

the promotion of environmental protection in industry 

and commerce. Furthermore, DZ BANK increased the 

range of information it offers in VR-BankenPortal by 

adding a database that provides information on the 

environmental development loan facilities available 

to organizations as large as municipalities and power 

utility companies.

GENO-Star continues to provide the cooperative 

financial services network with a highly efficient advisory 

and information platform for the extension of develop-

ment loans. All extensive modifications requested by the 

funding institutions in 2008 in response to the new EU 

legislation on state aid were implemented. This once 

again enabled the cooperative financial services network 

to demonstrate its quality leadership in the electronic 

processing of development loans. 

GLOBAL LOAN FACILITY PROVIDED BY THE 
 EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK
In May, DZ BANK obtained a global loan facility worth 

€ 150 million from the European Investment Bank 

(EIB). This is an attractive addition to the range of 

services provided by local cooperative banks and will 

strengthen their competitiveness. The funds are intended 

to provide development assistance for firms – especially 

SMEs – in the areas of research, development, innova-

tion, education, and environmental protection.

NEW SERVICE AND SUPPORT CONCEPT GEARED 
EVEN MORE TO LOCAL COOPERATIVE BANKS’ NEEDS
The flagship banking concept launched in 2007 has 

already achieved encouraging results. The refined 

service approach used to support the local cooperative 

banks in their business with SME clients will in future 

be geared even more to the specific needs of the banks 

being supported by this strategy, which is based on the 

flagship banking concept. Furthermore, DZ BANK 

will in future define the products and services it offers 

for SME clients in the form of fields of expertise that 

will complement the extensive range of services it 

offers locally. This new approach is closely intertwined 

with the VR FinanzPlan Mittelstand concept and 

supports the cooperative network initiatives aimed at 

boosting business with corporate customers. Based on 

the experience gained from the pilot phase launched 

for selected banks at the end of 2008, this concept is 

due to be rolled out across Germany in 2009. 

AGRICULTURE/NATURE/ENERGY (ANE) INITIATIVE
Another key area is the action jointly initiated with 

partners in the cooperative financial services network 

to expand business in the agriculture, nature and 

energy sectors. This initiative is aimed at increasing 

the cooperative financial services network’s market 

share of traditional agricultural business and, at the 

same time, extending its expertise into interesting new 

fields such as renewable energies. DZ BANK has made 

a substantial contribution to this initiative by establish-

ing competence centers and making sector-specific 

additions to the range of services it offers.

CREDIT

RELIABLE PARTNER IN THE COOPERATIVE BANKS’ 
LENDING BUSINESS
As a central institution in the cooperative financial 

services network, DZ BANK acts as a reliable partner 

in its lending business with the local cooperative 

banks. Within this relationship, DZ BANK supports 

the local cooperative banks’ business with small and 

medium-sized enterprises by providing these banks 

with access to the international financial markets and 

to traditional and innovative forms of funding.
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Despite the challenging market conditions caused by 

the financial crisis, DZ BANK continued to perform 

its function as a professional solutions provider and a 

reliable partner in lending to large and medium-sized 

companies. The volume of loans approved matched the 

high level achieved in 2007. DZ BANK will continue 

to increase its lending to large and medium-sized 

companies in 2009. 

The developments in the capital markets that adversely 

affected German and international banks alike in 2008 

also impacted on DZ BANK. Thanks to its rigorous 

risk management policies, however, these trends had a 

fairly limited impact on the level of loan-loss provisions 

it had to set aside for corporate clients in 2008.

IMPROVING THE POTENTIAL PROFITABILITY OF 
LENDING TO CORPORATE CLIENTS
DZ BANK’s main efforts in 2008 were focused on 

increasing its volume of jointly extended loans and 

raising the local cooperative banks’ level of satisfaction 

in their lending business with the Bank. By extending 

loans jointly with other parties (syndicated loans and 

risk transfer instruments), DZ BANK supports the 

regional cooperative banks locally by devising new 

marketing approaches so that they can derive greater 

benefit from client relationships and improve the 

potential profitability of lending to corporate clients. 

At the same time, DZ BANK’s sector-specific credit 

analysis enables complex lending business to be 

processed professionally, transparently and in a way 

that reflects the latest sectoral trends.

By delivering innovative and customized funding 

solutions and constantly improving the quality and 

effectiveness of its products and services in 2008, 

DZ BANK once again proved its worth as a professional 

lending partner and demonstrated its market focus.

PRIVATE CUSTOMERS AND SECURITIES-
 RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

THE QUALITY-DRIVEN STRATEGY 
OF AKZENT  INVEST IS PAYING OFF
The cooperative financial services network is the leader 

in the German market for certificates with a share 

of 22.7 percent. AKZENT Invest also remains the 

undisputed leader in guarantee certificates with a 

 market share of 30 percent. Especially in the current 

crisis AKZENT Invest – Germany’s only quality brand 

for certificates and structured bonds – offers custom-

ized product solutions that provide capital guarantees 

or partial capital protection as well as innovative 

deposit-based products.

–  DZ BANK focuses on easily understandable 

investment certificates with capital guarantees or 

partial capital protection.

–  The deposit guarantee fund for the cooperative 

financial services network protects 100 percent of 

the value of investment certificates of any amount 

issued by DZ BANK and held by non-banks.

–  DZ BANK was the first institution to have its 

product development process certified by Germany’s 

product standards regulator (TÜV) in 2005.

–  Rating agency Standard & Poor’s awarded DZ BANK 

an excellent long-term rating of ‘A+ with stable 

outlook’.

ADVERTISING CAMPAIGN EMPHASIZING QUALITY 
AND SECURITY RAISES PROFILE FURTHER
The advertising campaign launched in October 2007 

on television, in the print media and at points of 

sale (POS) was extremely successful in 2008 as 

well. Between December 2007 and March 2008 the 

proportion of investment-savvy cooperative banking 

clients who were familiar with these certificates rose 

from 31 percent to 48 percent. 

The second major campaign ran in November and 

December 2008. National daily newspapers and 

weekly magazines carried large-format advertisements 

emphasizing the security of investment certificates and 

their superior quality. In addition, DZ BANK distrib-

uted information brochures and mailshots, thereby 

meeting investors’ demand for honest and understand-

able information. In doing so, it took decisive action to 

compensate for the loss of confidence triggered by the 

financial crisis.

As a result of these measures, DZ BANK and the 

cooperative financial services network won further 

awards in 2008: for the sixth year running they were 

voted the Investment Certificates House of the Year, an 

accolade that is awarded by the German publications 

ZertifikateJournal, WELT and WELT am Sonntag as 

well as Scoach Europa, and they also won the Invest-
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ment Certificates Prize for 2008 as the best issuer of 

guarantee certificates, as judged by the Focus Money 

magazine and the n-tv television news channel.

NEW PRODUCTS FOR PRIVATE INVESTORS
A number of new products and product varieties were 

developed in 2008. One of these was Index-Zins 

Garant, which enables investors to benefit from two 

fixed coupons as well as the upside potential of rising 

markets. The BestInvest product family gained a new 

member: BestInvest Portfolio Garant. This product 

variety enables clients to invest in three different asset 

classes, thereby offering risk diversification in a single 

certificate. Bonus Cap Sprint and the Bonus Fund 

were specially devised for tax-conscious investors. 

These provide the payoff profile of a bonus certificate 

contained within an investment fund. This product 

therefore combines the benefits of certificates’ familiar 

bonus strategy with the tax treatment of investment 

funds purchased prior to December 31, 2008. A number 

of new products and product varieties are planned for 

2009 as well. 

INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS FOR THE LIABILITIES SIDE 
OF THE BALANCE SHEET: MEINZINSKONTO
The unique selling point of MeinZinsKonto is that 

it yields a higher rate of guaranteed interest than the 

fixed-term deposits offered by other banks. This 

enables the cooperative banks to offer their clients an 

attractive, innovative and flexible time-deposit product. 

MeinZinsKonto is being used successfully by many 

cooperative banks. MeinZinsKonto Plus added further 

innovative product varieties to the existing range of 

account-based deposit-related products. In addition 

to the familiar advantages of account-based product 

solutions, this product enables clients to benefit from 

the upside price potential of a stock index.

SUCCESSFUL LAUNCH OF 
 ALLFINANZPLANUNGSDIALOG PROJECT
After the AllfinanzPlanungsDialog project had been 

successfully piloted in November 2007, it was extended 

to cover 20 local cooperative banks in 2008. The 

findings of this trial confirmed the effectiveness of this 

comprehensive commission planning system and 

provided the desired impetus for maximizing market 

potential. These positive results will be used to roll 

out this project at 60 banks in 2009.

SUPPORT WITH THE DESIGN OF SALES CAMPAIGNS
DZ BANK continued to expand its securities consult-

ing activities in order to strengthen the competitiveness 

and marketing reach of the local cooperative banks. 

Its modular offering for the successful design of sales 

campaigns comprises three core components:

1. The selection of various types of data enables specific 

customers to be addressed. The cooperative computing 

centers FIDUCIA and GAD have also been providing 

purchase forecasts for investment certificates since 2008.

2. Since 2008 it has been possible to transfer AKZENT 

Invest sales campaigns to the respective point of sale to 

simplify the procedure. A facility for selecting the 

relevant data has for the first time been incorporated 

into FIDUCIA’s sales management systems for this 

purpose.

3. Sales staff and advisors are offered personalized 

coaching support at the relevant point of sale. The 

local cooperative banks achieved excellent sales figures 

in 2008 by contacting specific existing and prospective 

customers on the basis of their perceived requirements.

RANGE OF SERVICES ON 
SALES PLATFORM  EXTENDED
In 2008 we continued to focus on expanding our sales 

platform along the entire sales process chain in order to 

help the local cooperative banks achieve their business 

targets and objectives over the long term. During the 

reporting year, key functions were added to GENO-X, 

the cooperative banking marketplace for over-the-

counter (OTC) trading in investment certificates, 

warrants, interest-bearing products and mutual funds, 

to which the banks can add their own trading products 

and services. A milestone in July 2008 was the provision 

of stage two of GENO-X, which significantly widened 

the range of tradable instruments available, especially 

by integrating interest-bearing products. GENO-X is 

accessed exclusively via GENO Broker. This enables 

OTC transactions to be executed conveniently and 

cost-effectively on the basis of time-limited price 

guarantees supplied by DZ BANK.
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AWARDS WON BY DZ BANK IN 2008 (SELECTION)

»  DZ BANK is a successful project financier, winning 

several awards from experts

»  DZ BANK – in conjunction with the cooperative finan-

cial services network – has established itself as a major 

player in the market for public-private partnerships

»  The quality-based strategy pursued by DZ BANK in its 

personal investment services has been awarded top 

marks by the market and customers

»  AKZENT Invest provides the cooperative financial services 

network with a competitive edge over its rivals

» Best research house from 2003 to 2007

» Second-best research house

» Second-best broker

» Second-best research for earnings forecasts

» Best DAX and TecDAX recommendations

» Best earnings forecasts for German equities

» Best recommendations for European equities

» Best earnings forecasts for TecDAX

» Third-best recommendations for SDAX

» Third-best recommendations for German equities

» Third-best earnings forecasts for DAX

AQ

» Best forecasts of money market rates

» Second-best forecasts of dollar/euro rates

»  Third-best in ZEW’s survey of forecasts from 

March 2005 to June 2008

» Fourth-best forecasts for DAX

Zentrum für Europäische

Wirtschaftsforschung

GmbH (ZEW)
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A revised version (6.0) of the VPS asset planning system, 

which provides a computer-assisted form of asset 

analysis, has been available to the cooperative banks 

since mid-2008 and has been considerably improved 

in terms of its user-friendliness, complexity and optical 

layout. The positive feedback we have received from our 

heavy users shows that the latest release of this product 

meets the requirements that a market leader would 

place on an advisory system for premium customers.

PENSION PLANNING ADVICE WITH 
 VR-VORSORGESTATUS
The range of VR-VorsorgeStatus products and services 

was further extended in 2008. In addition, information 

and training materials that have proven effective in 

practice were made available for sales support purposes. 

Examples provided by the local cooperative banks 

demonstrate just how successful VR-VorsorgeStatus 

has been as a tool for approaching customers and 

generating business. The training courses offered by 

the Bank’s regional academies now include the use of 

VR-VorsorgeStatus to advise clients on their pension 

needs.

SUCCESSFUL ‘BANK-FOR-BANKS’ STRATEGY
In 2008, DZ BANK forged alliances with further banks 

in Germany that agreed to distribute its extensive 

range of products and services. It continued to build 

on the market presence it had successfully established 

in Austria, Hungary and Italy. Its top-quality AKZENT 

Invest brand was launched outside Germany for the 

first time when it was introduced in the South Tyrol 

region of northern Italy. During the year under review, 

the Bank continued and consolidated the intensive and 

close collaboration it had launched with the cooperative 

banks in this region in 2007, which is documented by 

the fact that it has now signed over 20 distributorship 

agreements.

RESEARCH AND ECONOMICS

The Research and Economics division provides valuable 

guidance for market participants, especially during 

periods when it is highly uncertain how the economy 

and financial markets will perform. It does so by 

producing up-to-the-minute analysis, forecasts and 

scenarios that are communicated in the form of 

publications, presentations and discussions both within 

the Bank and throughout the cooperative financial 

services network.

RESEARCH IN CONSIDERABLE DEMAND
Demand for research-related services to support the 

cooperative banks in their business and strengthen their 

client relationships rose sharply in 2008 as a result of 

prevailing market conditions. Many Research and 

Economics employees underlined the importance and 

expertise of this division by attending a number of 

client-related and members’ events held by banks, 

nationwide symposia staged by DZ BANK and many 

smaller gatherings. Some 1,200 visitors once again 

attended the Research division’s Investment Dialog in 

Frankfurt, which was held for the twelfth time in 2008. 

The publications issued by the Research and Economics 

division are used by roughly 850 cooperative banks in 

the advice they offer to specific customer groups. 

CONSISTENT QUALITY OF RESEARCH
DZ BANK again won several awards for the high 

quality of its equity research in 2008. A particularly 

gratifying achievement was that the Bank was voted as 

having the most consistent, top-quality research from 

2003 to 2007. This accolade was awarded for the first 

time by Germany’s Börsen-Zeitung financial news-

paper based on the ratings compiled by Switzerland’s 

ISfA, a subsidiary of the Swiss Financial Analysts 

Association. The statistics collated by UK-based firm 

AQ put DZ BANK in first place overall for its German 

equity research in 2008. The data evaluated by the 

Center for European Economic Research (ZEW), which 

included all forecasts on interest rates, stock markets 

and exchange rates, ranked DZ BANK’s research third 

out of 16 institutions.

CORPORATE FINANCE

The Corporate Finance division provides traditional 

corporate banking services to large and medium-sized 

German companies and advises on mergers and 

acquisitions. 

RELIABLE FINANCING PARTNER
Despite persistently stiff competition and the extremely 

tough conditions prevailing in the financial markets, 
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DZ BANK continued to consolidate its market position 

in 2008. It managed to exploit the available business 

potential more fully by dividing up its market into 

five sales regions for coverage of large and medium-

sized companies and by increasing its headcount in 

this division, a process that had started in 2007. 

The extensive range of products offered by the Bank 

boosted its business volumes, which increased the 

revenue it earned from payments processing products 

(up 14 percent), short-term investment products (up 

28 percent) and interest-rate management instruments 

(up 39 percent). Borrower’s note loans were especially 

popular with corporate clients and investors. The 

volume of new business in these instruments grew 

fourfold year on year, far exceeding all forecasts. 

DZ BANK once again proved to be a solid and reliable 

financing partner in 2008 both in its direct lending 

business and in terms of the funding concepts it offered 

in the capital markets. This trend was also reflected by 

the encouraging growth in its loan disbursements.

The global financial crisis also impacted on the general 

credit environment. Against this backdrop, our sales 

initiatives for 2009 will continue to focus on intensify-

ing our alliances with partners in the cooperative 

financial services network – especially those engaged in 

asset management, leasing and insurance – so that we 

position the DZ BANK Group as the leading financial 

services provider for German corporate clients.

FURTHER INCREASE IN CROSS-BORDER M & A DEALS
Market conditions in the segment of large and medium-

sized companies relevant to DZ BANK deteriorated in 

the final quarter of 2008 owing to the financial crisis. 

In the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors, however, 

the Bank managed to sustain the strong performance 

it had delivered in 2007. The following are just a few 

examples of the successful deals closed during the 

reporting year:

–  Advising Israel’s Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., 

a global market leader in generic drugs, on its sale 

of Gelkaps GmbH

–  Implementing a staff profit-sharing scheme at 

KMG Kliniken AG

–  Disposal of the owner-managed firm Hormosan 

Pharma GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, to India’s 

Lupin (Europe) Ltd., Knutsford (Cheshire), United 

Kingdom

–  Advising Indian company Sintex Industries Ltd. 

on its acquisition of a German automotive supplier 

–  Advising Andreae-Noris Zahn Aktiengesellschaft, 

Frankfurt am Main, on its acquisition of 

Armila UAB, Vilnius, Lithuania

–  Disposal of Dr. Holiday AG, Regensburg, 

to DERTOUR GmbH & Co. KG, 

Frankfurt am Main.

These deals provide proof positive of DZ BANK’s 

strong position in the cross-border M&A market 

(especially in business with India and eastern Europe) 

and its expertise in advising large and medium-sized 

companies on the acquisition and disposal of firms 

and businesses.

STRUCTURED FINANCE

Although the global financial crisis had a positive 

impact on the margins and structures of DZ BANK’s 

structured finance operations, revenue growth from 

this business weakened over the course of the year. On 

the whole, however, the Bank’s earnings exceeded the 

high level they had achieved in 2007. All product areas 

contributed to this result.

ACQUISITION FINANCE 
The Acquisition & Leveraged Finance unit further 

consolidated its market position in 2008. It success-

fully established a team in Hong Kong in addition 

to the teams already in place in Frankfurt, New York 

and London. This unit worked on more than 50 deals 

in 2008 and expanded its role as a mandated lead 

arranger (MLA) and underwriter.

LOAN SYNDICATION 
The product areas of Syndication and International 

Finance were divided into separate functions in 2008. 

The Syndication product area acts as a service center, 

supporting the distribution of syndicated loans from 

all of the Bank’s product areas worldwide as well as 

structuring and placing syndicated loans for German 

corporates.
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In what remained a challenging market environment the 

Bank stepped up its distribution of loans for financial 

institutions in Europe, the Middle East and Africa 

(EMEA) and Asia, acting as mandated lead arranger on 

a total of 18 deals. It also executed a number of highly 

successful mandates in its Acquisition & Leveraged 

Finance and Project Finance product areas and for its 

German corporate clients, and in some cases these 

transactions were significantly oversubscribed when 

they were placed in the market. The distribution of 

syndicated loans across all product areas virtually 

ground to a halt in the second half of the year. By 

placing one of Germany’s largest public-private 

partnership (PPP) projects, however, DZ BANK 

managed to further improve the acceptance of this 

vital form of public- sector finance.

INTERNATIONAL COVERAGE & LOAN ORIGINATION
In 2008 the Bank focused on generating new business 

from longstanding core customers and financial 

institutions with good credit ratings. It continued to 

diversify its financial institutions clientele by concen-

trating on markets that were less affected by the global 

financial crisis, such as emerging markets in Asia and 

the Gulf region. It focused on international corporate 

clients with investment-grade credit ratings in western 

Europe, especially those in stable and mature industries 

such as utilities, telecommunications and energy.

On the whole, the Bank has a well-diversified and 

healthy portfolio of syndicated and bilateral loans. Its 

persistent cross-selling efforts are now paying off, and 

its valuable client relationships are translating into 

income. 

EXPORT FINANCE SUSTAINED ITS SUCCESS IN 2008
DZ BANK benefited from the strength of German 

exports in 2008. It used existing framework agreements 

to finance a large number of export transactions for its 

clients. In doing so it sought to minimize the risk of 

this business by executing offsetting transactions and/

or using private-sector or government credit insurance. 

As in 2007, the bulk of these transactions were with 

Russia, India and Kazakhstan.

Last year’s trend toward falling credit margins for both 

bank and government risks and for corporate finance 

deals has now been reversed. 

SHORT-TERM INTERNATIONAL TRADE FINANCE 
GENERATES HIGHER REVENUE
After 2008 had started with growing volumes and stable 

– in some cases even falling – prices in the Bank’s 

documentary and financing business, the trade finance 

market changed over the course of the year. Prices 

rose in the second half of the year, as a result of which 

the market almost ground to a halt. Consequently, the 

volume of lending business contracted while prices 

increased. Although documentary business volumes 

remained stable throughout the second half of the year, 

there was clearly a trend toward higher pricing. This 

trend caused trade finance revenue to rise overall year 

on year. 

STRUCTURED TRADE FINANCE TURNS A PROFIT
Structured Trade & Commodity Finance continued to 

expand its customer and revenue bases. Business in the 

first nine months of the year was driven by persistently 

high commodity prices, which boosted demand for 

financing on the part of commodity producers and 

traders. Because the market was awash with liquidity, 

margins came under pressure. 

Toward the end of the year commodity prices under-

went a correction, which is expected to continue in 

2009. Overall, DZ BANK managed to increase the 

volumes and profitability of its business with core 

customers in its target markets.

LEAD ARRANGER ON PROJECT FINANCE DEALS
The Project Finance unit benefited from a growing 

number of deals worldwide in 2008. The success of 

this form of financing derives from the strong demand 

for it, especially in core sectors such as energy and 

infrastructure. DZ BANK continued to enhance its 

position as a global lead arranger in 2008. In Europe 

the Project Finance team successfully financed the 

A1 Autobahn between Hamburg and Bremen as part 

of a PPP structure specially designed for the German 

Autobahn network. In Asia, the Bank executed various 

mandates, such as a port project in Vietnam, a toll 

road in Australia and a PPP deal for the ITE Technical 

College in Singapore. In the Americas, the Project 

Finance team played a leading role in financing the 

AES Angamos coal-fired power plant in Chile.
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ASSET SECURITIZATION DEPARTMENT 
STILL A LEADER
The Asset Securitization department continued to 

perform a leading role as a niche provider of securi-

tizations for clients in 2008. Unlike some of its 

competitors, the DZ BANK Group does not invest 

in unknown asset classes in this business; instead, it 

structures financial solutions for its clients in the form 

of securitized receivables, for example. In doing so, it 

ensures that the relevant transaction offers sufficient 

excess collateral, which is mainly placed in the US 

commercial-paper market. The revenue generated in 

this product area rose by over a third year on year. 

FOREIGN BRANCHES

MILAN BRANCH
The branch in Milan reported a profit for its first full 

financial year. It performed coordinating functions for 

subsidiaries in the cooperative financial services network 

and supported the business collaboration between 

DZ BANK and its north Italian affiliate Cassa Centrale 

Banca.

BRANCH IN LONDON REPORTS 
YEAR-ON-YEAR GROWTH
The Structured Finance unit at the branch in London 

once again achieved a significant year-on-year increase 

on what was already a good result in 2007. All asset 

classes in the Structured Finance business saw sustained 

improvements in terms of margins, structures and 

collateral. This was accompanied by individual competi-

tors’ withdrawal from certain regions and products. 

The Structured Finance unit managed to buck the 

market trend and further expand its market position 

with respect to key clients. 

The cross-selling and up-selling of products to Struc-

tured Finance clients also delivered strong growth. The 

Structured Finance portfolio is well diversified in terms 

of both asset classes and regions. The newly established 

equity sales team had to battle in an extremely tough 

equity market in what was its first full financial year. 

Nonetheless, it did manage to achieve some success, 

especially in the second half of 2008. As in 2007, the 

branch’s Treasury operations were seriously impaired by 

the even more severe turmoil in the global securities 

and capital markets. Given the shortage of liquidity in 

the international money markets, the branch focused 

particularly closely on the sustainability and stability of 

its customer deposits. It even managed to win market 

share in this business in 2008 on the back of the good 

credit rating enjoyed by the DZ BANK Group. 

NEW YORK BRANCH EXPANDS ITS 
MARKET  POSITION
Large parts of the New York branch’s capital markets 

business were badly hit by the financial crisis. The New 

York Treasury portfolio suffered massive write-downs. 

On the other hand, the branch achieved – and in some 

cases exceeded – the revenue forecasts for its money 

market operations and structured finance business.

ORGANIC GROWTH AT HONG KONG BRANCH
The Hong Kong branch continued its organic growth 

in challenging market conditions caused by the financial 

crisis. A newly established Leverage & Acquisition 

Finance team already worked on several deals, primarily 

in Australia. DZ BANK consolidated its position in 

the Asian project finance market by executing trans-

actions as mandated lead arranger. Its Trade Finance 

business also performed well on the back of steady 

demand from clients of the local cooperative banks 

after liquidity had been made available in Hong Kong 

or through partner banks in China. 

By contrast, its Treasury operations in Hong Kong were 

also adversely affected by the global turmoil in the 

securities markets. When its exposures were marked 

to market, the Bank was forced to make write-downs 

even though none of its counterparties defaulted.

SINGAPORE BRANCH CELEBRATES 
TENTH  ANNIVERSARY
The branch in Singapore celebrated its tenth anniver-

sary in 2008. It reported its best-ever results in its 

Structured Trade & Commodity Finance and Interna-

tional Finance businesses, which both benefited from 

the strong demand for commodities and the significant 

funding requirements of companies, financial institu-

tions, and government and semi-government entities 

in Asia.

A new Corporates Asia department has been set up 

to provide more in-depth coverage of German clients, 

customers in the cooperative financial services net-

work, and Asian corporate clients and to consolidate 
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the steady revenue growth in this area. Long-term 

export finance is still enjoying strong demand in Asia 

and will continue to grow.

CREDIT CARD PROCESSING AND PAYMENTS

DEBIT CARD STRATEGY SUCCESSFULLY 
 IMPLEMENTED
2008 saw the extensive rollout of the local cooperative 

banks’ debit card strategy. VR BankCards with Cirrus 

co-branding were issued for the first time as part of the 

main supply of debit cards. In addition, the Bank took 

the necessary technical and organizational measures to 

ensure that VR BankCards could be issued with V PAY 

co-branding. 

EUROPEAN DEBIT CARD STRATEGY
Card processing is of strategic importance to the 

German banks and is geared to the current legal and 

market situation. By taking new strategic measures, 

they aim to ensure that debit card processing remains 

profitable for them in future. 

A new European solution is intended to further the 

 objectives of the Lisbon Agenda and, by virtue of its 

innovation and security, to be superior to alternative 

offerings. The aim is for new service offerings around 

payment processes to meet the EU Commission’s 

demand that the cost and risk of payment processes for 

customers be demonstrably lowered. The development 

of new value-added services will be assisted by this 

systematic technical and organizational realignment, 

which may make it possible to implement them more 

quickly and efficiently. 

CREDIT CARD CONCEPT BOOSTS CARD SALES 
AND WINS NEW CUSTOMERS
The modular VR-KartenConcept (card concept) 

product offering developed in 2007 generated net 

growth of 6.4 percent in DZ BANK’s market region, 

which was almost twice as high as the average for the 

German card-processing market as a whole. The local 

cooperative banks managed to retain their existing 

clients and acquire new ones thanks to innovative 

advisory packages supplied by DZ BANK to boost 

card sales.

The new marketing campaign management system 

provided further support for the cooperative financial 

services network in its proactive card marketing 

activities. This enables various individual campaigns to 

be selectively integrated into the sales planning strategies 

pursued by the local cooperative banks concerned. In 

this connection, the Bank launched its ReiseCard 

(travel card) campaign in the autumn in good time for 

the period when most summer holidays are booked. 

In addition, further services were added to the highly 

attractive benefits package offered by the GoldKarte 

(gold card) in 2008. Apart from offering insurance 

to cover travel cancellation fees even if the card is not 

used to pay for the holiday, the card provides a refund 

of up to 7 percent on the price of the travel (providing 

that the Bank’s reservation service is used). These 

additional services have already significantly boosted 

sales of the GoldKarte.

PREPAID CARD
The prepaid card was introduced throughout Germany 

in the autumn of 2008 and has enabled the local 

cooperative banks to tap into new target groups in the 

market segment of teenagers and young adults. The 

prepaid card’s launch was supported by its integration 

into the campaigns run by the network’s regional 

banking associations. Initial sales figures, which reveal 

that more than 500 local cooperative banks have 

sold over 4,000 prepaid cards, demonstrate that this 

product meets another key area of market demand.

CORPORATE CARD RAISES EARNINGS SHARPLY
DZ BANK rolled out its MasterCard CorporateCard 

across Germany in the autumn of 2008 as planned, 

and this product met with an excellent response from 

the local cooperative banks. Merely the fact that 

existing ‘non-genuine’ corporate cards were exchanged 

for ‘genuine’ ones enabled the local cooperative banks 

to improve their earnings significantly in 2008.

POSITIVE IMPACT OF SEPA
The new Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA) funds 

transfer system was successfully launched in the market 

in January 2008. Although this form of money trans-

mission can also be used within Germany, it is primarily 

used for international payments and is increasingly 
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replacing standard EU transfers. Transfers to other 

countries within the European Economic Area account 

for 61 percent of all international payments. 

DZ BANK provides the local cooperative banks’ 

corporate customers with an IBAN converter in order 

to help them convert to SEPA and facilitate their 

workflows and procedures. This converter offers clients 

a quick and easy way of working out IBAN numbers 

based on the account numbers and branch codes in the 

customer data held by their accounts departments. 

NEW PRODUCT: VR-RECHNUNGSSERVICE
DZ BANK devised its VR-RechnungsService (invoicing 

service) product and launched it at the end of 2008 

to optimize corporate clients’ invoicing processes. This 

product provides a standardized one-stop solution for 

sending and receiving paper-based and electronic 

invoices. 

CASH SERVICES
DZ BANK and its Düsseldorf-based partner Cash 

Logistik Security AG offer an extensive range of services 

for the supply and disposal of cash – combined with a 

comprehensive liability package that also covers the 

representation risk – for all banking cash transactions 

undertaken by corporate customers and banks. The 

offering it provides for these target groups was extended 

in 2008 to include machine-based solutions for deposit-

ing daily cash receipts as well as further alternatives to 

the night safes that banks use to deposit cash.

KEY ISSUES IN PAYMENTS PROCESSING
Increasing the potential available from existing custom-

ers and acquiring new clients in payments processing 

will remain central issues. The local cooperative banks 

will need to focus on sustaining the revenue they earn 

from payments processing and account-keeping and 

intensifying account relationships as a key interface 

to their customers. According to a comparison of 

companies conducted by the Federal Association of 

German Cooperative Banks (BVR) in 2007 and a 

survey of banks carried out in 2008, payments process-

ing generates some 43 percent of commission income. 

The Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA) will continue 

to be a focal issue in 2009 with the market launch of 

the new European direct debit (in its two forms of the 

basic direct debit and the direct debit for corporate 

clients) and the consequences of the adoption of the 

Payment Services Directive (PSD) into national law. 

A few additional services will be developed in conjunc-

tion with the new European direct debit scheme. 

DZ BANK is proactively supporting this process on 

behalf of the cooperative banks by providing informa-

tion, training and new SEPA product offerings. 

INTERNATIONAL DOCUMENTARY BUSINESS
The Bank made a huge effort to step up its documen-

tary business in 2008. It worked hard on the replace-

ment for its production software. From April 2009 the 

local cooperative banks and their clients will be able to 

use a new product called VR-DokTrade to process 

their international documentary business electronically, 

which will broaden the range of services available as 

a result of new processing techniques. 

CHANGE OF SECURITIES PROCESSING SYSTEM
DZ BANK continued to coordinate efforts to stand-

ardize securities processing services, which will see it 

migrate from the WVS system to WP2. WVS is 

currently used by the local cooperative banks and by 

DZ BANK and WGZ BANK for their proprietary 

trading activities. DZ BANK is working with WGZ 

BANK, dwpbank and the two cooperative computing 

centers to prepare for the migration of all institutions 

to the leading WP2 processing system. This change of 

system for the entire cooperative financial services 

network is intended to bring significant process 

improvements and efficiency gains. The practical 

application of this system migration will first be trialed 

at five local cooperative banks in 2009.

PROCESS MANAGEMENT

VAP SALES WORKSTATION PROVIDES IMPETUS
DZ BANK and WGZ BANK continued the project 

aimed at standardizing securities processing support 

throughout Germany in collaboration with the two 

cooperative computing centers FIDUCIA and GAD 

and with dwpbank. The VAP sales workstation has 

two key effects. First, it creates an advisory and sales 

process (GENO-WP) that is better integrated into 

the consultants’ IT environment. And second, the 

collective use of the same system (WP2) by the 
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German savings banks and cooperative banks reaps 

vital economies of scale in securities administration. 

After the IT support for sales and advisory services in 

the local cooperative banks’ stationary sales network 

had been significantly expanded, the first pilot projects 

were launched to broaden the range of home banking 

services they offer on the internet. 

COLLABORATION WITH THE COMPUTING CENTERS
In order to make the cooperative banks’ sales processes 

even more effective, the companies in the DZ BANK 

Group are supplying the extensive data pool at the 

FIDUCIA and GAD computing centers with increas-

ing amounts of sales-related data. So that the wide range 

of activities undertaken jointly by the DZ BANK Group 

and the cooperative computing centers can be coordi-

nated and directed, their current partnership is due to 

be supplemented by additional and more extensive 

cooperation agreements in the future. 

Despite investing heavily in the Bank’s IT infrastructure, 

the IT & Organization division broadly managed to 

contain its IT costs – as planned – by implementing 

a rigorous cost management strategy in 2008.

REFURBISHMENT REDUCES ENERGY NEEDS
The refurbishment of the Cityhaus I building at Platz 

der Republik in Frankfurt am Main represents a major 

milestone in the reconfiguration of DZ BANK’s property 

portfolio in the city. This construction work centered 

on the total renovation of the building’s facade. This 

modernization will reduce the building’s energy needs 

by more than 30 percent and cut its CO
2
 emissions by 

over 40 percent. The refurbishment was completed on 

time and on budget at the end of 2008.

» Sales capability strengthened

» Local cooperative banks boost volume of new business

» Europe-wide expertise increased further

VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn, which is a specialist 

provider of innovative financial solutions for small and 

medium-sized enterprises, reported results that were 

virtually unchanged year on year in 2008 despite the 

tougher market conditions. Its volume of new business 

from equipment and vendor finance totaled € 4.64 

billion (down by 0.9 percent). VR LEASING remains 

Germany’s market leader in terms of the number of its 

leases (155,817).

In conjunction with the local cooperative banks it 

generated total new business worth € 1.5 billion. 

VR LEASING’s growth rate of almost 10.0 percent is 

above average for the DZ BANK Group. Within the 

cooperative financial services network, VR LEASING 

is the specialist financier for small and medium-sized 

enterprises and, thanks to its sales-driven processes and 

tools such as VR-LeasyOnline and its simple and swift 

credit-checking procedure, is one of the most customer-

friendly leasing companies. VR-LeasyOnline provides 

cooperative banks with a simple way of calculating 

leases and drafting the pertinent agreements for 

amounts of up to € 125,000. The volume of new 

business generated using VR-LeasyOnline in 2008 

saw further growth of 83.8 percent to € 105.5 million. 

In addition, the factoring revenue earned by the 

affiliate VR FACTOREM rose by 35.3 percent to 

approximately € 1.882 billion. 

The sales team at VR LEASING was reorganized and 

expanded in 2008 to ensure that the company could 

sustain its growth over the long term even in challeng-

ing market conditions. It adopted a holistic service 

approach to sharpen its market focus and achieve greater 

market penetration. This strengthens its personalized 

advisory services at the point of sale and expedites its 

processing of client exposures. Staff working in a central 

secondary sales unit contribute to the efficiency of sales 

processing. New technologies ensure a high level of 

staff availability and effective communication. This 

high level of service provision assists the local coopera-
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VR-MEZZANINEKOMPAKT
In 2008, DZEP devised a new product – VR-Mezza-

nineKompakt – specially for local cooperative banks 

that are looking to scale up their corporate banking 

operations. By entering into this kind of collaboration, 

the partners concerned can close an equity gap for 

clients and are therefore able to offer fairly modest 

investment amounts of between € 200,000 and € 1.5 

million to strengthen the client’s equity base. A standard 

profit-participation model completes the range of 

equity-related funding available. This makes it easier 

for firms to finance their capital spending and growth 

projects. VR-MezzanineKompakt makes a long-term 

contribution to their funding, improves their credit 

ratings and widens the scope of financing available to 

them. Since this type of funding through profit-partici-

pation certificates was introduced, ten corporate clients 

of cooperative banks have benefited from VR-Mezza-

nineKompakt and funding totaling € 7.1 million has 

been made available. 

SUCCESS FACTORS: ACTIVE EQUITY INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT AND SELECTIVELY ACQUIRED 
INVESTMENTS
The sharp falloff in economic activity and the looming 

signs of recession in the second half of 2008 provided 

renewed stimulus for DZEP’s portfolio investment 

operations. Apart from identifying and carefully 

selecting attractive investments, one of the company’s 

key objectives is to optimize the portfolio companies’ 

value chains from the time it first invests in them to 

the date of its exit. 

Throughout the time it holds its investments, DZEP 

focuses on adding potential value to its portfolio 

companies and optimizing their strategies. It uses 

the portfolio company’s business model and strategy 

to raise its enterprise value on a sustained basis by 

implementing systematic value enhancement manage-

ment techniques and a number of isolated measures. 

This sophisticated service approach is proof positive 

that the strategy adopted by DZEP – coupled with 

its in-depth sectoral and product expertise – is exactly 

the right way to equip the local cooperative banks’ 

clients to face the financial crisis.

tive banks in their pricing and delivery of products and 

services at the point of sale. In return, the primary sales 

function is stepping up its high-quality advisory services, 

its coaching and the regular sharing of business-related 

information. At the same time, back-office processing 

and settlement functions have been further centralized 

and industrialized. 

2008 also saw VR LEASING entering new European 

markets. More than 50 percent of its new business was 

generated outside Germany. Its volume of new 

business in Russia grew by a particularly impressive 

110 percent to € 111.1 million. Apart from generating 

high volumes of new business, the Russian market is 

characterized by low loss rates. Because its business in 

this country has been performing well, VR LEASING 

opened a new branch in St. Petersburg and three 

further offices in Novgorod, Krasnodar and Yekater-

inenburg in 2008.

» Best financial results in over 30 years

» VR-MezzanineKompakt launched as a new cooperative 

network project

» Active equity investment management 

DZ Equity Partner GmbH, Frankfurt am Main (DZEP), 

is one of the leading private equity companies for small 

and medium-sized enterprises in German-speaking 

Europe. Last year it acquired a number of new invest-

ments for its portfolio, successfully executed several 

disposals and closed 2008 with the best financial results 

in its more than 30-year history. As a key member of 

the cooperative financial services network, DZEP is 

closely involved in the corporate banking activities of 

the local cooperative banks. In total, over 85 percent 

of DZEP’s newly generated investments and almost 

70 percent of its total transaction volume in 2008 were 

acquired as a result of referrals from the cooperative 

financial services network. The commissions distributed 

rose to over € 1.3 million, which means that the 

cooperative banks involved derive significant benefit 

from the deals they refer.
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in 2008. It performs credit analysis and monitoring 

functions for group companies, for example, which 

involves evaluating performance reports and conduct-

ing stress tests as risk early-warning systems.

INTEGRATED WITH DZ BANK
In addition to rendering ABS-related services for 

DZ BANK, DZ BANK Ireland conversely uses 

DZ BANK’s credit rating systems for banks, countries 

and large corporate customers. Since 2007 it has been 

using the Murex front-office system to do so. In 2008 

it continued to integrate its services and IT systems 

more closely with DZ BANK. During the year under 

review, for example, it started to supply data to 

DZ BANK’s ABACUS system as part of the Group’s 

regulatory reporting requirements under Basel II. 

Furthermore, it started to obtain data from DZ BANK’s 

historical database via the Murex system to ensure that 

it was using standard market data.

» Market leader in credit servicing

» Credit competence center for the cooperative 

financial services network

» Market-based solutions for lending business

With a portfolio of some 8 million loan agreements 

and home savings contracts and approximately 2,300 

employees working at nine locations, VR Kreditwerk 

AG, Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall – together with its 

affiliates Kreditwerk Hypotheken-Management GmbH, 

Mannheim and VR Kreditservice GmbH, Essen – is 

the market leader in the industrialized processing of real-

estate loans and home savings products.

CREDIT COMPETENCE CENTER FOR THE 
 COOPERATIVE FINANCIAL SERVICES NETWORK
VR Kreditwerk AG provides advisory and processing 

services for companies in the cooperative financial 

 services network that would like to permanently 

improve their cost/income ratios by reengineering 

their loan processing procedures. Banks are faced with 

diverse challenges in their lending business and are 

» Focused business model

» Services and systems integrated with DZ BANK AG

» High-quality securities portfolios

Owing to the financial crisis, 2008 proved to be a 

challenging year for DZ BANK Ireland as well. None-

theless, its focused business model – based on its four 

business lines of Corporates & Financial Institutions, 

Asset-Backed Securities (ABS), Local Cooperative 

Banks, and ABS Investment Services – enabled the 

bank to overcome the tough market conditions fairly 

satisfactorily.

HIGH-QUALITY SECURITIES PORTFOLIOS
The bank’s capital markets-related lending business 

focuses on borrowers with impeccable credit ratings 

such as financial institutions, multinational corpora-

tions and governments as well as investments in 

asset-backed securities. Given the nature of its operat-

ing strategy, DZ BANK Ireland was unable to escape 

the fallout from the financial crisis and was adversely 

affected by the insolvencies of Lehman Brothers and 

the Icelandic banks, although these were not excessive. 

Otherwise, the success of the bank’s traditionally highly 

rigorous credit risk strategy, its strict investment criteria 

and its stringent analysis processes are illustrated by 

the consistently outstanding quality of its securities 

portfolios. For example, less than 2 percent of its total 

portfolio is rated as non-investment grade and more 

than 97 percent of the assets in its ABS portfolio are 

rated either AAA or AA (the top two ratings). 

In its Local Cooperative Banks business line, 

DZ BANK Ireland looks after the medium- and 

long-term funding requirements of banks in the 

cooperative financial services network. These loans will 

gradually expire over the next few years. New loans 

have been marketed solely by DZ BANK for several 

years now.

ABS INVESTMENT SERVICES EXPANDED FURTHER
With over ten years’ expertise in the field of asset-backed 

securities, DZ BANK Ireland is a highly successful 

service provider and continued to expand this business 
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looking for strategies and concepts for today’s market. 

In addition to the traditional product range offered by 

a loan factory, Kreditwerk therefore increasingly raised 

its profile as a flexible solutions provider and strategic 

partner to the local cooperative banks in 2008. 

As a flexible and independent service unit within the 

Kreditwerk Group, VR Kreditservice GmbH has been 

devising customized solutions in collaboration with, 

and on behalf of, local cooperative banks since the end 

of 2007 with the aim of securing and expanding their 

lending market positions. In addition to processing 

services, VR Kreditservice offers temporary support 

services, such as the settlement of outstanding balances, 

and advisory services that banks can use irrespective of 

whether they decide to outsource certain functions.

Financial service providers outside the cooperative 

financial services network can draw on Kreditwerk’s 

advisory and processing expertise via its Hypotheken-

Management subsidiary.

SUCCESSFUL PROCESSING OF BSH’S NEW 
 MORTGAGE FINANCE BUSINESS 
DG HYP’s decision to concentrate on commercial 

real-estate finance as from 2008 made it necessary 

to restructure Kreditwerk at its Hamburg site. Since 

January 2008, Kreditwerk has been successfully 

processing the new mortgage finance business of 

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall (BSH) – in addition 

to its existing home savings portfolio – at its site in 

Schwäbisch Hall. 

The reconfiguration of Kreditwerk’s processing capaci-

ties in Hamburg necessitated by DG HYP’s strategic 

realignment was completed last year as planned. 

Hypotheken-Management successfully took over DG 

HYP’s remaining business with existing clients. It has 

been processing this business at its Mannheim site 

since October 1, 2008.

» Global transport market continues to grow

» Business model remains robust even in the financial crisis

» Further awards won

DVB Bank SE, Frankfurt am Main (DVB), is a bank 

that specializes in transport finance and is one of the 

world’s leading advisory banks and financial institutions. 

It offers its clients integrated financial and advisory 

services in shipping, aviation, and land transport by 

both road and rail. 

DVB’s business model is unique worldwide: it only 

extends loans that are secured by the modes of trans-

port being financed (e.g. ships, airplanes, locomotives 

or freight cars). The bank’s inhouse research plays a key 

role in the valuation of these assets. In its investment 

management business, DVB arranges equity investments 

for clients in the transport sector who are engaged in 

shipping, aviation, holiday cruises and intermodal 

equipment and manages mutual funds for investors 

operating in the transport sector. 

This business model has proved to be robust even in 

times of financial crisis. DVB continued its proven 

strategy of risk-adequate pricing in 2008. Its conserva-

tive approach to collateralization once again prevented 

it from suffering any lending-related problems.

Nonetheless, DVB did not remain immune to the 

effects of the financial crisis. It was forced to make 

write-downs on part of the liquidity reserve that it 

holds for payments processing.

DVB’s consistently strong position in the international 

transport finance market was again reaffirmed by a 

number of awards. For example, its shipping research 

was named “Best Shipping Finance Research” by Lloyd’s 

Shipping Economist for the fourth year running, and 

its Land Transport business was voted “Rail Finance 

House of the Year 2008” by Jane’s Transport Finance 

for the third time in succession. 
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Another significant event in 2008 was the merger of 

DVB Bank NV, Rotterdam, with DVB Bank AG, 

Frankfurt am Main, which saw the resulting compa-

ny’s legal form simultaneously changed into that of a 

European public limited company (“DVB Bank SE”).  

Viewed on a long-term perspective, global transport 

has been and remains a growth market, although 

it does go through cycles that are determined by the 

performance of the global economy. The current 

dislocations in the financial markets will also impact 

on the transport markets and DVB’s clients. However, 

this situation presents DVB with opportunities as well 

as risks: a number of competitors have started to exit 

the transport finance business.  

Another positive factor is that DVB’s lending policy is 

not determined by any business cycles and is supported 

by a sophisticated risk management system. In order 

to manage the risks inherent in its credit portfolio, 

the bank uses a special internal rating model that has 

been tailored to the global transport finance sector 

and is based on the Advanced Approach prescribed by 

Basel II. DVB will find sufficient business opportuni-

ties and be highly circumspect in how it utilizes the 

capital it has available in 2009.

» Business in foreign currency, precious metals and 

 traveler’s checks with 900 cooperative banks

» Foreign-currency volume of € 1.2 billion processed

» 2 million over-the-counter cash transfers

ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main, is the cooperative 

financial services network’s specialist for foreign cur-

rency, precious metals and traveler’s checks, worldwide 

over-the-counter cash transfers in partnership with 

Western Union, and cash management. It is one of 

Germany’s leading players in the market for foreign 

currency, traveler’s checks and precious metals.

As ReiseBank has taken over DZ BANK’s foreign 

 currency, precious metals and traveler’s checks opera-

tions, the trading and distribution of these instru-

ments now take place under one roof. Consequently, 

ReiseBank supplies the cooperative banks directly with 

foreign currency, precious metals, traveler’s checks 

and euros. Almost 900 cooperative banks now benefit 

from ReiseBank’s high-quality and low-cost process-

ing services. In addition to this bank-to-bank business, 

ReiseBank also supplies banks’ end customers with for-

eign currency, precious metals and traveler’s checks. 

Some 550 banks used ReiseBank’s mail-order service 

in 2008.

ReiseBank processed a total foreign-currency volume 

of € 1.2 billion at 100 branch offices in 2008. It also 

handled just under 2 million over-the-counter cash 

transfers. In selected regions it worked with the local 

cooperative banks to continue expanding its cash-

transfer network coverage. 

During the year under review, ReiseBank operated 266 

of its own ATMs and other terminals, which processed 

over 6 million transactions in total. It now operates 

ATMs for various bank partners. Other  companies 

have also been working successfully with ReiseBank 

for some time in the field of cash management. Its full 

range of services – from the installation of ATMs to 

their overall operational management, including all 

cash services – has been successfully  established in the 

market for several years. ReiseBank also provides cash 

management services for 189 toll terminals. 
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RETAIL BUSINESS SEGMENT: 
BUSINESS MODEL PROVES 
ITS WORTH IN CHALLENGING 
MARKET CONDITIONS

In its Retail business segment DZ BANK continued to 
live up to the trust placed in it by investors in 2008, 
thereby preparing the ground for further profitable 
growth over the coming years. 

» Superior portfolio management performance wins 

several awards 

» Market leader once again in fund-based Riester 

savings products

» Strong demand for open-ended real-estate funds

Union Investment is a successful, client-focused asset 

manager that provides private and institutional investors 

with professional solutions to suit their investment 

needs. It succeeded in rewarding the trust of its investors 

once again in 2008 as a result of this rigorous  focus on 

customer needs. This success derives from the company’s 

sustainable and robust business model and the excel-

lence of the professionals who work for it. Nonetheless, 

business in 2008 was dominated by the financial crisis. 

This crisis adversely affected the Union Investment 

Group’s financial results in the second half of the year 

in particular after it had been reporting impressive sales 

and earnings figures for years. 

As the crisis came to a head, investors withdrew funds 

across the board in October to protect their liquidity. 

Although the high volume of new business generated 

in the first half of the year, which saw inflows of some 

€ 4.4 billion, improved the overall picture for 2008, 

Union Investment reported outflows of € 6.35 billion 

for the year as a whole. These outflows of funds and 

the huge price losses on the stock markets caused the 

value of assets under management in 2008 to fall by 

roughly 18 percent from € 175 billion to € 144 billion. 

Union Investment remains the fourth-largest fund 

management company in Germany. 

Thanks to its strict cost discipline and the consistent 

action taken to safeguard its earnings, Union Invest-

ment finished the year with a respectable profit despite 

the adverse impact of the financial crisis. 

MARKET LEADER ONCE AGAIN IN FUND-BASED 
RIESTER SAVINGS PRODUCTS
Its cooperative partner banks’ sharp client focus and 

their position as a provider of financial solutions for 

private clients helped Union Investment to acquire 

new investors in 2008. The number of its investment 
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accounts rose to over 4.6 million. The number of 

investors in fund-based Riester savings products grew 

by 250,000 to 1.7 million. UniProfiRente therefore 

remains the most popular product in fund-based 

retirement pension provision. Union Investment also 

successfully increased its pension-related business by 

working with partners in the cooperative financial 

 services network, such as Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall 

and R+V Versicherung. 

The introduction of a flat-rate withholding tax on 

investments in Germany went virtually unnoticed by 

investors as a result of the financial crisis. Safe invest-

ments were in particularly great demand. Consequently, 

guarantee funds attracted the largest inflows of funds 

in 2008 (€ 1.6 billion). This makes the cooperative 

financial services network Germany’s top provider of 

capital preservation concepts with a market share of 

38.8 percent.

INSTITUTIONAL CLIENT BASE WIDENED
Union Investment retained its position as Germany’s 

second-largest asset manager for institutional investors 

in 2008 by pursuing consistent and clearly defined 

investment strategies. Nonetheless, its institutional 

business stagnated after five years of strong growth, 

and its assets under management totaled € 40.7 billion 

at year-end. The level of new business was encourag-

ing, however, with 30 new clients contributing sales 

of € 1.5 billion.

Union Investment has been offering its IMMUNO 

capital preservation concept since 1996 and is now the 

market leader in capital preservation strategies for insti-

tutional investors. By setting certain capital preserva-

tion targets, IMMUNO’s asymmetric asset allocation 

strategy enables benign market trends to be exploited 

and losses to be avoided. The level of portfolio risk 

in each case is determined by the client’s capacity to 

assume risk. By using this strategy, Union Investment 

continued to provide institutional clients with sound 

advice during the financial crisis. 

In its business with international investors, Union 

Investment focused on stepping up its marketing 

activities in Italy, Austria, Spain and Asia in 2008. 

Union PanAgora, its specialist provider of quantitative 

investment strategies, delivered an excellent perform-

ance. During the year under review it had assets under 

management worth € 9 billion and acquired big-ticket 

investors. 

Shortly before the end of the year, Union Investment 

reached an agreement with its partner PanAgora Asset 

Management Inc., Boston, under which Union Invest-

ment would acquire all of the latter’s voting shares in 

Union PanAgora Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt 

am Main (Union PanAgora), a company set up jointly 

by the two entities in 1999. Union Investment therefore 

now owns all the voting shares in this company. At the 

same time, Union PanAgora will be renamed “Quoniam 

Asset Management GmbH”. This will enable Union 

Investment to achieve its business strategy objective of 

turning this company into the global quant manager 

for the Union Investment Group.

STRONG DEMAND FOR REAL-ESTATE PORTFOLIOS
Union Investment’s open-ended real-estate funds 

bucked the trend in 2008 by delivering a successful 

performance owing to their healthy structure and 

circumspect management. This was partly due to their 

well diversified fund construction, which ensured 

consistent investment returns even during the financial 

crisis. This performance was partially attributable to 

an occupancy rate of 97 percent with 3,258 tenants in 

almost 200 properties. A further 35 properties were 

purchased worldwide to expand the portfolio. 

The financial crisis impacted on open-ended real-estate 

funds throughout the industry, causing many of them 

to suffer significant outflows. Several investment 

companies responded to these developments by tempo-

rarily closing their real-estate funds at the end of 

October 2008 due to a shortage of liquidity. The funds 

managed by Union Investment remained the exception 

to this trend and even managed to attract significant 

net inflows of almost € 724 million. 

OUTSTANDING PERFORMANCE
Thanks to the professionalism of its fund managers 

Union Investment remained one of Germany’s leading 

asset managers even in the crisis-ridden year of 2008. 

This was illustrated by the fact that 55.4 percent of the 

company’s mutual funds were in the upper half of their 

respective peer groups in terms of their Morningstar 

ratings. In addition, its fund managers received the top 

Feri ranking of all German asset management compa-

nies (fourth place). Nine of the company’s funds were 

awarded an S&P fund management rating of AA and 

26 funds were rated A.
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Union Investment also won a number of awards for its 

strong client focus. For example, it was voted Germa-

ny’s best fund management company for the first time 

by Capital magazine and was awarded the top five-star 

rating for the seventh year running in 2008. This 

provides a sound basis on which to retain investors’ 

trust in future. 

» Management holding company successfully established

» Initial findings of the ‘Private Banking’ focus initiative

» Consistent business-line strategy

DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A. is a 

management holding company that has been coordi-

nating the DZ BANK Group’s private banking opera-

tions since 2008. To this end, it holds the share capital 

of Zurich-based DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz and 

DZ BANK International, Luxembourg. Its activities 

in its first financial year were largely focused on the 

DZ BANK Group’s ‘Private Banking’ focus initiative. 

The aim of the partners involved is to work closely with 

the local cooperative banks to significantly increase 

the DZ BANK Group’s share of this market and to 

raise its profile among high-net-worth individuals. 

The first milestones have been set as part of a wide-

ranging project:

–  Unbundle processes and procedures within the 

DZ BANK Group

–  Focus responsibilities

–  Optimize sales channels

–  Revise products and services specific to business 

lines.

One of the findings of this project was the need for an 

onshore offering in Germany for the local cooperative 

banks. This offering would supplement the established 

services provided from Zurich and Luxembourg and 

offer any additional products or services required. The 

project’s findings – as well as the analyses conducted 

by the expert committees of the Federal Association of 

German Cooperative Banks (BVR) – have identified 

considerable potential for the cooperative financial 

services network in private banking. This potential 

arises from the local cooperative banks’ close customer 

relationships and their image, which has recently been 

further enhanced by the financial crisis. The fully 

integrated advisory and support services offered to 

high-net-worth individuals make a valuable contribu-

tion to improving the individual banks’ key revenue 

components and offer further cross-selling potential. 

DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft will do all 

it can to establish a consistent business-line strategy with 

clearly defined responsibilities based on core competen-

cies and customized offerings. The starting position for 

a successful market presence is good and can build on 

the combined efforts of the entire DZ BANK Group. 

» Awards won for innovative investment strategies

» Higher volume of LuxCredit loans

» Growth in fund-related mandates

DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen 

(DZI), reported good results in 2008 despite the 

financial crisis. Its very close and collaborative relation-

ship with all local cooperative banks and with private 

and institutional clients has formed the basis for its 

success for over 30 years now. Its Private Banking, 

Investment Funds, Credit and Treasury businesses 

complement each other and enable the company to 

provide sophisticated clients with a complex, one-stop 

offering of products and services that cut across 

business lines. This approach benefits the cooperative 

financial services network in several respects. It profits 

from DZI’s services, which add considerable value. 

Furthermore, the DZ BANK Group’s largest presence 

outside Germany provides the cooperative banks and 

their customers with a wide range of locational 

advantages specifically relating to Luxembourg, the 

world’s seventh-largest financial center. 

SUPERIOR PRIVATE BANKING SERVICES
DZI’s Private Banking business has been providing 

internationally oriented clients and high-net-worth 

individuals with a fully integrated and personalized 

range of advisory and support services for many years. 
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These services are always geared to the various stages of 

the client’s life and comprise the innovative investment 

strategies and highly specialized services that constitute 

the Private Wealth Management approach. The highly 

committed efforts of all client advisors managed to 

reassure clients whose faith in the markets had been 

shaken by the financial crisis and to strengthen their 

confidence in the bank. Independent financial media 

are increasingly highlighting the outstanding quality of 

DZI’s advisory and investment strategies. The Fuchs 

Report letter to investors rates DZI as one of the top 

three players in Luxembourg and among the top 

quartile of all banks and asset management firms in 

Germany. As far as the editorial staff of Euro magazine 

are concerned, DZI has been the only international 

institution to deliver consistently high-quality products 

and services and has established itself as one of the ten 

best investment advisors in the German market. DZI 

can also meet the sophisticated demands of affluent 

Asian clients for top-notch private banking services 

by providing a professional offering via its subsidiary 

DZ BANK International Singapore Ltd., which it 

owns jointly with its Swiss sister institution. 

The volatility of financial markets and investors’ risk 

aversion had a particularly adverse impact on the 

equity portfolios of the decentralized Private Portfolio 

Strategy (PPS) asset management service. The newly 

launched Relax portfolio will in future offer a further 

solution with predictable returns for increasingly 

 conservative investors who are looking for a high 

degree of capital preservation.

In DZI’s foreign-currency lending, the volume of loans 

guaranteed (LuxCredit) for the local cooperative banks’ 

clients grew sharply to € 5.8 billion. This sales per-

formance is based on a high level of customer satisfac-

tion that has been confirmed by TÜV Saarland. At-

tractive foreign exchange rates and interest rates offered 

interesting entry levels. In addition, the integration 

of financial advisory and processing services into the 

banking systems of the two FIDUCIA and GAD 

computing centers has increased the already high ac-

ceptance of these services by advisors and by the banks 

in the cooperative financial services network. 

STRONG DEMAND FOR CREATIVE 
INVESTMENT FUND EXPERTISE 
With some 83 new fund-related mandates, DZI and 

its subsidiary IPConcept currently administer over 412 

investment funds. This growth is the result of DZI’s 

close collaboration with partners in the cooperative 

financial services network – especially the Union 

Investment Group – and reputable clients of interna-

tional banks and independent asset managers. The 

locational advantages and business environment in 

Luxembourg coupled with DZI’s in-depth expertise 

and innovative fund-based strategies have been driving 

the consistent performance of its Investment Funds 

business. 

» Switzerland remains attractive as a financial center

» Focus on capital protection

» Fund management company set up in Switzerland

DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG is the competence 

center for the DZ BANK Group in the long-established 

financial center of Zurich. The private bank for the 

cooperative financial services network is a longstanding 

partner to the cooperative banks and their clients in 

all matters of international asset management. These 

include fund management mandates and high-quality 

add-on services as well as the Union Investment 

products SwissRubinum and UnionSchweizDepot. 

As a private bank, DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz plays 

a central role in the DZ BANK Group’s increasingly 

important business strategy of serving high-net-worth 

individuals. The bank shares a Düsseldorf representative 

office with WGZ BANK. DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz 

collaborates with roughly 80 percent of German 

cooperative banks. 

FOCUS ON PROTECTING INVESTORS’ CAPITAL
International asset management was one of the many 

businesses to feel the effects of the financial crisis. The 

shaking of investors’ confidence did not stop at the 

Swiss border. Although the Swiss franc proved to be a 

safe haven in times of economic turmoil and, conse-

quently, extremely robust in a crisis, clients were 

increasingly looking for risk-free investments which, 

in the decentralized cooperative financial services 

network, are generally offered by the local cooperative 

banks. DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz responded to this 

client-led demand by, among other things, relaunching 
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its well-established Swiss Selection Worldwide capital 

protection mandate. The asset allocation of its fund 

management mandates – especially those in the conserv-

ative segment – was more defensively structured.

In addition to changes in clients’ needs as a result of 

the market turmoil in 2008, the bank focused on the 

new operating environment created by factors such as 

the introduction of a flat-rate withholding tax (Abgel-

tungsteuer) in Germany. Partly in response to this 

situation, the bank set up a fund management com-

pany during the reporting year that acts as the coopera-

tive financial services network’s competence center for 

fund-based private banking solutions in Switzerland. 

SwissRubinum, Union Investment’s premium fund-

based portfolio management solution, and asset 

management solutions offered by DZ PRIVATBANK 

Schweiz were incorporated into new funds of funds in 

2008. This approach provides investors with long-term 

benefits in the form of active portfolio management 

and tax advantages relating to Germany’s flat-rate 

withholding tax. 

The outstanding quality of advice and service offered by 

the private bank for the cooperative financial services 

network was also underlined by the results of the 2009 

Fuchs Report. Fuchs is one of Germany’s largest 

business information services and its 2009 report 

ranked DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz third in terms of 

the quality of its advisory services and rated it the 

fourth-best institution in a regional comparison with 

Swiss and Liechtenstein banks.

» Consumer finance specialist in the cooperative 

financial services network

» Fair lending practices certified by regulator

» ”Deutschland im Plus” foundation set up

The cooperative banks’ consumer finance business also 

emerged stronger from the turbulent events of 2008. 

Although this market stagnated in 2008 after years of 

continuous growth, the cooperative banks managed 

to maintain their market share. The aggregate loan 

portfolio of all institutions in Germany amounted to 

€ 130.4 billion at year-end (2007: € 130.8 billion). 

Although a number of new competitors with various 

marketing approaches had entered the market in recent 

years, 2008 saw a consolidation in the consumer finance 

market. As many as half a dozen market participants, 

most of them from abroad, exited the German market.

By offering their easyCredit branded product, the 

cooperative banks managed to defend their respective 

share of the local market during this process of 

consolidation; their aggregate market share amounted to 

17 percent (as at September 30, 2008). They boosted 

their business by stepping up and expanding their 

easyCredit strategy. In February they launched a new 

branding campaign whose core message was the banks’ 

fair lending practices. The ‘Fairman’ figure at the heart 

of this branding exercise lent the campaign a new, 

friendly face. The campaign’s message continues to 

focus on the consumer-friendly product attributes of 

the banks’ fair lending practices: the unusually long 

one-month cancellation period, the ability to make 

additional repayments at any time, and the banks’ 

policy of not taking legal action if customers get into 

payment difficulties. These fair lending practices were 

certified by Germany’s product standards regulator 

TÜV SÜD. This sense of responsibility as an institu-

tion that pursues fair lending policies caused Team-

Bank to set up its Deutschland im Plus (“Germany in 

credit”) foundation as a vehicle for its corporate social 

responsibility activities. 

This is the first time that a bank has taken such a public 

stand to prevent consumers from getting into excessive 

debt. This foundation, which is the only one of its kind 

in Germany, offers financial advice for consumers by 

telephone and email, courses on personal finance at 

schools, and research-based information.

TeamBank internationalized its operations in 2008. 

It launched an alliance with Volksbank Ost in Vienna, 

Austria. Other local cooperative banks subsequently 

decided to adopt TeamBank’s partner banking model. 

December 2008 saw the opening of the first easy-

Credit shop in Vienna along the lines of the 60 or so 

shops now operating in major German towns and 

cities. This geographical expansion was accompanied 

by product enhancements. The cooperative banks can 

now offer easyCredit to self-employed people. 76 

percent of all German cooperative banks now partner 

with TeamBank.
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» Highest level of new home savings business in the 

 company’s history

» Market share raised to 30 percent

» Growing home finance business bucks the market trend

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall (BSH) reported record 

results in 2008. The fallout from the financial crisis 

prompted savers to attach greater importance to security 

and stability. The traditional preference for owning 

your own home – also as a form of retirement pension 

provision – therefore continued to grow. This trend 

boosted BSH’s business, especially its home savings 

and home finance activities.

BSH REPORTS RECORD LEVEL OF NEW HOME 
SAVINGS BUSINESS, BEATING ITS RECORD 
FROM 2006
Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall increased its total sales 

by 13 percent to € 46.6 billion in 2008, beating the 

previous record of € 41.6 billion set in 2006. The main 

factor driving this growth was its home savings business. 

REAL ESTATE FINANCE 
 BUSINESS SEGMENT: 
RECORD RESULTS AND 
NEW STRUCTURES

The number of newly signed home savings contracts 

rose by 27 percent to 1.1 million, while the total 

volume of newly concluded contracts grew by almost 

17 percent to € 32 billion. This was the best result in 

the company’s entire history. Its market share climbed 

to 30 percent for the first time on the back of this 

above-average growth. BSH’s 6.6 million customers 

held 7 million home savings contracts worth an 

aggregate € 208 billion on December 31, 2008. 

One of the main drivers of this strong growth was the 

inherent benefits of home savings contracts, which 

were thrown into sharp relief by the financial crisis. 

The fixed interest rates guaranteed by home savings 

contracts offer maximum protection against move-

ments in interest rates. The system of home savings 

operates largely independently of the capital markets 

due to its closed circuit of savings contributed by 

investors and the home savings loans extended by the 

bank. This is an unbeatable competitive advantage, 

especially when capital market interest rates are so 

volatile. Furthermore, the decision to amend the policy 

on government subsidies for homebuyers gave an added 

boost to business at year-end. Many customers took 

advantage of the full flexibility of these subsidies for 

the last time by signing new home savings contracts.

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall reported record 
 results in 2008. The strategy of placing all of the 
DZ BANK Group’s consumer home finance business 
with Schwäbisch Hall was successfully implemented.  
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GROWING HOME FINANCE BUSINESS BUCKS 
THE MARKET TREND
The strategy of placing all of the DZ BANK Group’s 

consumer home finance business with Schwäbisch Hall 

at the beginning of 2008 was also successful. In this 

business line, BSH focuses on instantly available finance 

that is similar to home savings loans and was supple-

mented by attractive product innovations. By offering 

a complementary and subsidiary range of products and 

services, Schwäbisch Hall supports the local cooperative 

banks in their efforts to defend and grow their share of 

the home finance market. The cooperative banks are 

highly impressed by BSH’s extended range of products 

and services. 

The cooperative banks and Schwäbisch Hall’s sales force 

sold instantly available home finance loans worth a 

total of € 2 billion, which represented a year-on-year 

increase of more than one third. In addition, customers 

rediscovered the appeal of home savings finance as a 

secure and stable component of their overall financing 

needs and obtained increasing volumes of home savings 

loans. Loan disbursements grew by more than one fifth 

to € 2.4 billion. BSH also cross-sold bridging loans and 

financing worth € 4.2 billion to cooperative banking 

partners. Its total volume of home finance business 

therefore grew by 11.4 percent year on year to € 8.6 

billion, thereby bucking the market trend. 

SUCCESSFUL DISTRIBUTION PARTNER 
The total volume of supplementary pension products 

sold by BSH amounted to € 6 billion and included 

the cooperative banks’ pension-related products as well 

as the investment funds and insurance offered by its 

cooperative network partners Union Investment and 

R+V Versicherung. The slight year-on-year decrease of 

2.4 percent is attributable to customers’ reluctance to 

buy mutual funds, which is hardly surprising given the 

turmoil in the stock markets. The cooperative banks 

benefited from BSH’s higher commission payments, 

which made a valuable contribution to their overall 

sales performance. The commission income that the 

banks received from the high level of new home savings 

business rose by more than € 50 million year on year to 

just under € 300 million in 2008. These banks also 

received other commissions and present-value income 

totaling € 80 million from the business cross-sold by 

Schwäbisch Hall’s sales force. 

STRONG GROWTH IN INTERNATIONAL  BUSINESS; 
18 PERCENT INCREASE IN HOME SAVINGS 
 CONTRACTS 
Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall continued to generate 

growth from its affiliated companies outside Germany. 

The five affiliates in the Czech Republic, Slovakia, 

Hungary, Romania and China concluded a total of 

690,000 home savings contracts worth an aggregate 

€ 8.6 billion, which was a year-on-year increase of 18 

percent. These international home savings institutions 

have 3.4 million customers between them and are the 

market leaders in their respective domestic markets by 

a wide margin. In addition to home savings contracts, 

these companies also sell other home finance and 

pension products. Their total volume of home finance 

business grew by 12.2 percent to € 1.9 billion. The 

number of products they cross-sold rose to 207,000. 

The affiliate in the Czech Republic also sells products 

offered by Union Investment and R+V Versicherung.

NEW MARKET POTENTIAL FOR THE COOPERATIVE 
FINANCIAL SERVICES NETWORK
There are signs of increasingly shifting demand patterns 

and new demand segments emerging in the residential 

construction market. Housing market experts are 

forecasting that demand for accommodation will grow 

in the next few years as the number of households 

continues to rise. More than ten million people in 

Germany want to become homeowners in the next 

ten years. The number of newly built homes, which 

has fallen in recent years, will increase slightly. At the 

same time there is a growing preference for second-

hand homes. This has created a significant need for 

refurbishment, especially in order to make homes 

more energy-efficient. Almost three-quarters of homes 

in Germany are more than 30 years old. Roughly one 

third of homeowners would like to modernize their 

properties in order to cut their energy consumption. 

These plans to refurbish homes incur a significant 

capital cost of just under € 40,000 on average.

ATTRACTIVE FUND-BASED RIESTER SAVINGS 
PRODUCTS FOR POTENTIAL HOMEBUYERS
By enabling consumers with fund-based Riester savings 

products to use the funds in these accounts to buy 

or build their own homes, Germany’s lawmakers have 

upgraded the status of home ownership as a form of 

pension provision for retirement. This so-called Wohn-

Riester product provides additional growth opportuni-

ties for Germany’s cooperative financial services network. 
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Similar subsidies and allowances are now also available 

to customers who are saving or making loan repayments 

under home savings contracts. On November 1, 2008, 

Schwäbisch Hall introduced a home savings contract 

that is eligible for Riester-type subsidies. This new 

product (Fuchs WohnRente) supplements the existing 

offering of home savings and home finance products. 

It completes the range of products available to eligible 

savers who would like to take advantage of the Riester-

type subsidies on offer to buy their own homes. Since 

January 2009 BSH has also been offering certified 

interest-only loans and home savings loans based on 

standard rates for which Riester-type subsidies are 

available. However, Schwäbisch Hall’s core product is 

still the traditional home savings contract, which offers 

flexibility in terms of its potential applications and the 

ability to switch and is also being used in the growing 

home refurbishment market.

» Strategic realignment successfully completed

» Competence center for commercial real-estate lending 

in the cooperative network

» Year-on-year increase in commercial real-estate finance

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, 

Hamburg (DG HYP), successfully completed its 

strategic realignment as the commercial real-estate 

bank for the cooperative financial services network in 

2008. By the middle of the year it had already imple-

mented its new organizational structure and the key 

personnel-related changes, thereby providing its 

business with the structures needed to take DG HYP 

forward as a lean commercial real-estate lender. Over 

the following months it continued to optimize its 

internal structures and processes and to expand its 

market position.

COMPETENCE CENTER FOR COMMERCIAL 
 REAL-ESTATE LENDING IN THE COOPERATIVE 
FINANCIAL SERVICES NETWORK
DG HYP supports the local cooperative banks in their 

commercial real-estate lending by offering a range of 

products and services that is tailored to the needs of 

both customers and the cooperative financial services 

network. Its Immo Meta and Immo Meta Reverse 

finance facilities are suitable for amounts of € 3 million 

or more. The risk attaching to both products is shared in 

each case between the banks and DG HYP. From 2009 

DG HYP will be offering its partner banks a further 

product (Immo Aval) for commercial real-estate 

lending of between € 0.5 million and € 3 million.

DG HYP’s decentralized organization in Germany, which 

comprises six real-estate centers located in Hamburg, 

Berlin, Düsseldorf, Stuttgart, Frankfurt am Main and 

Munich, provides a suitable platform on which to grow 

its commercial real-estate lending over the long term. 

Outside Germany, DG HYP maintains representative 

offices in London and New York, while its business in 

France and Scandinavia is handled by country desks. 

An alliance with DZ BANK Polska in the second half 

of 2008 laid the foundations for entering the eastern 

European markets. In addition to its core business of 

commercial real-estate finance, DG HYP also lends 

to municipalities and is involved in public-private 

partnerships. 

YEAR-ON-YEAR INCREASE IN COMMERCIAL 
 REAL-ESTATE FINANCE
Despite the tough market conditions prevailing in 2008, 

DG HYP managed to grow its commercial real-estate 

lending, partly as a result of the valuable support it 

receives from the DZ BANK Group. Its total volume of 

new lending came to € 3.8 billion, which was a year-on-

year increase of 28.1 percent. The proportion of finance 

attributable to its direct and cooperative network 

business in Germany rose from € 2.1 billion in 2007 

to € 2.4 billion in 2008. Its international and second-

ary market business performed encouragingly, with its 

total volume of new lending here growing by 55 

percent year on year to € 1.3 billion.

DECREASE IN LENDING TO MUNICIPALITIES
DG HYP’s volume of primary lending to municipalities 

contracted in 2008. One of the reasons for this decrease 

was the improved state of the municipalities’ finances. 

Another reason was that DG HYP geared its municipal 

lending to the provision of long-term finance that 

yielded higher margins. Its new lending in 2008 

amounted to € 750 million (2007: € 1.8 billion).
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» Life insurance earns record level of new premium income

» Growth in property and casualty insurance once again 

outperforms the market

» Strong performance by occupational pension products

R+V INCREASED ITS NEW BUSINESS AND PROVED 
ITS FINANCIAL STRENGTH IN 2008
R+V Versicherung performed well in 2008 despite the 

financial crisis. This performance was largely attributable 

to two success factors. R+V generated an outstanding 

level of new business and increased its portfolios in all 

divisions, with the local cooperative banks making a 

decisive contribution to this result. This once again 

enabled R+V to win market share across all divisions. 

And, second, the company weathered the financial 

crisis fairly well. As a long-term investor, R+V is also 

affected by the plunge in share prices worldwide and by 

what has often been a significant widening of interest-

rate spreads. The challenging conditions in the capital 

markets had a particularly noticeable impact on R+V’s 

investment income in 2008. Much higher write-downs 

on assets and lower gains on the disposal of securities 

INSURANCE BUSINESS 
 SEGMENT: SECURITY AND 
GUARANTEES IN DEMAND 
IN TIMES OF CRISIS

compared with previous years caused the company’s net 

investment income to fall sharply. Overall, however, the 

insurer reported a satisfactory net profit for the year. 

R+V proved its financial strength in the midst of the 

 financial crisis and this achievement was confirmed by 

independent credit rating agencies such as Standard 

& Poor’s, which awarded the company a ‘very good’ 

rating (A+). Furthermore, R+V was one of the few 

insurance companies that actually recruited staff in 2008 

to cope with the growth in its business, increasing its 

headcount in both its inhouse and field sales forces.

The R+V Group’s premium income rose by 4.5 percent 

to a new record of € 9.5 billion, roughly € 125 million 

of which was contributed by the Condor insurance 

group, which R+V acquired in the autumn of 2008.

R+V LIFE INSURANCE: NEW LEASE OF LIFE FOR 
TRADITIONAL PENSION INSURANCE 
R+V’s life and pension insurance earned new premium 

income of € 2.1 billion, which was a new record and 

represented a year-on-year increase of 7.1 percent, raising 

its market share to 10.3 percent (2007: 9.7 percent). 

Growth in new regular premiums was particularly 

encouraging at 14.2 percent, although one-off premiums 

also increased, growing by 5.3 percent to € 1.7 billion 

R+V Versicherung performed well in 2008, proving 
its financial strength in times of crisis and generating 
above-average market growth across all divisions. 
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from what had already been a high level in 2007. 

Gross premiums received advanced by 3.3 percent to 

€ 5.1 billion. 

Because customers started to value security and guaran-

teed returns again during the financial crisis, R+V’s 

traditional life and pension insurance products were 

given a new lease of life in 2008. In 2009 R+V will 

continue to offer an above-market-average overall 

interest rate of 4.5 percent, thereby demonstrating the 

solidity of its business. 

OCCUPATIONAL PENSION PRODUCTS FOCUSED 
ON SECTORAL SOLUTIONS
As one of the largest providers of occupational pension 

products in the German insurance market, R+V 

managed to build on the growth achieved in previous 

years and win further market share. Its portfolio grew 

by 21.4 percent to € 758 million. The chemical industry 

pension fund (ChemiePensionfonds) acquired at the 

end of 2007 also delivered a strong performance in 

2008, generating premium income of € 34 million for 

R+V. And the company was able to use the chemical 

industry pension scheme (ChemieVersorgungswerk) 

set up at the beginning of October to command an 

outstanding position as an expert partner in another 

major sectoral pension scheme.

GROWTH IN R+V HEALTH INSURANCE AGAIN 
COMFORTABLY OUTPERFORMS THE MARKET
R+V’s health insurance business continued its rapid 

growth in 2008, increasing by more than twice as much 

as the market. The gross premiums earned rose by 

7.6 percent overall to € 202 million. Almost 440,000 

people are now covered by R+V’s health insurance 

(up by 7.3 percent). The number of people with compre-

hensive health insurance rose by an above-average 

9.6 percent, while the number of those with supple-

mentary health insurance grew by 7.1 percent. 

R+V PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE WINS 
MARKET SHARE ACROSS ALL DIVISIONS
R+V’s property and casualty insurance continued to 

achieve above-average growth in 2008, winning market 

share across all divisions in business with both private 

and corporate customers. Consequently, the company’s 

total premium income rose by 2.1 percent to more than 

€ 3.4 billion despite the fact that the market grew only 

slightly (0.4 percent). € 1.4 billion of this total was 

attributable to vehicle insurance, which is the largest 

division. Following a particularly strong performance 

at the end of 2008 and the beginning of 2009, more 

than three million customers are now covered by R+V’s 

vehicle insurance for the first time. The company’s 

property and casualty insurance increased its market 

share further to 6.2 percent (2007: 6.0 percent). 

R+V’s accident insurance consolidated its position as 

the second-largest provider in the market, earning 

premium income of € 487 million. In its agricultural 

and technical insurance operations, R+V continued to 

grow its highly promising business in renewable 

energies and has been one of the market leaders in this 

field for years. R+V became Germany’s second-largest 

credit insurer in mid-2008 after years of continuous 

growth. Premium income from its liability insurance 

rose by 4.7 percent, while the premiums from its 

non-life insurance grew by 8.7 percent. The combined 

property/casualty ratio was further reduced.

BUOYANT NEW REINSURANCE BUSINESS 
 GENERATES RECORD GROWTH
R+V also enhanced its position in the active reinsurance 

market, generating growth of 26 percent. This business 

line earned premium income of € 644 million in 2008. 

All non-life insurance divisions contributed to this 

result. 

FIRMS ACQUIRED AND NEW BUSINESSES SET UP 
TO GENERATE FURTHER GROWTH
By taking key strategic decisions in 2008, R+V ensured 

that it will continue to generate growth in future. April 

saw the market launch of the newly founded Makler der 

Touristik (MDT), an independent insurance broker for 

tourism-related companies. At the beginning of August, 

R+V launched R+V24, an online vehicle insurer, with 

the aim of acquiring internet-savvy customers as a new 

target group for the cooperative financial services net-

work. In the autumn, R+V acquired the Condor in-

surance group, whose particular strengths in agent-

based sales ideally complement R+V’s distribution 

channels. In October, R+V set up a dedicated pension 

scheme for the German chemical industry (Chemie

Versorgungswerk) in collaboration with chemical com-

panies and trade unions. This is the only provider to 

offer the full range of five collectively negotiated pension 

insurance and risk cover schemes for more than half a 

million people working in the chemical industry. These 

schemes will lay the foundations for future growth.
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1. PRODUCTS AND SERVICES FOR 
PRIVATE AND CORPORATE CUSTOMERS  

» PERSONAL PENSION PRODUCTS
As a pensions specialist, R+V Versicherung supports the 

cooperative banks by providing high-quality personal 

pension products. The cooperative banks benefited 

from this strategy in 2008, generating new business 

SELECTED PRODUCTS AND 
SERVICES THAT THE DZ BANK 
GROUP PROVIDES FOR THE 
COOPERATIVE BANKS

Our ‘Verbund First’ strategy ensures that all our 
 efforts are geared to the needs of the cooperative 
financial services network. 

of € 2.1 billion from life and pension insurance. This 

success was partially due to fund-linked products and, 

in particular, guarantee products that meet customers’ 

need for security. Business involving regular premiums 

generated especially strong growth. Union Investment 

– and, consequently, the cooperative financial services 

network – was once again the leading provider of 

Riester-subsidized fund-linked savings plans in 2008, 

with a market share of roughly 74 percent. 250,000 new 

fund-based Riester savings products were sold during 

the reporting year despite the tough market conditions, 

with 100,000 savers opting for UniProfiRente/4P 

between September and December alone.

» OCCUPATIONAL PENSION PRODUCTS
R+V provides the cooperative banks’ corporate customers 

with customized products for all five officially-approved 

types of occupational pension scheme. It rounds off 

this extensive range by offering customized one-stop 

solutions that cover pre-retirement part-time employ-

ment, lifetime working models, profit-sharing schemes 

for employees, and sectoral solutions such as dedicated 

pension schemes for Germany’s chemical and engineer-

ing industries (ChemieVersorgungswerk and Metall

Rente). New premium income from R+V’s occupa-

tional pension products totaled € 759 million in 2008. 

In 2008 Union Investment continued to offer its 

In its ‘Our Values’ mission statement first published in 

2008, DZ BANK underlines its commitment to the 

‘Verbund First’ guiding principle of putting the interests 

of the cooperative banks first. This is the vision that 

forms the basis for all our actions and efforts. But this 

approach is nothing new: the principle of decentraliza-

tion and our focus on the needs of local cooperative 

banks have been guiding our institution ever since it was 

founded 125 years ago. The activities of DZ BANK AG 

and the DZ BANK Group are aimed at strengthening 

the market position of the cooperative financial services 

network, and this strategy proved succesful once again in 

2008. The section below presents a summary of selected 

products and services that the DZ BANK Group 

provides for the cooperative banks. Further examples 

can be found in the section on segment reporting on 

pages 6 to 34.
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DynaCom product, which provides fund-linked 

direct pension entitlements, and its UniLebensWert 

fund-based solution. It also collaborated with R+V 

Versicherung to provide its Chance Plus pension fund, 

which is used to fund existing pension reserves.

» AKZENT INVEST CERTIFICATES
AKZENT Invest, Germany’s only quality brand for 

investment certificates and structured bonds, continued 

to deliver a strong performance in 2008. It met inves-

tors’ every need in terms of trust, security and quality, 

which became crucial factors during the financial crisis. 

The advertising campaign, which continued in 2008, 

significantly raised the profile of AKZENT Invest, 

providing valuable impetus for marketing activities.

» RESEARCH
The many top awards given to DZ BANK’s equity 

analysts in 2008 once again reflected the high quality 

of the company’s research. Some 850 banks made use 

of at least one of its research packages. 

» PRIVATE BANKING
The DZ BANK Group uses subsidiaries based in 

Switzerland and Luxembourg – which form part of 

DZ Private Wealth Management S.A. – as well as a 

unit in Singapore to serve more than 65,000 high-net-

worth individuals who are clients of the cooperative 

banks and have investments totaling in excess of 

€ 9 billion. Over 300 cooperative banks work with 

DZ BANK International, Luxembourg, to deliver its 

Private Portfolio Strategy (PPS) asset management 

service. This involved managing total assets of more 

than € 760 million for some 7,300 locally-serviced 

private clients. Roughly 5,200 clients of the coop-

erative banks invested over € 550 million in the 

 STARPLAN currency investment vehicle. 

The DZ BANK Group’s three Private Banking units 

in Zurich, Luxembourg and Singapore provided the 

cooperative banks with total revenue of approximately 

€ 29 million from bonuses and commissions for the 

Private Banking, PPS and currency deposits businesses.

» INVESTMENT FUNDS
Union Investment managed UniOpti4, which was 

Germany’s largest retail fund with assets of over € 16 

billion in 2008. Guarantee funds were in considerable 

demand owing to private investors’ greater need for 

security. Investors entrusted the cooperative financial 

services network with roughly € 18 billion. The total 

number of investment accounts that Union Investment 

manages for clients of the cooperative banks rose by 

56,527 to more than 4.6 million. Union Investment 

offers four institutional retail funds that manage a total 

of € 1.96 billion for the cooperative banks’ corporate 

clients. 

R+V and Union Investment jointly offer fund-linked 

insurance products. R+V earned new premium income 

of € 2.2 billion in 2008, which was a new record in this 

segment. An increase in business involving regular 

premiums more than compensated for the decrease in 

one-off premiums earned. 

» BROKERAGE
In order to meet private clients’ individual needs, 

DZ BANK added more than 3,000 other investment 

products (including certificates) to the range of 

products that can be traded in its new centralized 

GENO-X marketplace. Consequently, the cooperative 

banks can now choose from a range of over 10,000 

investment products when advising private clients. 

The range of structured products is gradually being 

expanded in response to the growing importance of 

these instruments. 

» PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE
R+V Versicherung is the cooperative financial services 

network’s specialist provider of pension and insurance 

products for private and corporate clients. It is one of 

Germany’s largest insurers and has more than 7 million 

customers. The cooperative banks benefit from the 

market position of R+V: It is Germany’s largest insurer 

of banks, second-largest credit insurer and third-larg-

est provider of vehicle insurance. It is also a leader in 

many sectors such as transport and in renewable 

energies.

»  HOME SAVINGS AND HOME 
FINANCE  PRODUCTS

Schwäbisch Hall, in collaboration with the cooperative 

banks, sold 1.1 million home savings contracts worth 

a total of € 32 billion in 2008, which was a new record. 

Its market share rose to 30 percent. The cooperative 

banks earned commission income of € 300 million. 
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The strategy of placing all of the DZ BANK Group’s 

consumer home finance business with Bausparkasse 

Schwäbisch Hall (BSH) is designed to secure and 

expand the local cooperative banks’ share of the home 

finance market. The cooperative banks and Schwäbisch 

Hall’s sales force sold instantly available home finance 

loans worth a total of € 2 billion, which represented a 

year-on-year increase of more than one third. Its total 

volume of home finance business grew by 11.4 percent 

year on year to € 8.6 billion, thereby bucking the 

market trend.

The cooperative banks earned present-value income 

of € 80 million from the business cross-sold with 

Schwäbisch Hall’s sales force.

This product offering is supplemented by R+V’s Fix 

& Flex provident loan.

» CONSUMER FINANCE
The DZ BANK Group’s fair consumer lending practices 

embodied in its unique easyCredit loan facility were 

certified by Germany’s product standards regulator 

TÜV SÜD in 2008. This facility was supplemented 

by new product varieties such as the easyCredit loan 

for self-employed customers.

» FOREIGN-CURRENCY LENDING
DZ BANK International’s foreign-currency lending 

portfolio comprised over 26,100 transactions worth 

approximately € 5.8 billion with the cooperative banks 

and their customers in 2008. Revenue from bonuses 

and commissions for cooperative banks amounted to 

over € 44.9 million.

» JOINT CREDIT BUSINESS
The volume of loan applications rose from what was 

already a very high level in 2007 (€ 4.2 billion) to € 4.3 

billion in 2008. The volume of approved loans was 

virtually unchanged year on year despite the economic 

downturn and tough market conditions. The largest 

contribution came from the 424 applications for jointly 

extended standard loans and the 1,008 applications for 

jointly extended syndicated loans, which generated a 

total volume of € 4 billion. DZ BANK established its 

NAVIGATOR information medium for its joint credit 

business in VR-Banken-Portal in order to improve 

cooperation and enhance transparency. This contains 

information on the latest credit risk strategy, key 

products and the preconditions for granting loans. 

This system also discloses for the first time DZ BANK’s 

key risk-assessment standards and methods as well as 

its sectoral strategies.

»  FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS FOR THE 
COOPERATIVE FINANCIAL SERVICES NETWORK

The new accounting manual for the cooperative banks’ 

financial advisory system (GENO-FBS) was first made 

available free of charge to the local cooperative banks 

in September 2008. This manual helps standardize 

financial statement analysis throughout the cooperative 

financial services network. Roughly 700 banks have 

already made use of it.

» COMMERCIAL REAL-ESTATE FINANCE
DG HYP’s commercial real-estate lending grew by 

28 percent to € 3.8 billion despite the challenging 

market conditions in 2008. Its sophisticated Immo 

Meta and Immo Meta Reverse products are available to 

the local cooperative banks for complex commercial 

real-estate loans of € 3 million or more. It has developed 

a new product (Immo Aval) for standard commercial 

real-estate loans of between € 0.5 million and € 3 

million and will be launching this product in 2009. 

» LOCAL AUTHORITY LOANS
DG HYP’s primary local authority lending business 

helps its partner banks to advise local government, 

municipalities and local authorities on a wide range 

of financial issues. Its volume of new lending fell to 

€ 750 million in 2008 (2007: € 1.8 billion) owing to 

the improved state of the municipalities’ finances and 

DG HYP’s strategic decision to gear its business to 

the provision of long-term finance that yielded higher 

margins. 

» DEVELOPMENT LOANS
In 2008, DZ BANK conducted four theme-based and 

target-group-focused sales campaigns that helped to 

extend the cooperative financial services network’s 

market leadership. This once again enabled the network 

to demonstrate its quality leadership in the electronic 

processing of development loans. All modifications 

requested by the funding institutions in 2008 in 

response to the new EU legislation on state aid were 

implemented in GENO-STAR. Kreditwerk, which has 
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been responsible for processing since 2007, processed 

almost 71,000 new development loans worth more than 

€ 5.4 billion on behalf of DZ BANK in 2008. 

» SPECIAL CREDIT FACILITY FOR SMEs
DZ BANK and WGZ BANK launched a special credit 

facility totaling € 1 billion for small and medium-sized 

enterprises (SMEs) at the end of 2008; DZ BANK 

contributed € 750 million of this total. This provision 

of unsecured long-term funding demonstrates that the 

cooperative banking group remains committed to 

financing SMEs even when market conditions are 

turbulent. The central institutions therefore provide 

support for the local cooperative banks’ marketing 

offensives. 

»  GLOBAL LOAN FACILITY PROVIDED BY 
THE EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK 

DZ BANK raised a global loan facility amounting to 

€ 150 million from the European Investment Bank. 

This has provided the local cooperative banks with 

loan tranches that they can use to extend low-interest 

loans to corporate customers. 

» VR CROSS SELLING
The number of banks participating in the VR Cross 

Selling strategy, which was applied to some 850 custom-

ers, rose from 250 to 300 in 2008. More than 1,000 

interest-rate derivatives were sold to customers of the 

local cooperative banks for the first time. These transac-

tions generated over € 4 million in commissions that 

were paid to the local cooperative banks (an increase 

of 8 percent on 2007). 

» LEASING AND FACTORING
VR LEASING’s equipment and vendor finance opera-

tions (leasing, hire purchase and investment loans) gen-

erated new business worth € 4.6 billion in 2008, a large 

proportion of which was once again business referred 

by banks. By working closely with VR LEASING, the 

cooperative banks can raise their profile as specialist 

financial services providers. VR-LeasyOnline should 

also be mentioned in this context; the volume of leases 

processed using this online tool jumped by 84 percent.

» PRIVATE EQUITY
DZ Equity Partner added VR-MezzanineKompakt to 

its range of products and services in 2008. This enables 

cooperative banks to offer their clients an exclusive, 

standardized product based on profit-sharing rights of 

between € 200,000 and € 1,500,000 to strengthen their 

equity base. A total of € 7.1 million has already been 

made available to cooperative bank customers in ten 

cases. Over 85 percent of the investments acquired by 

DZ Equity Partner in 2008 and almost 70 percent of 

its total transaction volume were attributable to 

corporate clients of cooperative banks. DZ Equity 

Partner paid commissions exceeding € 1.3 million 

(2007: € 0.5 million) to cooperative banks for the 

referral of transactions.

2. CAPITAL MARKET PRODUCTS 
AND  SERVICES 

»  ADVISORY SERVICES FOR 
OWN-ACCOUNT INVESTING

Given the tough conditions prevailing in the capital 

markets, DZ BANK supported the cooperative banks 

by providing them with a number of advisory services 

and organizing events, which included more than 

1,350 one-on-one consulting sessions on interest-rate 

risk and present-value management. 

» MONITORING MARKET COMPLIANCE 
A module was added to this outsourcing service in 

2008 to monitor institutions’ own securities issues in 

secondary trading. 54 percent of all local cooperative 

banks use the online system for monitoring market 

compliance.

» LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT
In what were challenging money market conditions 

DZ BANK provided its affiliated banks with a constant 

supply of liquidity or purchased it for a fair interest 

rate. By making counter-investments as part of a tender, 

each participating local cooperative bank reacted swiftly 

to a modified central institution instrument and made a 

considerable profit contribution. 

»  INSTITUTIONAL INVESTMENT FUNDS AND 
PROPRIETARY INVESTMENTS

In 2008, 510 local banks invested a total of € 3.1 billion 

in the institutional investment funds launched jointly 

with Union Investment for the purpose of managing 

and more broadly diversifying their proprietary invest-

ments.
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3. PROCESSING SERVICES 

» CARD PROCESSING
The VR-KartenConcept card-processing strategy 

established in 2007 and advisory packages based on it 

(RegioCard, regional design, co-branding and custom-

ized advice) bore fruit in 2008. The net growth of 6.4 

percent in DZ BANK’s market region was almost twice 

as high as the average for the German card-processing 

market as a whole.

In 2008 the VR-KartenConcept strategy was expanded 

to include prepaid cards for teenagers and young 

adults, while the product family of commercial cards 

was supplemented by the MasterCard CorporateCard 

for small and medium-sized corporate customers. More 

than 500 local cooperative banks signed up to the 

prepaid card and over 4,000 cards were sold within 

a very short period in 2008.

» PAYMENTS PROCESSING
The volume of domestic payment transactions processed 

grew by almost 7 percent in 2008. 61 percent of 

payments remitted to the euro zone were processed as 

SEPA funds transfers. In addition, DZ BANK devel-

oped two new products: its AZV-OutsourcingService 

(service for outsourcing the processing of international 

payments) and its VR-RechnungsService (invoicing 

service), which are currently being piloted. 

» SECURITIES PROCESSING
The cooperative banks’ securities-related business and 

investment accounts are processed centrally by 

DZ BANK and its service provider dwpbank. In 2008 

the banks generated value-added of € 34.8 million 

owing to the centralized processing of their investment 

accounts. DZ BANK and its service provider adminis-

tered a total of 2.4 million investment accounts in 

2008.

» PROCESSING
As a provider of processing services, Kreditwerk contin-

ued to render services for the cooperative financial 

services network in 2008. Working on behalf of BSH, 

for example, Kreditwerk processed almost 1.1 million 

home savings loan applications (26 percent more than 

in 2007) and just over 195,000 home finance loans 

in 2008. In addition, the Kreditwerk subsidiary VR 

Kreditservice GmbH has been working with and on 

behalf of cooperative banks since the end of 2007 to 

develop customized solutions to secure and expand 

their share of the lending market. 
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44 Responsibility42 Commitment 46 Solidarity

A landmark event in 2008 was the celebrations 
marking DZ BANK’s 125th anniversary. The Bank 
staged three events in honor of the city of Frankfurt, 
its own staff and the cooperative financial services 
network. 

DZ BANK’S 
125TH ANNIVERSARY

All three events that formed part of the official celebrations focused on DZ BANK’s keen desire 
to stress the sense of responsibility that it felt toward its home city of Frankfurt, its employees 
and its partners in the cooperative financial services network. Given the parlous state of the 
economy, DZ BANK had thought long and hard about whether it should even celebrate this 
anniversary and, if so, what form these celebrations should take. It finally came to the conclu-
sion that it was always appropriate at any time to pay respect to those who over the years 
have made a contribution to the commanding position that DZ BANK enjoys today.

The Bank launched its anniversary celebrations back in March 2008 by giving Frankfurt’s Städel 
art gallery the right to permanently exhibit 215 top-quality works from its own collection. 
This was followed in October by a staff party in Frankfurt’s Festival Hall, which was the first 
time in the Bank’s history that employees from every one of its locations around the world 
had met up. The official ceremony held in Frankfurt’s Alte Oper concert hall in December 
2008, which was attended by some 1,000 invited guests, marked the end of the year of 
anniversary celebrations. This event was also attended by Guido Westerwelle, the Chairman 
of Germany’s liberal Free Democratic Party, and by Petra Roth, the Mayor of Frankfurt. The 
evening was compered by Tom Buhrow, the presenter of Germany’s nightly TV news program 
Tagesthemen.
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“IN FUTURE, PHOTOGRAPHY AT THE STÄDEL – ONE OF GERMANY’S 
FOREMOST ART GALLERIES – WILL FOREVER BE LINKED WITH THE 
NAME OF DZ BANK.”
Max Hollein, Director of Frankfurt’s Städel Institute of Art

1 2

3 4

5



DZ BANK 
GESCHÄFTSBERICHT 2008
KAPITEL 
UNTERKAPITEL

DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
DZ BANK’S 125TH ANNIVERSARY
COMMITMENT

43

DZ BANK and Frankfurt’s renowned Städel art gallery 
launched an unprecedented form of collaboration, 
the like of which has never been seen before: in March 
2008 DZ BANK gave the gallery the right to perma-
nently exhibit 215 top-quality works by the most 
prominent photographers of the 20th century so that 
part of its extensive art collection would be accessi-
ble to the general public. 

This method of setting up a company for the purpose 
of donating works of art is unique in the art world to 
date and was viewed by those involved as the starting 
point for building a collection. 

DZ BANK’s collection is one of the world’s largest of 
its kind and includes works by artists such as Richard 
Avedon, Andy Warhol, Gilbert & George, Robert 
Rauschenberg, Thomas Ruff and Hiroshi Sugimoto. 
More than 70 of these artists are due to be exhibited 
in the Städel’s new extension as from 2010. To mark 
its 125th anniversary, DZ BANK mounted its REAL 
exhibition in the summer of 2008, which attracted 
over 52,000 visitors.

In the past the Städel gallery has not had a photography 
collection of its own. Its right to exhibit these major 
photographic works from DZ BANK’s art collection 
therefore considerably strengthens and increases the 
Städel’s collection of post-1945 art.

COMMITMENT

1) Städel Director Max Hollein (left) with Wolfgang Kirsch, Chief 
Executive Officer of DZ BANK  2) More than 52,000 visitors saw 
the REAL exhibition  3) American artist Kevin Clarke (left) with Dr. 
Thomas Duhnkrack, Member of DZ BANK’s Board of Managing 
Directors (right), and Dr. Hartmut Schwesinger, Managing Director 

of FrankfurtRheinMain GmbH  4) Striking advertising in the city 
center  5) Work by the renowned artist Katharina Sieverding 
from DZ BANK’s art collection  6) Frankfurt’s Mayor Petra Roth 
(second from left) with Wolfgang Kirsch (left), Head of DZ BANK’s 
art  collection Luminita Sabau and Städel Director Max Hollein

6
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“WE ARE CELEBRATING AS A BANK THAT POSSESSES THE COURAGE 
AND CURIOSITY TO LOOK AHEAD AND MOVE FORWARD.”
Wolfgang Kirsch, Chief Executive Officer of DZ BANK AG
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DZ BANK used its anniversary year as a fitting opportu-
nity to show its gratitude to those who are key to its 
success: these are, first and foremost, its staff around 
the world. This was the first time in the history of 
DZ BANK that some 3,000 employees from every one 
of its locations worldwide had met up.

Anke Engelke compered the evening, managing to 
strike a balance between entertaining interludes and 
discussions that reflected the seriousness of the eco-
nomic situation. In his speech, Chief Executive Officer 
Wolfgang Kirsch took the view that in such challeng-
ing times a bank and its workforce had to step up to 

the plate, show their courage and all pull together. 
DZ BANK’s employees used the evening as an opportu-
nity to network and to celebrate their employer’s 
ability to motivate.

A number of acts provided a wide range of entertain-
ment. A percussion group got the evening off to a 
promising start and was followed by the performers of 
the Mobile Musicale ensemble, who laid on a stunning 
show. A band made up of DZ BANK employees received 
ecstatic applause, and surprise star act Kool & the Gang 
weaved their magic and got people on their feet and 
on the stage.

RESPONSIBILITY

6

1) Kool and the Gang, the surprise star act performing at DZ BANK’s 
staff party  2) A percussion group got the party off to a swinging 
start  3) A band composed of DZ BANK employees gave their 
rendition of the hit song ‘We are family’  4) 3,000 members of 
staff from all DZ BANK locations worldwide partied the evening 

away  5) The performers of the Mobile Musicale ensemble wowed 
the audience with their artistry  6) Compere Anke Engelke 
delighted everyone – including the Members of DZ BANK’s 
Board of Managing Directors – with her unique mixture of 
humor and charm
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“WHEN TIMES ARE TOUGH IT IS PARTICULARLY IMPORTANT 
TO BE AWARE OF YOUR HISTORY AND REMEMBER WHAT 
YOUR STRENGTHS ARE.”
Rolf Hildner, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK AG
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The official ceremony marking DZ BANK’s 125th 
anniversary was held in Frankfurt’s Alte Oper concert 
hall on December 4, 2008 and was attended by 
roughly 1,000 invited guests. The compere for the 
evening was TV news anchorman Tom Buhrow who, 
in his welcoming address, announced to those present 
that they would be seeing a performance of a three-
part journey through the Bank’s history. The evening’s 
proceedings were opened by Rolf Hildner, the Chair-
man of DZ BANK’s Supervisory Board, who recalled the 
life motto of Wilhelm Haas, the founder of the oldest 
of DZ BANK’s predecessor institutions: trust in your 
own ability. 

This was followed by the start of a journey through 
DZ BANK’s history, which was impressively portrayed 

through the media of film, music and dance. The coop-
erative principle, which was represented by a solo 
dancer from the dance ensemble of Frankfurt Univer-
sity of Music and Performing Arts (HfMDK), was the 
common theme running throughout the performance. 

Wolfgang Kirsch’s keynote speech focused on the 
subject of new beginnings in a time of crisis. He 
commented that the Bank’s anniversary had come at a 
fitting time despite – or even because of – the financial 
market turmoil, since a guiding principle throughout 
DZ BANK’s history had been the need to see all crises 
as an opportunity and to overcome them successfully. 
A panel discussion examining future trends and the 
outlook for the cooperative financial services network 
concluded the official part of the evening. 

SOLIDARITY

6

1) Discussions after the official part of the evening had finished  
2) Tom Buhrow compered the proceedings with consummate 
professionalism  3) Wolfgang Kirsch with Frankfurt’s Mayor 
Petra Roth  4) DZ BANK’s Supervisory Board Chairman Rolf Hildner 
talking to Jochen Sanio, President of the German financial services 
regulator (BaFin), and Manfred Mathes, Former CEO of Union 

Investment (from left to right)  5) Keynote speaker Guido 
Westerwelle, Chairman of Germany’s Free Democratic Party (FDP)  
6) Students from Frankfurt University of Music and Performing 
Arts performed a journey through the Bank’s history  7) The 
stage in Frankfurt’s Alte Oper concert hall was a blaze of orange 
and blue
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I. Business performance 

1. ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Over the year under review, average inflation-adjusted 
gross domestic product in Germany still rose by 1.3 
percent year on year. However, the buoyant domestic 
economy during the first few months of 2008 gave way 
in subsequent months to the trend toward recession. 
This trend worsened significantly over the course of 
the year with a further acceleration in the downturn in 
the final quarter. 

The fallout from the international crisis in the finan-
cial markets resulted in a noticeable overall cooling-off 
in the global economy in 2008. A downward trend in 
the direction of recession took hold in most industrial-
ized countries during the year. Even the Asian econo-
mies that have enjoyed sustained economic growth 
over the last few years felt the impact from the slump.

The economic downturn during the course of 2008 
was particularly severe in the United States. Although 
the US economy had remained sound during the first 
half of the year, it was hit in the second half of the  
year by an ever sharper downward trend. The serious 
problems in the US banking sector that had emerged 
during the crisis in the financial markets were also 
 having an increasingly adverse impact on the real 
economy. There was no letup in the collapse in hous-
ing prices, resulting in a continuous increase in the 
number of foreclosures, particularly on subprime 
mortgages i.e. mortgages backed by little collateral and 
held by individuals with a low credit rating. Consumer 
spending, the most important driver in US gross do-
mestic product, was hit as a result of the capital losses 
caused by the tense situation in the real estate and eq-
uities markets, and also increasingly as a result of the 
massive upsurge in unemployment from the fall on-
ward. The situation in the US industrial sector, in par-
ticular, deteriorated considerably toward the end  
of the year, primarily in the car industry where the 
major manufacturers found themselves in serious 
 financial difficulty and had to turn to the government 
for support.

In Germany, economic growth received a boost in the 
first months of 2008 from gross capital investment by 
companies driven by significant orders on hand and 
earnings performance that still remained at favorable 
levels. However, the start of a sharp downturn was 
signaled from the spring onward by trends in capital 
expenditure on both equipment and construction. 
Strongly subdued sales prospects in international 
markets and uncertainty about further economic 
growth also forced companies to scale back their 
existing capital expenditure plans. 

Given the increasing slump in international demand, 
German exports also ran out of steam, primarily during 
the second half of the year. The last few months of 
2008 saw a further worsening in the downward trend 
in exports.

Adjusted for inflation, consumer demand in 2008 
remained unchanged year on year. In the first half of 
the year, consumer spending suffered particularly from 
the effects of high energy prices. Consumer behavior 
also remained cautious during the second half of the 
year given the heightening of the financial markets 
crisis. 

In the final months of the year, the German govern-
ment attempted to counter the crisis in the financial 
markets and the serious economic slump by introduc-
ing various support measures for the economy. In 
November, the government agreed an initial economic 
stimulus package, promising to inject around €  30 
billion into the German economy. In January 2009,  
a second, significantly more comprehensive fiscal 
stimulus package was set in motion.

Given that tax receipts held up well into the fall, there 
was only a relatively limited funding deficit in the 
overall German national budget for the year. However, 
there is likely to be a significant deterioration in the 
public finances during 2009 given the expected drop 
in tax receipts and a massive increase in government 
spending to support the economy.
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2. IMPACT ON LENDING FROM THE WIDEN-
ING OF THE FINANCIAL MARKETS CRISIS 

The crisis in the financial markets, which in 2007  
had initially been restricted to the US mortgage sector, 
spread to global financial markets during the remain-
der of 2007, with the severity of the crisis reaching  
new heights in the last few months of 2008 and the 
start of 2009.

Following the nationalization of US mortgage refi-
nancing operations Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac at 
the start of September, the collapse of the investment 
bank Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc., New York, NY, 
USA (Lehman Brohers) in mid-September took the 
financial markets crisis to completely new levels. The 
confidence of banks in each other, already battered  
by the financial storm, took a further damaging blow. 
The severe liquidity crunch affecting the financial 
sector suffered a further squeeze and the interbank 
market almost came to a complete standstill.

As a consequence of these developments, the markets 
saw share prices tumble dramatically during October, 
with financial shares being the hardest hit. At the same 
time, there was a further widening of spreads in bond 
markets. The intensity of the crisis was also reflected  
in the emergence in October 2008 of the threat faced 
by Iceland. The Icelandic government was only able  
to head off this threat by forcing the three leading 
national banks into receivership and obtaining support 
from the International Monetary Fund (IMF).

In a concerted action at the start of October 2008, 
central banks in the USA, Canada and some European 
countries reduced their key interest rates by a half of a 
percentage point. The European Central Bank (ECB) 
announced two further interest rate cuts in 2008 with 
a total reduction of 125 basis points bringing its key 
interest rate down to 2.5 percent; up to the start of 
March 2009 there were further two cuts reducing the 
rate to 1.5 percent. 

Finally, the governments of the USA and numerous 
European Union countries announced far-reaching 
initiatives to stabilize national financial institutions 

affected by the crisis. The objective of the support 
measures was to re-establish the confidence of the 
banks in each other. The measures also included the 
provision of capital and liquidity for these banks, the 
purchase of non-performing loans, and the pledging  
of government guarantees for deposits held by private 
investors. 

The US government rescue package amounting to  
US$ 700 billion, which came into effect on October 3, 
was originally largely aimed at buying up toxic assets 
associated with the collapsed mortgage market.

However, the US Department of the Treasury subse-
quently revised this plan to encompass the acquisition 
of direct equity stakes in a number of banks. 

In mid-October 2008, the governments of the Euro-
pean Union and US approved an internationally 
agreed bailout package to be implemented at national 
level aimed at ensuring the survival of important 
financial institutions, such as banks and insurance 
companies. This also included rules on financial 
reporting exemptions relating to the application of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  
for EU member states in 2008. 

On October 12, 2008, the German government 
introduced the Financial Markets Stabilization Act 
(FMStG) which included a package of measures worth 
a total of € 500 billion to be managed by the special 
financial markets stabilization fund (SoFFin). This 
package comprised an amount of € 400 billion 
dedicated to guarantees for refinancing instruments,  
a further € 80 billion for recapitalization and the 
transfer of risk via the acquisition of toxic assets, and  
an amount of € 20 billion for possible losses on 
guarantees. 

The decision on this range of measures had been 
preceded by the threat of collapse at property-lender 
Hypo Real Estate AG, Munich, (Hypo Real Estate), 
which was only averted by a bailout in October 2008 
of € 50 billion in the form of additional liquidity 
provided jointly by Deutsche Bundesbank and a 
number of financial institutions. 
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The adverse effects from the crisis in the financial 
markets were subsequently revealed in the figures 
published by lenders for the period ended September 
30, 2008. The figures showed a dramatic fall in profits 
and a resulting requirement for a comprehensive 
capital support program in a number of major banks.

Among German regional development banks, consid-
eration of the possibility of mergers between individual 
banks became a top priority. Private banks also focused 
on far-reaching discussions regarding the most appro-
priate way of dealing with the worsening financial 
markets crisis.
 
An important change in the domestic banking structure 
in Germany came about with the takeover of Dresdner 
Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, by Commerzbank AG, 
Frankfurt am Main, which was contractually agreed on 
August 31, 2008. The takeover was fully completed in 
January 2009 ahead of the original schedule.

At the same time, it was also announced that Deutsche 
Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, (Deutsche Bank), which 
had acquired an initial stake of around 30 percent in 
Deutsche Postbank AG, Bonn, on September 12, 2008, 
intended to take over the latter more rapidly than 
planned. 

Viewed over the year as a whole, earnings in the domes-
tic banking sector were particularly badly affected by 
the negative impact of the financial markets crisis on 
income from capital markets activities.

In the first few months of 2008, corporate lending by 
banks remained robust, resulting in growth in interest-
based income in domestic banks. Although there was 
some delay before the negative consequences of the 
financial markets crisis reached the real economy, this 
did mean that the impact was all the more severe in the 
last months of the year. 

The cost reduction measures introduced over the last 
few years and the restrictive risk management practised 
in the year under review ensured that administrative 
expenses and the level of credit risk provision remained 
more or less stable overall. However, the risk situation 
in banks, particularly in the last few months of the year, 

was negatively impacted by the significant deterioration 
in economic conditions.

In the first few weeks of 2009, the crisis on the global 
financial markets continued unabated.

In the course of January 2009, with disclosure of 
figures for the fourth quarter, prestigious major banks 
in both the USA and Europe announced further 
dramatic losses for 2008 as a whole. 

January 2009 again saw US banks turning to the 
national bailout package for support. 

On January 19, 2009, the British government an - 
nounced a further comprehensive support package for 
the banking sector to strengthen lending in major 
banks, some of which had already received government 
support in the form of an equity stake. The primary 
element in this package was a guarantee facility for 
asset-backed securities amounting to at least £100 
billion, the aim of the guarantee being to make it easier 
for the banks to obtain refinancing. The Bank of 
 England also announced a scheme worth a total of up 
to £50 billion to buy up certain securities from the 
banks from the start of February onward.

On January 22, 2009, it was announced that the French 
government had granted additional equity totaling 
€ 10.5 billion to important major banks, and to savings 
banks and credit cooperatives in the country. The 
banks received the funding in proportion to the capital 
support of the same amount that they had already been 
granted at the end of 2008. In return, the subsidized 
banks undertook to increase their lending over the year 
by 3 to 4 percent.

In Germany, the further worsening in the financial 
markets crisis has also led to public discussion of pos-
sible solutions aimed at removing all toxic assets from 
bank balance sheets, specifically securities that the cri-
sis has rendered unmarketable. This discussion has fo-
cused primarily on the pros and cons of setting up a 
“bad bank” regardless of how such a bank would be fi-
nanced. This bank would take over financial assets that 
have become very difficult to put a value on because of 
the illiquidity in the markets. 
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To date, the German government has rejected any 
solution of this kind involving a comprehensive 
transfer of risk to the state. However, the government 
has been considering the further development of 
solutions based on existing arrangements that would 
involve, in particular, an extension of the guarantees 
granted by SoFFin from the current term of 36 months 
to 60 months.

3. COOPERATIvE BUSINESS MODEL   
REMAINS SOUND  

At the core of the cooperative financial services network 
are the cooperative banks and their customers. There 
are around 1,200 German cooperative banks and 
between them they have approximately 30 million 
private and corporate customers. More than half of the 
customers in Germany (approximately 16.2 million) 
are shareholders in their cooperative bank. Among 
German banking groups, the entire cooperative finan-
cial services network therefore has by far and away the 
greatest number of shareholders and, as a result, enjoys 
broadly diversified backing and a sound base in the 
community. 

In turn, the cooperative banks are the principal  
owners of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossen-
schaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main, (DZ BANK). The 
primary responsibility of DZ BANK and its subsidiar-
ies is to support and promote the local cooperative 
banks so that these local banks can provide an optimum 
service to their members and other customers. The 
cooperative banks work together with the DZ BANK 
Group on the basis of trust to achieve their common 
objectives.

This business model and the cooperative sector are 
synonymous with confidence, reflected not least in  
the significant inflow of customer deposits into local 
cooperative banks in times of crisis. 

However, the strength of the cooperative model is not 
only in evidence at national level; it can be seen at 
international level too. In this regard, we would cite 
the Unico initiative aimed at reviving the interbank 
market. Unico, a coalition of the eight leading Euro-

pean cooperative banks, including DZ BANK, agreed 
in October 2008 to offer each other reciprocal unse-
cured interbank credit lines for terms of up to three 
months in order also to win back the trust of other 
market players. The aim was to promote a recovery in 
the interbank market.

foCus oN tHe NeeDs of tHe CoopeRAtiVe 
fiNANCiAl seRViCes NetWoRK
The current financial turmoil has proven the robustness 
of traditional, sound business models like the model 
used by the DZ BANK Group, with its clear focus on 
the needs of the cooperative financial services network. 
As a central institution, corporate bank and financial 
services holding company, the DZ BANK Group is 
constructed on firm foundations. 

The fundamental importance of the cash-pooling 
 function as a core task of a central institution was 
particularly evident in 2008 as money markets ceased 
to function and liquidity dried up following the collapse 
of Lehman Brothers. One of the advantages of cash 
pooling within the cooperative financial services 
network is that the network is then less dependent on 
the interbank market compared with other banks. 
Cash inflows and outflows could be managed within 
the network to ensure that the DZ BANK Group 
enjoyed a comfortable liquidity position at all times, 
even when subjected to stress scenarios. 

DZ BANK can rely on a broad, well-diversified base  
of support in terms of regions, investors, markets,  
and maturities in the structure of its short-term and 
medium-term refinancing. Cooperative bank invest-
ments are the most important and most stable source 
of refinancing. This allows DZ BANK, within the 
parameters of its risk-bearing capacity, to continue to 
hold assets affected by the crisis until maturity, i.e. 
beyond the current period of market disruption.  
DZ BANK then expects to be able to reverse some  
of the write-downs on these assets in future.

The fact that DZ BANK is tightly integrated into the 
cooperative financial services network did have a 
positive impact on new business, but it did not mean 
that DZ BANK was able to escape the effects of the 
worsening in economic conditions. The fourth quarter, 
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there is still only one supplier for each product in the 
network – with a corresponding gain in efficiency 
resulting from low production costs.

As regards DZ BANK's European ambitions, group 
companies will continue to transfer their product 
expertise outside Germany, preferably providing their 
products and services in other countries in collabora-
tion with other cooperative banks. This method has 
proven to be effective in the past, as demonstrated, for 
example, by the asset management, home savings, and 
consumer credit businesses. One of the advantages of 
these collaborative arrangements is that they generate 
significant synergies, which increase customer benefit 
and further enhance the profile of the cooperative 
sector, allowing DZ BANK to increase market share 
through organic growth.

Diversification of income is still necessary and the 
concept of ‘Verbund First’ therefore also means a 
commitment to third-party business. Through its 
foreign offices, DZ BANK offers its SME and institu-
tional customers access to international capital markets 
and/or facilitates their international business, or even 
allows them to expand abroad. 

Even before the crisis, the pressure from competitors 
was significant and there will be no noticeable let-up 
once the crisis is over. The cooperative financial services 
network must adapt to the challenges presented by this 
situation. Given this background, a merger between the 
two central institutions WGZ BANK AG, Westdeutsche 
Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf, (WGZ BANK) 
and DZ BANK to form just one central institution is a 
consistent, logical move.

The planned merger between DZ BANK and 
WGZ BANK forms part of our joint efforts to further 
the development of the cooperative financial services 
network and realize our vision of establishing the 
network as the leading financial services provider  
in Germany over the long term. A merged central 
institution will further improve the network’s position 
in the market as a strong local partner for SMEs and 
private clients. Other objectives of the merger include 
cost savings, even more intensive support for local 
banks, and enhanced transparency regarding contribu-
tions to profits.

in particular, saw a significant worsening of the situation 
in the markets following the collapse of international 
commercial and investment banks. There was a 
considerable widening of spreads. All asset classes and 
associated income were affected; there was also an 
impact on individual segments. 

DZ BANK had already instigated various action 
programs at an early stage to counter the impact of the 
crisis in the financial markets. A project group was set 
up to ensure intensive monitoring and management of 
changes in capital and risk-weighted assets. This group 
of experts at DZ BANK is initiating action plans to 
reduce risk-weighted assets and strengthen the capital 
base. Various measures were also introduced to manage 
and optimize the balance-sheet structure.

Supported by its strong group brands, such as Union 
Investment, Schwäbisch Hall, R+V and easyCredit 
(TeamBank), the DZ BANK Group managed to buck 
unfavorable market trends and gain customer and 
market share. In some cases, specialist service providers 
in the group also benefited from the turmoil in the 
markets. For example, Bausparkasse Schwäbisch  
Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall (BSH) enjoyed the most 
successful year in its 77-year history. Market leader 
BSH was able to achieve a further consolidation in its 
market position as investors increasingly rediscovered 
the advantages of the home savings option, such as 
security, transparency, and flexibility.

In an increasingly competitive marketplace, one of  
the factors that gives the cooperative financial services 
network an edge is its comprehensive distribution 
network in the German banking market. Customers 
can obtain advice and access a comprehensive range  
of products from the DZ BANK Group online, at any 
of the 14,000 branches of the local cooperative banks 
or via a range of other distribution channels.

At the same time, the cooperative financial services 
network attaches great importance to the independ-
ence of its individual members. To perform success-
fully, DZ BANK must achieve control over a two-way 
market mechanism. First, it must satisfy the require-
ments of its owners for returns. Secondly, DZ BANK 
must persuade its owners to use its products and services 
and this can only be achieved with competitive prod-
ucts. This competitive pressure means that, currently, 
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exploit the trend toward safer forms of investment  
to achieve further expansion in new home-savings 
business. With its successful market launches in eastern 
Europe, and as market leader in Germany, BSH has 
made a significant contribution to the performance of 
the DZ BANK Group.

To achieve further improvements in the support it 
provides for the local cooperative banks’ presence and 
level of quality in the marketplace and to develop 
innovative products for the benefit of these banks and 
their customers, the DZ BANK Group focuses on the 
development of strong product brands that allow the 
local cooperative banks to differentiate themselves 
significantly from their competitors. The best example 
is AKZENT Invest, our retail structured product 
(certificate) brand, with which DZ BANK and the 
cooperative banks have for the first time become the 
market leader in retail structured products in Germany 
(number one in this market with a market share of 
22.7 percent, according to the German Direct Market-
ing Association (DDV) in March 2009). The brand is 
now used for almost every issue of a private-label 
structured product within the cooperative financial 
services network, at the same time enhancing awareness 
of “Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken”, the brand of the 

DiVeRsifeD BusiNess MoDel
To continue to provide optimum support for the market 
presence of the cooperative banks, the DZ BANK 
Group has systematically refined its business model 
into three areas of activity: retail banking, transaction 
banking, and corporate and investment banking. 

RetAil BANKiNG
The market positioning of retail products is a criti-
cal factor in the performance of the entire coopera-
tive  financial services network in the financial serv-
ices sector. Together with the cooperative banks, the 
DZ BANK Group is developing appropriate strategies 
in response to the aggressive competition in the mar-
ketplace and, in particular, to address the issue of  
a general decline in customer loyalty. The systematic 
alignment of action plans with social megatrends al-
lows DZ BANK to identify and rapidly implement im-
portant initiatives throughout the group. For example, 
Union Investment was able to exploit the sustained 
demand for pension products to establish itself as the 
market leader for “Riester” (German subsidized private 
pension) funds with its “UniProfiRente” product. 

The policy of developing products led by target 
customer needs also allowed BSH, for example, to 
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local cooperative banks in Germany, across broad 
sections of the population. The local cooperative banks 
are then able to build on the strength of the AKZENT 
Invest brand and the quality of the product range  
by offering the expert level of advice to which their 
customers have become accustomed. This expert advice 
can also be used for other products, for example 
easyCredit consumer finance with the certified fairness 
package and best price guarantee. One of the unique 
selling propositions is the fair lending decision which is 
the first such process in the world to receive the seal of 
approval from TÜV SÜD. Thanks to the high quality 
of this product, consumer finance specialist TeamBank 
has this year been able to increase the number of its 
partner banks (collaboration with 908 partner banks) 
and press ahead with the expansion of its business 
outside Germany (in particular in Austria).

tRANsACtioN BANKiNG
In transaction banking, DZ BANK focuses on improv-
ing organizational and technical support for the 
cooperative banks.

In the year under review, DZ BANK and WGZ BANK 
continued to work with the two cooperative computing 
centers FIDUCIA IT AG, Karlsruhe, (FIDUCIA) and 
GAD eG, Münster, (GAD) as well as with Deutsche 
WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, 
(dwp) on a project to standardize the support services 
provided for securities processing throughout Germany. 
The project is part of the work being undertaken to 
enhance the functionality of the VAP sales workstation 
system. 
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Following the significant expansion of the IT support 
for sales and advisory services in the local cooperative 
banks' stationary sales network, the first pilot projects 
were launched to broaden the range of home banking 
services offered on the internet. 

In order to ensure the effectiveness of cooperative banks' 
sales processes, the companies in the DZ BANK Group 
are supplying the extensive data pool at the FIDUCIA 
and GAD computing centers with increasing amounts 
of sales-related data.

In Germany and at European level, the DZ BANK 
Group is a trendsetter in the processing of payments, 
securities, and lending business. To date, the group's 
biggest success story in processing services has been in 
payments processing. The DZ BANK Group's invest-
ment in Equens N.V., Utrecht, (Equens), the associated 
addition of new customers and partners, and the 
accompanying collaboration with the Dutch payments 
processing service provider Interpay, have led to the 
emergence of the largest and first pan-European service 
provider in the payments processing sector. Each year, 
Equens processes around 7 billion transactions in 
Europe, achieving a market share of 10 percent. Equens 
not only uses open technology offering compatibility 
for additional customers, it is also already geared up for 
the Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA). As a result of 
these successes, and the interdepartmental, cross-border 
collaboration, Equens is considered by many external 
observers to be the perfect example of a European 
champion in the area of payments processing services. 
The substantial added value for the local cooperative 
banks lies in the systematic development and expansion 
of the payments processing business and the associated 
cost savings. Over the last few years, transaction costs 
have been reduced by more than 50 percent on a 
cumulative basis.

CoRpoRAte AND iNVestMeNt BANKiNG
In the year under review, corporate and investment 
banking was directly and indirectly focused on improv-
ing the benefit derived from the cooperative financial 
services network. Direct action included various 
initiatives instigated jointly with the local cooperative 
banks, for example, to fully leverage available potential 
in the corporate customers business. 

Further support for the local cooperative banks 
included the instigation of the corporate customers 
support concept which will in future provide more 
targeted support for the SME business in these banks. 
DZ BANK will in future define the products and 
services it offers for SME clients in the form of fields of 
expertise that will complement the extensive range of 
services it offers locally. This new approach is closely 
linked to the philosophy of the “VR-Finanzplan 
Mittelstand” (a customer relationship concept for the 
provision of SME financial advice that takes into 
account both business and private financial planning) 
and supports network initiatives for the expansion of 
corporate customer business (ProFi). A large number of 
redesigned tools have been produced to support the 
local cooperative banks in their efforts to exploit 
potential in the SME market. Based on the experience 
gained from the pilot phase launched for selected 
banks, this concept is due to be rolled out across 
Germany in 2009.

In addition to these initiatives, at the end of 2008,  
DZ BANK set up a special SME credit facility in con-
junction with WGZ BANK and the local coopera-
tive banks. The total value of the facility is € 1 billion, 
the contribution from DZ BANK being € 750 million. 
This lending of long-term, unsecured funds underlines 
the fact that the cooperative financial services network 
remains committed to providing finance for SMEs even 
when market conditions are tough. A new and interest-
ing option is therefore available to the local cooperative 
banks to help them develop a marketing offensive. The 
local cooperative banks can use this funding instrument 
as a key anchor product to build new business relation-
ships and consolidate existing ones.

In the year under review, DZ BANK was able to sig-
nificantly increase both volume and customer numbers 
in traditional syndicated lending and in its Standard-
Meta and Agrar-Meta risk transfer products business. 
The fifth VR Circle transaction was also successfully 
launched involving a securitization volume of € 73.7 
million; a further transaction is scheduled for the first 
half of 2009. Transparent, simple structures will also 
continue to be in demand in the future.
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The Capital Markets divisions in DZ BANK were also 
able to expand their businesses. These divisions were able 
to develop new client relationships outside the coopera-
tive financial services network by increasingly harnessing 
existing expertise, for example established, successful 
research, for the benefit of clients outside the network, 
thereby leveraging additional business potential. 

In tough market conditions, the Corporate Finance and 
Structured Finance divisions were able to make the most 
of their opportunities and deliver a strong performance. 
In mergers & acquisitions cross-border business, im-
portant deals were secured in the healthcare and phar-
maceutical sectors. Structured Finance archieved global 
successes, for example, with project financing deals in 
the energy and infrastructure sectors. The strengthen-
ing of our international business is providing a positive 
stimulus for the diversification and expansion of our 
range of products and services and is therefore serving to 
reinforce DZ BANK as a link between the local coop-
erative banks and international markets.

INCOME STATEMENT

€ million 
2008 2007 Change 

(%)

Net interest income 2,900 2,703 7.3

Impairment losses on loans 
and advances -545 -209 >100.0

Net fee and commission 
income

 
862

 
962

 
-10.4

Gains and losses on  
trading activities

 
-1,167

 
-247

 
>100.0

Gains and losses on 
 investments

 
-640

 
-103

 
>100.0

Other gains and losses  
on measurement of  
financial instruments -659 -35

 
>100.0

Income from insurance 
business 141 470 -70.0

Administrative expenses -2,487 -2,585 -3.8

staff expenses -1,278 -1,320 -3.2

other administrative  
expenses1 -1,209 -1,265 -4.4

Gains and losses on non- current 
assets classified as held for 
sale and disposal groups 2 –  –

Other net operating income 121 112 8.0

profit/loss before taxes -1,472 1,068 >100.0

Income taxes 417 -171 >100.0

Net profit/loss -1,055 897 >100.0

1  General and administrative expenses plus depreciation/amortization expense and 
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, investment property and on 
other assets.

respect of Lehman Brothers was a total of € 424 million, 
of which € 6 million was accounted for by the credit 
risk provision. Of the total exposure, € 364 million 
were due to the insolvency of Lehman Brothers. The 
increased risk from exposure in Iceland worsened profit/
loss before taxes for the year under review by a total of 
€ 451 million; this includes an amount of € 218 mil-
lion relating to credit risk provision. The tense eco-
nomic situation also led to the recognition of a further 
impairment loss of € 269 million (2007: € 53 million) 
on DZ BANK’s investment in NATIXIS S.A., Paris.

The DZ BANK Group’s administrative expenses  
fell by € 98 million to € 2,487 million, a decrease of  
3.8 percent.

4. EARNINGS PERFORMANCE
 
The year-on-year changes in the key figures that make 
up the net profit/loss generated by the DZ BANK 
Group in 2008 were as described below.

In addition to net interest income and net fee and 
commission income, operating income includes gains 
and losses on trading activities, gains and losses on 
investments, other gains and losses on measurement of 
financial instruments, income from insurance business 
and other net operating income. Operating income for 
the group was € 1,558 million (2007: € 3,862 million) 
and included impairment losses in the securities 
portfolio as a result of the financial markets crisis 
amounting to a total of € 1,757 million (2007: € 957 
million); of this amount, € 1,095 million (2007: € 776 
million) was accounted for by DZ BANK. It is 
anticipated that some of the total impairment losses of 
€ 1,757 million will be reversed at some point in the 
future. Most of the impairment losses were on bonds 
(€ 1,468 million) and asset-backed securities (ABSs) 
(€ 277 million). 

In addition, the adverse impact on profit/loss before 
taxes in 2008 of the DZ BANK Group’s exposure in 
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successful support provided by DZ BANK as a partner 
of the local cooperative banks. The additional integra-
tion of business development programs into lending 
options individually tailored to customer requirements 
is an important element in the expertise offered and a 
significant feature that distinguishes the cooperative 
banks from their competitors. In 2008, cooperative 
banks applying for a development loan from Germany’s 
KfW development bank in Frankfurt am Main via  
DZ BANK maintained a share of approximately  
14 percent of total KfW development loan business. 
DZ BANK’s clear commitment to SME financing was 
also underlined by the provision at the end of 2008 of 
a special SME credit facility amounting to € 1 billion 
(DZ BANK share: € 750 million).

In the second half of 2008, DZ BANK launched a 
pilot phase with selected primary banks for its newly 
developed banking support concept based on the  
“VR FinanzPlan Mittelstand” and other initiatives in 
the cooperative financial services network. The objective 
of this concept is to support the local cooperative 
banks more effectively and more in line with their 
individual requirements than hitherto and to ensure 
that they improve the exploitation of existing potential 
in their corporate customer business. Based on 
experience gained in the pilot phase, it is planned to   
roll out the concept to all cooperative banks in 
Germany in 2009. Together with its network partners, 
DZ BANK is also planning to increase the market share 
of the cooperative banks in traditional agricultural 
business by driving expansion in the highly promising 
agriculture, nature, and energy sector.

Despite persistently stiff competition and the extremely 
tough conditions prevailing in the financial markets, 
DZ BANK was able to consolidate its successful market 
positioning in its corporate finance business in 2008. 
Net operating interest income was significantly increased 
in this important business during the year under review. 
DZ BANK managed to exploit the available business 
potential more fully by dividing up its German market 
into five sales regions for coverage of large and medium-
sized companies and by initiating an increase in head-
count in the year under review. The number of customer 
relationships grew by a further 11.3 percent.

In the turbulent market environment during the year 
under review, DZ BANK again proved itself to be a 

The profit/loss before taxes in the year under review 
amounted to a loss of € 1,472 million compared with  
a profit of € 1,068 million in 2007.

The DZ BANK Group generated a net loss of € 1,055 
million in 2008 compared with a net profit of € 897 
million in 2007. After the transfer from retained 
earnings of € 1,268 million (2007: appropriation to 
net earnings of € 380 million) and after taking into ac-
count the share of the net loss attributable to the mi-
nority interest of € 155 million (2007: share of net 
profit attributable to minority interest of € 366 mil-
lion), distributable profit amounted to € 58 million 
(2007: € 151 million). This figure equates to the dis-
tributable profit of DZ BANK and is earmarked for 
distribution as a dividend of € 0.05 per share for 2008.

The changes in individual items on the DZ BANK 
Group income statement in 2008 are described in 
detail below.

Net interest income for the DZ BANK Group rose to 
€ 2,900 million, a year-on-year increase of 7.3 percent.

DZ BANK’s net interest income (excluding income 
from investments) increased by 12.8 percent to € 448 
million based on an encouraging increase in lending if 
the year is viewed as a whole. However, this lending 
was adversely affected in the last few months of 2008 
by the gathering gloom over the economy. The 
resulting weakening in volume growth was offset by 
the positive impact on margins of the heightened 
financial markets crisis and the widening of spreads.

A significant contribution to DZ BANK’s net interest 
income from operating activities came from interest 
income on lending and money market activities. The 
turmoil in the financial markets and the tough market 
conditions have cast a spotlight on the importance of 
the range of lending options made available to the local 
cooperative banks via DZ BANK on a subsidiary and 
complementary basis.

Despite the difficult economic conditions, unit sales 
and volume slightly exceeded 2007 levels in both 
traditional syndicated loan business and in the Stand-
ard-Meta and Agrar-Meta standardized risk transfer 
products business. Net operating interest income rose 
again year on year. This provides evidence of the 
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As a specialist provider of innovative SME finance 
solutions within the cooperative financial services 
network, the VR LEASING Group (VR LEASING) 
offers an entire product range, including leasing, loans, 
purchase finance, and factoring. Despite the increasingly 
noticeable economic effects of the global financial 
markets crisis during the year under review, the group 
of companies managed to maintain the volume of new 
business in sales and capital investment finance, both 
in Germany and abroad, almost at the high level 
achieved in 2007 (0.9 percent down at € 4.6 billion). 
Measured in terms of the number of contracts (a total 
of 155,817 contracts), VR LEASING is continuing to 
hold its position as the market leader.

Together with the local cooperative banks DZ BANK 
contributed € 1,501 million (approximately 65 percent) 
of the total domestic new business of € 2,324 million. 
The expansion of activities in Germany was influenced 
by the continuation and worsening of the crisis in the 
financial markets during 2008 which caused SME 
customers to turn increasingly to alternative liquidity-
friendly funding options such as leasing and factoring 
rather than traditional loan financing. 

VR LEASING was able to increase its volume of new 
equipment lease originations by 1.6 percent. New real 
estate lease originations decreased by 18.3 percent in 
2008 to € 239 million.

VR LEASING also supports SMEs primarily in the 
development of export markets. In the last few years, 
export business has become increasingly important for 
VR LEASING; around 50 percent of new business vol-
ume is now generated outside Germany. In 2008, there 
was a pronounced increase in new business in Russia. 
Given the encouraging performance of the business in 
Russia, VR LEASING opened a new branch in St. Pe-
tersburg and three further offices in Nizhni Novgorod, 
Krasnodar and Yekaterinburg in 2008. 
 
To secure sustained growth, VR LEASING sales 
operations were reorganized in the year under review 
and the number of employees increased. The imple-
mentation of a fully integrated customer relationship 
concept effectively assists the local cooperative banks  
in their calculation and preparation of quotes at the 
point of sale. New technologies ensure a high level of 
staff availability and effective communication.

reliable and sound partner in its support for corpo-
rate customers in the management of their short-term 
liquidity. Ample evidence of this is provided by the 
hefty increase in short-term deposits compared with 
2007.

The structured finance product range is marketed from 
Germany as well as via the business units in foreign 
branches in London, New York, Hong Kong, and 
Singapore, and via nine foreign representative offices  
to all major financial centers and important growth 
markets. Even in 2008, DZ BANK managed to generate 
an improvement in performance. Despite the effects of 
the meltdown in the financial markets, the Company 
was able to deliver a significant year-on-year increase in 
net operating interest income in the year under review.

In terms of acquisition financing in 2008, DZ BANK 
was involved in more than 50 deals and, in particular 
from a risk-conscious perspective, was able to expand 
its role as a mandated lead arranger or underwriter with 
a further increase in net operating interest income.

As far as structured trade and export finance products 
were concerned, DZ BANK benefited from the 
increased demand for credit among commodities 
dealers and producers that in 2008 accompanied the 
continued success of German exports, the rise in 
international trade and the sustained high level of 
 commodities prices. DZ BANK also profited from the 
increase in margins in the last quarter of 2008, all of 
which resulted in a net operating interest income for 
the year as a whole that was significantly in excess of 
the figure achieved in 2007.

With a growing volume of new business worldwide, 
DZ BANK was able to achieve a substantial year-on-
year increase in net operating interest income from 
project finance in 2008. The relevant business units 
operate successfully at a global level and focus on the 
energy supply and infrastructure sectors; in Germany, 
the emphasis is primarily on the public-private partner-
ship (PPP) finance segment, in which DZ BANK has 
been able to improve its market position significantly. 

In 2008, net interest income in the subgroup VR-
LEASING AG, Eschborn, (VR-LEASING) increased 
by 7.0 percent.
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banks is a critical factor in TeamBank’s continued 
efforts to successfully embed its own business model, 
the core elements of which include the advantageous 
features of the well-known easyCredit brand.

In line with the objective of the cooperative financial 
services network to provide customers with tailored, 
high-quality customer care based on a suitable range of 
products, TeamBank had already refined the existing 
features of easyCredit in 2007 and bundled them into 
a “fairness package”.

In addition to the option of flexible special repay-
ments, the “fairness package” provides consumers with 
a number of benefits including a wide-ranging com-
mitment not to take legal action in the event of 
payment difficulty and a generous right to cancel a 
contract extended for a period of one month. Particu-
larly with the current shift in values caused by the 
financial markets crisis, this takes into account the 
local cooperative banks’ well-established principle of 
responsible lending.

At the start of July 2008, TeamBank set up a charitable 
foundation with the name “Deutschland im Plus –  
Die Stiftung für private Überschuldungsprävention” 
(Germany in credit – foundation for the prevention of 
consumer over-indebtedness). The foundation sup-
ports suitable research projects and is intended to help 
prevent consumer over-indebtedness via the provision 
of online advice, a free hotline and an education 
program.

In 2008, TeamBank started a communications initia-
tive to establish the new easyCredit brand strategy 
throughout Germany, particularly within the coopera-
tive financial services network and in partner banks. In 
this regard, a boost came from the fact that, in 2008, 
TÜV SÜD awarded TeamBank the first worldwide seal 
of approval for the “fair lending decision” approach, 
thereby confirming that the proven easyCredit personal 
loan products were highly geared to the needs of 
consumers.

In the year under review, TeamBank also pressed ahead 
with the expansion of easyCredit shops. By the end of 
2008, a total of 60 units had been opened, ensuring a 
presence in almost all of the main urban centers in 
Germany.

Overall customer acceptance of the use of web tools for 
online processing of leasing business is rising all the 
time. VR LEASING increased its online new business 
by 36.2 percent compared with 2007. The complexity 
of the financial markets crisis and its impact on the real 
economy mean that it is extremely difficult to make 
reliable forecasts. After years of continuous growth in 
the leasing sector, the possibility that the volume of 
lease originations may even fall in 2009 cannot be 
ruled out. However, past experience points to a greater 
degree of optimism.

Interest income in the DVB subgroup declined slightly 
to € 193 million, a drop of 1.0 percent on the high 
level achieved in 2007.

This again demonstrated the strength of the business 
model used by DVB Bank S.E., Frankfurt am Main, 
(DVB), one of the leading global specialists in trans-
port finance. This impressive business model is geared  
to the needs of the shipping, aviation and land 
transport sectors. DVB’s important market position  
is reflected, in particular, in the significant increase  
of 50 basis points in the average interest margin for  
its new business.

In its investment management operations, DVB offers 
international investors in the transport sector a wide 
range of investment opportunities. Deucalion funds 
offer investors the opportunity to invest in aircraft, 
airlines and other aviation projects. NFC Shipping 
Funds focus on equity investments and mezzanine 
finance in the shipping sector. The emphasis in 
Intermodal Funds is on investment in containers, 
container chassis and semitrailers.

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg, (TeamBank) 
saw a year-on-year increase of 5.5 percent in its net 
interest income, driven primarily by its high propor-
tion of consumer finance in an overall stagnant market.

In the year under review, the company also strength-
ened its cooperation with partner banks as part of its 
corporate strategy. At the end of 2008, 76 percent of 
all local cooperative banks were working together with 
TeamBank on the marketing of easyCredit. Especially 
against the background of a persistently sluggish 
market for consumer finance in Germany, the sales and 
marketing of easyCredit through the local cooperative 
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profile of the Bank in high-net-worth private client 
business. One of the most significant findings from 
the project indicated the need in the local cooperative 
banks for an onshore offering in Germany. This offer-
ing would supplement the established services provided 
from Zurich and Luxembourg and offer any additional 
products or services required.

In a tough market environment in 2008, BSH achieved 
a net interest income that was just 1.2 percent down 
on 2007. 

On the basis of its Schwäbisch Hall Tarif Fuchs scale of 
rates and charges, which has become successfully 
established in the marketplace, BSH managed to 
sustain its leading position in the home savings market 
even with a fall in interest rates.

Given the enhanced demands brought about by the 
changes in the market and competitive environment, 
consumer home finance in the DZ BANK Group was 
concentrated in BSH from January 1, 2008. From the 
start of the year, BSH was therefore also responsible for 
the new consumer home finance business previously 
handled by Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypotheken-
bank AG, Hamburg, (DG HYP). The objective of this 
strategic realignment was to reinforce the overall 
competitiveness of the cooperative financial services 
network by effectively consolidating the various 
strengths within the group.

On January 1, 2008, BSH extended its product range 
in line with its enhanced remit. Consumer home 
finance products added to the range included Fuchs 
Top-Zins, a flagship product with first-rate terms for 
price-sensitive customers, Fuchs Forward-Darlehen,  
an attractive follow-up financing solution, and Fuchs 
BauDarlehen, which involves direct repayment of 
principal (annuity loan).  

Together with financial management proven to be 
effective in tough economic conditions, a range of 
products tailored to individual customer needs is a 
significant contributing factor to steady growth in net 
interest income.

With the opening of a branch in Austria in January 
2008, TeamBank laid the foundations for the trans-
fer of its successful business concept outside Germany. 
TeamBank is now in collaboration with 14 local coop-
erative banks in the Austrian market. The first easy-
Credit shop in Austria also opened for business in Vi-
enna at the end of 2008.

DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen, 
(DZI) increased its net interest income by 25.2 per-
cent. The Bank makes the most of the advantages of-
fered by the Luxembourg financial center for the ben-
efit of the cooperative financial services network and 
its private and institutional customers in the Private 
Banking, Investment Funds and Lending, and Treasury 
divisions.

Within the DZ BANK Group and the interest-earning 
business, DZI acts a competence center for foreign cur-
rency finance and investment. The LuxCredit foreign-
currency lending business, which includes both the 
refinancing of local cooperative banks as well as loans 
guaranteed by these banks, was again able to achieve 
significant growth during the year under review. The 
effective integration of LuxCredit financial advisory 
and processing services into the proven banking sys-
tems of the two FIDUCIA and GAD computing cent-
ers (from 2008 and 2009 respectively) has increased 
the already high level of acceptance of these services by 
partner banks and advisors.

At the end of 2007, the investments in DZI and 
DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich, (DZ PRI-
VATBANK Schweiz) had been amalgamated into 
DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A., 
whose registered office is situated in Luxembourg-
Strassen. The purpose of the change was to effectively 
bundle the range of products and services and the ex-
clusive private banking sales channels in the attractive 
markets covered by DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz and 
DZI for the benefit of customers of the local coopera-
tive banks in the cooperative financial services net-
work. The objective of the private banking focus ini-
tiative instigated throughout the group in 2008 was 
to achieve, together with the local cooperative banks, 
a notable increase in both group market share and the 
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Largely as a result of the reorganization carried out 
previously, DG HYP’s net interest income in 2008 
was, as forecast, 19.4 percent down on 2007.

Since the start of 2008, the various consumer home 
finance activities have been brought together under the 
umbrella of BSH. DG HYP has focused on commer-
cial real-estate lending, local authority loans and other 
public-sector finance.

DG HYP operates its core business of commercial 
real-estate finance in collaboration with the local 
cooperative banks within the cooperative financial 
services network. In Germany, this business comprises 
both direct and syndicated business, whereas outside 
Germany it is exclusively syndicated business. 

In the cooperative financial services network, DG HYP’s 
objective is to provide market support for the local 
cooperative banks as a strong partner for commercial 
real-estate finance. Its sophisticated Immo-Meta and 
Immo-Meta Revers products are available to the local 
cooperative banks for complex commercial real-estate 
loans. DG HYP has developed a new product (Immo 
Aval) for standard commercial real-estate loans and will 
be launching this product in 2009.

In its domestic business, DG HYP is structured on a 
decentralized basis to be close to the customer in terms 
of both front and back office. It has real estate offices in 
Germany’s largest commercial centers in Hamburg, 
Berlin, Frankfurt am Main, Düsseldorf, Stuttgart and 
Munich. Outside Germany, DG HYP operates its 
commercial real-estate lending business as syndicated 
business with representative offices in New York and 
London; it also has country desks to cover the French 
and Scandinavian markets. An alliance with DZ BANK 
Polska S.A., Warsaw, (DZ BANK Polska) in the second 
half of 2008 laid the foundations for entering the 
eastern European markets.

As a consequence of the crisis in the financial markets, 
there was a sharp drop in the transaction volume for 
commercial real estate in 2008. Despite these tough 
market conditions, DG HYP managed to increase 
commercial real-estate finance business in the year 

under review. Its total volume of new lending came to 
€ 3.8 billion, which was a year-on-year increase of 28.1 
percent. The proportion of finance attributable to its 
direct and cooperative network business in Germany 
rose from € 2.1 billion in 2007 to € 2.4 billion in 2008. 
Its international and secondary market business 
performed encouragingly, with its total volume of new 
lending here growing by 55.0 percent year on year to 
€ 1.3 billion.

As regards primary local authority loans business, DG 
HYP provides marketing support for the local coopera-
tive banks. Its volume of new lending fell to € 750 
million as at December 31, 2008 (down 57.4 percent) 
owing to the improved state of the municipalities’ 
finances and DG HYP’s strategic decision to gear its 
business to the provision of long-term finance that 
yielded higher margins. At the start of 2008, DG HYP 
became the first bank to introduce a quality manage-
ment system for its back-office activities related to the 
local authority lending business in Germany and the 
system was awarded a seal of approval from TÜV SÜD.

Impairment losses on loans and advances for the  
DZ BANK Group in 2008 were reported at € 545 
million (2007: € 209 million); this includes, in 
particular, an allowance for DZ BANK’s lending 
exposure to Icelandic banks amounting to € 218 
million. Taking into account this provision for the 
exposure in Iceland, DZ BANK’s credit risk provision 
in 2008 amounted to a net addition of € 190 million 
compared with a net reversal of € 46 million in 2007. 

Further detailed disclosures regarding the risk situation 
in the DZ BANK Group can be found in the risk 
report on page 76 et seqq. of this management report.

Net fee and commission income in the DZ BANK 
Group fell by 10.4 percent to € 862 million.

The group was able to significantly exceed the profit 
contribution in 2007 from lending and trust activities 
(including financial guarantee contracts and loan 
commitments). The net fee and commission income 
achieved from securities business fell short of the  
figure achieved in 2007, but the payments processing 
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business (including card processing) exceeded the 
contribution to earnings achieved in 2007. Net fee and 
commission income achieved from international 
business remained at the 2007 level.

DZ BANK’s net fee and commission income increased 
to € 214 million, up 15.7 percent on 2007.

The profit contribution from both the lending and 
payments processing businesses improved compared 
with 2007, whereas profits from securities and interna-
tional business declined over the same period.

In the second half of 2008, the further massive drop in 
stock market indices brought about by the heightening 
of the crisis in the financial markets ensured that the 
marked weakness in demand for equities continued. 
Bond markets were similarly affected by the negative 
consequences of the crisis.

In 2008, DZ BANK was also able to achieve a signifi-
cant year-on-year increase in net fee and commission 
income from acquisition and project finance and from 
customer-oriented asset securitizations. 

In the year under review, and despite tough market 
conditions, the Asset Securitization Group based in 
New York and covering NAFTA countries was able to 
build on its position as a specialist in low-risk securiti-
zation structures and substantially increase its net fee 
and commission income.

By taking on leading roles as mandated lead arranger, 
DZ BANK confirmed its structuring and placement 
expertise in the field of structured financed at all 
locations. This expertise won the bank serveral awards 
in the areas of project finance, including the “Euro-
pean PPP road project 2008” award. At the same time, 
it was also able to increase net fee and commission 
income to a greater extent than the increase in risk.

Up to the fourth quarter of 2008, net operating 
interest income and net fee and commission income 
were almost at the same level; however, the downturn 
in the fourth quarter as a result of the heightening of 
the financial markets crisis resulted in less new business 
and therefore lower net fee and commission income 
than in previous quarters. The division nevertheless 
achieved an excellent level of operating profit overall. 

With its Corporate Finance Partner support concept, 
DZ BANK impressively demonstrated the strength of 
its successful business model in tough market condi-
tions. In the year under review, there was particularly 
brisk demand for promissory notes in support of issuer 
corporate financing. It is likely that one of the main 
reasons for this is the pricing advantages, from the 
issuer perspective, compared with other capital market 
products, such as corporate bonds.
 
In the SME market for M&A consultancy relevant  
to DZ BANK, the turbulent economic conditions 
resulting from the deterioration in the financial 
markets crisis had an increasingly adverse effect on 
business activities during the last quarter of the year. 
Nevertheless, the excellent performance delivered in 
2007 in key industries such as healthcare and pharma-
ceuticals continued in 2008 with further successful 
deals. In addition to the sale of the owner-managed 
Hormosan Pharma GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, to  
the Indian-owned Lupin (Europe) Ltd., Knutsford, 
Cheshire, United Kingdom, the support provided for 
Andreae-Noris Zahn Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am 
Main, in its acquisition of Armila UAB, Vilnius, 
Lithuania, is particularly worthy of note. DERTOUR 
GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main, was also able 
to successfully acquire a 75.1 percent majority stake in 
Dr. Holiday AG, Regensburg, thanks to DZ BANK’s 
M&A expertise in a deal brokered by Raiffeisenbank 
Regensburg.

In the DVB subgroup, the bank specializing in interna-
tional transport finance, net fee and commission 
income in 2008 was 24.7 percent up on the demand-
ing target set by the 2007 figure. This income com-
prised fees and commissions from structured finance 
and commitment fees.

Whereas trends in 2007 in goods and passenger traffic 
in all areas of transport had continued to benefit from 
economic conditions that still remained buoyant 
overall, in 2008 international transport was hit by  
the increasingly noticeable downturn in the global 
economy.

Against this background, the performance of the DVB 
subgroup in 2008 in terms of net fee and commission 
income was remarkably strong, particularly in struc-
tured finance and in the fund management business  
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of the Investment Management division. At the same 
time, as in prior years, action needed to be taken to 
hedge the currency risk in connection with transactions 
reported in foreign currency, primarily US dollars.

Net fee and commission income for the Union Invest-
ment Group declined by 20.6 percent year on year, 
although it should be noted that the net fee and 
commission income in 2007 included a one-off 
amount of € 22 million. This one-off item was attrib-
utable to a judgment by the German Federal Court of 
Finance in 2007 on a tax exemption for maturity-
 related agency commissions and the resulting reversal 
of provisions recognized in prior years. 

A critical factor in the net fee and commission income 
generated by Union Investment is the change in assets 
under management. Over the course of 2008, total 
assets under management fell by around 18 percent 
from € 175 billion to € 144 billion. The main reasons 
for this change were net redemptions and the decrease 
in the value of the portfolio attributable to the signifi-
cant downward trend in market prices caused by the 
crisis in the financial markets.

In the second half of 2008, stock market indices around 
the world plummeted as a consequence of the collapse 
of Lehman Brothers and the precarious position of 
other banks in Europe. There was a further appreciable 
increase in existing reluctance to invest in equities with 
the result that it was impossible to generate any sales 
performance from equity funds.

Money-market-linked fixed-income funds, such as 
Union Investment’s UniOpti4 tax-optimized fund, 
which had still been able to generate significant cash 
inflows during the first three quarters, were adversely 
affected by the heightening of the financial markets 
crisis in the fourth quarter.

The financial crisis impacted on open-ended real-estate 
funds throughout the industry, causing many of them 
to suffer significant outflows. Several investment 
companies responded to these developments by tempo-
rarily closing their real-estate funds at the end of 
October 2008 due to a shortage of liquidity. The funds 
managed by Union Investment remained the exception 
to this trend and even managed to attract significant 
net inflows of almost € 724 million.

Despite the difficult conditions, marketing efforts to 
private clients were able to achieve some successes.  
In 2008, Union Investment – with over 5 million 
investors, one of the largest German service providers 
in private client business – worked together in the 
proven partnership with the local cooperative banks to 
press ahead with its strategic positioning as a solutions 
provider for products that offer both capital preservation 
and the opportunity to benefit from any positive market 
trends. The success of this strategy is confirmed by the 
industry statistics published by the federal association 
of German fund management companies (BVI), which 
showed Union Investment to be the market leader by  
a clear margin in the catagory of capital preservation 
fund business both in terms of net sales and portfolio 
value.

Union Investment also occupies a market-leading 
position in the groundbreaking area of personal pension 
products. Supported by the extensive sales network of 
the cooperative partner banks, Union Investment in 
2008 sold a total of around 250,000 new UniProfiRente 
contracts, a “Riester” fund product (subsidized by the 
government). This took the total number of contracts 
in existence to 1.7 million, a new record.

Even in the 2008 year of crisis, Union Investment 
received accolades as the best fund management 
company in the German market. In the annual 
comparison of fund providers carried out by Feri and 
Mummert Consulting on behalf of Capital magazine, 
Union Investment received the highest rating for the 
seventh year in succession and this year achieved first 
place.

In the 2009 Feri EuroRating awards for Germany, 
Union Investment achieved a double success. It was 
placed top in the core categories of German equities 
and international equities with its UniDeutschland  
and UniGlobal funds respectively.

In terms of institutional business, Union Investment 
was able to step up performance based on improve-
ments in customer acquisition and customer care and 
changes to product policy. This has laid the foundations 
for further growth. It will also benefit Union Investment 
in times of financial crisis.
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there was also some growth in service business related 
to investment funds. In this regard, DZI was able to 
win around 83 new client portfolios in 2008. 

DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz, which has offices in the 
long-established financial center of Zurich, offers 
customers of the German cooperative banks all the 
services of traditional private banking, including the 
fund-linked asset management services SwissRubinum 
and UnionSchweizDepot, investment advice and asset 
management, and specialist asset-related services, all 
based on the proven service from a Swiss private bank. 
In 2008, the bank could not quite reach the challeng-
ing target for net fee and commission income set by 
the 2007 figure. The international financial markets 
crisis and the increasingly unfavorable exchange rate 
between the euro and the Swiss franc had an adverse 
impact on performance and the volume of assets under 
management.

Net fee and commission income generated by Team-
Bank in 2008 was substantially below the level of 2007. 
Increased trailer commissions paid by TeamBank to 
the primary banks in connection with the expansion in 
easyCredit business led to significantly lower net fee and 
commission income. In addition, there was a fall in the 
sales of credit insurance policies written by R+V Ver-
sicherung AG, Wiesbaden, (R+V). This credit insurance 
provides protection in the event of incapacity, unem-
ployment or death. This fall in sales led to a reduction 
in receipts of fees and commissions from R+V.

Union Investment has been offering its IMMUNO 
capital preservation concept since 1996 and is now the 
market leader in capital preservation strategies for insti-
tutional investors. By setting certain capital preserva-
tion targets, IMMUNO’s asymmetric asset allocation 
strategy enables benign market trends to be exploited 
and losses to be avoided. The level of portfolio risk in 
each case is determined by the client’s capacity to 
assume risk. By using this strategy, Union Investment 
continued to provide institutional clients with sound 
advice during the financial crisis.

Shortly before the end of the year, Union Investment 
reached an agreement with its partner PanAgora Asset 
Management Inc., Boston, under which Union Invest-
ment would acquire all of the latter’s voting shares in 
Union PanAgora Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt 
am Main, (Union PanAgora) a company set up jointly 
by the two entities in 1999. Union Investment therefore 
now owns all the voting shares in this company. At the 
same time, Union PanAgora will be renamed “Quoniam 
Asset Management GmbH”. This will enable Union 
Investment to achieve its business strategy objective of 
turning this company into the global quant manager 
for the Union Investment Group.

The expansion of Union Investment Group activities 
in Asia initiated in 2007 was systematically continued 
during the year under review. BEA Union Investment 
Management Limited, Hong Kong, the joint venture 
set up together with The Bank of East Asia Limited 
(BEA), Hong Kong, serves as the platform for the 
expansion of asset management activities into selected 
Far Eastern markets, specifically China.

Despite the global turmoil on financial and capital 
markets, DZI was able to increase its net fee and 
commission income by 1.9 percent in 2008. Services 
in demand included a number of services for high-net-
worth individuals such as the complete advisory and 
support service based on phase of life, international 
investment strategies, and inheritance planning. As a 
consequence of intensive sales-promotion activities, 

OPERATING INCOME

€ million

2008     

2007 3,862
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X
X

1,558 (-59.7%)
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In the past, there was traditionally a net fee and 
commission expense in DG HYP owing to the fee and 
commission expenses paid in the brokered and issues 
business. In 2007, this net fee and commission expense 
was € 36 million. In contrast, DG HYP reported net 
fee and commission income of € 2 million in 2008. 
This substantially reflects the effects of the new 
business model: the fee and commission expenses in 
connection with consumer home finance brokerage 
were no longer incurred following the cessation of this 
business in DG HYP. In addition, the low level of 
demand for refinancing led to a reduction in issue fees 
and commissions. In contrast, there was a growth in 
fee and commission income for guarantees and service 
fees in the core commercial real-estate finance business.

BSH pays fees and commissions to the cooperative 
banks and to the integrated bank-supported field sales 
force on the basis of BSH contracts signed with 
customers. The traditional net fee and commission 
expense in BSH amounted to € 195 million in 2008 
compared with € 162 million in 2007. This increase  
in expense largely reflects the further increase in the 
volume of new business.

As a result of the intensive collaboration with the 
cooperative banks and network partners, BSH was  
able to achieve gross operating revenue of € 46.6 billion 
from its three core areas of activity – home savings, 
home finance, and supplementary products. This was  
a new record figure in BSH.

In its home savings business, BSH was able to consoli-
date its market-leading position in 2008 with more than 
1.1 million new home savings contracts and growth of 
16.9 percent in new business to € 32.0 billion.

As a result of the heightening of the financial markets 
crisis in the course of 2008, consumers became more 
generally aware of the interest-rate security offered by  
a home savings contract – the low interest rates on  
the loan element are fixed over the entire term of the 
contract as soon as the contract is signed.

The year up to December 31, 2008 was the last year in 
which home savers in Germany could make use of the 

benefit afforded by a statutory provision that allowed 
savers, after a seven-year lock-up period, a choice of 
how to use home savings funds boosted by the govern-
ment homebuyer subsidy. From January 1, 2009,  
the homebuyer subsidy is generally only available in 
conjunction with a home savings contract used for 
housing purposes. Encouragingly, the flexibility in the 
arrangements for home savings with the homebuyer 
subsidy has largely been retained for young savers.

As regards home finance, the volume of lending that 
BSH was able to arrange with the local cooperative 
banks reached € 8.6 billion. This represented a signifi-
cant increase of 11.4 percent and was contrary to 
market trends. This also includes the interim financing 
business, which was expanded after the transfer of the 
private client business from DG HYP on January 1, 
2008. The increase of 35.0 percent to € 2.0 billion 
demonstrates that the cooperative partner banks are 
impressed by the enhanced range of products and 
services from BSH. For its part, BSH has proven its 
strength as a sales partner for home finance require-
ments in the cooperative financial services network.

The rise in energy prices, the impact of housing on 
climate and the environment, and the growing demands 
from society that construction and households should 
be environmentally friendly all demonstrate the 
importance of the home finance business. It is signifi-
cant that more than two thirds of all single-family 
houses in Germany were built before Germany’s First 
Thermal Insulation Regulation (1. Wärmeschutz-
verordnung, WSVO) but since then there has been no 
fundamental investment in energy saving measures to 
comply with this regulation. With its wide range of 
products, and as the competence center for consumer 
home finance in the cooperative financial services 
network, BSH is developing considerable growth 
potential in this area.

In its supplementary pension products business 
marketed by means of cross-selling, BSH was able to 
reach around the same level as 2007 with the volumes 
achieved for cooperative bank pension products, Union 
Investment investment funds and R+V insurance 
policies.
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BSH is expecting new business opportunities from the 
German Home Equity in Pensions Act (Eigenheim-
Rentengesetz, EigRentG), under which property used 
as an individual’s own home is included as part of the 
personal pension in the “Riester” subsidy arrange-
ments. Since November 2008, BSH has been offering 
the certified Fuchs WohnRente home savings contract, 
under which the saver can now also benefit from the 
advantages of the “Riester” subsidy. Since 2009, BSH 
has also added interest-only loans and certified home 
savings loans that are eligible for Riester subsidies to 
the existing Fuchs and A scales of rates and charges.

The integration of an individual’s “own four walls” 
into the Riester subsidies takes into account demo-
graphic trends and the resulting requirements for the 
construction of housing. With an increasingly ageing 
population, there will be a steady rise over the next few 
years in the number of one-person and two-person 
households in particular. An evident trend in this 
regard toward a preference for suburban living is 
accompanied – given a significant drop in the number 
of new housing units being built – by an increase in 
the demand for existing properties in major urban 
centers.

In Germany, approximately three quarters of all 
detached and semi-detached houses were built more 
than 25 years ago. This means that modernization and 
renovation projects will play an increasingly important 
role in the demand for home finance over the next  
few years. This situation therefore also presents the 
cooperative financial services network with opportuni-
ties to further enhance the efficiency of its consumer 
home finance marketing and achieve even greater 
market penetration. To assist them in this task, the 
 cooperative banks will have at their disposal the proven 
sales expertise of BSH, the strong “Schwäbisch Hall” 
brand, an attractive range of products, comprehensive 
marketing backup, and efficient process support.

The impact of the crisis in the financial markets was 
particularly noticeable in the gains and losses on 
trading activities for the DZ BANK Group. With a 
net loss of € 1,167 million, gains and losses on trading 
activities were a further € 920 million below the 2007 
figure (net loss of € 247 million). This figure was 
substantially influenced by the gains and losses on 

trading activities for DZ BANK AG in 2008 amount-
ing to a net loss of € 1,128 million (2007: net loss of 
€ 284 million).

Some of the overall impairment losses on the securities 
portfolios amounting to € 1,016 million recognized  
in the DZ BANK Group’s gains and losses on trading 
activities in 2008 as a consequence of the financial 
markets crisis are expected to be reversed in the future.  

The gains and losses on trading activities for the year 
under review also included impairment losses related 
to the DZ BANK Group’s exposure in connection 
with Lehman Brothers and Iceland amounting to  
€ 320 million and € 148 million respectively.

One of the effects of the financial markets crisis was 
that DZ BANK, in collaboration with the local 
cooperative banks, was able to use its quality AKZENT 
Invest brand to further consolidate its market position 
in the retail structured products (certificates) market to 
a market share of 22.7 percent in 2008. This makes the 
cooperative financial services network the market leader 
in the guarantee certificates market segment in Germany 
for the first time. As far back as 2005, DZ BANK had 
been the first financial institution in Germany to 
receive certification from TÜV SÜD for its product 
development process for retail structured products.  
DZ BANK structured products purchased by private 
investors are also covered against issuer risk via the 
protection facility offered by the Federal Association  
of German Cooperative Banks, Berlin, (BVR). 

The successful marketing of DZ BANK retail structured 
products during the year under review was focused on 
products strictly aligned with customer requirements. 
Products were also structured in accordance with the 
latest results of research carried out by DZ BANK. 
Given the further step-up in demand for products with 
capital guarantees – another result of the crisis in the 
financial markets – the successful range of products 
was continuously expanded, for example with the 
newly developed BestInvest Portfolio Garant which 
was added to the existing well-known BestInvest 
product family. As a result of this balanced, high-end 
range of structured products with a heavy emphasis  
on quality and minimum risk, private investors voted 
DZ BANK – with its quality AKZENT Invest brand 
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and representing the cooperative financial services 
network – as Certificates House of the Year for the 
sixth year running. This accolade is awarded by the 
German publications ZertifikateJournal, WELT and 
WELT am Sonntag as well as Scoach Europa.

DZ BANK again demonstrated its capabilities in private 
clients business, even in these extremely tough market 
conditions, and succeeded in offering its customers 
competitive prices. It succeeded in reinforcing its 
private client business with customized strategic 
 transactions. Regardless of the financial crisis, the Bank 
systematically refined its entire product range and 
improved its processes, thereby positioning itself to 
take on its competitors. 

Gains and losses on investments in the DZ BANK 
Group amounted to a loss of € 640 million in the year 
under review compared with a loss of € 103 million in 
2007.

The worsening of the loss on investments for the  
group compared with 2007 was primarily attributable 
to the consequences of the financial markets crisis 
which necessitated write-downs of € 203 million  
(2007: € 7 million), provisions for the risks in Iceland 
(€ 63 million), and impairment losses recognized 
following the collapse of Lehman Brothers (€ 83 million). 
Some of the increase in the loss also resulted from  
DZ BANK’s recognition in 2008 of an impairment 
loss of € 269 million (2007: € 53 million) on its 
investment in NATIXIS S.A., Paris.

Other gains and losses on measurement of financial 
instruments for the DZ BANK Group amounting to  
a loss of € 659 million (2007: loss of € 35 million) 
primarily comprised the gains and losses on financial 
instruments designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss amounting to a loss of € 568 million. This 
item also includes gains and losses arising on hedging 
transactions amounting to a loss of € 4 million and 
gains and losses on derivative financial instruments not 
held for trading amounting to a loss of € 87 million. 
The extremely low figure for gains and losses arising on 
hedging transactions demonstrates that hedge account-
ing in the DZ BANK Group is highly effective.

The impairment losses of € 514 million (2007:  
€ 125 million) included in the group’s other gains and 
losses on measurement of financial instruments are 
largely related to the DG HYP securities portfolios. 
DG HYP’s risks related to its exposure in Iceland  
were accounted for with an impairment loss of  
€ 22 million.

The income from insurance business in the DZ BANK 
Group was € 141 million in 2008 compared with 
€ 470 million in 2007 and is accounted for entirely 
by the R+V Versicherung subgroup; the drop in this 
income was to a large extent attributable to the crisis in 
the financial markets. The DZ BANK Group’s income 
from insurance business comprises premiums earned, 
insurance business operating expenses, insurance benefit 
payments, gains and losses on investments held by 
insurance companies and other insurance company 
gains and losses.

Premiums earned in the year under review amounted 
to € 9,388 million compared with € 8,926 million in 
2007. Despite the financial markets crisis, R+V was 
able to exploit its competitive advantage derived from 
the sales channel via the local cooperative banks to 
achieve a further increase of 4.5 percent in gross 
premiums received to € 9,451 million. Thanks to its 
marked success in acquiring new business, R+V once 
more managed to gain market share in all its business 
segments. R+V also generated above-average growth  
in premiums earned from non-life insurance business 
during the year under review. As far as life insurance 
business is concerned, a sharp growth in premiums 
earned pushed up R+V’s market share to 10.3 percent 
(2007: 9.7 percent). R+V was also able to continue its 
growth strategy in health insurance.

In the third quarter of 2008, R+V acquired the compa-
nies in the Condor insurance group based in Hamburg. 
The Condor companies offer life and non-life insurance 
with a focus on consumer and commercial business. 
The acquisition of this insurance group significantly 
adds to the sales channels available to R+V,  particularly 
in broker sales.

69DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
BusiNess peRfoRMANCe



As an investor with a long-term investment horizon, 
R+V was not able to escape the challenging conditions 
in the capital markets. Against the background of the 
financial markets crisis, increased impairment losses and 
lower gains on disposals in 2008 led to a sharp year-on-
year fall in gains and losses on investments held by 
insurance companies and other insurance company 
gains and losses to € 655 million.

In line with the lower gains and losses on investments 
held by insurance companies, there were lower additions 
to insurance liabilities in companies offering personal 
insurance. In addition, 2008 saw an easing in the loss 
situation in non-life insurance compared with 2007;  
in 2007, major losses had been caused by hurricane 
Kyrill. As a result, insurance benefit payments of 
€ 8,346 million in 2008 were € 925 million below the 
2007 figure (€ 9,271 million).

Insurance business operating expenses increased slightly 
from € 1,438 million in 2007 to € 1,556 million in 
2008. The reasons included the change in rates in the 
insurance industry and a growth-driven increase in fees 
and commissions in connection with inward reinsur-
ance.
 
R+V is one of the top service providers in the German 
market for traditional personal pension products and 
the company was able to gain further market share in 
the year under review. As far as occupational pension 
products are concerned, R+V acts as an expert partner 
for important branches of industry, such as the metals 
and chemicals industries.

There was encouraging growth in profits generated by 
non-life insurance business, despite the competition 
becoming even more intense, particularly in automo-
tive insurance and in the corporate customers business. 
In many areas of non-life insurance, R+V is the market 
leader, for example in the fast-growing renewable 
energies sector. The company further increased its 
market share in non-life insurance to 6.2 percent 
(2007: 6.0 percent).  

In health insurance, growth in R+V in the year under 
review was more than double that in the industry as  
a whole, although the effects of healthcare reform in 

Germany did hold back this growth somewhat. In 
2008, R+V healthcare insurance was again rated the 
best by map-report.

R+V was able to generate growth in inward rein-
surance, particularly by expanding international 
business in traditional reinsurance markets, such as  
the USA, Italy, France, Spain, Austria, and the  
United Kingdom.

Administrative expenses in the DZ BANK Group fell 
by 3.8 percent to € 2,487 million (2007: € 2,585 
million), including a 4.4 percent decrease in other 
administrative expenses to € 1,209 million (2007: 
€ 1,265 million) and a 3.2 percent decrease in staff 
expenses to € 1,278 million (2007: € 1,320 million).

A reduction in other administrative expenses arose in 
TeamBank (2008: € 89 million; 2007: € 119 million) 
because in 2007 the company had incurred IT conver-
sion costs and follow-up costs from the sale of branches 
completed in 2006, and because in 2008 it achieved an 
improvement in the management of its costs. In UMH 
(2008: € 288 million; 2007: € 306 million), a reduc-
tion in other administrative expenses resulted from 
action taken to safeguard profitability. DG HYP also 
achieved a decrease in other administrative expenses 
(2008: € 73 million; 2007: € 99 million) as a result of 
the systematic implementation of the restructuring and 
adjustment of the business model. In contrast, the VR 
LEASING subgroup saw an increase in other adminis-
trative expenses (2008: € 68 million; 2007: € 59 million) 
resulting from the significant expansion in its business. 
The decrease in staff expenses arose primarily from  
the change in UMH (2008: € 216 million; 2007:  

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
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€ 250 million) resulting from the reduction in variable 
bonuses and lower pension expenses. 

Other net operating income for the DZ BANK Group 
rose by € 9 million to € 121 million. 

TeamBank’s other net operating income declined by  
€ 39 million to minus € 5 million (2007: € 34 million). 
The year-on-year change arose primarily because the 
2007 figure included reimbursement income related  
to the IT conversion costs incurred in 2007 as well as 
payments received for equipment and reimbursement 
of other follow-up costs related to the sale of branches 
completed in 2006. In DVB, other net operating 
income increased by € 28 million to € 29 million 
(2007: € 1 million); this increase includes a higher 
year-on-year profit contribution attributable to the 
acquisition of TES Holding Ltd., Cardiff, United 
Kingdom, in the third quarter of 2007 and a year-on-
year increase in reversals of provisions.

The cost/income ratio for the DZ BANK Group in 
2008 was >100.0 percent (2007: 66.9 percent).

The income taxes for 2008 amounting to tax income 
of € 417 million (2007: income tax expense of € 171 
million) comprised a current income tax expense of 
€ 217 million (2007: € 214 million) and deferred tax 
 income of € 634 million (2007: € 43 million).

5. REGULATORY CAPITAL

The year-on-year changes in the regulatory capital of 
the DZ BANK banking group as at December 31, 
2008 which, as in prior years, is calculated on the basis 
of the HGB single-entity financial statements of the 
companies included in the consolidation, are explained 
in detail below.

As at December 31, 2008, the Tier 1 capital in the  
DZ BANK banking group was € 8,786 million 
(December 31, 2007: € 8,999 million). The decrease  
of € 213 million in Tier 1 capital as at December 31, 
2008 compared with December 31, 2007 was mainly 
the result of the sharp rise in Tier 1 capital deductions 
required by the deduction methodology specified by 

the German Banking Act (KWG). This increase in 
deductions was caused specifically by the deterioration 
in securitization ratings which meant that the positions 
concerned had to be recognized either with a risk 
weighting of 1,250 percent or alternatively as a capital 
deduction.

The DZ BANK banking group’s Tier 2 capital as at 
December 31, 2008 was € 2,671 million (December 31, 
2007: € 2,863 million). The decrease in Tier 2 capital 
in 2008 was therefore € 192 million. For the reasons 
specified in the case of Tier 1 capital, the sharp increase 
in Tier 1 capital deductions as required by the KWG 
deduction methodology also had an adverse effect on 
Tier 2 capital, which was also impacted by the fact that 
profit-sharing rights and long-term subordinated 
capital were no longer eligible for recognition for the 
purposes of Tier 2 capital. The issue by DZ BANK of 
new profit-sharing rights and long-term subordinated 
capital amounting to € 1,418 million could not fully 
compensate for these reductions.

The DZ BANK banking group had no Tier 3 capital 
as at December 31, 2008 or December 31, 2007.

As at December 31, 2008, the DZ BANK banking 
group’s own funds as defined for the purposes of the 
Solvency Regulation (SolvV) amounted to € 11,457 
million (December 31, 2007: € 11,862 million).  
This produced a total capital ratio for the DZ BANK 
banking group in accordance with SolvV of 9.7 percent 
(December 31, 2007: 10.2 percent), and a Tier 1 
capital ratio in accordance with SolvV of 7.4 percent 
(December 31, 2007: 7.7 percent). At the end of the 
fiscal year, these key ratios therefore significantly 
exceeded the regulatory minimum of 8.0 percent for 
the total capital ratio and 4.0 percent for the Tier 1 
capital ratio.

Risk capital management and liquidity risk manage-
ment in the DZ BANK Group are described in detail 
in this management report on page 80 et seqq. and page 
107 et seqq. respectively. The year-on-year changes in 
cash flows from operating activities, investing activities, 
and financing activities are shown in the cash flow 
statement in the consolidated financial statements.
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6. SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

The business segment breakdown of the DZ BANK 
Group’s 2008 loss before taxes of € 1,472 million was 
as follows:

€  million

Bank -935

Retail 147

Real estate finance -452

insurance 229

Consolidation/reconciliation -461

The income statements and the figures for the individual 
business segments are shown in detail in the notes to 
the financial statements (note 41).

7. vOLUME GROWTH

As at December 31, 2008, the DZ BANK Group’s total 
assets had decreased by € 4.2 billion to € 427.1 billion, 
a reduction of 1.0 percent. Total assets at DG HYP fell 
by € 6.3 billion, whereas DVB, DZ BANK, and R+V 
each saw an increase in total assets of € 4.2 billion,  
€ 3.4 billion, and € 2.8 billion respectively.

As at December 31, 2008, the notional amount of 
derivative financial instruments in the DZ BANK 
Group had grown by € 33.8 billion to € 1,363.6 
billion. Positive fair values in the group had increased 
by € 13.3 billion to € 30.0 billion.

The DZ BANK Group’s loans and advances to banks 
rose by € 2.5 billion to € 70.0 billion, an increase of 3.7 
percent. The increase at DZ BANK was € 7.4 billion, 
whereas loans and advances to banks at BSH, DG 
HYP, and DZI decreased by € 2.1 billion, € 1.4 billion, 
and € 0.9 billion respectively.

The growth of € 10.7 billion (10.1 percent) in the  
DZ BANK Group’s loans and advances to customers 
to € 117.0 billion primarily reflects an increase at DVB 
of € 4.2 billion and at DZ BANK of € 2.9 billion. 

As at December 31, 2008, financial assets held for 
trading amounted to € 114.4 billion, a decrease of 
€ 15.6 billion on the figure as at December 31, 2007 
(12.0 percent down). The decrease was primarily 
attributable to a drop of € 14.6 billion in bonds and 
other fixed-income securities and a drop of € 13.1 
billion in money market placements, although these 
 reductions were partially offset by an increase of  
€ 12.3 billion in fair values on derivative financial 
instruments.

Investments declined by € 6.7 billion to € 66.3 billion,  
a reduction of 9.1 percent. This was largely attributable 
to a decrease of € 7.1 billion in the portfolio of bonds 
and other fixed-income securities to € 62.4 billion.

The DZ BANK Group’s deposits from banks as at 
December 31, 2008 amounted to € 59.6 billion, 
exceeding the figure as at December 31, 2007 by € 1.7 
billion (2.9 percent). This growth in deposits is mainly 
attributable to increases at DZ BANK and DVB of 
€ 2.6 billion and € 2.2 billion respectively; in contrast, 
DG HYP reported a fall in deposits of € 1.4 billion.

Amounts owed to other depositors were € 0.1 billion 
(0.1 percent) lower as at December 31, 2008 at € 77.5 
billion. Within this figure, amounts owed to domestic 
customers had declined by € 1.0 billion to € 71.3 
billion (down 1.5 percent), whereas amounts owed to 
international customers had risen by € 0.9 billion to 
€ 6.2 million (up 18.4 percent). 

At the end of the year under review, the carrying amount 
of debt certificates including bonds in the DZ BANK 
Group had reached € 65.5 billion (December 31, 

TOTAL ASSETS

€ billion

31.12. 2008

31.12. 2007

427.1 (-1.0 %)

431.3
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and a decrease of € 0.1 billion in distributable profit to 
€ 58 million (December 31, 2007: € 151 million). Of 
the reduction in the revaluation reserve for available-
for-sale financial assets, € 442 million was attributable 
to the remeasurement of securities portfolios affected 
by the consequences of the financial markets crisis.

8. EvENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

At the meeting of the Supervisory Board held on 
February 18, 2009, the Board of Managing Directors  
of DZ BANK presented a proposal to strengthen the 
capital base of the Bank. A request is to be issued to 
investors in DZ BANK for Tier 1 capital amounting  
to € 500 million. DZ BANK plans to implement the 
placement during the first six months of 2009. 

In addition, following preliminary discussions, BVR 
has proposed that instruments be made available to 
reduce the regulatory capital requirement in DZ BANK, 
for example by providing cover for securities portfolios 
length market rates. 

2007: € 63.0 billion). The increase at DZ BANK was 
€ 10.5 billion, whereas DG HYP, in particular, re-
ported a decrease of € 5.3 billion. 

Financial liabilities held for trading fell by € 10.5 billion 
to € 152.7 billion, a decrease of 6.4 percent. This 
decrease included a reduction of € 18.5 billion in 
liabilities from money market deposits, although there 
was a significant increase of € 15.5 billion in negative 
fair values on derivative financial instruments. Money 
market instruments and certificates of deposit decreased 
by € 4.3 billion to € 1.9 billion, and share and index-
linked certificates also decreased by € 3.2 billion to 
€ 11.6 billion.

Including minority interest, the DZ BANK Group’s 
total equity as at December 31, 2008 was € 8.7 billion 
(December 31, 2007: € 11.0 billion). The main compo-
nents of this reduction of € 2.3 billion in equity were as 
follows: a decrease of € 1.1 billion in retained earnings 
to € 2.2 billion (December 31, 2007: € 3.3 billion); a 
decrease of € 1.1 billion in the revaluation reserve to 
minus € 0.9 billion (December 31, 2007: € 0.2 billion); 
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EMPLOYEES BY FULL-TIME/PART-TIME IN 2008

85.4 %

14.6 %

Average total number of employees in 2008: 24,642

  full-time: 21,034

  part-time: 3,608

EMPLOYEES IN 2008 BY GENDER

53.8 %

46.2 %

Average total number of employees in 2008: 24,642

  Male: 13,258

  female: 11,384

II. Human resources 
 report and sustainability

1. HUMAN RESOURCES REPORT

The development of employees and young managerial 
talent continued to be an important aspect of human 
resources activities in 2008: standard conditions facili-
tated the internal movement of employees between 
companies in the group. 

CAReeR oppoRtuNities iN tHe DZ BANK GRoup
Within the DZ BANK Group, there are a large 
number of highly attractive career routes open to our 
employees. For example, employees can move between 
a bank (DZ BANK), a home savings organization 
(Schwäbisch Hall), a real estate bank (DG HYP),  
an insurance company (R+V Versicherung), a fund 
management company (Union Investment), and a 
leasing company (VR LEASING). Standard conditions 
have been created to facilitate the movement of 
employees within the group. Employees can therefore 
switch jobs without a probationary period and regard-
less of other employment contract notice periods. In 
addition, given a choice of job applicants with the same 
skills and qualifications, persons already employed by  
a company in the group are given preference over an 

external applicant. The low employee turnover of 
around 9 percent and an average period of service  
of 12.8 years in Germany are clear indicators of a  
high level of job satisfaction. An important factor in 
generating this satisfaction is the targeted support for 
and professional development of employees. Wide-
ranging expertise and a high level of skills and qualifi-
cations in the workforce are the prerequisites for the 
DZ BANK Group’s shared commercial success and 
also a key area of investment for the future of the 
company. The average number of professional develop-
ment days per employee in the year under review was 
3.6 days.

tRAiNiNG AND DeVelopMeNt of YouNG tAleNt
The DZ BANK Group attaches a great deal of impor-
tance to the development of young talent. The newcom-
ers of today are the employees and managers of tomor-
row who will secure the long-term success of the Bank. 
In 2008, an average of approximately 688 trainees were 
employed in Germany and abroad. The ratio of 
trainees to other employees was therefore 2.8 percent. 
In addition to general trainees, this figure included 
management trainees, interns, university students 
approaching graduation, postgraduate students and 
participants in various work and study programs. 

In 2008, in collaboration with Handelsblatt, Handels-
blatt Junge Karriere, and WiWiOnline.net, DZ BANK 
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awarded the DZ BANK Career Prize for the seventh 
time. The prize is broken down into the two catego-
ries of “master’s degree dissertations” and “bachelor’s 
degree dissertations”. In 2009, the banking and finance 
Career Prize will for the first time be jointly awarded 
by DZ BANK, Union Investment Group, Bauspar-
kasse Schwäbisch Hall, R+V Versicherung, DG HYP, 
TeamBank and VR-LEASING. With a total value of 
€ 24,000, the DZ BANK Group Career Prize is the 
highest endowed prize awarded by a German company 
and more than 100 university graduates from Germany 
and abroad submit entries each year. The prize under-
lines the commitment of the DZ BANK Group to pro-
moting young talent. However, the objective is also to 
strengthen the perception of the group among students 
and graduates as one of the largest  financial services 
providers backed by strong brands.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR EMPLOYEES
An appropriate work-life balance forms the basis for 
an individual’s personal performance and therefore 
contributes directly to the performance of the busi-
ness as a whole. In 2008, the individual companies in 
the DZ BANK Group therefore continued to provide 
a number of services aimed at promoting the health 
of employees, such as attractive sporting opportunities 
within the company, free health checks, and anti-stress 
programs. Options for more flexible working hours, 

part-time working models and other services aimed at 
promoting a work-life balance all help an individual  
to achieve the requisite balance and therefore form a 
permanent integral part of the HR policy in each indi-
vidual group company. 

2. SUSTAINABILITY

DZ BANK feels bound by a long tradition that com-
bines banking activities with social responsibility. This 
means that the Bank uses its financial products and 
services to generate added social value and to achieve 
commercial success on a sustainable basis. This 
approach includes the provision of comprehensive 
support for employees and the best possible level of 
protection for the environment. As part of society,  
DZ BANK is also committed to assisting educational, 
cultural and social causes. DZ BANK’s Sustainability 
Report and more detailed information can be accessed 
on the internet at www.sustainability.dzbank.com.

EMPLOYEES BY GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION (GERMANY/ROW) 
IN 2008

88.5 %

11.5 %

Average total number of employees in 2008: 24,642

  Germany: 21,803

  Rest of world: 2,839

31.55 5.81

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BY SEGMENT IN 2008 

  Germany   Rest of world

Bank   7,774   1,431 

Retail   2,972   1,058

Real Estate  
Finance   1,298   12

Insurance    9,759   338

Bank

Retail

Real Estate 
Finance

Insurance

(%)

12.06 4.29

5.27 0.05 

39.60 1.37
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III. Risk report
The risk report in the management report of the 
DZ BANK Group has been prepared in accordance 
with section 315 German Commercial Code (HGB) in 
conjunction with section 315a HGB and the relevant 
German accounting standards. The DZ BANK Group 
also complies with the risk-related requirements 
specified in the International Financial Reporting 
Standards. This risk report includes the qualitative  
and quantitative risk disclosures required by IFRS 7 
including impairment losses and allowances for losses 
on loans and advances. The disclosures on capital 
management are based on the requirements set out in 
IAS 1. The analysis of remaining contractual maturities 
as required by IFRS 7 can be found in note 77 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Parts of the qualitative regulatory risk report for the 
DZ BANK banking group pursuant to section 26a 
German Banking Act (KWG) in conjunction with 
sections 319 to 337 of the Solvency Ordinance have 
been integrated into the risk report in this group 
management report. The quantitative regulatory risk 
report including the remaining parts of the qualitative 
regulatory risk report (“pillar 3 reporting”) is a separate 
report published on the website of DZ BANK.

The basis for external risk reporting at DZ BANK is 
the disclosure policy approved by the Board of Manag-
ing Directors. This policy sets out the principles and 
fundamental decisions for the methods, organizational 
structure, and IT systems to be used in risk disclosure, 
for the integration of risk disclosure into general 
financial disclosure, and for the interconnection 
between risk disclosure and internal risk reporting in 
the DZ BANK Group. By adopting this disclosure 
policy, the Board of Managing Directors established 
the necessary risk-related disclosure procedures and 
communicated them throughout the DZ BANK 
Group. The disclosure policy is updated as part of  
the annual review of the adequacy of the DZ BANK 
Group’s risk disclosure procedures.

1. RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

oBJeCtiVes
The systematic controlled assumption of risk in relation 
to target returns is an integral part of corporate con-
trol in the DZ BANK Group. The operating activities 
resulting from the DZ BANK Group’s business model 
require the ability to identify, measure, assess, manage, 
monitor, and control risks. The backing of risks with 
adequate capital is also recognized as an essential pre-
requisite for the operation of the business. In all its ac-
tivities, the DZ BANK Group abides by the principle of 
only taking on risk to the extent absolutely necessary 
to achieve business objectives.

DZ BANK has a groupwide risk management system 
that meets both the Bank’s own business management 
requirements and statutory requirements. All group 
companies are integrated into the DZ BANK Group’s 
risk management system, subject to the principle of 
materiality. The following companies are directly 
integrated into the risk management system: DZ BANK, 
BSH, DG HYP, DVB, DZI, DZ BANK Ireland plc, 
Dublin, (DZ BANK Ireland), DZ BANK Polska  
(from January 1, 2008), DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz 
(from October 1, 2008), R+V, TeamBank, Union Asset 
Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main, (Union 
Asset Management Holding), and VR-LEASING. 

RisK tYpes
Credit risk and market price risk are the most impor-
tant types of risk in the DZ BANK Group. Credit risk 
is a particular feature of the groupwide corporate 
banking and investment banking activities and the 
retail-oriented lending business. Market price risk 
arises principally in the companies that hold signifi-
cant capital market investments or undertake trading 
activities. Equity risk results from DZ BANK’s equity 
stakes in companies held in pursuit of the Bank’s 
business strategy. As a result of the activities in R+V, 
the group also faces actuarial risk. Liquidity risk, 
operational risk and strategic risk arise in connection 
with any kind of business activity and are therefore  
also important for all the companies included in the 
DZ BANK Group’s risk management system.
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tory and regulatory requirements. This function also 
monitors the risk management system to ensure that it 
is fully operational capability and follows up audit 
findings to ensure that identified problems have been 
rectified. Internal audit at DZ BANK and the other 
group companies reports directly to the chief executive 
officer of the entity concerned. DZ BANK and all other 
group companies involved satisfy the special require-
ments for the structure of internal audit departments 
specified in the German minimum requirements for 
risk management (MaRisk).

DZ BANK’s Internal Audit division takes responsibility 
for internal audit at group level. These responsibilities 
include, in particular, the coordination of intercom-
pany audits, the implementation of which lies within 
the remit of the individual internal audit departments 
in the group companies concerned, and the evaluation 
of individual group company audit reports of relevance 
to the entire group. Cooperation between internal 
audit divisions in the DZ BANK Group is governed by 
special framework.

CoMMittees
The Group Coordination Committee ensures coordi-
nation between the key companies in the DZ BANK 
Group to achieve consistent business and risk manage-
ment, allocate capital, deal with strategic issues, and 
generate synergies. In addition to the entire Board of 
Managing Directors of DZ BANK, the members of 
this committee comprise the chief executive officers  
of BSH, DG HYP, R+V, TeamBank, Union Asset 
Management Holding and VR-LEASING. Cross-sec-
tional functions are the responsibility of a number of 
working groups, which then report to the Group 
Coordination Committee. The functions covered by 
these working groups are: product and sales/marketing 
coordination, foreign coordination, group and com-
pany management, risk management, IT, process and 
resources strategy, and human resources management. 

The Group Risk Committee is the central committee 
in the DZ BANK Group responsible for business 
management and risk management. Among other 
things, it manages risk capital throughout the group 
and support to the Group Coordination Committee in 
matters of principle. The members of this committee, 
which meets quarterly, include the members of the 

sepARAtioN of fuNCtioNs
The DZ BANK Group’s risk management system is 
constructed on the basis of the risk strategies imple-
mented by the Board of Managing Directors and 
comprises risk management, risk control, and internal 
audit.

Risk management refers to the local operational 
implementation of the risk strategies in the risk-bear-
ing business units. The business units responsible for 
risk management make conscious decisions on whether 
to assume or avoid risks. They observe guidelines and 
risk limits specified by the head office. These risk 
management units are separated both in terms of 
organization and function from downstream units.

Risk control is responsible for the identification, 
measurement and assessment of risks, as well as for  
the monitoring of risk limits. This is accompanied with 
the planning of upper loss limits. Risk control also 
reports risks to the Board of Managing Directors, the 
subsidiaries and the Supervisory Board. Risk control at 
DZ BANK coordinates the risk measurement methods 
to be used throughout the group with risk control in 
the subsidiaries and ensures the implementation of risk 
capital management in the group. In cooperation with 
the subsidiaries, risk control at DZ BANK establishes  
a groupwide risk reporting system covering all material 
types of risk based on minimum standards using 
methods agreed between the entities.

Both at DZ BANK and in the subsidiaries, risk control 
is responsible for the transparency of risks assumed in 
all risk categories and ensures that all risk measurement 
methods used are up-to-date. The risk control units in 
the individual companies also monitor compliance with 
the company-related limits that the subsidiaries have 
set themselves based on the risk capital allocated by 
DZ BANK. In addition, risk control at DZ BANK 
and in the subsidiaries is responsible for the risk report-
ing system in the company concerned.

A further component of the groupwide risk manage-
ment system is internal audit, which is responsible for 
monitoring and control tasks at DZ BANK and in all 
the main group companies independently of other 
processes. Internal audit carries out systematic, regular 
risk-based audits focusing on compliance with statu-
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Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK with 
responsibility for corporate management, risk manage-
ment, and investment banking. The committee 
members also include representatives of the boards of 
managing directors of those group companies with a 
material impact on the risk profile of the group. The 
Group Risk Committee has appointed the following 
working groups to facialate prepairing. 

The Group Risk Management Working Group 
supports the Group Risk Committee in all matters 
concerning risk and the management of risk capital  
in the DZ BANK Group. This working group is also 
the central platform for groupwide strategic and 
operational planning, and for external risk reporting. 
At DZ BANK level, the monitoring and control of 
overall banking risks is coordinated by the Major 
Risk Committee.

The credit risk management activities in the group are 
brought together under the Group Credit Management 
Working Group. This committee is responsible for the 
further development of business processes and organiza-
tional structures that are harmonized throughout the 
group and for the application and further development 
of IT systems used in the lending business. The 
monitoring and control of DZ BANK’s lending 
portfolio is coordinated by the Credit Committee. 

The Market Working Group is responsible for liquidity 
management throughout the group. In addition to the 
planning and coordination of liquidity investments 
and the group’s own issues, this remit also includes 
optimization of intragroup refinancing. At DZ BANK 
level, the Treasury Committee is responsible for the 
monitoring and control of market price risk and 
liquidity risk. This committee meets on a weekly 
basis to discuss basic principles and action plans 
related to the management and limiting of risk and 
submits appropriate proposals to the entire Board of 
Managing Directors. The Treasury Committee is also 
responsible for implementing any action regarding 
non-voting equity capital. 

The Group Accounting Working Group advises the 
Group Risk Committee on matters concerning account-
ing, financial regulation, and groupwide tax manage-
ment.

The Group IT Committee, comprising the members 
of the boards of managing directors of the main group 
companies with responsibility for IT, supports the 
Group Coordination Committee in matters relating to 
IT strategy. This committee manages all overarching 
IT activities in the DZ BANK Group. In particular, 
the Group IT Committee takes decisions on collabora-
tion issues, identifies and realizes synergies, and 
initiates joint projects.

The Heads of Internal Audit Working Group is 
coordinated by DZ BANK and meets semi annual. 
The focus of the meetings is determined on the basis of 
the terms of reference jointly drawn up and approved 
by the relevant boards of managing directors and 
includes coordination of group-relevant audit issues, 
planning of cross-company audits and activities, 
sharing of information (especially regarding current 
trends in internal audit), and development of best 
practice for internal audit activities. 

RisK RepoRtiNG AND RisK MANuAl
The quarterly group risk report is the main channel by 
which risks at group and company levels are communi-
cated to the Supervisory Board, Board of Managing 
Directors, and the Group Risk Committee. In addition, 
the Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory 
Board receive portfolio and exposure-related manage-
ment information in the quarterly DZ BANK Group 
credit risk report.

DZ BANK and the main subsidiaries also have further 
reporting systems for all relevant types of risks. 
Depending on the degree of materiality in the risk 
positions concerned, these systems ensure that decision-
makers and supervisory bodies at all times receive 
transparent information on the risk profile of the risk 
units for which they are responsible.
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The DZ BANK Group’s risk manual is available to  
all employees and includes the general parameters for 
risk capital management and the management of risk 
types as well as a comprehensive description of 
methods, processes and responsibilities at group level. 
The main subsidiaries also have their own risk manuals 
covering special aspects of risk related specifically to 
the companies concerned.

fuNDAMeNtAl pRiNCiBles foR RisK 
 MeAsuReMeNt, liMitAtioN AND HeDGiNG

economic capital
Economic capital is determined for credit risk, equity 
risk, market price risk, actuarial risk, operational risk, 
and strategic risk. This risk capital requirement is 
generally calculated as value-at-risk with a holding 
period of one year. In most cases, this calculation 
assumes a confidence level appropriate to DZ BANK’s 
rating. In 2008, the confidence level was increased 
from 99.90 percent to 99.95 percent. The increase in 
this confidence level for the measurement of risk – 
which leads to an increase in the economic capital 
requirement, all other things remaining the same – is a 
reflection of the reduction in the risk appetite of the 
Board of Managing Directors. The capital requirement 
for credit risk is determined as an unexpected loss 
equivalent to the difference between the value-at-risk 
and the expected loss. The risk capital requirement for 
the individual types of risks is aggregated into the total 
economic capital requirement for the DZ BANK 
Group taking into account the various diversification 
effects.

stress tests
In addition to the measurement of economic capital, 
the effects of extreme but plausible events are also 
analyzed. Stress tests of this kind are used to establish 
whether the DZ BANK Group retains its risk-bearing 
capacity, even under tough economic conditions. The 
measurement of risk-bearing capacity with regard to 
liquidity risk is based on an analysis of the effects of 
serious crisis events in which the features are consistent 
with the defined risk tolerance.,

expected loss
As part of lending-portfolio accounting, expected loss 
is calculated for lending and money market business, 

and for securities and derivatives positions. This 
calculation is based on one-year default probabilities 
derived from historical loss data, taking into account 
additional business-specific features and reflecting the 
current rating of the debtor. Other factors taken into 
account in the calculation of exposures subject to 
credit risk include measurable collateral, netting 
agreements, and expected recovery rates based on past 
experience.

Volume-oriented credit risk management
Individual lending exposures are managed on the basis 
of an analysis of gross lending volume. The period 
taken into account in this case is equivalent to the 
monitoring cycle of one year. Non-performing loans 
are subject to more frequent monitoring. Together 
with risk-related lending-portfolio management, 
volume-oriented credit risk management is one of the 
components in the management of concentration risk 
in the lending business.

Risk limit concepts
The DZ BANK Group has implemented a system of 
limits to ensure that the risk-bearing capacity of the 
group is maintained at all times. The limits used may 
be risk limits or volume limits, depending on the type 
of business and types of risk. Whereas risk limits, in all 
types of risk, restrict exposure measured with an eco-
nomic model, volume limits are applied additionally 
in transactions involving counterparties. Risk manage-
ment is also supported by limits for relevant key per-
formance indicators.

Hedging objectives
The companies in the DZ BANK Group ensure that 
the measured exposures do not exceed the specified 
volume and risk limits. This is achieved by specifically 
amending risk positions based on an adjustment of the 
volume and risk structure in the underlying transac-
tions. Counterparties are also selected on the basis of 
credit rating in order to manage compliance with the 
limits in lending business. In addition, suitable hedg-
ing instruments are used to transfer credit risk, market 
price risk, liquidity risk, actuarial risk, and operational 
risk to third parties outside the group. All hedging ac-
tivities are conducted within the strategic rules speci-
fied in writing and applicable throughout the group.
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limits of measurement concepts
The risk measurement methods used in the DZ BANK 
Group reflect current expert thinking in this regard 
and are based on standard practice in the banking 
sector. The risk model calculations are suitable for the 
management of the group and the companies con-
cerned. Measurement concepts are subject to regular 
review by risk control, internal audit, and by inde-
pendent auditors. Despite careful development of 
models and regular reviews, situations may arise in 
which actual losses and liquidity requirements are 
higher than those forecast in the risk models and stress 
scenarios.

RespoNse to tHe fiNANCiAl MARKets CRisis
The DZ BANK Group has a range of efficient risk 
management tools at its disposal that allowed it to 
respond appropriately to the continuing crisis in the 
financial markets in 2008. Changes in risk factors, 
such as a deterioration in the credit rating of counter-
parties or the widening of spreads on securities, are 
reflected in adjusted risk parameters in the mark-to-
model measurement of credit risks and market price 
risks. Conservative worst-case scenarios for short-term 
liquidity ensure that liquidity risk management also 
takes adequate account of current market disruption.

A risk limit system based on risk-bearing capacity, stress 
testing encompassing all types of risks, and a flexible, 
timely internal reporting system ensure that the 
management of DZ BANK is in a position to initiate 
targeted corrective action if required. In the year under 
review, further detailed analyses of the securitization 
portfolio were integrated into the existing reporting 
system and reporting cycles for relevant portfolios 
shortened in order to respond to the specific demands 
posed by the current crisis in the financial markets.

The consequences of the financial markets crisis for the 
DZ BANK Group’s risk position are mirrored in the 
figures disclosed in this risk report in accordance with 
statutory requirements. The disclosures reflect the in-
formation made available to the management of the 
DZ BANK Group in its internal reporting system.  
DZ BANK meets the requirements of the capital 
markets for additional transparency regarding the  

DZ BANK Group’s exposure in securitization and 
leveraged finance business through the comprehensive 
disclosures it makes in accordance with the recommen-
dations of the “Report of the Financial Stability Forum 
on Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience” 
from April 7, 2008. These are also based on internal 
risk reporting and published on a voluntary basis in 
the DZ BANK banking group’s regulatory risk report.

2. RISK CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

stRAteGY, oRGANiZAtioN, AND RespoNsiBilitY
Risk capital management is an integral component of 
business management in the DZ BANK Group. Active 
management of economic capital adequacy on the 
basis of both internal risk measurement methods and 
regulatory capital requirements ensures that the 
assumption of risk is at all times in line with capital 
resources in the group.

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK 
defines the corporate objectives and the capital 
requirement in the DZ BANK Group in terms of both 
risks and returns. The Board ensures the risk profile is 
appropriate relative to aggregate risk cover. DZ BANK 
is responsible for risk and capital management, and for 
compliance with capital adequacy at group level. The 
companies are independently responsible for monitor-
ing and controlling their respective risks within the 
context of the groupwide risk and capital management 
system. At the DZ BANK Group level, minimum 
standards have been specified for the decentralized 
management of risk and the appropriateness of these 
standards is regularly reviewed.

The management of economic and regulatory capital 
adequacy in the DZ BANK Group is based on internal 
target values. To avoid any unexpected adverse impact 
on target values and capital ratios and ensure that any 
changes in risk are consistent with corporate strategy, 
risk-weighted assets and economic upper loss limits are 
planned throughout the group on an annual basis as 
part of the strategic planning consultation program. 
This process ends in a requirements budget for the 
 economic and regulatory capital needed by the group. 
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DZ BANK Treasury coordinates the action needed to 
cover this requirement and the implementation of any 
corresponding measures to raise capital.

In 2008, DZ BANK set up a capital management 
task force to enable it to counter the impact of the 
crisis in the financial markets on a systematic basis. 
The task force closely monitors any changes in capital 
and risk positions and proposes targeted management 
action to the relevant committees. In this regard, 
DZ BANK was able to strengthen the capital base in 
2008 by the issue of Tier 1 capital of € 250 million 
and subordinated capital of approximately € 1 billion. 
The Annual General Meeting also approved a facility 
for the issue of profit-sharing rights amounting to € 1 
billion. Of this amount, profit-sharing rights of a 
little over € 400 million were placed in December 
2008. In addition, the task force initiated action in 
the year under review to reduce risk positions. Among 
other things, it was able to achieve a significant 17 
percent (based on market values) reduction in 
securities portfolios. Improvements to methods and 
processes were also implemented, resulting in a 
further streamlining of procedures used in determin - 
ing risk positions.

RisK-ADJusteD pRofitABilitY MANAGeMeNt
The costs of tying up economic risk capital are 
integrated into the DZ BANK Group’s performance 
management system. The key figures used for this 
purpose are the risk-adjusted performance measures 

economic value added (EVA) and return on risk-ad-
justed capital (RORAC), which are determined and 
reported on the basis of the economic risk capital 
requirement.

MANAGeMeNt of eCoNoMiC  
CApitAl  ADeQuACY
Economic capital management in the DZ BANK 
Group is based on internal risk measurement methods, 
which take into account all key types of risks. Credit 
risks, equity risks, market price risks, and actuarial risks 
are measured using internal models based on a value-
at-risk approach, or to a lesser extent an approach 
using a comparable potential loss. Potential loss from 
operational risks is estimated at group level using the 
standardized approach specified by the German 
Solvency Ordinance. Quantification of strategic risks  
is based on an empirical benchmark analysis. The risk 
capital requirement in the DZ BANK Group is 
determined by aggregating the various types of risks 
from all companies. This then incorporates the effects 
of diversification between the different types of risks 
within the group companies. In this way, DZ BANK 
meets the requirements for a groupwide integrated  
risk capital management system specified by BASEL II 
Pillar 2 and by MaRisk.

In a risk-bearing-capacity analysis, the risk capital 
requirement is compared against the aggregate risk 
cover and the economic capital adequacy determined. 
Aggregate risk cover comprises the DZ BANK Group’s 
equity reported on the balance sheet and hidden 
reserves; as at the decision date for the fiscal year, it 
amounted to € 12,186 million (decision date 2007: 
€ 11,546 million). Based on this figure, the Board of 
Managing Directors determined the upper loss limits 
for 2008. 

The table on the left shows the breakdown of the upper 
loss limit by types of risk and the capital requirement 
for each types of risk compared with 2007. As at 
December 31, 2008, the total upper loss limit for the 
group amounted to € 9,895 million (December 31, 
2007: € 9,631 million). The shortage of risk capital 
available to the DZ BANK Group arising during the 
course of the financial markets crisis was accommodated 

UPPER LOSS LIMITS AND RISK CAPITAL REQUIREMENT

upper loss limit Risk capital 
 requirement

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Credit risk 3,683 4,129 3,362 2,724

equity risk 957 918 913 881

Market price risk 4,233 3,202 3,851 2,320

Actuarial risk 1,296 1,400 1,267 1,196

operational risk 589 745 575 590

strategic risk 1,032 1,340 1,011 1,184

Total after 
diversification 9,895 9,631 9,128 7,282
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by the Bank’s risk management with a reallocation  
of capital between the risk categories and the group 
companies. In addition to the market disruption, it 
was, in particular, the increase in the confidence level 
from 99.90 percent to 99.95 percent that led to a 
significant increase in the utilization of specified limits. 
In the individual companies, there was a sharp increase 
primarily in the requirement for capital for market  
price risks. However, the group was able to compensate 
for this trend by utilizing flexibility in the upper loss 
limit in other management units. 

As things stand at the moment, the increases in the 
capital base mean that the DZ BANK Group will have 
at its disposal sufficient aggregate risk cover for 2009.

In the DZ BANK Group, the analysis of risk-bearing 
capacity is supplemented by standardized stress tests on 
the risk capital requirement. These stress tests are mostly 
carried out on a decentralized basis by the group 
companies. Separate stress tests are carried out for each 
types of risk included in risk capital management – 
credit risk, equity risk, market price risk, actuarial risk, 
operational risk, and strategic risk. The types of risk 
stress tests are supplemented by a stress scenario that 
models the correlations between different risk catego-
ries. Internal risk measurement methods are used in 
the implementation of the stress tests. The initial 
parameters for measuring risk are scaled in such a way 
as to reflect extremely negative economic situations. 
The standardized procedure for the aggregation of risk 
categories into a stress test result covering all group 
companies and risk categories is similar to the proce-
dure for risk measurement.

In addition to the standard stress test procedures at 
group level, DZ BANK creates crisis scenarios based 
on the internal market price risk model and adjusts 
the scenarios on an ongoing basis to take into account 
current market data. This is particularly important 
when critical situations prevail. The weekly cycle of 
 updating the stress test scenarios proved itself to be 
particularly valuable in the course of the financial 
markets crisis. In this way, up-to-date estimates of the 
potential loss can be integrated promptly into risk 
management and into the measurement of market 
price risk in terms of both value-at-risk and risk capital 
requirement. These scenarios relating to coverage of 

market price risks arising on credit rating and spread 
products were subjected to detailed analyses and 
partially revised. The scenarios involved in this case 
were, in particular, scenarios for bond spreads, CDS 
spreads, ABS spreads, basis spreads, weighted-average 
lifetime (WAL) and correlations. In addition, an 
enhanced review of the appropriateness of DZ BANK’s 
entire internal market price risk model was carried out 
during the year in 2008.

MANAGeMeNt of ReGulAtoRY  
CApitAl  ADeQuACY
In addition to the management of economic capital – 
the key figure in the management of business activities – 
regulatory solvency requirements for the DZ BANK 
financial conglomerate, the DZ BANK banking group 
and the R+V insurance group are strictly observed.

the DZ BANK financial conglomerate
The Financial Conglomerates Directive Implemen-
tation Act in Germany forms the legal basis for the 
DZ BANK financial conglomerate. The enhanced regu-
lation affects groups of financial services providers that 
operate extensively across different sectors in the finan-
cial services industry. At conglomerate level, it results, 
among other things, in a more accurate assessment of 
capital adequacy risks, risk concentrations, and intra-
group transactions. The German financial services regu-
lator, BaFin, has classified the DZ BANK Group as a 
financial conglomerate, in which DZ BANK acts as the 
parent in the conglomerate. The DZ BANK financial 
conglomerate comprises the DZ BANK banking group 
and the R+V insurance group.

The financial conglomerate solvency is the amount 
equating to the difference between the total of eligible 
equity in the financial conglomerate and the total  
of solvency requirements for the conglomerate. The 
resulting coverage ratio must be at least 100 percent. 
The calculation of financial conglomerate solvency  
as at December 31, 2007 and the projection to 
December 31, 2008 demonstrate that the DZ BANK 
financial conglomerate exceeds the minimum regula-
tory requirements. 

the DZ BANK banking group
To calculate the regulatory capital requirement, the 
DZ BANK banking group has since 2007 used the 
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internal ratings-based approach (the Foundation IRB 
approach and the IRB approach for retail exposure) for 
credit risk and the standardized approach for opera-
tional risk in accordance with the German Banking 
Act (KWG) and the German Solvency Ordinance. 
Since 2008, the regulatory credit risk measurement 
methods used by DVB have largely been based on  
the advanced IRB approach. In 2008, DZ BANK  
was involved in both shaping the national implemen-
tation of BASEL II through its work on the relevant 
banking regulatory committees in Germany and 
contributing to the discussions on the current financial 
markets crisis held at European regulatory level.

As at December 31, 2008, the total regulatory capital 
for the DZ BANK banking group was determined to 
be € 11,457 million (December 31, 2007: € 11,862 
million). This amount included total Tier 1 capital 
(pursuant to section 10 (2a) KWG) of € 8,786 
million (December 31, 2007: € 8,999 million) and 
total Tier 2 capital (pursuant to section 10 (2b) KWG) 
of € 2,671 million (December 31, 2007: € 2,863 
million).

As at December 31, 2008, the regulatory capital re-
quirement in respect of credit risk, market price risk, 
and operational risk was calculated at € 9,442 million. 
These figures relate to all the companies consolidated 
for regulatory purposes in the DZ BANK banking 
group. A comparison between this regulatory capital 
requirement figure as at December 31, 2008 and the 
equivalent figure of € 9,309 million as at December 
31, 2007 is only of limited value because in 2007 the 
capital in respect of credit risk and equity risk at DVB, 
DZ BANK Ireland and Union Asset Management 
Holding was still determined in accordance with the 
former Capital Principle I and also because the floor 
specified by section 339 Solvency Ordinance still ap-
plied at that time. 

The following ratios were determined for the  
DZ BANK banking group as at December 31, 2008:  
a total capital ratio of 9.7 percent (December 31, 2007: 
10.2 percent) and a Tier 1 capital ratio of 7.4 percent 
(December 31, 2007: 7.7 percent). These key ratios 
therefore significantly exceeded the regulatory mini-
mum of 8.0 percent for the total capital ratio and 4.0 
percent for the Tier 1 capital ratio.

R+V insurance group
R+V uses the regulatory requirements for the solvency 
of insurance companies as the basis for its assessment 
of the entire risk position. All the individual companies 
in the R+V insurance group meet the solvency require-
ments even without taking into account valuation 
reserves. The companies also continue to meet these 
requirements in a scenario in which the capital markets 
situation at the end of 2008 is extrapolated to Decem-
ber 31, 2009. The calculation of adjusted solvency at 
company level for all the companies to be consolidated 
for regulatory purposes in the R+V insurance group 
shows that solvency requirements will also be clearly 
met at group level without taking into account hidden 
reserves.

As a result of internal projects and working group 
activities, and by virtue of its involvement in working 
groups of the German Insurance Association (GDV) 
and BaFin, R+V is well prepared for the future chal-
lenges presented by Solvency II. R+V is also part of an 
interdepartmental project working on the refinement 
of the economic risk capital model in the R+V insur-
ance group to ensure that the group will meet future 
regulatory requirements for internal models.

3. CREDIT RISK

DefiNitioN AND CAuses
Credit risk or default risk is the risk of a loss resulting 
from the failure of a counterparty to meet contractual 
obligations. Credit risks may arise in traditional lending 
business and also in trading activities. Traditional 
lending business for the most part comprises commer-
cial lending, including financial guarantee contracts 
and loan commitments. In the context of credit risk 
management, trading activities refers to securities 
business – comprising securities in both the banking 
book and the trading book including promissory notes 
– as well as derivatives and money market business 
(including sale and repurchase agreements).

Credit risk in connection with trading activities arises 
in the form of counterparty risk and issuer risk. 
Counterparty risk has two components: replacement 
risk and settlement risk. Replacement risk is the risk  
of counterparty default before the maturity date of a 
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trading transaction with a positive fair value. A financial 
loss arises from the need to replace the transaction at 
current market terms. Settlement risk arises in 
connection with trading transactions that are not 
processed concurrently. The risk is that counterparties 
do not meet their obligations, counter-performance 
already having taken place. Issuer risk is the risk that 
the issuer of a security does not meet its contractual 
obligations. In this case, the owner of the security 
incurs a financial loss in the form of a loss of interest 
payments and repayments of principal.

Credit risk from traditional lending business arises 
primarily at DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, DVB, DZI, 
VR-LEASING and TeamBank. The risk results from 
the specific transactions in each company and therefore 
has varying characteristics in terms of diversification 
and size in relation to the volume of business. Credit 
risk from trading activities arises particularly at 
DZ BANK, BSH and DG HYP. BSH and DG HYP 
only incur credit risk on banking book trading 
activities. BSH restricts its investments mainly to 
investment-grade registered securities.

CReDit RisK stRAteGY
The DZ BANK Group pursues a strategy of “pooling 
strengths: one network – one strategy” guided by a 
strictly decentralized business policy aimed at promot-
ing the cooperative banks. The business and risk policy 
for the credit-risk-bearing core business lines in the 
group is formulated on the basis of risk-bearing 
capacity. The credit risk strategy therefore forms the 
basis for credit risk management and reporting across 
the whole group and ensures that there is a standard 
approach to credit risk within the group.

Lending throughout the group is predominantly based 
on the “VR rating” system, a credit rating procedure 
developed by DZ BANK in collaboration with the 
Federal Association of German Cooperative Banks 
(BVR) and WGZ BANK. Both DZ BANK and the 
subsidiaries with a material credit risk seek to maintain 
a good rating structure in their lending portfolios at  
all times. In future, the portfolios will continue to be 

characterized by a high degree of diversification. In the 
case of an individual lending transaction, risk-adjusted 
pricing of the financing taking into account adequate 
standard risk costs and risk-adjusted economic capital 
costs is of critical importance.

Where required, the Board of Managing Directors of 
DZ BANK takes decisions during the course of the 
year to ensure that the rules for the medium-term and 
long-term credit risk strategy are adjusted in line with 
changing circumstances and current developments. 
Against the backdrop of the crisis in the financial 
markets, adjustments were made, in particular, to the 
direction of the Structured Finance division.

oRGANiZAtioN AND RespoNsiBilitY
As required by MaRisk, responsibilities in the lending 
process have been defined and are documented in 
organization manuals. These responsibilities cover loan 
applications, approvals, and processing, including 
periodic credit control with regular analysis of credit 
ratings. Decision-making authority levels are specified 
in authority rules based on the risk content of lending 
transactions. The authority of committees to approve 
lending to financial institutions was adjusted in line 
with the risk as a response to the turmoil in the 
markets in the year under review.

CReDit RisK RepoRtiNG
Established reporting and monitoring processes help 
provide timely information for decision-makers on 
changes in the risk structure of lending portfolios and 
form the basis for active management of credit risks. 

As part of the reporting system, the Group Risk 
Committee is kept informed of the economic capital 
requirement to cover credit risks. Internal reporting 
also includes a volume-oriented analysis of the portfolio 
structure based on key risk characteristics such as 
 country, industry and credit rating – in each case 
individually for the companies and as an overview for 
the group. In addition, the report includes details on 
specific exposures and specific loan loss allowance.
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RAtiNG sYsteMs

Rating system Characteristics
The VR rating system is used as standard throughout 
the cooperative financial services network. This ensures 
that all the entities in the network apply a sophisti-
cated uniform methodology producing ratings that are 
comparable. The VR rating system is broken down by 
customer segment and is gradually being extended to 
cover all relevant customer groups. DZ BANK primarily 
uses VR rating systems as part of its credit risk manage-
ment system to assess larger SMEs, major customers, 
banks, countries, and project and acquisition financing. 
The internal assessment approach is also used to assess 
credit lines and credit enhancements in connection 
with DZ BANK’s asset-backed commercial paper 

(ABCP) transactions. The rating systems have been 
approved by BaFin, the German financial services 
regulator, for the purposes of calculating regulatory 
capital using the foundation IRB approach. Approval 
has not yet been received for the acquisition finance 
rating system.

For internal management purposes, further rating 
systems are used to assess SMEs at the lower end of the 
scale and public-sector entities. Although these systems 
satisfy the requirements for the foundation IRB 
approach, they are deemed to be of less significance 
and have not yet been reviewed by the regulator. All 
rating systems are validated in detail on an annual basis 
and are revised if opportunities for further optimiza-
tion are identified.

GRC Rating Categories
Within the companies in the DZ BANK Group, a 
number of different rating systems are sometimes used 
as a result of the differences in business priorities. The 
risk classifications from these rating systems in individ-
ual companies are therefore standardized by allocating 
them to rating groups approved by the Group Risk 
Committee (GRC). GRC rating groups are used in 
DZ BANK’s internal group credit risk report. Rating 
classes from the rating systems used by individual 
group companies are allocated to the GRC rating 
groups based on the probability of default as shown  
in the diagram on the left.

Rating Desk
The VR rating systems are also available to DZ BANK 
subsidiaries. Where cost/benefit considerations preclude 
technical implementation of these rating systems in 
subsidiaries, ratings are provided by DZ BANK. A rating 
desk handles the transfer of ratings, which are then used 
by the subsidiaries in their lending procedures.

pRiCiNG iN tHe leNDiNG BusiNess
To ensure that lending business remains profitable, 
standard risk costs are determined in the management 
of individual transactions in many parts of the group. 
The purpose of these costs is to cover average expected 
losses from borrower defaults. The aim is to ensure that 
the net allowances for losses on loans and advances 
recognized in the financial statements are covered on 
average over the long term in an actuarial-type approach 
by the standard risk costs included in the pricing.
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In addition to standard risk costs, an imputed cost of 
capital based on the economic capital requirement is 
integrated into DZ BANK’s contribution margin 
costing. In this way, DZ BANK calculates a rate of 
interest for the tied-up capital that is in line with the 
risk involved and is intended to cover any unexpected 
losses arising from lending business. Because of the 
decentralized management of companies in the 
DZ BANK Group, the methods for managing individ-
ual transactions in group companies vary according to 
the particular features of the product or business 
concerned.

eCoNoMiC CReDit-poRtfolio MANAGeMeNt

portfolio models
In economic credit-portfolio management, a distinc-
tion is made between expected losses on individual 
transactions and unexpected losses on the credit 
portfolio as a whole. The calculation of an expected 
loss for each individual transaction prevents a creeping 
erosion of equity. Most of the companies in the group 
determine the standard risk costs necessary for this 
calculation. These costs vary according to credit rating.

Portfolio models are also used together with a value-at-
risk approach to quantify unexpected losses that may 
arise from the credit portfolios of group companies. 
Credit value-at-risk describes the risk of unexpected 
losses arising from the failure of counterparties to meet 
their contractually agreed payment obligations. Credit 
value-at-risk is measured using lending portfolio 
models that take into account industry and counter-
party concentrations and also reflect the credit rating 
structure of the lending portfolio. This includes default 
and liquidation risks from both lending and trading 
business.

In terms of issuer risk, the amount to be recognized in 
the risk model for trading business default risks is 
based on a fair value calculation or nominal amount in 
the context of economic capital management. Replace-
ment risk is measured in a similar way to risk limits 

based on the fair value of the derivative plus a bench-
mark add-on derived from a simulation. In contrast to 
the measurement of risk limits, the expected value is 
used and a uniform one-year time horizon is assumed 
across all transactions.

Asset securitization
The DZ BANK Group uses securitization as an 
additional credit portfolio management tool and to 
optimize its risk/return profile. The overarching 
objective of securitization activities is to relieve the 
pressure on economic and regulatory capital. 

By originating securitizations that are funded over the 
long term, DZ BANK aims to free up economic and 
regulatory capital by transferring risk. As an originator 
and sponsor, the Bank also uses special-purpose entities 
(known as conduits) which are refinanced by the issue 
of money market-linked ABCP. These conduits are 
predominantly made available for DZ BANK custom-
ers who then securitize their own assets via these  
companies. Further disclosures regarding the use of 
asset securitization are included in the DZ BANK 
banking group’s regulatory risk report.

leNDiNG eXposuRe RisK MANAGeMeNt

Management of credit risk in  
traditional lending business

VoluMe-oRieNteD CReDit-poRtfolio MANAGeMeNt

In the year under review, volume-oriented credit-port-
folio management included the continued develop-
ment of procedures and processes for the uniform as-
sessment and management of the credit portfolio. The 
management and control system that has been imple-
mented ensures that the requirements of MaRisk are 
satisfied. Country risk is managed by the setting of 
limits for individual countries at the DZ BANK Group 
level.

86 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
RisK RepoRt



MANAGeMeNt of eXposuRes AND liMits

General limits are set for individual counterparties and 
for single borrowers. This applies both to the relevant 
group companies and at group level. As a prerequisite 
for prompt monitoring of limits, suitable early warning 
processes have been established in group companies 
that are of material significance for the group’s credit 
risk. In addition, DZ BANK has set up processes to 
handle instances in which customers are overdrawn. 
The main subsidiaries have similar procedures adapted 
to the needs of their particular business models. The 
group credit risk report highlights the 20 largest 
exposures by various risk criteria. The information  
is presented as a group summary and in a breakdown 
by individual company; the report also includes an 
analysis of the five largest exposures or investments of 
own funds for each individual company.

Against the backdrop of the crisis in the financial 
markets, DZ BANK had already stepped up the 
monitoring of the portfolio in 2007. In 2008, 
DZ BANK also carried out an ongoing review of the 
general and specific limits granted to financial institu-
tions in terms of selected exposures, countries and risk 
factors. This resulted in a substantial reduction in the 
general and specific limits for the 300 largest exposures 
with financial institutions. In addition, the total 
internal single borrower limit for financial institutions 
was set at € 500 million. Overall, lending exposure was 
significantly decreased.

Management of trading business credit risk

MeAsuReMeNt of CReDit RisK fRoM tRADiNG BusiNess

In the DZ BANK Group, replacement risk and 
settlement risk arise largely in connection with 
DZ BANK’s trading activities. Issuer risk results from 
the trading activities and investment business con-
ducted by DZ BANK as well as by BSH and DG HYP.

Replacement risk is calculated mainly on the basis of 
fair value and the add-on for an individual transaction. 
The add-on takes into account specific risk factors  
and residual maturities. Where legally enforceable, net-
ting agreements and collateral agreements are used at 
counterparty level to minimize risk. As regards settle-

ment risk, the amount of the counterparty risk  
is deemed to be the amount of the debt, i.e. the 
amount actually due to be paid by the counterparty to 
DZ BANK. Settlement risk is recognized for a period 
over which the risk is assumed to apply. Issuer risk de-
termined at group level is calculated for DZ BANK’s 
trading book portfolios on the basis of the fair value 
of a security, whereas the carrying amount is used for 
the portfolios of the group companies managed in the 
banking books.

MANAGeMeNt of liMits oN CReDit RisK fRoM  
tRADiNG BusiNess

DZ BANK has established a volume-oriented limit 
system to limit the credit risk arising from trading 
business. The replacement risk is managed via a struc-
ture of limits broken down into maturity bands.  
A daily limit is set in order to manage the settlement 
risk. A general or specific limit related to credit rating 
is determined for each issuer as the basis for managing 
issuer risk. Material subsidiaries have their own com-
parable limit systems. Credit risks in connection with 
DZ BANK’s trading business are measured and moni-
tored using a standard method and a central, IT-sup-
ported limit management system to which all relevant 
trading systems are connected. The trading exposure 
for the group is also aggregated by the same IT system.

As in the traditional lending business, appropriate early 
warning and overdrawn account processes have also 
been established for the trading business. The member 
of the Board of Managing Directors responsible for 
risk monitoring is sent a daily list of exceeded trading 
limits as part of the reporting system in accordance with 
MaRisk requirements. A monthly report is prepared 
for the total credit risk from trading business on the 
basis of exposures.

CReDit RisK MitiGAtioN

Collateral strategy and secured transactions
In accordance with the DZ BANK Group’s credit risk 
strategy, customer credit quality forms the basis for 
any lending decision; collateral has no bearing on the 
borrower’s credit rating. However, depending on the 
structure of the transaction, collateral may be of material 

87DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
RisK RepoRt



significance in the assessment of risk in a transaction. 
In the case of medium-term or long-term capital 
investment loans, it is generally expected that the 
investment asset will serve as collateral for the loan.  
As far as export finance or structured trade financing  
is concerned, DZ BANK requires minimum security  
in the form of government or private (export) credit 
insurance, the assignment of claims under export 
contracts or the transfer of title in the goods.

Secured transactions in traditional lending business 
encompass commercial lending including financial 
guarantee contracts and loan commitments. Decisions 
to protect transactions against credit risk are taken on  
a case-by-case basis, the protection taking the form  
of traditional collateral. Derivatives are used to hedge 
interest-rate risks in individual cases. In relation to 
replacement risk, secured transactions are transactions 
that are eligible for hedging under a master agreement 
(ISDA or German master agreement). Transactions 
that cannot be included under a master agreement are 
not hedged. DZ BANK only accepts cash and govern-
ment bonds as collateral. The issuer risk in respect of 
bonds and subordinated securities from the same 
debtor is hedged using credit derivatives. The collateral 
from the credit derivative is offset against the reference 
entity or the guarantor entity.

types of collateral
The DZ BANK Group uses all forms of traditional 
loan collateral. Specifically, these include mortgages  
on residential and commercial properties, guarantees 
(primarily in the form of guarantees, indemnity agree-
ments, and letters of comfort), financial security (cash 
deposits, certain fixed-income securities, shares, and in-
vestment fund units), assigned receivables (blanket and 
individual assignment of trade receivables), and physi-
cal collateral. Privileged mortgages, guarantees, and fi-
nancial collateral are used as collateral that needs to be 
recognized for regulatory purposes under the German 
Solvency Ordinance and physical collateral are only 
recognized for regulatory purposes to a limited extent.

Collateral for trading business – known as collaterals – 
is exchanged at DZ BANK in a margining process on 
the basis of master agreements. The margining process 
is a daily monitoring process supported by IT to ensure 
that the trading portfolio is sufficiently collateralized. 
Collaterals are recorded in a separate IT system. In the 

case of credit derivatives, the guarantors or counterpar-
ties are mainly financial institutions.

The exchange of collateral is contractually agreed with 
counterparties. The signing and execution of contracts 
is governed by DZ BANK’s collateral policy. This pol-
icy specifies contract parameters, such as the quality of 
collateral, frequency of exchange, minimum exchange 
amounts, and exempt amounts. Under the collateral 
policy, DZ BANK pursues a strategy of avoiding the 
accumulation of new concentration risks from trad-
ing collateral. DZ BANK regularly uses bilateral net-
ting and collateral agreements. An exception applies to 
cover assets, as the special legal status of the counter-
parties means that only unilateral collateral agreements 
can be usefully enforced. Netting and collateral result 
in a significant reduction in the exposure from trading 
business.

Management of collateral

MANAGeMeNt of tRADitioNAl loAN CollAteRAl

Collateral management is the responsibility mainly of 
specialist units outside the market divisions. The core 
tasks of these units include the provision, review, 
measurement, recording, and management of collateral, 
and the provision of advice to all divisions in matters 
concerning collateral. 

To a large extent, standardized contracts are used for 
the provision of collateral and the associated declara-
tions. Specialist departments are consulted in cases 
where customized collateral agreements are required. 
Collateral is managed in separate IT systems. The 
measurement of collateral is the responsibility of back 
office units. As a minimum, carrying amounts are 
reviewed on the monitoring dates specified by the back 
office units – normally annually – or on the agreed 
submission date for documents relevant to measure-
ment of the collateral. Shorter monitoring intervals 
may be specified for critical lending exposures. 
Regardless of the specified intervals, collateral is tested 
for impairment without delay if any indications of 
impairment become evident.

The workout units are responsible for processing 
collateral for non-performing loans including the 
realization of collateral. In the case of these exposures, 
the collateral is measured on the basis of its likely 
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recoverable amount and time of recovery, rather than 
on the basis of the general measurement guidelines.  
In another departure from the general management 
guidelines, collateral involved in restructuring expo-
sures can be measured using fair value or the estimated 
liquidation proceeds.

CollAteRAl MANAGeMeNt 

Both netting agreements and collateral agreements are 
used as instruments to reduce credit risk. In accordance 
with the collateral policy, cash or investment-grade 
securities are accepted as collateral for trading transac-
tions. Exposure and collateral are measured at regular 
intervals agreed with the counterparty. Margin calls 
 issued by the parties in this process lead to a regular 
exchange of collateral.

The unsecured part of an exposure (threshold amount) 
is reduced in the event of a deterioration in credit 
quality or increased if the credit quality improves.  
This procedure is contractually agreed with the 
counterparty. In contracts with a threshold of zero,  
a deterioration in credit quality is of no relevance 
because the exposure is always fully secured.

Management of concentration risks in lending 
and collateral portfolios
When measuring the risk arising from collateral, 
DZ BANK makes a distinction between collateral in 
the traditional lending business and collateral in 
trading activities. If there is a significant positive 
correlation between the value of collateral and the 
borrower pledging the collateral, the collateral is 
disregarded. This situation arises, for example, where  
a guarantor, garnishee or issuer forms an economic 
entity with the borrower or, together with the bor-
rower, represents a single borrower as defined by 
section 19 (2) KWG. The relevant person as defined 
by the rules on decision-making authority makes the 
decision as to whether the transaction can proceed, 
even without measurable collateral.

Concentrations of collateral in trading activities are 
limited by the implementation of a restrictive collateral 
policy that, in the case of OTC derivatives and repos, 
only permits the acceptance of collateral in cash or in 
the form of investment-grade government bonds on 
the basis of ISDA master agreements. The vast major-

ity of OTC collateral comprises cash or liquid securi-
ties. In addition, the prompt evaluation of collateral 
within the agreed margining period also helps to limit 
risk. A description of concentrations in the collateral 
portfolio forms an integral part of management 
reporting.

MANAGeMeNt of NoN-peRfoRMiNG 
 eXposuRes

Management and monitoring of  
non-performing exposures
Identified non-performing loans are transferred to the 
workout units at an early stage. By providing intensive 
support for critical exposures and applying customized 
solutions, these special units lay the basis for securing 
and optimizing problem risk positions.

In the traditional lending business, DZ BANK has a 
comprehensive range of tools at its disposal for the 
early identification, close support and high-quality 
monitoring of non-performing exposures. The sub-
portfolio of non-performing loans is reviewed, updated 
and reported on a quarterly basis. The process is also 
carried out at shorter intervals if required. This process 
is comprehensively supported by IT systems. A key 
element is the internal reporting system which is 
informative, target-group-oriented, and timely. Where 
required, the major subsidiaries also have comparable 
systems adapted in line with the risk characteristics of 
the business in the subsidiary concerned.

To limit losses resulting from the crisis in the finan-
cial markets, DZ BANK’s banking portfolio was 
subject to intensive monitoring during the year un-
der review. This applied in particular to exposures 
with heightened risk relating to one borrower rather 
than a portfolio and for which there was no possibil-
ity of obtaining government guarantees or a bailout. 
DZ BANK is planning to carry out a further review 
in the first half of 2009 of the structure of early-
warning processes relating to exposures to financial 
institutions and to make any adjustments where nec-
essary. Individual borrowers are closely supported by 
task forces specially set up for this purpose. The risks 
in subportfolios are monitored and analyzed with reg-
ular reports.
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Guidelines and procedures for the recognition of 
provisions, impairment losses, and allowances for 
losses on loans and advances
At DZ BANK, a transaction is deemed to be “past 
due” if interest payments, repayments of principal, or 
settlements of other receivables are more than one day 
in arrears. A borrower is classified as a “default” if the 
borrower is not expected to meet his/her payment 
obligations in full without the need for recovery action 
such as the realization of any available collateral. 
Regardless of this definition, a borrower is classified  
as in default if payments are past due by more than  
90 days.

If there are objective indications that a loan is impaired, 
DZ BANK carries out a review to establish whether it 
is likely that the borrower will meet his/her contractual 
obligations in full or not and whether an economic  
loss could be incurred. If impairment is identified,  
DZ BANK recognizes specific allowances or provisions, 
depending on the type of transaction.

In the case of a loan or advance, a specific loan loss al-
lowance is recognized equivalent to the difference be-
tween the carrying amount of the loan or advance 
and the present value of the estimated payments, in-
cluding any proceeds from the realization of collateral. 
In the case of transactions not already covered by spe-
cific loan loss allowances, portfolio loan loss allow-
ances are determined in accordance with IAS 39. Pro-
visions are recognized for loan commitments and for 
liabilities under financial guarantee contracts and loan 
commitments. These provisions are equivalent to the 
difference between the present value of the potential 
default amount and the present value of expected pay-
ments.

The main subsidiaries have implemented comparable 
guidelines on the recognition of provisions, impair-
ment losses, and allowances for losses on loans and ad-
vances adapted in line with their respective business 
activities. DG HYP recognizes specific loan loss allow-
ance evaluated on an group basis for its retail busi-
ness in addition to specific loan loss allowances. These 
specific loan loss allowance evaluated on an group basis 
are based on cash flows from lending portfolios with 
the same risk characteristics analyzed using migration 
scenarios and probabilities of default. 

The groupwide planning of specific loan loss allow-
ances is carried out as part of the strategic planning 
process.

leNDiNG poRtfolio ANAlYsis

Analysis of the economic capital 
requirement for credit risk
As at December 31, 2008, the economic capital re-
quirement for credit risk in the DZ BANK Group 
amounted to € 3,362 million (December 31, 2007: 
€ 2,724 million). The DZ BANK Group also set an 
upper loss limit of € 3,683 million (2007: € 4,129 
million). The upper loss limit was not exceeded at  
any time during 2008. The increase in the risk capi-
tal requirement is largely attributable to the enhanced 
confidence level of 99.95 percent and to the deteriora-
tion in bank and ABS ratings that occurred particularly 
in the third and fourth quarters of 2008.

Volume-oriented lending-portfolio analysis

BAsiC pRiNCiples of VoluMe-oRieNteD leNDiNG- 
poRtfolio ANAlYsis

Lending volume is determined in accordance with the 
DZ BANK Group’s internal management procedure for 
credit-risk-bearing instruments – traditional lending, 
securities business, and derivatives and money market 
business. The breakdown by credit-risk-bearing instru-
ment corresponds to the risk classes required for the 
external reporting of risks from financial instruments.

The following quantitative disclosures for the entire 
lending portfolio show the maximum credit risk to 
which the DZ BANK Group is exposed. The maximum 
credit risk is a gross value because the risk-bearing fi-
nancial instruments are measured before the applica-
tion of any credit risk reduction methods and before 
the recognition of any allowances or impairment losses. 
In the case of loans and open loan commitments, the 
gross lending volume is based on carrying amounts, or 
on the minimum lease payments in the case of leases. 
The gross volume for securities in the banking and 
trading book is predominantly measured using fair val-
ues and the volume for derivatives is determined using 
loan equivalents. The maximum credit risk amount 
comprises the total lines of credit committed to third 
parties.
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ReCoNCiliAtioN of leNDiNG VoluMe to tHe BAlANCe sHeet

As at December 31, 2008, the lending volume based 
on internal group management figures amounted to 
€ 349.1 billion (December 31, 2007: € 362.6 billion). 
This figure breaks down into traditional lending 
business of € 202.4 billion (December 31, 2007: 
€ 187.4 billion), securities business of € 129.8 billion 
(December 31, 2007: € 156.2 billion), and derivatives 
and money market business of € 16.9 billion (Decem-
ber 31, 2007: € 19.0 billion), the latter comprising 
derivatives business of € 10.1 billion (December 31, 
2007: € 6.4 billion) and money market business of 
€ 6.8 billion (December 31, 2007: € 12.6 billion).

As at December 31 2008, the balance sheet items 
corresponding to the internal lending volume 
amounted to € 404.0 billion (December 31, 2007: 
€ 419.3 billion). This figure comprised, in particular, 
loans and advances to customers of € 115.2 billion 
(December 31, 2007: € 104.6 billion), loans and 
advances to banks of € 69.8 billion (December 31, 
2007: € 67.4 billion), bonds and other securities of 
€ 118.1 billion (December 31, 2007: € 139.4 billion), 
investments by insurance companies of € 47.5 billion 
(December 31, 2007: € 46.3 billion), derivative 
financial instruments (including money market 
placements) of € 25.5 billion (December 31, 2007: 
€ 33.0 billion), and financial guarantee contracts and 
loan commitments of € 28.0 billion (December 31, 
2007: € 28.6 billion).

The main reasons for the differences between the 
internal management figures and those in the external 
financial reporting are differences in the basis of 
consolidation which account for € 4.5 billion (Decem-
ber 31, 2007: € 2.3 billion), differences in the defini-
tion of lending volume accounting for € 47.5 billion 
(December 31, 2007: € 46.3 billion), and various 
differences between measurement methods and other 
factors accounting for € 2.9 billion (December 31, 
2007: € 8.1 billion). 

CHANGe iN totAl leNDiNG VoluMe iN tHe CouRse of 2008

The DZ BANK Group responded to the crisis in the 
financial markets with a reduction in its lending 
volume. Compared with 2007, lending volume was 
decreased by approximately 4 percent and as at 
December 31, 2008 amounted to € 349.1 billion  
(December 31, 2007: € 362.6 billion). This change was 
attributable particularly to a reduction in lines of credit 
for banks and major customers as well as a decrease in 
country limits. The DZ BANK Group was also able  
to lower concentration risks by reducing the risk in 
exposures of € 100 million or more. The action taken 
was reflected in a reduction in the lending volume for 
the largest 20 borrowers and a decrease in the average 
lending volume per individual borrower. There was 
also a significant reduction in securities portfolios, 
which were 17 percent lower than at December 31, 
2007 in terms of market value. In contrast, there was  
a significant increase in loans extended to corporates 
– one of the DZ BANK Group’s core activities. 

The variance between the lending volume in traditional 
lending business as at December 31, 2008 and the 
average values for the year under review was only 
minor. In contrast, the figures for issuer risk and 
replacement risk as at December 31, 2008 were 
substantially below their average values for 2008 at  
9 percent and 21 percent respectively. The average 
value for the year was determined as the arithmetic 
average of the balance of loans and advances at the  
end of each quarter in the year under review. 

oVeRAll CReDi poRtfolio stRuCtuRe

The industry structure of the credit portfolio in the 
DZ BANK Group shown in the table at the top of 
page 92 maintains the same broad diversification from 
the previous year. For the most part, the main group 
companies invest their free cash flow in securities that 
are of the best possible credit quality. This accounts  
for the high proportion of loans and advances to 
banks. In addition to the local cooperative banks, the 
borrowers in the financial sector comprise banks and 
other financial institutions. Credit volume in the 
financial sector fell to € 155.4 billion, 6 percent down 
on 2007. 
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In its role as the central institution for the cooperative 
financial services network, DZ BANK provides funding 
for the companies in the DZ BANK Group and for  
the local cooperative banks. For this reason, the local 
cooperative banks account for one of the largest 
receivables items in the DZ BANK Group’s lending 
portfolio. DZ BANK also supports the local coopera-
tive banks in the provision of larger-scale funding to 
corporate customers. The resulting syndicated business, 
DZ BANK and DVB’s direct business with corporate 
customers in Germany and abroad, the retail customer 
real estate business under the umbrella of BSH, and 
TeamBank’s consumer finance business determine the 
industry breakdown of the remainder of the portfolio. 

The above table shows the geographical distribution  
of the lending portfolio by country risk groups. As  
at December 31, 2008, 96 percent of total lending 
volume was concentrated in Germany and in other 
western industrialized countries. This figure was 
unchanged on December 31, 2007.

The table illustrating the lending portfolio by residual 
maturity as at December 31, 2008 shows a reduction 
in the volume of lending with a residual maturity of 
more than five years. This reduction was registered on 
a continuous basis over the course of the year under 
review. After an increase during the course of the year, 
lending volume with a residual maturity between one 
and five years fell back at the end of the year to the 
level of December 31, 2007. The distribution of 
lending volume over the residual maturity bands can 
be seen in the table on page 93.

Early intervention and the provision of intensive support 
in the case of non-performing loans and a systematic 
workout management system mean that the volume  
of renegotiated loans in the DZ BANK Group is of 
minor significance. Given the efficiency of processing 
systems in the DZ BANK Group, the role played by 
collateral called in during the course of workout 
procedures is also negligible.

CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION BY INDUSTRY

Traditional lending business Securities business Derivatives and  
money market business

€ billion Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

financial sector 70.4 65.8 71.4 84.1 13.7 15.7

public sector 10.7 11.7 29.5 34.9 0.3 0.1

Corporates 76.7 67.2 11.4 12.9 1.5 0.9

Retail 38.3 38.4 11.5 16.9 0.0 0.0

industry conglomerates 4.0 3.1 6.0 7.4 1.5 2.3

other 2.3 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 202.4 187.4 129.8 156.2 16.9 19.0

CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION BY COUNTRY GROUP

Traditional lending business Securities business Derivatives and  
money market business

€ billion Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

Germany 149.3 144.8 52.5 64.9 7.2 7.3

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 13.0 9.7 46.7 56.4 5.7 7.2

other eu countries 9.1 5.1 10.9 12.3 1.8 2.3

other industrialized nations 17.5 14.6 17.8 20.3 1.8 1.5

Non-industrialized nations 13.5 13.2 1.9 2.3 0.4 0.7

Total 202.4 187.4 129.8 156.2 16.9 18.9
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The chart above shows the DZ BANK Group’s lending 
volume by GRC rating category. “Other” comprises 
counterparties for whom a rating classification is not 
required. Despite the drop in customer credit quality 
during the course of 2008, over 80 percent of total 
lending as at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: 
82 percent) was to counterparties in rating categories I 
to III (investment grade) and this category therefore 
continued to account for by far the greatest proportion 
of lending. However, some rating migration to lower 
ratings within investment grade was also noticeable. 
Investment-grade lending volume to the entire 
financial sector fell by 7 percent compared with 2007. 

Financial sector lending in rating category I saw a 
year-on-year decrease of just under 10 percent. The 
proportion of financial sector lending volume in rating 
category I accounted for by the local cooperative banks 
rose from 49 percent as at December 31, 2007 to just 
under 60 percent as at December 31, 2008.

The proportion of the DZ BANK Group’s total lending 
volume accounted for by counterparties in rating 
categories IV to VII (non-investment grade including 
defaults) continued to be relatively low at around  
19 percent (December 31, 2007: 17 percent). In the 
course of the financial markets crisis, defaults in rating 
category VII as a proportion of the DZ BANK Group’s 
total lending increased to just over 1 percent (Decem-
ber 31, 2007: under 1 percent), but overall remained  
at a low level. 

The two tables on page 94 show sections of the overall 
lending portfolio based on this credit rating structure. 
The entire lending portfolio is broken down into the 
following sections: loans that are neither past due nor 
impaired, loans past due, impaired loans. The sections 
are then further broken down by industry structure 
and country structure of the portfolio.

stRuCtuRe of tHe leNDiNG poRtfolio tHAt is  
NeitHeR iMpAiReD NoR pAst Due 

The two tables on the following page show the lending 
volume that is neither impaired nor past due compared 
with the total lending portfolio. The lending volume 
that is neither impaired nor past due represented a 
proportion of 98 percent (December 31, 2007: 97 
percent) and therefore accounted for the overwhelming 
majority of the total portfolio. This is attributable to 
the risk-conscious lending policy, a policy that the  
DZ BANK continued to apply throughout 2008.

LENDING VOLUMES BY RESIDUAL MATURITY

Traditional lending business Securities business Derivatives and  
money market business

€ billion Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

≤ 1 year 69.0 50.2 49.5 63.3 11.2 18.0

> 1 year to ≤ 5 years 51.0 51.6 33.7 33.6 2.6 0.3

> 5 years 82.4 85.6 46.6 59.3 3.1 0.7

Total 202.4 187.4 129.8 156.2 16.9 19.0

CREDIT RATING STRUCTURE OF THE LENDING PORTFOLIO 
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stRuCtuRe of leNDiNG poRtfolio tHAt is pAst Due  
But Not iMpAiReD

The two tables on page 95 show the lending volume 
past due but not impaired and the fair value of 
collateral. The disclosures relate for the most part to 
traditional lending business. Because of the conserva-
tive risk provision policy of the companies in the  
DZ BANK Group, the past due loans only account  
for a relatively small proportion of the overall lending 
portfolio. As at December 31, 2008, the ratio of 
recoverable collateral to past due loans rose significantly 
to 73 percent compared with 61 percent as at Decem-
ber 31, 2007 and has continued to remain at a high 
level. The past due loans with a residual maturity of 
more than three months amounting to € 353 million 
(December 31, 2007: € 336 million) are predomi-
nantly real estate loans secured by mortgage.

stRuCtuRe of tHe leNDiNG poRtfolio tHAt is iMpAiReD

The tables on page 96 show the impaired loans and  
the covering collateral in this part of the portfolio.  
The disclosures relate for the most part to traditional 
lending business. As at December 31, 2008, the 
lending volume after allowances and impairment losses 
was determined at € 2,172 million (December 31, 2007: 
€ 5,254 million). The significant reduction in this part 
of the portfolio is attributable to the fact that the 
figures reported for impaired loans no longer include 
certain parts of TeamBank’s retail business. These retail 
business elements relate to business for which specific 

loan loss allowance evaluated on an group basis have 
been recognized but for which no reminders have been 
issued, nor have the relevant loan agreements been 
terminated. This is consistent with general procedure 
in the DZ BANK Group.

seCuRitiZAtioN poRtfolio stRuCtuRe

During 2008, the DZ BANK Group was able to 
achieve a significant reduction of approximately 22 
percent in its securitization exposure. As at December 31, 
2008, the fair value of the entire securitization expo-
sure of the DZ BANK Group amounted to € 24.4 
billion, compared with a fair value of € 31.2 billion as 
at December 31, 2007. Within the total exposure at 
the end of the financial year, € 4.3 billion (December 31, 
 2007: € 6.0 billion) related to exposures via conduits. 
Of this amount, 75 percent was accounted for by 
undrawn conduit lines of credit. Conduits are predom-
inantly made available for DZ BANK customers who 
then securitize their own assets via these  companies. 
As at December 31, 2008, 79 percent (December 31, 
2007: 92 percent) of securitization on the balance 
sheet was rated at AAA by external rating agencies.  
A further 9 percent (December 31, 2007: 7 percent) 
was rated at AA. The underlying assets are geographi-
cally diversified and are mainly accounted for by 
European countries, the USA and Australia. The main 
feature of the portfolio is a product-related focus on 
residential and commercial real estate finance. As at 
December 31, 2008, 10 percent (December 31, 2007: 

LENDING VOLUME NEITHER IMPAIRED NOR PAST DUE,  
BY INDUSTRY

Total portfolio Lending neither  
impaired  

nor past due

€ billion
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

financial sector 155.4 165.6 155.3 165.6

public  
sector 40.6 46.7 40.0 46.6

Corporates 89.6 80.9 86.8 78.1

Retail 49.8 55.3 47.8 50.0

industry 
conglomerates 11.4 12.9 11.4 12.9

other 2.3 1.2 2.2 1.1

Total 349.1 362.6 343.5 354.3

LENDING VOLUME NEITHER IMPAIRED NOR PAST DUE,  
BY COUNTRY GROUP

Total portfolio Lending neither  
impaired  

nor past due

€ billion
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Germany 209.0 217.0 205.0 209.5

eMu countries 
(excl. Germany) 65.4 73.3 65.0 73.2

other eu 
countries 21.8 19.7 21.1 19.4

other industria-
lized nations 37.2 36.4 36.8 36.2

other 15.7 16.2 15.6 16.0

Total 349.1 362.6 343.5 354.3
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LENDING VOLUME PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED AND COLLATERAL, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Lending volume past due but not impaired Fair value  
of collateral  
for lending 

volume past  
due but  

not impaired

Past due up to  
5 days

Past due  
> 5 days  

to 1 month

Past due  
> 1 month  

to 2 months

Past due  
> 2 months  
to 3 months

Past due  
> 3 months

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Germany 1,276 764 124 187 154 168 64 52 295 321 1.403 984

eMu countries  
(excl. Germany) 5 10 121 52 42 0 0 1 6 9 142 34

other eu countries 87 29 222 20 122 0 15 0 36 0 324 0

other  
industrialized nations 1 3 10 4 18 0 17 0 1 1 32 5

other 0 36 121 7 0 3 11 25 16 5 107 13

Total 1,369 842 598 270 336 171 107 78 353 336 2,007 1,036

LENDING VOLUME PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED AND COLLATERAL, BY INDUSTRY

Lending volume past due but not impaired Fair value  
of collateral  
for lending 

volume past  
due but  

not impaired

Past due up to  
5 days

Past due  
> 5 days  

to 1 month

Past due  
> 1 month  

to 2 months

Past due  
> 2 months  
to 3 months

Past due  
> 3 months

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

financial sector 0 1 2 1 2 3 1 1 6 6 8 8

public sector 526 89 6 4 1 5 0 21 14 1 475 80

Corporates 333 305 459 240 263 129 75 42 201 192 855 398

Retail 507 447 101 19 54 21 25 11 117 129 622 530

industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

other 2 0 30 6 16 13 6 3 14 8 47 20

Total 1,369 842 598 270 336 171 107 78 353 336 2,007 1,036
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IMPAIRED LENDING VOLUME AND COLLATERAL, BY INDUSTRY

Impaired lending volume

Fair value  
of collateral for 
impaired loans

Amount before 
 allowances and 

 impairment losses

Allowances  
and  

impairment losses

Amount after 
 allowances and 

 impairment losses

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

financial sector 453 14 242 20 211 4 5 3

public sector 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Corporates 2,255 1,917 938 960 1,317 1,028 970 652

Retail 1,183 4,700 566 507 617 4,211 667 672

industry conglomerates 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0

other 43 17 23 24 20 10 15 11

Total 3,937 6,649 1,769 1,511 2,168 5,254 1,658 1,338

IMPAIRED LENDING VOLUME AND COLLATERAL, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Impaired lending volume

Fair value  
of collateral for 
impaired loans

Amount before 
 allowances and 

 impairment losses

Allowances  
and  

impairment losses

Amount after 
 allowances and 

 impairment losses

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Germany 2,678 6,009 1,330 1,305 1,348 4,820 1,112 979

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 250 74 65 27 185 45 180 43

other eu countries 347 210 74 58 273 170 200 121

other industrialized nations 585 197 261 81 324 120 140 104

other 77 159 39 40 38 99 25 91

Total 3,937 6,649 1,769 1,511 2,168 5,254 1,658 1,338

15 percent) of the securitization items on the balance 
sheet were accounted for by US residential mortgage-
backed securities classified as subprime. On the balance 
sheet date, the portfolio also included collateralized 
debt obligations of € 2.2 billion (December 31, 2007: 
€ 1.8 billion). In 2008, the value of the portfolios held 
by the banks in the DZ BANK Group fell by € 1.35 
billion. 

Analysis of provisions, impairment losses, and 
 allowances for losses on loans and advances
The following tables show the change in allowances 
(specific loan loss allowances including the specific 
loan loss allowance evaluated on an group basis) and 
the provisions for loan commitments and liabilities 

arising on financial guarantee contracts and on loan 
commitments in the year under review and 2007. 
These figures are presented in separate breakdowns by 
industry and by country group. The components of 
the allowances, impairment losses, and provisions 
shown in the tables are also disclosed in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements. Discrepancies 
between the amounts shown in the risk report and 
those reported in the notes are primarily attributable  
to differences in the basis of consolidation.

In 2008, the DZ BANK Group was able to decrease its 
specific loan loss allowance balance by a three-digit 
million euro amount. The main contributing factors 
were additions for Icelandic banks in default. On the 
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ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES, DIRECT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, BY INDUSTRY – 2007

€ million

Balance 
as at  

Jan. 1, 
2007

Additions utiliza-
tions

Reversals Changes 
recog-
nized 

directly in 
equity

Balance 
as at  

Dec. 31, 
2007

Direct  
impair-

ment  
losses

Receipts in 
respect of 

previous 
impairment 

losses

Specific loan loss allowances1

financial sector 20 6 -1 -4 -1 20 0 -0

public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0

Corporates 1,162 152 -172 -161 -21 960 24 -5

Retail 497 279 -123 -149 3 507 50 -14

industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0

other 9 22 -1 -4 -2 24 0 -1

total specific loan loss allowances 1,688 459 -297 -318 -21 1,511 74 -20

portfolio loan loss allowances 381 101 0 -158 0 324 0 -0

Total allowances 2,069 560 -297 -476 -21 1,835 74 -20

1 including  specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a group basis

ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES, DIRECT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, BY INDUSTRY – 2008

€ million

Balance 
as at  

Jan. 1, 
2008

Additions utiliza-
tions

Reversals Changes 
recog-
nized 

directly in 
equity

Balance 
as at  

Dec. 31, 
2008

Direct  
impair-

ment  
losses

Receipts in 
respect of 

previous 
impairment 

losses

Specific loan loss allowances1

financial sector 20 232 -5 -8 3 242 0 -0

public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0

Corporates 960 313 -122 -231 18 938 18 -3

Retail 507 250 -90 -109 8 566 51 -15

industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0

other 24 23 -4 0 -20 23 0 -3

total specific loan loss allowances 1,511 818 -221 -348 9 1,769 69 -21

portfolio loan loss allowances 324 178 0 -117 2 387 0 -0

Total allowances 1,835 996 -221 -465 11 2,156 69 -21

1 including specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a group basis
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basis of the risk provisioning system used, TeamBank 
accounted for 23 percent of additions to the specific 
laon loss allowances in the form of specific loan loss 
allowances evaluated on a group basis. Apart from 
DZ BANK, TeamBank also in turn accounted for a 
significant proportion of specific loan loss allowance 
utilizations and reversals. As part of the process of 
recognizing impairment losses, DG HYP recognized 
portfolio impairment losses in accordance with the 
regulatory concept of expected losses. In view of this 
and the current economic downturn resulting from the 
crisis in the financial markets, extensive portfolio 
impairment losses were recognized for future latent 
risks.

Provisions for loan commitments are a component of 
the “Provisions” balance sheet item. Liabilities arising 
from financial guarantee contracts and loan commit-
ments are reported under “Other liabilities” on the 
balance sheet. The provisions shown in the risk report 
are attributable almost entirely to DZ BANK.

suMMARY AND outlooK
In the year under review, an additional special rating 
system was introduced at DZ BANK for acquisition 
financing. The revised VR rating system for major 
 customers and the rating system for project financing 
were also subjected to a regulatory review, as a result  
of which approval of the IRBA approach for major cus-
tomers was confirmed and the initial approval of the 

PROVISIONS FOR LOAN COMMITMENTS AND LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS AND  
LOAN COMMITMENTS, BY INDUSTRY – 2008

€ million

Balance  
as at  

Jan. 1, 2008

Additions utilizations Reversals Changes 
recognized 
directly in 

equity

Balance  
as at  

Dec. 31,  
2008

financial sector 15 7 -4 -6 0 12

public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporates 73 20 0 -25 4 72

Retail 1 0 0 0 0 1

industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0

other 75 6 0 -25 0 56

Total 164 33 -4 -56 4 141

PROVISIONS FOR LOAN COMMITMENTS AND LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS AND  
LOAN COMMITMENTS, BY INDUSTRY – 2007

€ million

Balance  
as at  

Jan. 1, 2007

Additions utilizations Reversals Changes 
recognized 
directly in 

equity

Balance  
as at  

Dec. 31,  
2007

financial sector 23 0 -5 -2 -1 15

public sector 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporates 73 4 -4 -19 19 73

Retail 1 0 0 0 0 1

industry conglomerates 0 0 0 0 0 0

other 12 63 0 0 0 75

Total 109 67 -9 -21 18 164
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ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES, DIRECT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, BY COUNTRY GROUP – 2008

€ million

Balance 
as at  

Jan. 1, 
2008

Additions utiliza-
tions

Reversals Changes 
recog-
nized 

directly in 
equity

Balance 
as at  

Dec. 31, 
2008

Direct im-
pairment 

losses

Receipts in 
respect of 

previous 
impairment 

losses

Specific loan loss allowances1

Germany 1,305 495 -196 -272 -2 1,330 59 -19

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 27 49 -6 -6 1 65 1 -0

other eu countries 58 45 -6 -29 6 74 9 -0

other industrialized nations 81 222 -5 -39 2 261 0 -1

Non-industrialized nations 40 7 -8 -2 2 39 0 -1

total specific loan loss allowances 1,511 818 -221 -348 9 1,769 69 -21

portfolio loan loss allowances 324 177 0 -117 2 386 0 -0

Total allowances 1,835 995 -221 -465 11 2,155 69 -21

1 including specific loan loss allowance evaluated on an group basis

ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES, DIRECT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, BY COUNTRY GROUP – 2007

€ million

Balance 
as at  

Jan. 1, 
2007

Additions utiliza-
tions

Reversals Changes 
recog-
nized 

directly in 
equity

Balance 
as at  

Dec. 31, 
2007

Direct im-
pairment 

losses

Receipts in 
respect of 

previous 
impairment 

losses

Specific loan loss allowances1

Germany 1,459 394 -282 -259 -7 1,305 61 -20

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 25 8 -2 -2 -2 27 2 -0

other eu countries 70 30 -10 -31 -1 58 11 -0

other industrialized nations 91 24 -3 -25 -6 81 0 -0

Non-industrialized nations 43 3 0 -1 -5 40 0 -0

total specific loan loss allowances 1,688 459 -297 -318 -21 1,511 74 -20

portfolio loan loss allowances 381 101 0 -158 0 324 0 -0

Total allowances 2,069 560 -297 -476 -21 1,835 74 -20

1 including specific loan loss allowance evaluated on an group basis
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rating system for project financing as an IRBA system 
was given. Further regulatory checks were also carried 
out on the rating systems for project and acquisition 
financing. In August 2008, a scorecard system was 
introduced to help determine the probability of fraud 
in TeamBank’s consumer finance business. The 
scorecard facilitates the proactive identification of 
potential fraud by recognizing the pattern of a typical 
fraud case before a loan is paid out, thereby contribut-
ing to the avoidance of losses from fraud.

In the management of traditional loan collateral, the 
focus in 2008 was on the enhancement and streamlin-
ing of processes and rules for the purposes of imple-
menting further Solvency Ordinance requirements 
regarding methods to mitigate credit risk. A further 

key area of activity was the increase in data quality. To 
this end, further system-inherent validation processes 
were integrated into the DZ BANK collateral manage-
ment system and action plans were implemented to 
enhance efficiency and transparency. DZ BANK also 
continued to translate requirements for the refinement 
of the collateral management system into functional 
specifications. In addition, trading activities were 
connected to the system for the purposes of collaterali-
zation, thereby creating the possibility of using trading 
activities to provide collateral for lending business.

In 2009, DZ BANK plans to introduce further inter-
nal rating systems for special segments – for example, 
transactions with investment funds subject to credit 
risk – to complete DZ BANK’s range of internal rating 

PROVISIONS FOR LOAN COMMITMENTS AND LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS AND  
LOAN COMMITMENTS, BY COUNTRY GROUP – 2007

€ million

Balance  
as at  

Jan. 1,  
2007

Additions utilizations Reversals Changes 
recognized 
directly in 

equity

Balance  
as at  

Dec. 31,  
2007

Germany 87 4 -9 -20 19 81

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 1 0 0 -1 0 0

other eu countries 0 0 0 0 0 0

other industrialized nations 8 0 0 0 -1 7

Non-industrialized nations 13 63 0 0 0 76

Total 109 67 -9 -21 18 164

PROVISIONS FOR LOAN COMMITMENTS AND LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS AND  
LOAN COMMITMENTS, BY COUNTRY GROUP – 2008

€ million

Balance  
as at  

Jan. 1,  
2008

Additions utilizations Reversals Changes 
recognized 
directly in 

equity

Balance  
as at  

Dec. 31,  
2008

Germany 81 20 -2 -25 4 78

eMu countries (excl. Germany) 0 0 0 0 0 0

other eu countries 0 0 0 0 0 0

other industrialized nations 7 7 -2 -5 0 7

Non-industrialized nations 76 6 0 -26 0 56

Total 164 33 -4 -56 4 141
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system tools. The Bank also intends to revise the rating 
segments for larger SMEs, banks and countries. In this 
regard, knowledge gained from the current financial 
markets crisis will be taken into account. DZ BANK 
will also continue to develop its collateral management 
system during 2009. In addition, it intends to carry 
out a further optimization of reporting structures in its 
internal credit risk reporting system.

4. EQUITY RISK

Equity risk is the risk of unexpected losses from a drop 
in the fair value of investments below their carrying 
amount. Equity risk is calculated for long-term equity 
investments that are not directly included in the board 
 committee management system. Equity risk arises from 
equity investments in companies in which DZ BANK 
does not have any specific rights to information or 
control because DZ BANK’s share of the total equity 
in the investee is too small. Within the DZ BANK 
Group, equity risk arises primarily at DZ BANK.

The equity investments listed in the banking book are 
largely held for strategic reasons. Companies in which 
DZ BANK holds strategic investments normally cover 
markets, market segments or parts of the value chain in 
which DZ BANK itself or the local cooperative banks 
are not active. These investments therefore support the 
sales activities of the local cooperative banks or help  
to reduce costs by bundling functions. The investment 
strategy is continuously aligned with the needs of 
cooperative financial services network policy. 

Decisions on whether to acquire or dispose of equity 
investments are taken by the Board of Managing 
Directors in consultation with the relevant committees. 
The Administrative Position division is generally 
responsible for supporting these investments. The 
measurement and monitoring of equity risk is the 
responsibility of the Controlling division. Controlling 
prepares quarterly  reports for Central Services, the 
Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory 
Board on results from the measurement and monitor-
ing of equity risk.

Equity risk is measured as value-at-risk on the basis of 
a variance-covariance approach with market price 
fluctuations derived from reference prices listed on a 
stock exchange. As at December 31, 2008, the economic 
capital requirement for the DZ BANK Group’s equity 
risk was measured at € 913 million, a slight increase on 
the corresponding figure of € 881 million as at Decem-
ber 31, 2007. The upper loss limit allocated for the 
financial year was € 957 million (2007: € 918 million). 
The slight increase in the risk measurement arose from 
two opposite effects: on the one hand, there was a 
dramatic increase in reference stock market values; on 
the other hand, two investments were transferred to 
direct risk management. In addition, the risk measure-
ment was reduced by adjustments to the investment 
exposure in NATIXIS S.A., Paris, these adjustments 
also being relevant to profit or loss. As at December 
31, 2008, the volume of equity investments in compa-
nies outside the DZ BANK Group was therefore 
€ 2,252 million (December 31, 2007: € 2,671 million). 

5. MARKET PRICE RISK

DefiNitioN AND CAuses 
Market price risk comprises market price risk in the 
narrow sense of the term and market liquidity risk.

Market price risk in the narrow sense of the term – re-
ferred to below as market price risk – is the risk of loss 
arising from adverse movements in market prices or in 
the parameters that influence prices. Depending on the 
underlying influences, market price risk can be broken 
down into interest-rate risk, spread risk, equity risk, 
currency risk, and commodity price risk. 

Market price risks in the DZ BANK Group arise 
principally from customer-account and own-account 
activities, and in connection with the lending business, 
public-sector finance business and real estate business of 
DZ BANK, BSH and DG HYP. Investments by R+V 
also contribute to market price risk. In addition, market 
price risk also arises from group companies’ own issues. 
Spread risk is the most significant type of market price 
risk in the DZ BANK Group.
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Market liquidity risk is the risk of loss arising from 
adverse changes in market liquidity, for example as a 
result of a reduction in market depth or market 
disruption. 

MARKet pRiCe RisK stRAteGY
DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, and R+V operate on the 
principle that the assumption of market price risk is 
only permitted within the existing limits and if con-
sidered together with the associated opportunities. For 
the most part, the trading activities of the group are 
brought together under the umbrella of DZ BANK. 
Within its trading divisions, DZ BANK takes on mar-
ket price risk mainly in order to support its customer 
business and to generate additional income outside 
its customer business. DZ BANK’s core competen-
cies in trading for customer account are in its abil-
ity to take on and manage risks so that it can offer a 
range of products oriented around customer demand. 
DZ BANK’s trading strategy is therefore aimed at gen-
erating profits primarily from customer and structur-
ing margins. Open market-risk positions arise mainly 
in respect of spread risk from holding securities port-
folios in trading for customer account.

DZ BANK is also exposed to credit-quality-related 
market  price risks on securities held in the collateral 
portfolios. In this regard, DZ BANK’s objective is to 
generate additional margin income outside customer 
business. In addition, DZ BANK holds bank bonds in 
liquidity portfolios to support its liquidity management 
function as a central institution and corporate bank, 
and on behalf of the DZ BANK Group. The portfolios 
also help to generate additional margin income.

DZ BANK manages market price risk in its lending 
business and own issues as part of its non-trading port-
folios and also incurs market price risks from holding is-
sues from the primary banks and subsidiaries. The mar-
ket price risk on these items is largely determined by the 
spread risk. DZ BANK also holds strategic market price 
risk positions, which are managed via the Bank’s Treas-
ury Committee.

BSH is subject to particular interest-rate risks arising 
from its collective home savings business since it gives 
customers a binding interest-rate guarantee both for 
savings and for the loan element that may be drawn 
down in the future. The focus of its risk strategy is to 
limit the market price risks resulting from this core 
business. BSH does not conduct any own-account 
trading with a view to exploiting short-term pricing 
fluctuations.

As part of the refinancing requirement for its lending 
business, DG HYP carries out trading activities as de-
fined by MaRisk to manage cover assets, to manage its 
income statement in accordance with HGB and IFRS, 
and to manage the overall risk position and liquidity 
situation in the company. These trading activities are 
subject to compliance with restrictions arising from 
DG HYP’s status as a non-trading book bank.

The market price risk strategy for investments in 
connection with R+V’s insurance activities is deter-
mined by the provisions of the German Investment 
Ordinance and the basic regulatory investment 
principles and rules for cover assets. In this regard, 
insurance companies are under an obligation to invest 
collateral assets and other cover assets to achieve the 
greatest possible security and profitability while at the 
same time ensuring the liquidity of the insurance 
company with an appropriate mix and diversification 
of investments. In addition, well-established collabora-
tion arrangements between R+V actuarial and invest-
ment departments as part of the management of assets 
and liabilities ensure that insurance contract benefit 
obligations on the balance sheet are matched with 
investment opportunities. 

The market price risks assumed by R+V reflect the in-
vestment portfolio structure developed as part of stra-
tegic asset allocation taking into account individual 
risk-bearing capacity and long-term income require-
ments for R+V subsidiaries. These risks are managed 
within the framework of the overall risk management 
system and in compliance with the upper loss limits 
specified throughout the group.

102 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
RisK RepoRt



oRGANiZAtioN AND RespoNsiBilitY
For the purposes of groupwide market price risk 
management, market price risks are broken down on 
the basis of the underlying type of business into 
banking and home savings/insurance risks. Market 
price risks from banking activities consist of items 
managed under the trading and non-trading portfolios 
of the DZ BANK Group; the risks in this case are 
generally determined by DZ BANK and DG HYP. 
Market preis risks from the home savings and insur-
ance businesses arise at BSH and R+V respectively.

At DZ BANK, as a bank with a trading book, market 
price risk is managed on a decentralized basis using 
portfolios, each portfolio manager bearing responsibil-
ity for risk and performance. Interest-rate risks arising 
at BSH are managed at overall bank level and exclu-
sively as part of the banking book. Market price risk at 
DG HYP is managed centrally by a committee which 
specifies the guidelines for the bank’s treasury activities 
on the basis of daily reports on the overall portfolio. 
Operational implementation of decisions is the 
responsibility of DG HYP Treasury. R+V manages 
market preis risk at individual company level.

MARKet pRiCe RisK RepoRtiNG
Key figures for market price risk are submitted at 
group level to the Group Risk Committee as part of 
the quarterly group risk report. If any limits are 
exceeded at group company level, this is notified to 
DZ BANK using an ad hoc reporting system.
 
In the banks within the DZ BANK Group, and as  
part of the management reporting system, risk control 
provides daily, weekly or monthly market price risk 
updates to senior managers responsible for risk 
management and risk control and to the portfolio 
managers.

In R+V, all senior managers in individual companies 
receive monthly risk management reports and invest-
ment portfolio management reports. The central risk 
management committee at R+V (the Risk Conference) 
also receives quarterly reports.

MANAGeMeNt of MARKet pRiCe RisK
Market price risk is determined using the value-at-
risk method in which the risk is measured for the 
group as a whole as well as for each individual consoli-
dated company. To determine the value-at-risk, 
DZ BANK uses an internal risk model approved by 
BaFin for the calculation of capital requirements for 
general and specific market price risk in accordance 
with the Solvency Ordinance. 

Based on this model, value-at-risk is calculated daily 
using a historical simulation with a unilateral confi-
dence level of 99.00 percent over a one-year observa-
tion period and a holding period of ten trading days. 
Value-at-risk is a key performance indicator that 
describes the maximum expected loss for a given 
probability (confidence level) and within a specified 
holding period for the positions under normal market 
conditions. The model does not show the maximum 
potential loss that could arise under extreme market 
conditions. It is based on market scenarios that have 
been observed within the last year and simulates these 
scenarios for the bank’s current positions (historical 
simulation). Stress tests are carried out to estimate 
potential losses in special market conditions. In these 
stress tests, the following are deemed to be material  
risk factors: interest-rate risk, spread risk, equity risk, 
currency risk, commodity price risk, and volatility risk.

The model is subject to continuous operational review 
as part of standard processes. The review is carried out 
by market price risk control using analyses of the 
value-at-risk, and evaluations of the backtesting and 
stress test results. The results of the operational review 
of the model are reported monthly to the entire Board 
of Managing Directors of DZ BANK. At least once a 
year, an enhanced review of the model is carried out, 
including a comprehensive analysis of time series and 
processes. This analysis includes technical elements, 
such as delivery times and the quality of the value-at-
risk figure, and statistical figures, such as backtesting 
anomalies and quantile time series.
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Independently of the trading function, trading book 
positions are measured daily using current market 
parameters. “Independently of the trading function” 
means that the market data is collected by the risk 
control department itself and that the measurement 
methods and models are developed and validated 
independently of the trading units.

In contrast to the calculation of capital adequacy 
specified by the Solvency Ordinance, value-at-risk at 
DZ BANK is calculated for the purposes of market 
price risk management at all levels of the portfolio 
hierarchy with a holding period of one trading day. 
Banking book items are also included in this calcula-
tion of value-at-risk, again in contrast to the regula-
tory requirement.

Value-at-risk for interest-rate risk is calculated overall for 
all portfolios in the following companies: DZ BANK, 
BSH, DG HYP, DVB, DZ BANK Ireland, DZI and 
TeamBank. The risk measurements for the compa-
nies are aggregated by simple addition to arrive at the 
value-at-risk for the group. This also includes the 
interest-rate risk in the banking book, disclosure of 
which is required by section 333 SolvV. At DZ BANK, 
a fixed interest period of one day is assumed for bal-
ances on nostro and loro accounts. Lending with 
fixed interest terms is included in the interest-rate risk 
management system up to the relevant maturity date. 
Lending with variable interest rates is included up to 
the next rollover date. At BSH and DG HYP, interest-
rate risk is determined daily as a value-at-risk. BSH is 
subject to particular interest-rate risks arising from its 
collective home savings business since it gives custom-
ers a binding interest-rate guarantee both for savings 
and for the loan element that may be drawn down in 
the future. BSH considers various scenarios when de-
termining the interest-rate risk. These scenarios are 
based on assumptions about customer behavior and 
expected home savings business, the data for which is 
derived from a detailed analysis of historical customer 
behavior. DG HYP does not make any assumptions 
about future unscheduled repayments since it does not 
have any deposits for an unspecified period.

R+V carries out scenario analyses to measure the market 
price risk arising on its investments. These scenarios 
demonstrate the effect of different potential changes. 
For equities held directly and via investment funds, 
the effect of a 35 percent fluctuation in price is simu-
lated for the fair value of these positions. In the case 
of fixed-income securities, registered bonds, promis-
sory notes and loans, the scenario shows the effect of a 
one-percentage-point upward shift in the interest-rate 
curve on the fair value of these securities and loans. In 
addition, a duration analysis is regularly carried out for 
the portfolio of fixed-income securities and loans. The 
calculation of the capital requirement for market price 
risk at R+V, which is limited by the upper loss limit as 
part of risk capital management, is based on a value-at-
risk approach. This calculation uses a confidence level 
of 99.95 percent and a holding period of one year.

In some of the companies in the DZ BANK banking 
group, market price risk is also determined using the 
method known as the standard method. This is car-
ried out solely for regulatory purposes; the standard 
method is not used for internal risk management. The 
calculation is carried out for the trading books recog-
nized in accordance with regulatory criteria. In the 
case of currency risks and commodity risks, which are 
also measured using the standard method, the bank-
ing books are also included.

Market price risk is managed in most of the bank-
ing subsidiaries using a limit system appropriate to 
the portfolio structure. This system limits the risks as-
sumed in parts of the group as well as any losses aris-
ing during the course of the year. Within the trad-
ing divisions of DZ BANK, the management of risks 
based on value-at-risk is supported by a limit system 
structured around various sensitivities and scenarios. 
Value-at-risk limits are derived from the upper loss 
limit for market price risk and set at a level that, if ad-
hered to, will in all probability ensure that the upper 
loss limit is not exceeded either. Market price risks 
at R+V are limited via the upper loss limits specified 
groupwide.
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MARKet pRiCe RisK MiNiMiZAtioN
The hedging of market price risks at DZ BANK and  
DG HYP is the responsibility of the relevant portfo-
lio manager as part of the decentralized management 
of portfolios. Risk management is primarily dynamic 
based on sensitivities. Risks are hedged either through 
internal transactions with the trading division respon-
sible for the product marketing or through external 
stock market and OTC transactions. At R+V, market 
price risks are hedged via the stock market.

The measurement of market price risk includes the in-
dividual items subject to market price risk. The effec-
tiveness of hedges only needs to be monitored if the 
individual items are not included. At DZ BANK, the 
transactions in this case are back-to-back and repack-
aging transactions, although only a small number 
of these transactions are used. Hedge effectiveness is 
monitored via the risk control unit responsible for the 
portfolio concerned.

At DG HYP, the effectiveness of any hedging is 
reviewed and reported daily in terms of both risk and 
performance. The report covers the entire DG HYP 
book. A wide range of derivatives in various forms is 
used to mitigate market price risk.

In 2008, R+V entered into hedges on parts of its 
portfolios in order to reduce equity risk.

BACKtestiNG AND stRess tests
The purpose of backtesting is to check the predictive 
quality of value-at-risk approaches. Daily gains and 
losses are compared against the value-at-risk figures 
calculated using risk modeling. As part of an annual 
appropriateness review, comprehensive statistical tests 
are also carried out on the predictive quality of risk 
modeling.

In addition, the DZ BANK Group carries out stress 
tests, which take into account extreme market move-
ments. The underlying crisis scenarios include the 
simulation of significant fluctuations in risk factors 
and serve to highlight potential losses not recognized 

in the value-at-risk approach. Stress tests use as their 
basis extreme market fluctuations that have actually 
occurred in the past together with crisis scenarios that 
– regardless of market data history – are considered to 
be economically relevant. The crisis scenarios used are 
continuously reviewed to ensure they are appropriate. 

The backtesting and stress test procedures described 
above are applied not only to the approved internal 
risk model for the calculation of capital requirements 
in accordance with the Solvency Ordinance but also to 
the non-trading portfolios for the purposes of internal 
market price risk management.

Via annual stress tests specified by BaFin, R+V reviews 
whether it is in a position to meet its obligations to 
policyholders, even in the event of a sustained crisis 
situation on the capital markets. R+V carries out the 
stress tests on the basis of the value-at-risk approach 
also used to determine the risk capital requirement.

Any backtesting results showing that the bank-specific 
value-at-risk has been exceeded and any potential losses 
identified by stress test simulations are reported by the 
banking subsidiaries to DZ BANK in the quarterly 
group risk report.

ANAlYsis of MARKet pRiCe RisK
As at December 31, 2008, the capital requirement for 
market price risk was within the upper loss limits in 
both the group’s banking business and in the group’s 
home savings and insurance businesses. The table at 
the top of the next page shows the figures for Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

The rise in the risk capital requirement in the group’s 
banking business during the course of 2008 was largely 
attributable to the significant widening of spreads. The 
reason behind this trend was the sustained crisis in the 
financial markets. The increase in the corresponding 
upper loss limit was also a consequence of the market 
turmoil. There was a slight increase in the risk arising 
on home savings and insurance business as a result of 
the higher business volume. 
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The table below shows the changes in value-at-risk  
for the different types of market price risk in respect of 
the trading and non-trading portfolios in the banking 
business in 2008. The adjacent diagram shows the 
change in the total value-at-risk for the trading portfo-
lios. The increase in the calculated value-at-risk was 
again largely a consequence of the crisis in the financial 
markets and the significant associated widening of 
spreads. The main reason behind the substantial 
upward movement in value-at-risk in September was 
the collapse of Lehman Brothers.

The increased capital requirement for market price risk 
led to a need to adjust the upper loss limit concerned. 
The need for a decision in this regard was communi-
cated to the management, among other things, by 
means of the ad hoc reporting system and capital 
management processes. It was possible to increase 
limits for market price risk in individual companies by 
carrying out a reallocation at group level.

MARKet liQuiDitY RisK
Market liquidity risk falls within the remit of the 
portfolio managers responsible for managing market 
price risk. Market liquidity risk arises primarily in 
respect of rated securities held by DZ BANK and DG 
HYP. The securities that are most susceptible to market 
liquidity risk are asset-backed securities. In the course 
of the financial markets crisis, specifically in the third 
and fourth quarters of 2008, there was also a shortage 
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VALUE-AT-RISK IN TRADING PORTFOLIOS, 2008 

  Value-at-risk   

  Maximum

  Average

  Minimum

€ million, 99% confidence level, one-day holding period

VALUE-AT-RISK IN BANKING BUSINESS1

€ million
interest-rate 

risk
spread  

risk
equity  

risk
Currency  

risk
Commodity 

risk
Diversifica-
tion effect ²

Total

Trading portfolios

Dec. 31, 2008 34 105 3 7 1 -44 106

Average 14 78 5 2 1 -19 80

Maximum 58 134 30 8 1 -58 155

Minimum 4 39 2 1 0 0 43

Dec. 31, 2007 4 49 5 2 1 -15 46

Non-trading portfolios

Dec. 31, 2008 11 50 11 9 0 -10 71

Average 25 44 9 4 1 -9 74

Maximum 64 113 11 9 2 -24 140

Minimum 11 16 5 2 0 -4 40

Dec. 31, 2007 22 16 6 3 1 -6 41

1  Value-at-risk with 99% confidence level, one-day holding period, one-year observation period, based on company-specific modeling. Banking business is an aggregation of the 
 following companies: DZ BANK, DG HYp, DVB, DZi, DZ BANK ireland, teamBank, union Asset Management Holding, and from January 1, 2008, DZ polska.

2 total effects of diversification between the types of market risk for all consolidated group companies 

UPPER LOSS LIMITS AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENT FOR  
MARKET PRICE RISK BY TYPE OF BUSINESS

€ million
Upper loss limit Risk capital 

 requirement

Dec. 31, 
2008

Dec. 31, 
2007

Dec. 31, 
2008

Dec. 31, 
2007

Banking 2,533 1,327 2,205 974

Home savings  
and insurance 1,700 1,875 1,646 1,346

Total 4,233 3,202 3,851 2,320
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of market liquidity for securities that had previously 
been regarded as highly liquid. The main securities 
affected by this development were unsecured bonds 
from financial institutions and pfandbriefs. DZ BANK 
holds these securities to service customer demand as 
part of its trading for customer account; it also holds 
them in its liquidity and collateral portfolios.

DG HYP Treasury’s investment policy only permits 
exposures in securities that are eligible for ECB 
borrowing and that offer a high degree of liquidity at 
all times. The relevant provisions of the German 
Pfandbrief Act are observed with regard to the use of 
the acquired securities as replacement cover. In 
addition, there are market liquidity risks arising on 
certain ABS portfolio securities that are being retained 
for strategic reasons.

suMMARY AND outlooK
In the course of the sustained crisis in financial markets 
there was a general increase in volatility on capital 
markets which resulted in enhanced market price risk 
in the DZ BANK Group’s trading and non-trading 
portfolios. A key factor in the increase in risk was, in 
particular, the increased volatility in spreads on bank 
bonds and asset-backed securities. This phase of 
heightened market price risk is expected to continue 
in 2009.

As in previous years, the focus of DZ BANK’s trading 
business in 2009 will be on customer business.  
DZ BANK will continue to pursue a strategy of 
holding rated securities in collateral and liquidity 
portfolios and as a means of generating additional 
margin. Given the situation in the financial markets, 
there will be a reduction in capital markets business 
not related to the cooperative financial services 
network and, as a result, a decrease in the associated 
risks. The setting of limits will be based on the 
risk-bearing capacity of the group.

In 2009, DZ BANK will continue to expand its 
 management system for market price risks. It is planned 
to integrate incremental risk into the Bank’s inter-
nal management system. After implementation of this 
upgrade, sudden changes in market prices arising, for 
  example, from rating migration or the collapse of an 
 issuer will be taken into account in risk management.

6. LIQUIDITY RISK

DefiNitioN AND CAuses 
Liquidity risk is the risk that cash and cash equivalents 
will not be available in sufficient amounts to ensure 
that payment obligations can be met, or that such cash 
and cash equivalents can only be obtained at an inflated 
cost. Liquidity risk arises from a mismatch between 
expected cash inflows and cash outflows in terms of 
timing and amount and/or a variance between actual 
cash flows and forecast. The main factors impacting on 
the level of liquidity risk are the refinancing structure 
of the lending business, uncertainty surrounding 
liquidity tie-up in refinancing via structured issues and 
retail structured products (certificates), variances 
between actual and forecast trends for deposits and 
loans in respect of retail customers, refinancing 
potential on money markets and capital markets, the 
eligibility of securities for use as collateral, the granting 
of liquidity options – for example, in the form of 
irrevocable loan or liquidity commitments – and the 
obligation to pledge collateral for derivatives.

The level of liquidity risk in the DZ BANK Group  
is determined by the activities of DZ BANK and the 
following subsidiaries: BSH, DG HYP, DVB,  
DZ BANK Ireland, DZI, DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz 
and TeamBank.

liQuiDitY RisK stRAteGY
The DZ BANK Group’s operations are governed by 
the principle that any liquidity risks assumed must  
be in compliance with the risk tolerance specified by 
the Board of Managing Directors. Solvency must be 
ensured, even in times of serious crisis. Risk tolerance 
is expressed in the form of crisis scenarios, and stress 
tests must demonstrate that there is adequate cover  
for these scenarios. Liquidity reserves in the form of 
collateralizable securities are held by the DZ BANK 
Group so that it can remain solvent, even in the event 
of a crisis. In addition, the Bank diversifies its liability 
profile and carries out active marketing and intensive 
maintenance of customer relationships with corporate 
customers, institutional customers, bank customers 
and on the interbank market to ensure the availability 
of refinancing potential on money markets. 
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oRGANiZAtioN AND RespoNsiBilitY
The strategic guidelines for the management of liquidity 
risk at group level are established by the Group Risk 
Committee. With these guidelines as a basis, liquidity 
risk management for the group is then coordinated  
by the Market Working Group. Liquidity risk in the 
group companies is managed on a decentralized basis 
at DZ BANK and in the individual subsidiaries. 

The individual companies are provided with fund-
ing by DZ BANK (group funding) or the compa-
nies exchange cash among themselves via DZ BANK 
(group clearing). Any advantages from local refinanc-
ing in terms of currency and customers are utilized by 
the individual group companies and within DZ BANK 
via the Treasury departments of foreign branches. The 
main activities in the area of secured and unsecured 
interbank funding are brought together under the 
umbrella of DZ BANK. The point of this organiza-
tional arrangement is to avoid pricing differences that 
would arise if individual companies were to have their 
own separate presence in the market. At individual 
group company level, the costs of liquidity are charged 
by the units generating liquidity to the units consum-
ing liquidity on the basis of transfer prices. Transfer 
prices have been set, in particular, for the liquidity costs 
of loans, loan commitments, and securities. Liquidity 
risk is managed with the objective of reducing funding 
costs on a long-term basis. 

Groupwide liquidity risk control is coordinated by the 
Group Risk Management Working Group. Liquidity 
risk control is carried out in the Controlling division 
decentrally at DZ BANK and in the subsidiaries 
independently of the units responsible for liquidity risk 
management. DZ BANK is responsible for aggregating 
the results of liquidity risk control activities in individ -
ual companies to generate a group overview.

At DZ BANK level, the strategic guidelines for liquidity 
risk management are decided by the Treasury Commit-
tee. Liquidity risk is managed on a decentralized basis 
by head office Treasury in Frankfurt and by Treasuries 
in foreign branches, although head office Treasury has 
primary responsibility. Liquidity risk control is carried 
out centrally by head office risk control and independ-
ently of liquidity risk management.

MANAGeMeNt of liQuiDitY RisK

liquidity up to one year
Liquidity risk is determined at the DZ BANK Group 
level using a risk model developed by DZ BANK. All 
group companies with a significant impact on liquidity 
risk are integrated into the model, which is used to 
simulate one normal scenario and three stress scenarios 
on a daily basis. A “minimum excess liquidity” figure  
is calculated for each scenario. This figure quantifies 
the minimum surplus cash that would be available if 
the scenario were to materialize within the next twelve 
months. To carry out this calculation, cumulative cash 
flow (forward cash exposure) is compared against 
available liquidity reserves (counterbalancing capacity) 
on a day-by-day basis. Forward cash exposure includes 
both expected and unexpected payments. The counter-
balancing capacity includes balances on nostro accounts, 
securities that can be refinanced, and estimated capacity 
for unsecured refinancing with customers and banks.

The normal scenario reflects the current situation in 
the markets and in the company. Stress tests are 
conducted for forward cash exposure and for counter-
balancing capacity using the following three scenarios: 
“downgrading”, “corporate crisis”, and “market crisis”. 
The simulated event in each stress scenario represents a 
serious deterioration in conditions. For example, it is 
assumed that unsecured funding from customers and 
banks is only possible in very limited circumstances.

Liquidity risk limits in the DZ BANK Group are 
based on the key “minimum excess liquidity” figure 
that is determined for the stress scenarios. The Board 
of Managing Directors has set a positive limit and an 
observation threshold in excess of the positive limit. 
DZ BANK has emergency liquidity plans in place so 
that it is able to respond rapidly and in a coordinated 
manner to serious events. The emergency plans are 
revised annually. 

The internal risk model is constantly revised and 
adjusted in line with changes in the market, products, 
and processes.
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The units in group companies responsible for liquidity 
management ensure intraday liquidity via the ongoing 
management of accounts with central and correspond-
ent banks in Germany and abroad.

structural liquidity
Structural liquidity is an indicator used for the advance 
management of liquidity risk expected in the future 
and is one of the factors used in to the assessment of 
the long-term refinancing structure. Both for the 
DZ BANK Group and each individual group company, 
structural liquidity is measured on the basis of total 
liquidity flows, the measurement being carried out 
daily using the internal liquidity risk model in the same 
way as the measurement of liquidity up to one year.  
In addition, the “long-term ratio“ figure is used at 
DZ BANK to support the management of structural 
liquidity. This key figure is also determined on a daily 
basis. It quantifies the ratio of sources of funds to 
application of funds in terms of cash flows with a 
residual maturity of more than one year. 

Reporting
The DZ BANK Group’s liquidity up to one year and 
structural liquidity are reported on a daily basis to  
the member of the Board of Managing Directors of 
DZ BANK responsible for the Treasury and Control-
ling divisions. The entire Board of Managing Directors 
receives a weekly report on the current situation and 
the changes over the previous week. The DZ BANK 
Treasury units and units in the subsidiaries responsible 
for the management of liquidity risk also receive detailed 
daily information showing the contribution from each 
individual position to the aggregate exposure. The 
Group Risk Committee receives a quarterly report on 
liquidity up to one year for the DZ BANK Group and 
on structural liquidity at group and individual bank 
levels. The subsidiaries have their own corresponding 
reporting procedures to support the monitoring and 
control of liquidity at individual company level.

ANAlYsis of liQuiDitY RisKs

liquidity up to one year and structural liquidity
As at December 31, 2008, the minimum liquidity 
surplus for the DZ BANK Group in the normal 
scenario measured for 2009 was € 40.6 billion. The 

chart on the following page shows the comparison 
between the forward cash exposure and counterbalanc-
ing capacity for the normal scenario as at December 31, 
2008. In the year under review, and after the intro-
duction of group- related liquidity risk measurement  
in March 2008, the stress scenarios showed that, for 
the DZ BANK Group, there were two days on which 
liquidity fell below the minimum liquidity surplus. 
There were also seven days on which liquidity was 
 below the higher observation threshold. As at Decem-
ber 31, 2008, liquidity did not fall below the limit and 
observation threshold in all stress scenarios.

As at December 31, 2008, DZ BANK’s long-term ratio 
was 89 percent (December 31, 2007: 90 percent).  
This means that by far the greatest proportion of items 
tying up liquidity with a residual maturity of over one 
year are refinanced with funds that also have a residual 
maturity of more than one year.

Refinancing
The structure of short-term and medium-term refi-
nancing in the DZ BANK Group is based on an ap-
propriately broad, well-diversified range of geographi-
cal regions, investors, markets, products, and maturities. 
Deposits from the local cooperative banks are the most 
important source of refinancing. As at December 31, 
2008, they covered 47 percent of the unsecured refi-
nancing (December 31, 2007: 34 percent). This dem-
onstrates that the business model of the cooperative 
financial services network is also viable in terms of the 
provision of liquidity in times of crisis, ensuring that 
DZ BANK can operate without restriction in carrying 
out its decentralized responsibilities to the local coop-
erative banks. The table on the following page shows 
the percentage breakdown of the main sources of 
unsecured short-term and medium-term refinancing 
compared with 2007.

Since there are only limited opportunities to obtain 
unsecured funding on the money markets, Treasury 
carries out monthly structural analyses of the various 
resources on the liabilities side of the balance sheet. 
The purpose of these analyses is to provide management 
with suitable information which can then be used as 
the basis for the active management of the liability 
profile.
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To secure liquidity on an ongoing basis, DZ BANK 
has at its disposal portfolios of securities eligible for 
central bank borrowings. These securities can be sold 
at short notice or used as collateral in monetary policy 
refinancing transactions with central banks, in bilateral 
repos or in the tri-party repo market (secured refinanc-
ing). In the event of a short-term liquidity requirement, 
DZ BANK trading division securities that are not 
refinanced through repo activities can be used for 
intraday liquidity management.

DZ BANK ensures its long-term refinancing by the 
use of structured and non-structured capital market 
products which are mainly marketed through the local 
cooperative banks’ own account and customer account 
securities business and through institutional customers 
in Germany and abroad. Both DZ BANK and DG HYP 
also have the option of obtaining liquidity through 
covered issues in the form of DZ BANK BRIEFE and 
DG HYP pfandbriefs. In this case, the refinancing is 
primarily through institutional investors.

suMMARY AND outlooK
In 2008, liquidity risk management in DZ BANK 
continued to follow standard daily processes. Despite 
the disruption in the markets, the solvency of the Bank 
was never in jeopardy at any point. The Bank was able 
to cope adequately with the effects of the crisis in the 
financial markets within its existing organizational 

framework. The measurement of liquidity risk was 
adjusted in line with the reduced availability of liquidity 
outside the cooperative financial services network.  
DZ BANK is able to ensure a sufficient supply of 
liquidity on the basis of the high level of deposits in 
local cooperative banks. There was a further significant 
increase in these deposits in the course of the financial 
markets crisis. In addition, over time, there has been  
a high degree of stability in deposits from corporate 
customers and institutional investors. DZ BANK has 
an adequate pool of securities eligible to support 
borrowing from the central bank and these securities 
could be used for this purpose at any time. Liquidity is 
measured and monitored on a daily basis independently 
of the trading function using stress tests. The results of 
the stress tests do not reveal any liquidity squeeze over 
the coming year, even in the event of a further deterio-
ration in the financial markets situation.
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LIQUIDITY RISK IN THE DZ BANK GROUP AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 –
LIQUIDITY FORECAST FOR 2009 (NORMAL SCENARIO)

€ billion 

UNSECURED SHORT-TERM AND MEDIUM-TERM REFINANCING

(%)
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

local cooperative banks 47 34

other banks 22 34

Corporate customers 27 23

Commercial paper/  
certificates of deposit 4 9
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7. ACTUARIAL RISK

DefiNitioN AND CAuses 
Actuarial risk is the risk of unexpected losses arising 
from insurance business. In the DZ BANK Group, 
actuarial risk arises from the business activities of the 
insurance subsidiary R+V. Actuarial risk comprises 
premium risk, reserve risk, natural hazard risk, life risk, 
and reinsurer credit risk.

stRAteGY foR ACtuARiAl RisK
The core objective in R+V’s management of actuarial 
risk is to ensure a broad balance of risk across all lines 
of business, consisting of non-life insurance, personal 
insurance, and inward reinsurance. This is achieved via 
a well-diversified product portfolio and an emphasis 
on private clients, the agricultural sector, and small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). In order to facili-
tate the control of risks in both non-life and personal 
insurance business, R+V has at its disposal a broadly 
based range of tools for the management and minimi-
zation of risk. In the case of inward reinsurance, the 
priority is to develop and secure a target portfolio with 
an optimum balance of income and risk. R+V aims to 
achieve these objectives through growth in profitable 
areas of business and through effective cycle and port-
folio management.

oRGANiZAtioN, RespoNsiBilitY,  
AND RepoRtiNG
The Board of Managing Directors of R+V lays down 
the business strategy and corporate objectives, together 
with the associated risk strategy for corporate planning. 
Actuarial risk is managed by the Board of Managing 
Directors of R+V; various committees provide support 
in the decision-making process. Findings submitted by 
the committees are evaluated by the Board of Managing 
Directors. Where required, appropriate decisions are 
made on the basis of these evaluations. Every commit-
tee has a member of the Board of Managing Directors 
in a senior position on the committee. Committee 
findings are also fed into overall risk assessments by  
the Risk Conference.

The risk management process, which is organized on  
a cross-company basis, defines rules for dealing with 
risks and forms the basis of a central early warning 

system. An updated index-based assessment of all 
significant risks in the R+V insurance group is prepared 
quarterly on the basis of binding key performance 
indicators and threshold values. Corrective action is 
initiated if an index value is exceeded. 

The Risk Conference, which meets on a regular basis, 
and the central reporting of risks to the R+V Board  
of Managing Directors ensure that the risks of future 
development are identified, assessed and controlled in 
good time. Concentrations of risks aggregated from 
several departments are identified by the Risk Confer-
ence. A system of ad hoc reports to the relevant member 
of the Board of Managing Directors and the head  
of the Risk Conference allow for the notification of 
risks in exceptional cases, for example, in the event  
of changes in risks that jeopardize the future of the 
business as a going concern.

MANAGeMeNt of ACtuARiAl RisK

Risk management in direct life insurance  
and health insurance
The actuarial risk situation in life insurance is charac-
terized to a large extent by fixed premiums and the 
long-term nature of the guaranteed benefits in the 
event of a claim.

Provisions are recognized to ensure that all benefit 
obligations under insurance contracts can be met. The 
calculation of these provisions is based on assumptions 
about future trends in biometric risk, investment 
income, and costs, and takes into account lapse risk. 
These assumptions are measured in such a way that 
they not only cover the current risk situation, but also 
accommodate the risk of possible changes. The risk 
that the assumptions will change over the course of 
time is made manageable by careful product develop-
ment and actuarial control systems.

The risk that future investment income will fall short 
of the guaranteed interest on the provisions (interest-
rate guarantee risk) is limited by ensuring that there  
is enough free capital that can be made available in 
adverse capital market situations, such as the current 
crisis in the financial markets. The necessary capital 
requirement to maintain solvency is reviewed on an 

111DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
RisK RepoRt



ongoing basis with the support of stress tests and 
scenario analyses as part of the management of assets 
and liabilities. Specifically, a systematic review is 
carried out to assess the effects of a long period of low 
interest rates in the capital markets. R+V also takes 
action with a medium-term to long-term impact in 
order to limit guarantees. 

Policyholder bonuses have already been declared and 
secured for 2009. The declaration of annual policy-
holder bonuses ensures that there are still enough 
available funds to cover the interest-rate guarantee risk. 
This assessment is based on the available provision  
for bonuses and rebates and the valuation reserves in 
investments allowing for estimated ongoing interest 
income.

One of the characteristics of the actuarial risk situation 
in health insurance is the constant rise in the cost of 
claims, caused both by the growth in the portfolio and 
by the behavior of policyholders and service providers. 
These risks are controlled by a risk-conscious under-
writing policy, the features of which are binding 
underwriting guidelines, careful selection of risk, and 
targeted management of benefits and costs. The relevant 
actuary monitors the adequacy of the assumptions.

Should the crisis in the financial markets develop into 
a recession, and the measures in the Financial Markets 
Stabilization Act (FMStG) are unable to compensate 
for the effects of this recession, this is likely to result  
in general consumer caution which may impact on 
insurance products particularly in the area of personal 
insurance. 

R+V Krankenversicherung AG also believes that it is 
exposed to particular risks resulting from the Statutory 
Health Insurance Competition Strengthening Act 
(GKV-WSG) in Germany. The GKV-WSG will impact 
over the long term on the current business model of 
private health insurance companies. Competition has 
already become more intense over the year under 
review and this trend will continue. However, R+V 
Krankenversicherung AG is very well-positioned  
for this challenge based on its excellent product and 
company ratings.

Risk management in direct non-life  
insurance business
The main types of actuarial risk faced by a non-life 
insurance company (provider of property and casualty 
insurance) are premium and reserve risk and natural 
hazard risk. To make these risks manageable, pricing is 
based on a precise calculation using mathematical and 
statistical modeling. The existing insurance portfolio  
is regularly analyzed and the results used to adjust 
products to ensure sufficient to risk coverage. R+V also 
responds to changing risk situations with a flexible 
underwriting policy. By managing the composition of 
insurance business, R+V ensures that there is a suitable 
balance of risk across geographical regions and types  
of business. Outward reinsurance is used to limit losses 
in the case of individual risks or cumulative claims. 
R+V recognizes adequate provisions for both known 
and unknown claims. The changes in these provisions 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Information from 
this process is then fed in turn into current estimates. 

Risk management in inward reinsurance
Actuarial risks for a reinsurer are primarily concen-
trated in a portfolio at risk from natural disasters and 
far-reaching changes in underlying trends in primary 
markets. Risks are assumed within specified underwrit-
ing limits that restrict liability in the case of both 
individual and cumulative claims. Possible losses under 
catastrophe insurance, in terms of both amount and 
frequency, are continuously recorded and monitored 
using a standard IT-based method for the industry  
and R+V’s own additional verification systems.

Risk management in credit insurance
Actuarial risk in connection with credit insurance arises 
from the inability or refusal of a policyholder’s customer 
to meet his/her payment obligations. In this case,  
the policyholder has a claim for payment against the 
customer in connection with a trade receivable (credit 
risk) or in connection with a guarantee (guarantee 
insurance). To manage the risks arising on credit 
insurance, R+V uses insurance mechanisms such as 
deductibles and annual aggregate limits. R+V achieves 
the intended diversification of risk in its portfolio by 
creating a balance of risk based on the structure of the 
entire insurance portfolio and the term structure of the 
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insurance contracts. By developing portfolios with a 
homogeneous risk profile, risks that combine a low 
probability of occurrence with potentially high claims 
and cumulative claims are minimized. R+V operates  
a selective and security-oriented underwriting policy 
that varies depending on policyholder and product. 
The ongoing monitoring of the credit quality of 
policyholders’ customers is a significant contributing 
factor in the prevention of losses.

MitiGAtiNG ACtuARiAl RisKs
The purpose of reinsurance is to limit losses arising from 
individual risks or cumulative claims. The reinsurance 
of major or natural disaster risks takes into account the 
R+V insurance group’s financial resources and reserves.

Any additional risks arising from a concentration of 
insurance risks are monitored by means of regular 
analyses of the insurance portfolio. Using rates of 
change in the distribution of sums insured over risk 
zones, insurance policies with natural hazard risk cover 
are included in the risk management process and are 
subject to regular monitoring with defined key ratios 
and threshold values. Portfolio management ensures 
the balance of risk across geographical regions and types 
of business.

ANAlYsis of ACtuARiAl RisK
As at December 31, 2008, the economic capital 
requirement for actuarial risk was measured at € 1,267 
million, a slight increase on the corresponding figure of 
€ 1,196 million as at December 31, 2007. The increase 

in the risk capital requirement was mainly attributable 
to the increase in premium volume. In the course of 
2008, the upper loss limit specified for actuarial risk was 
not exceeded at any time. As at December 31, 2008, 
the upper loss limit was € 1,296 million (December 31, 
2007: € 1,400 million). 

The following table shows the claims trend in 2008. 
The main features of this trend in 2008 were an increase 
in claims compared with 2007, a higher frequency of 
average claims, and major losses that were higher than 
forecast. The principal contributing factors were Hurri-
cane Ike, storm damage in Australia and hail storms in 
May in Germany.

There was a year-on-year increase in the insured volume 
of credit insurance which rose by € 14.4 billion to 
€ 16.9 billion. This growth reflects both the develop-
ment of new customer groups as a result of the expan-
sion of the product portfolio and the results of an 
improvement in the economic position in the con-
struction industry. R+V’s banking/lending division  
is not affected by the current crisis in the financial 
markets. R+V has no areas of business in which it has 
covered guarantees for interest payments or repayment 
of principal on bonds, credit risks on debt instruments, 
or credit risks on commercial or mortgage banks.

suMMARY AND outlooK
R+V insurance group has an integrated system for the 
identification, assessment, and management of actuarial 
risk. Currently, there are no identifiable trends that 

CLAIMS RATE AND SETTLEMENTS (NET OF REINSURANCE)

Year 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Claims rate (net) as % of  
premiums earned

including major/ 
natural disaster claims

 
72.6

 
73.7

 
71.0

 
71.5

 
72.0

 
71.8

 
80.7

 
73.2

 
71.3

 
68.0

excluding major/ 
natural disaster claims

 
70.6

 
70.1

 
69.8

 
70.4

 
71.1

 
71.2

 
77.7

 
72.0

 
71.2

 
66.6

Settlements (net) as % of  
provision for incoming claims

Non-life 8.4 6.1 7.1 5.7 2.5 4.4 4.5 8.2 9.6 17.0
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could have an adverse long-term material impact on 
the financial position and financial performance of the 
R+V insurance group as part of the DZ BANK Group. 
The risk management system is subject to ongoing 
review and implementation of further development, 
particularly against the background of the Solvency II 
project and the German minimum requirements for 
risk management in insurance companies.

8. OPERATIONAL RISK

DefiNitioN  
DZ BANK defines operational risk as the risk of 
unexpected loss from human behavior, technological 
failure, weaknesses in process or project management, 
or external events. This closely resembles the regulatory 
definition. Legal risk is included in this definition. The 
other main companies within the DZ BANK Group 
also use this definition or a definition comparable with 
Basel II. The activities of DZ BANK and those of 
BSH, DG HYP, DVB, DZI, R+V, TeamBank and 
Union Asset Management Holding have a significant 
impact on operational risk. 

stRAteGY foR opeRAtioNAl RisK
The core objective is the efficient management of 
operational risk. The following sub-strategies represent 
areas in which the DZ BANK Group has taken action, 
or is planning to take action, to ensure this core 
objective is achieved:

–  Further enhancement of risk awareness to be reflected 
in an appropriate risk culture focusing not only on 
individual areas of responsibility but also on the 
overarching interests of the Bank. Establishment of 
comprehensive, open communication systems to 
support these aims.

–  An open and largely penalty-free approach to opera-
tional risk promoting a problem-solving culture.

–  Preference for a balanced relationship between oppor-
tunities and risks rather than a general strategy of 
risk avoidance. Risk reduction, risk transfer and risk 
acceptance are core management strategies in addi-
tion to risk avoidance.

–  Risk appetite defined in the form of upper loss limits 
for operational risk and continuously adjusted in line 
with prevailing circumstances.

–  Individual methods for managing operational risk 
coordinated with each other to provide an accurate, 
comprehensive picture of the risk situation coher-
ently integrated into the overall management of all 
risk categories.

–  Management of operational risk on a decentralized 
basis.

–  Compliance with relevant regulatory requirements 
guaranteed at all times. 

oRGANiZAtioN AND RespoNsiBilitY
The starting point for all other tools is the functional 
organization model which describes in detail the tasks 
and responsibilities of all persons involved in the 
process. Appropriate guidelines ensure that there is a 
groupwide harmonization of organizational structures 
in group companies. The management of operational 
risk is organized on a decentralized basis and basic 
responsibility lies with each group company. A group-
wide coordinated approach to operational risk is 
managed by a working group comprising representa-
tives from the main group companies and reporting  
to the Group Risk Management Working Group.

MANAGeMeNt of opeRAtioNAl RisK
As part of risk management, and to determine regula-
tory capital requirements, the potential loss from 
 operational risk is calculated using the standardized 
approach specified by the Solvency Ordinance. 

The groupwide collection of loss data allows DZ BANK 
to identify, analyze and evaluate loss events, highlight-
ing trends and concentrations of operational risk. This 
data is also used to build up a data history, which then 
permits a more risk-sensitive consideration of opera-
tional risk following implementation of appropriate 
methodology.

In large parts of the DZ BANK Group, experts from 
all divisions assess operational risk as part of self-assess-
ment processes in order to identify and evaluate all 
material operational risks and ensure maximum 
possible transparency regarding the risk position. The 
self-assessment process is generally broken down into 
an assessment of potential risks to identify significant 
risks, risk management process issues, and issues 
relating to specific individual risks.
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Loss data collection and the self-assessment process  
are complemented by risk indicators which allow  
DZ BANK to identify risk trends at an early stage.  
A system of warning lights is used to indicate risk 
situations based on specified threshold values. Risk 
indicators are collected systematically and regularly on 
a wide scale within the group.

Finally, regular reports on loss data, self-assessment 
and risk indicators are submitted to the Board of 
Managing Directors, the Group Risk Committee and 
operational management, ensuring that operational 
risk is managed on a timely basis.

Operational risk is minimized first and foremost by  
a continuous improvement in business processes. The 
transfer of risk by means of insurance or outsourcing  
as permitted by liability regulations provides further 
protection. Operational risk is avoided, for example,  
by rejecting products identified as entailing too much 
risk. In all relevant group companies, comprehensive 
emergency plans covering business-critical processes 
have been established to ensure the continuation of 
business in the event of process disruption or system 
breakdown. The emergency plans are regularly 
 reviewed to ensure they are fully functional.

ANAlYsis of opeRAtioNAl RisK
As at December 31, 2008, the DZ BANK Group’s 
economic capital requirement for operational risk  
was calculated at € 575 million (December 31, 2007: 
€ 590 million). The amount did not exceed the applica-
ble upper loss limit at any point during the course of 
2008. As at December 31, 2008, the upper loss limit 
for operational risk was € 589 million (December 31, 
2007: € 745 million).

suMMARY AND outlooK
During 2008, the DZ BANK Group continued to 
push forward with the design and implementation of 
sophisticated tools for the management and control  
of operational risk. At the same time, work continued 
on the expansion of economic capital accounting in 
order to establish more risk-sensitive incentive systems, 
such as capital management for operational risks, over 
the long term.

9. STRATEGIC RISK

DefiNitioN AND CAuses 
Strategic risk is the risk of losses arising from manage-
ment decisions on the strategic positioning of the  
DZ BANK Group. Strategic risks also result from 
unexpected changes in market and business environ-
ment conditions with an adverse impact on financial 
performance.

An important subsidiary element of strategic risk is 
business risk. Business risk is the potential for losses 
arising from a failure to match a decrease in income 
with an equivalent reduction in costs or a failure to 
compensate for this decrease by introducing alternative 
or complementary sources of income. Strategic risk is 
also influenced by the special features of particular 
industries. In this regard, the collective risk at BSH is 
of particular significance for the DZ BANK Group.

oRGANiZAtioN AND RespoNsiBilitY
The management of strategic risk in the DZ BANK 
Group is a primary responsibility of the Board of 
Managing Directors of DZ BANK and is carried out 
in consultation with senior management in group 
companies. Group management is integrated into  
a committee structure, headed by the Group Coordi-
nation Committee. This committee is supported by  
six function-related working groups, whose members 
comprise representatives from all divisions. The working 
groups are responsible for the following cross-depart-
mental functions: product and sales/marketing coordi-
nation; international coordination; IT, operations and 
resources; group and company management; risk 
management and human resources management. 
 Segment management is the responsibility of the  
Local Bank Advisory Councils, whose members are 
representatives of the cooperative banks. The chairmen 
(coordinators) of the seven Local Bank Advisory 
Councils are taken from the members of the boards of 
managing directors of banks in the DZ BANK Group 
that are represented on the Group Coordination 
Committee. This structure allows the highest possible 
level of coordination for strategic decisions while at the 
same time fully maintaining the decentralized structure 
to the benefit of the local cooperative banks.
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MANAGeMeNt of stRAteGiC RisK

Management instruments 
The management of strategic risk is based on the 
forward-looking assessment of success factors and the 
setting of associated targets for the main group compa-
nies and the divisions of DZ BANK. The basis for the 
process is the strategic planning consultation program 
which comprises a number of modules, as follows: 
financial planning, regulatory and economic capital 
planning, target planning for fee and commission 
income and for bonuses to the cooperative banks, and 
strategic initiatives. A management information 
system is used to monitor the achievement of targets.

Collective risks in the home savings business
In the home savings business, collective risk and new 
business risk represent a particular feature of strate-
gic risk. New business is influenced by BSH’s corpo-
rate strategy and trends in the home savings operat-
ing environment, whereas the existing home savings 
portfolio – the “collective home savings business” – is 
affected by the behavior of existing customers. The col-
lective and new business risks are measured together 
using a collective simulation that analyses the effects of 
a change in customer behavior – via a specific change 
to behavior parameters (not caused by a change in in-
terest rates) – and a fall in new business. The stability 
of the collective home savings business is continuously 
reviewed with a regular analysis of collective trends 
as part of the monthly collective simulation and addi-
tional scenario and stress analyses. This allows manage-
ment to initiate early corrective action, if required. The 
risk is managed through a forward-looking policy 
for products and scales of rates and charges, and also 
through the integrated management of collective and 
non-collective business.

GRoup stRAteGiC positioN AND  
peRfoRMANCe

strategic potential
As the central service provider for the cooperative 
financial services network, the DZ BANK Group –  
on the basis of the high level of cohesion within the 
network – has the best possible foundation for long-
term consolidation of its position as one of the leading 
financial service providers in the German market. The 
DZ BANK Group’s long-term objectives are to achieve 

permanent market-leading positions in German retail 
banking and in the high-end retail customers segment, 
to ensure that DZ BANK is focused as a leading, 
financially strong, target-customer-oriented corporate 
and investment bank for German SMEs, and to 
consolidate its market-leading position in Germany in 
transaction banking while generating Europe-wide 
growth in this business. Specifically, this means that 
DZ BANK, as the central product supplier for banking 
services, must ensure that its products are systematically 
geared to the requirements of the cooperative banks 
from the very start of the product development process 
onward. 

The DZ BANK Group’s approach to achieving these 
objectives is encapsulated in the concept of ‘Verbund 
First’. Priority in the allocation of resources is given 
to those activities that produce a direct benefit for the 
cooperative financial services network as well as sig-
nificant value added. As a result of this clear focus, 
network business remains the most important source 
of income for the DZ BANK Group. ‘Verbund First’ 
therefore also means: support for the cooperative banks 
in the further enhancement of customer satisfaction. 
The DZ BANK Group aims to respond jointly with 
the cooperative banks to intense competition and sig-
nificant changes in customer behavior, for example by 
identifying new customer segments and customized 
products and services. The objective is to strengthen 
cooperation and step up the exploitation of market po-
tential. An example of this cooperation is the custom-
ized integration of business development programs 
into corporate finance; this constitutes a key competi-
tive advantage in terms of both expertise and market 
visibility. 

focus initiatives
Under the ‘Verbund First’ approach, a number of 
strategic initiatives have been instigated in retail 
banking, corporate and investment banking, and in 
transaction banking. The objective of these focus 
initiatives is to systematically develop market potential 
for the entire cooperative financial services network, 
for example in the pensions business and private  
and corporate customer businesses. To this end, new, 
innovative products have been jointly developed that 
will further optimize the range of products offered  
by the cooperative banks. Cooperation between the 
individual group companies has also been stepped up. 
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For example, R+V and Union Investment are collabo-
rating on jointly developed pension products and 
services using “VR Vorsorgestatus”, the standard basic 
advisory tool used throughout the network. This results 
in more efficient cooperation within the network and 
the provision of optimum support for customers. 
Regular reports are made to the Group Coordination 
Committee on the current status of segment strategies 
and individual focus initiatives.

Market and business environment trends
The “Outlook” section from page 118 of the manage-
ment report onward describes expected developments 
in the market and business environment together with 
the DZ BANK Group’s business strategy and the 
implications for earnings performance in 2009. These 
are crucial factors in the DZ BANK Group’s strategic 
positioning over the coming year.

MeAsuReMeNt AND ANAlYsis of  
stRAteGiC RisKs
Strategic risk is approximated using an aggregate 
approach in which the total undiversified risk capital 
requirement from market risk, credit risk, and opera-
tional risk is multiplied by a factor based on an empiri-
cal benchmark analysis. In the individual group 
companies, an advanced measurement approach is 
used.

As at December 31, 2008, the economic capital 
requirement for strategic risk in the DZ BANK Group 
amounted to € 1,011 million (December 31, 2007: 
€ 1,184 million). The risk capital requirement did not 
exceed the applicable upper loss limit at any point 
during the course of 2008. As at December 31, 2008, 
the upper loss limit for strategic risk was € 1,032 million 
(December 31, 2007: € 1,340 million).

10. SUMMARY

Efficient management and control tools are used in all 
areas of risk in the DZ BANK Group. These tools are 

subject to gradual further development and refinement. 
The development of these tools is based on the regula-
tory solvency requirements for risk management.

Groupwide risk capital management ensures that risks 
are consistently and comprehensively determined in 
seven clearly defined risk categories. All material group 
companies are directly integrated into the risk capital 
management system. The other companies are recorded 
and managed as part of the management of equity risk. 
The economic capital adequacy analysis is based both 
on the determination of risk-bearing capacity and on the 
calculation of risk capital requirement using a value-at-
risk approach, itself based on the rating of DZ BANK. 
This analysis is then used to calculate the risk-adjusted 
profitability for the group. Economic value added (EVA) 
and return on risk-adjusted capital (RORAC) comple-
ment the figures from the IFRS financial statements 
used in the group management of risk and form an in-
tegral part of the strategic planning process. Overall, 
this approach guarantees the necessary transparency re-
garding risk structure and profitability of the group and 
thereby creates the foundation for management that bal-
ances opportunity and risk in the group.

The DZ BANK group is confident that the capabilities 
of its risk management system are sufficient to  meet the 
challenges resulting from the crisis in the financial mar-
kets.

The DZ BANK group is confident that the capabilities 
of its risk management system are sufficient to  meet the 
challenges resulting from the crisis in the financial mar-
kets. In 2008, both the DZ BANK Group overall and 
the group companies operated within the limits of their 
economic risk-bearing capacity. The relevant regula-
tory solvency requirements were also met at all times by 
the DZ BANK financial conglomerate, the DZ BANK 
banking group and the R+V insurance group. No risks 
to the DZ BANK Group’s continued existence as a go-
ing concern have been identified. It is anticipated that 
the economic and regulatory requirements for capital 
adequacy will also continue to be satisfied in 2009.
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Iv. Outlook
The downward economic trend in Germany will 
gather momentum at the start of 2009. The slump is 
not forecast to bottom out until the end of the sec-
ond quarter of 2009 at the earliest and a stabiliza-
tion cannot therefore be expected until the end of the 
year. Overall, a significant contraction in gross domes-
tic product (GDP) is anticipated for 2009. It is only 
in the course of 2010 that GDP will register a slight 
increase, starting from a lower level. Consumer spend-
ing in Germany will be held in check by further rises 
in unemployment. At the same time, uncertainty will 
continue to influence consumer behavior. Consumers 
will remain skeptical regarding economic growth and 
this will continue to drive the rate of savings to a high 
level in both 2009 and 2010.

Economic growth in 2009 will also be affected by the 
gloomy prospects for exports. Weaker demand in the 
main export markets has also forced companies to scale 
back their capital expenditure plans for 2009. All these 
factors are acting as a brake on domestic demand and 
the situation is compounded by a drop in exports. Fiscal 
stimulus packages will not be able to fully compensate 
for these developments. Tax breaks and government 
investment programs will only be able to trigger an 
initial positive response in consumer demand from  
the middle of the year. However, whether this can be 
sustained will depend on further developments in fi-
nancial markets.

Domestic demand is expected to be boosted by fall-
ing consumer prices. The tough conditions will also be 
eased by the expansionary approach taken by central 
banks to monetary policy and any further reductions 
in key interest rates. As far as German exporters are 
concerned, hope rests on the stabilization of inter-
national economic conditions in the course of 2009, 
combined with calmer waters in international financial 
markets and the gradual positive impact from the nu-
merous national economic stimulus packages.

DZ BANK is assuming that stabilization of financial 
markets will not materialize until the end of 2009. 
Subsequent consolidation on financial and capital 
markets is likely to lead to a change in the market and 

competitive situation in 2010, which may well be 
characterized by more government intervention and 
stiffer regulatory requirements. This will therefore re-
sult in a significant change to the general parameters 
for lending, leading to a modification of corporate 
strategy in the sector as a whole and a reallocation of 
functions and resources.

To cushion the continued high degree of uncertainty 
regarding trends in the financial and non-financial sec-
tors, DZ BANK is forecasting an additional capital 
requirement for 2009 of around € 1 billion. The key 
reason for this is the further increase in capital require-
ments in persistently tough financial market condi-
tions. In an initial stage, DZ BANK will issue Tier 1 
capital of approximately € 500 million. In addition, 
following preliminary discussions, BVR has proposed 
that instruments be made available to reduce the reg-
ulatory capital requirement in DZ BANK, for exam-
ple by providing cover for securities portfolios at arm’s-
length market rates. The results of liquidity risk stress 
tests show that, in the event of a further deterioration 
in the financial markets situation, this will not lead to 
a liquidity squeeze in the DZ BANK Group over the 
coming year.  

The DZ BANK Group expects to see a year-on-year 
increase in operating income in 2009 together with 
further growth in 2010. The objective of the key strat-
egy is to focus the DZ BANK Group on the local co-
operative banks such that the cooperative financial 
services network becomes a leading financial services 
provider in Germany. ‘Verbund First’ remains the guid-
ing principle in the implementation of this strategy. 

Net interest income in 2009 and 2010 will be signifi-
cantly influenced by plans in the private customer 
business, particularly in TeamBank and BSH. A positive 
benefit will be derived in 2009 from the planned ef-
forts to increase market penetration of the easyCredit 
product and the steady financial performance of BSH, 
which will also benefit in subsequent years from the fi-
nancial crisis and from changes in the German Riester 
legislation. As a result of the expansion of the leasing 
business, particularly abroad, and project finance at 
DZ BANK as well as transport finance at DVB, cor-
porate customer business will accelerate the growth in 
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net interest income. As a whole, net interest income 
will stabilize in 2009 and increase only in 2010 in 
line with the expected improvement of the economy. 
Against the backdrop of a possible deterioration of the 
economy in 2009 and 2010 an increase is expected in 
allowances for losses on loans and advancements from 
operating business. In addition, the planned expansion 
of business will also impact on allowances for losses on 
loans and advancements.

Given the current position, there will be a fall in the 
DZ BANK Group’s net fee and commission income 
in 2009. First and foremost, price corrections on in-
ternational capital markets, which will cause the aver-
age volume of assets under management to fall, will 
lead to a further drop in performance fees in 2009. In 
2009 and 2010, it is planned to enhance the benefit 
derived from asset management volume within the 
cooperative financial services network, thereby increas-
ing fee and commission income. At the same time,  
it is estimated that there will be an increase in fee and 
commission payments to the cooperative banks as 
a result of the expansion in new consumer finance 
business and the growth in private banking activities. 
As a consequence, sustained growth in net fee and 
commission income is not forecast until 2010. 

In 2009, the DZ BANK Group is seeking to gener-
ate a positive figure from gains and losses on trading ac-
tivities. Following a slow return to normal on finan-
cial markets in 2009, there will be a positive impact on 
performance, among other things, from the fact that 
there will be no further widening of spreads. Business 
volume will be expanded by a systematic implementa-
tion of growth initiatives at DZ BANK. In 2009 and 
2010, it is anticipated that some impairment losses and 
allowances will be reversed, giving a positive stimulus 
to gains on trading activities. 

As a consequence of strict management of costs, the 
DZ BANK Group’s administrative expenses should 
only rise at the forecast rate of inflation. Given the 
stimulus from increased income, the cost/income ratio 
will therefore see an improvement in 2009, and par-
ticularly in 2010.

Performance in the Bank business segment will con-
tinue to be affected in 2009 by the uncertainty  
on the capital markets. Early corrective action and a 
simultaneous consolidation of operating business at 
DZ BANK in its Corporate and Investment Banking 
segment will have a positive impact on segment per-
formance in 2009, and particularly in 2010. Net op-
erating interest income is forecast to rise with the ex-
pansion of the joint loans extended by DZ BANK and 
the cooperative banks and with the consolidation of 
the group’s market position in high-end SME busi-
ness. VR LEASING will generate more of its net inter-
est income from business referred via the cooperative 
financial services network. A further rise in income is 
forecast to be derived from growth, particularly in ac-
quisition and trade finance and in DVB's transport 
finance. An increase in allowances for losses on loans 
and advances is also forecast against the background  
of subdued economic growth. The growth-oriented 
strategies are accompanied by strict cost management. 
The cost/income ratio is expected to reduce in 2009 
and 2010 on a permanent basis. However, the outlook 
could become gloomier if the downturn in the German 
and global economy persists for a long time.

In addition, over the next few years the Bank business 
segment will be subject to increased government in-
tervention and regulation, which could also result in 
some distortion of competition. Existing uncertainty 
in financial markets may also continue to have an ad-
verse impact on investment banking earnings.

The Retail business segment will be negatively im-
pacted in 2009 by investor uncertainty caused by the 
financial markets crisis. This is expected to have an ad-
verse effect, particularly on net fee and commission in-
come, and this deficit cannot be fully compensated by 
other activities. It is only in 2010 that growth oppor-
tunities are likely to re-emerge, specifically as a result of 
the strategic repositioning of Union Investment from a 
product supplier to the retail solutions provider in the 
cooperative financial services network. In private bank-
ing, the DZ BANK Group has established itself with 
DZ Private Wealth Management as both an expert as-
set manager and a local asset manager for customers of 
the local cooperative banks. Deep investor skepticism 
regarding any investments beyond traditional safe in-

119119DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
GRoup MANAGeMeNt RepoRt
outlooK



vestments means that any growth before 2010 will 
only be possible with a great deal of effort. With a 
clear focus and modified sales structures at Team-
Bank, the Retail business segment will be striving for 
improved market penetration via the partner banks. 
Despite the stagnation in market volume in domes-
tic consumer finance, it will therefore be possible to 
achieve an additional increase in interest income, even 
in 2009, on the back of the easyCredit product. Given 
weak economic growth, the segment is also predicting 
an increase in allowances for losses on loans and ad-
vances.

Risks arise from the increased intensity of competi-
tion, accompanied by corresponding pressure on mar-
gins. In Asset Management, a reduction in the value of 
assets under management represents an additional risk, 
because this may impact on the associated perform-
ance fees and on the expected net inflows.

In the Real Estate Finance business segment, the 
strategic realignment will result in the generation of 
profits from this segment in 2009. From 2010, it is 
anticipated that there will be sustained positive seg-
ment earnings based on steady growth in operating 
income. The DZ BANK Group is on schedule with 
the restructuring process. The positive attitude of 
people in Germany toward home savings remains 
unshaken. BSH will therefore be able to stabilize and 
consolidate its current market share of 30 percent. 
Against the backdrop of various new pieces of legisla-
tion in this area, there will be new upswing in the mar-
ket for home savings and home finance in 2009 with 
the stimulus from the underlying positive sentiment 
expected to become a long-term feature by 2010. 
As a consequence of the strategic realignment of DG 
HYP with a focus on commercial real estate, a rise in 
new business volume is also expected in this area from 
2010 based on organic consolidation of DG HYP’s 
position in the German market. The rapidity of the 
restructuring process means that costs will be reduced 
earlier than planned and that cost structures will be 
improved following the transfer of the consumer home 
finance business. Assuming there is no change to the 
prudent risk policy, there will be a further slight in-

crease in the absolute requirement for loan loss allow-
ances as a result of increased volume in commercial real 
estate finance in 2010. 

The persistently high level of competition in the home 
finance market may impact adversely on earnings 
growth in the real estate business. Furthermore, the 
results from action initiated as part of the strategic 
realignment may fall short of expectations. The general 
parameters and contractual components involved in 
home savings are subject to review both by the courts 
and outside the courts. BSH is providing concrete 
support in these changes and, as far as possible, is 
 taking an active role in further development. From the 
current perspective, BSH does not consider the risks 
from current litigation to be material to its financial 
position or financial performance.

Given the tough conditions in the market and busi-
ness environment in the insurance industry, the Insur-
ance business segment is working on the assumption 
of a stagnant market in 2009 and 2010. However, the 
R+V group is intending to maintain its strong com-
petitive position. Its overarching objective is to create 
added value for the cooperative financial services net-
work from income-oriented growth. The establishment 
of the R+V group as the preferred partner for pen-
sion and insurance products in the network is intended 
to put the group on the path to this income-oriented 
growth. R+V aims to open up areas of growth with an 
attractive and innovative range of products, particu-
larly in the area of pensions, and with security and 
guarantee products that only a life insurer can offer.  
In 2009, R+V is striving for growth in premiums  
above the market level. In contrast, R+V expects to  
see a further improvement in gains on investments in 
2010 against the background of an economic upturn. 
Given the objective of holding any change in admin-
istrative expenses (excluding acquisition costs) in line 
with the growth in premiums, the administrative 
expenses ratio is expected to be maintained and even 
slightly improved in 2010. The new Insurance Con-
tracts Act and healthcare reform in Germany, together 
with unusual events on the capital markets, may im-
pact on the earnings targets.
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Despite generally tough economic conditions, the Board 
of Managing Directors predicts that the DZ BANK 
Group will benefit from its strategic positioning such 
that the opportunities presented to the group will 
outweigh the risks described in the risk report. In 
2009, the Board of Managing Directors forecasts a  
net profit that will significantly exceed the € 1 billion 
threshold and that, in 2010, will gain momentum 
from the stimulus to the growth in income.

The year under review was characterized by unprec-
edented systemic turmoil. The DZ BANK Group’s 
business model has proved itself to be robust, particu-
larly in these turbulent times, and will in future be even 
more closely aligned with the cooperative financial 
services network. ‘Verbund First’ means a clear focus  
in the DZ BANK Group on the needs of the local 
cooperative banks and their customers. Against the 
background of persistently challenging market con-
ditions, this business model will be reinforced by the 
planned merger with WGZ BANK. In the merger dis-
cussions, DZ BANK and WGZ BANK have agreed a 

tight schedule with the signing of the merger agreement 
planned for April 2009. Preparations in both banks in 
2009 are running to plan with broad support in all ar-
eas of business. 

Joint activities are to be undertaken to highlight growth 
areas that can be exploited in the new structure from 
the second half of 2009 and in 2010. The merging 
of banking activities, in particular, is intended to al-
low the new business to realize growth synergies in 
the various markets. The cornerstones of the range of 
products and services and the key areas of focus in the 
unified central institution will be the local cooperative 
banks as customers and owners, SME customer relation-
ships, transaction banking, and network-related capital 
markets business. At the same time, cost synergies will 
be identified, allowing the business to quantify poten-
tial cost savings that can then be implemented in the 
unified central institution. DZ BANK forecasts that 
the realization of growth and cost synergies will be 
reflected in a positive impact on net profit from 2010 
onward.
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Income statement  
for the period January 1 to December 31, 2008

€ million
(Note) 2008 2007 change  

(%)

      Interest income and current income 12,161 10,973 10.8

      Interest expense -9,261 -8,270 12.0

Net interest income (28) 2,900 2,703 7.3

      Impairment losses on loans and advances (29) -545 -209 > 100.0

Net interest income after impairment losses on loans and advances 2,355 2,494 -5.6

      Fee and commission income 2,358 2,458 -4.1

      Fee and commission expenses -1,496 -1,496 –

Net fee and commission income (30) 862 962 -10.4

Gains and losses on trading activities (31) -1,167 -247 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments (32) -640 -103 > 100.0

Other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments (33) -659 -35 > 100.0

Premiums earned (34) 9,388 8,926 5.2

Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies  
and other insurance company gains and losses (35) 655 2,253 -70.9

Insurance benefit payments (36) -8,346 -9,271 -10.0

Insurance business operating expenses (37) -1,556 -1,438 8.2

Administrative expenses (38) -2,487 -2,585 -3.8

Gains and losses on non-current assets classified  
as held for sale and disposal groups 2 – –

Other net operating income  (39) 121 112 8.0

Profit/loss before taxes -1,472 1,068 > 100.0

Income taxes (40) 417 -171 > 100.0

net profit/loss -1,055 897 > 100.0

Attributable to:

      Shareholders of DZ BANK -1,210 531 >100.0

      Minority interest 155 366 -57.7

AppropriAtion oF proFits

€ million
2008 2007 change 

(%)

Net profit/loss -1,055 897 > 100.0

Minority interest -155 -366 -57.7

Transfer from retained earnings 1,268 – –

Appropriation to retained earnings – -380 –

unappropriated earnings 58 151 -61.6
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balance sheet as at December 31, 2008
Assets

equity And liABilities

€ million

(Note) dec. 31, 2008 dec. 31, 2007 change  
(%)

Cash and cash equivalents (12, 42) 2,187 1,442 51.7

Loans and advances to banks (13, 43) 70,036 67,531 3.7

Loans and advances to customers (13, 44) 117,021 106,307 10.1

Allowances for losses on loans and advances (14, 45) -2,130 -1,822 16.9

Derivatives used for hedging (positive fair values) (15, 46) 694 557 24.6

Financial assets held for trading (16, 47) 114,443 130,025 -12.0

Investments (17, 48) 66,322 72,957 -9.1

Investments held by insurance companies (49, 53) 49,040 47,376 3.5

Property, plant and equipment, investment property (18, 50, 53) 1,974 1,712 15.3

Income tax assets (19, 51) 2,922 2,029 44.0

Other assets (20, 52, 53) 4,350 3,051 42.6

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups (21, 54) 70 172 -59.3

Fair value changes of the hedged items  
in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk 161 – –

total assets 427,090 431,337 -1.0

€ million

(Note) dec. 31, 2008 dec. 31, 2007 change  
(%)

Deposits from banks (22, 55) 59,632 57,935 2.9

Amounts owed to other depositors (22, 56) 77,516 77,595 -0.1

Debt certificates including bonds (23, 57) 65,525 62,996 4.0

Derivatives used for hedging (negative fair values) (15, 58) 992 622 59.5

Financial liabilities held for trading (16, 59) 152,729 163,196 -6.4

Provisions (24, 60) 1,474 1,717 -14.2

Insurance liabilities (10, 61) 48,205 45,324 6.4

Income tax liabilities (19, 51) 1,195 1,088 9.8

Other liabilities (25, 62) 5,963 5,221 14.2

Subordinated capital (26, 63) 5,308 4,814 10.3

Liabilities included in disposal groups (21, 54) 13 16 -18.8

Fair value changes of the hedged items  
in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk -145 -190 -23.7

Equity (64) 8,683 11,003 -21.1

     Subscribed capital 3,028 3,028 –

     Capital reserves 843 843 –

     Retained earnings 2,222 3,332 -33.3

     Revaluation reserve -926 156 > 100.0

     Cash flow hedge reserve -32 8 > 100.0

     Currency translation reserve -3 1 > 100.0

     Minority interest 3,493 3,484 0.3

     Unappropriated earnings 58 151 -61.6

total equity and liabilities 427,090 431,337 -1.0
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Statement of recognized income and expense  
as well as explanatory notes on changes in equity

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Available-for-sale financial assets -1,596 -799 99.7

Measurement gains and losses taken to equity -2,499 -776 > 100.0

Transfer to profit/loss on sale -210 -208 1.0

Transfer to profit/loss on impairment 1,113 185 > 100.0

cash flow hedges -55 6 > 100.0

Gains and losses taken to equity -54 8 > 100.0

Transfer to profit/loss -1 -2 -50.0

exchange differences on currency translation of foreign operations 6 1 > 100.0

Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans 270 18 > 100.0

income and expenses recognized directly in equity from  
joint ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method -25 1 > 100.0

other expenses recognized directly in equity – -5 –

deferred taxes on income and expenses recognized directly in equity 221 235 -6.0

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity -1,179 -543 > 100.0

net profit/loss -1,055 897 > 100.0

total net profit/loss and income  
and expenses recognized directly in equity -2,234 354 > 100.0

Attributable to:

      Shareholders of DZ BANK -2,184 11 > 100.0

      Minority interest -50 343 > 100.0

stAtement oF recoGnized income And expense
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€ million

Sub-
scribed
capital

Capital 
reserves

Equity 
earned by 
the group

Revalu-
ation 

reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Currency 
trans-
lation 

reserve

equity 
before 

minority 
interest

Minority 
interest

total 
equity

Equity as at Jan. 1, 2007 3,028 843 3,103 693 3 -1 7,669 3,171 10,840

Income and expenses 
recognized directly in equity – – 10 -537 5 2 -520 -23 -543

Net profit/loss – – 531 – – – 531 366 897

total net profit/loss and 
income and expenses 
recognized directly in equity – – 541 -537 5 2 11 343 354

Capital increase – – – – – – – 76 76

Changes in the scope  
of consolidation – – -10 – – – -10 37 27

Dividends paid – – -151 – – – -151 -143 -294

Equity as at Dec. 31, 2007 3,028 843 3,483 156 8 1 7,519 3,484 11,003

Income and expenses 
recognized directly in equity – – 152 -1,082 -40 -4 -974 -205 -1,179

Net profit/loss – – -1,210 – – – -1,210 155 -1,055

total net profit/loss  
and income and expenses 
recognized directly in equity – – -1,058 -1,082 -40 -4 -2,184 -50 -2,234

Capital increase – – – – – – – 267 267

Changes in the scope  
of consolidation – – 6 – – – 6 -19 -13

Dividends paid – – -151 – – – -151 -189 -340

equity as at dec. 31, 2008 3,028 843 2,280 -926 -32 -3 5,190 3,493 8,683

explAnAtory notes on chAnGes in equity
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Cash flow statement

€ million 2008 2007

net profit/loss -1,055 897

non-cash items included in net profit/loss and reconciliation to
cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses, and reversal of impairment losses on assets,  
and measurement changes on financial assets and liabilities 3,542 1,454

Non-cash changes in provisions -31 262

Changes in insurance liabilities 3,222 2,879

Other non-cash income and expenses -120 -105

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets and liabilities 1,629 -140

Other adjustments (net) -3,286 -3,332

Subtotal 3,901 1,915

cash changes in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities

Loans and advances to banks (net) -2,355 -5,112

Loans and advances to customers (net) -10,026 -6,506

Other assets from operating activities 2 25

Derivatives used for hedging (positive and negative fair values) -306 -340

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading 2,182 16,299

Deposits from banks 1,088 515

Amounts owed to other depositors -1,052 5,331

Debt certificates including bonds 2,197 -12,608

Other liabilities from operating activities -3,214 -568

Interest and dividends received 9,592 12,958

Interest paid -5,883 -9,256

Income taxes paid -142 -177

cash flows from operating activities -4,016 2,476

Proceeds from the sale of investments 18,048 19,434

Proceeds from the sale of investments held by insurance companies 15,630 16,827

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, and investment property 827 275

Payments for the acquisition of investments -11,151 -17,695

Payments for the acquisition of investments held by insurance companies -17,229 -19,727

Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, and investment property -989 -687

Changes in the scope of consolidation -264 -21

of which: Proceeds from the sale of consolidated subsidiaries net of cash divested 3 1

Payments for the acquisition of consolidated subsidiaries net of cash acquired -267 -22

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from other investing activities -153 -84

cash flows from investing activities 4,719 -1,678

128 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CASH FLOw STATEMENT



The consolidated cash flow statement shows the changes in the DZ BANK Group’s cash and cash equivalents 
during the fiscal year. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with central banks and 
other government institutions. The cash and cash equivalents do not include any financial investments with a 
 maturity of more than three months at the time of acquisition. Changes in cash and cash equivalents are allocated 
to operating, investing or financing activities.

Cash flows from operating activities comprise cash flows arising in connection with the principal revenue-generating 
activities of the group and other activities that cannot be classified as investing or financing activities. Cash flows 
related to the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets are allocated to investing activities. Cash flows from 
financing activities include cash flows arising from transactions with equity holders and from other  borrowing to 
finance business activities (e.g. profit-sharing rights and subordinated liabilities).

Business combinations generated an inflow of cash and cash equivalents amounting to €14 million (2007: €21 mil-
lion). As in 2007, there were no outflows of cash or cash equivalents in connection with the deconsolidation of 
subsidiaries.

€ million 2008 2007

Proceeds from capital increases 267 76

Dividends paid to shareholders of DZ BANK and minority interest -340 -294

Other payments to shareholders of DZ BANK and minority interest – -8

Net change in cash and cash equivalents from other financing activities (including subordinated capital) 115 -515

cash flows from financing activities 42 -741

€ million 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 1,442 1,385

Cash flows from operating activities -4,016 2,476

Cash flows from investing activities 4,719 -1,678

Cash flows from financing activities 42 -741

cash and cash equivalents as at december 31 2,187 1,442
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A  general disclosures
Pursuant to Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
July 19, 2002, the consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-
Genossenschaftsbank (DZ BANK), Frankfurt am Main, have been prepared in  accordance 
with the provisions of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by 
the European Union (EU).

The provisions specified in section 315a (1) German Commercial Code (HGB) for compa-
nies whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EU have also been 
applied in the consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK. In addition, further stand-
ards adopted by the German Accounting Standards Board (GASB) have generally been taken 
into account where such standards have been published in the German Federal Gazette by the 
Federal Ministry of Justice pursuant to section 342 (2) HGB.

The DZ BANK Group’s fiscal year is the same as the calendar year. The consolidated sub-
sidiaries have generally prepared their financial statements on the basis of a fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2008. Three companies (2007: two companies) included in the consolidated 
 financial statements have different reporting dates for their annual financial statements. These 
reporting dates are within three months of the balance sheet date for the consolidated finan-
cial statements and there is no resulting material impact. No interim financial statements have 
therefore been prepared.

In the interest of clarity, some items on the face of the balance sheet and the income  
statement have been aggregated and are explained by additional disclosures in the notes.  
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts are shown in millions of euros (€ million). All figures 
are rounded to the nearest whole number. This may result in very small discrepancies in the 
calculation of totals and percentages in the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of DZ BANK have been released for publication by the 
Board of Managing Directors following approval by the Supervisory Board on April 1, 2009.

NOTES

ACCOuNTINg pOLICIES

The financial statements of the companies consolidated in the DZ BANK Group have been 
prepared using uniform accounting policies.

The provisions of the revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs were applied from January 1, 2008 in 
advance of the mandatory application date in accordance with the transition provisions. The 
requirement specified by this revised standard for the capitalization of borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets was implemented 
prospectively from this date. Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets acquired, 
constru cted or produced in earlier years were recognized as an expense in the year incurred  
in accordance with the benchmark method specified in the previous version of the standard. 

» 02
AccountinG policies 
And estimAtes

» 01
BAsis oF 
 prepArAtion
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The amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Reclassification of Financial Assets published during 
the course of the year under review have been taken into account. In addition, IFRS 8 
Operating Segments had already been applied in the prior reporting period in advance of  
the mandatory application date.

The DZ BANK Group has not voluntarily applied in advance any other new or revised  
accounting standards or interpretations adopted by the EU where the transition provisions 
specify application for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The standards and 
interpretations concerned are as follows: IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements; amend-
ments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity 
or Associate; amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations; amendments to 
IAS 32 and IAS 1 – Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation; Im-
provements to IFRSs (2008); IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; and, IFRIC 14 IAS 19 
– The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction. 
The application of the new version of IAS 1 will affect the presentation and content of indi-
vidual elements of the financial statements, but does not result in any changes to the recogni-
tion and measurement of assets and liabilities. There is therefore no impact on the presenta-
tion of the net assets, financial position and results of operations. The first-time application of 
the remaining revised standards and new interpretations is not expected to have any material 
impact on the financial statements.

There are also other new and revised accounting standards that have been published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board but that have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 
These are as follows: IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, amend-
ment to IAS 39 – Eligible Hedged Items, IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements, IFRIC 15 
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation, IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners, and IFRIC 18 Transfers of  
Assets from Customers. The revised version of IFRS 3 provides for an option in respect of the 
measurement of the minority interest in business combinations. The minority interest can be 
recognized in accordance with the version of IFRS 3 currently applicable in the EU using the 
minority interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets or at fair value. 
The optional measurement at fair value results in the recognition of goodwill attributable to 
the minority interest and may therefore lead to a higher level of goodwill in future business 
acquisitions. Under the revised version of IAS 27, the partial sale of shares or the purchase 
of additional shares in a consolidated subsidiary by the parent must be recognized directly 
in  equity as a transaction between equity holders. The application of the revised version of 
IAS 27 no longer permits the recognition of gains or losses on the partial sale of shares in  
consolidated subsidiaries or the recognition of goodwill on the purchase of additional shares. 
The first-time application of the remaining revised standards and new interpretations are not 
expected to have any material impact on the financial statements.

ESTIMATES

It is necessary to make assumptions and estimates in accordance with the relevant financial  
reporting standards in order to determine the assets, liabilities, income, and expenses reported 
in the consolidated financial statements. These assumptions and estimates are based on  
historical experience, planning, and expectations or forecasts regarding future events deemed 
likely to materialize from the current perspective.
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Assumptions and estimates are used primarily in determining the fair value of financial assets 
and financial liabilities and in identifying any impairment of financial assets. In addition, the 
identification of goodwill impairment, the measurement of provisions for pensions and other 
post-employment benefits, the measurement of other provisions as well as the calculation of 
tax assets and liabilities and the resulting tax expense are all subject to significant estimates.

In addition to DZ BANK AG as the parent, the consolidated financial statements as at  
December 31, 2008 include a further 28 subsidiaries (2007: 28) and 4 subgroups (2007: 5) 
comprising a total of 918 subsidiaries (2007: 893). A subsidiary is included in the consolida-
tion from the date on which DZ BANK acquires control over the subsidiary concerned. A 
 parent company generally acquires control by directly or indirectly holding a majority of the 
voting power in the subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements also include special-pur-
pose entities in which DZ BANK does not hold a majority of the voting power, either directly 
or indirectly. These companies are consolidated because the substance of the relationship indi-
cates that DZ BANK exercises control.

During the year under review, there were changes to the subsidiaries directly included in 
DZ BANK’s consolidated financial statements as a result of the merger between VR-Immo-
bilien GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, and DZ PB-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am 
Main. The number of consolidated companies also increased in the R+V Versicherung sub-
group, specifically as a result of the acquisition of shares in the companies of the Condor Insur-
ance Group (see note 82). In addition, there were other changes to the scope of the consolida-
tion at subgroup level.

The consolidated financial statements include 4 joint ventures with at least one other company 
outside the group (2007: 3) and 5 associates (2007: 6) over which the DZ BANK Group has 
significant influence. These companies are consolidated using the equity method. 

The complete list of shareholdings required by section 315a HGB in conjunction with sec-
tions 313 (2) and 313 (4) HGB may be consulted on the website of the electronic German 
Federal Gazette and on DZ BANK’s website at www.reports.dzbank.com.

» 03
scope oF  
consolidAtion

As specified by IAS 27 in conjunction with IFRS 3, business combinations are accounted   
using the purchase method by offsetting the acquisition cost of a subsidiary against the 
group’s share of the acquiree’s equity remeasured at fair value on the acquisition date. Any 
positive difference between these two amounts is recognized as goodwill under other assets 
and subject to an annual impairment test. Any negative goodwill is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss. Any share of an acquiree’s equity not attributable to the parent company is 
reported under equity as minority interest.

» 04
procedures oF  
consolidAtion

132 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES



Financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39 are designated upon initial recognition to 
one of the categories defined in IAS 39 on the basis of their characteristics and intended use.

CATEgOrIES OF FINANCIAL INSTruMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR vALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial instruments in this category are recognized at fair value through profit or loss. This 
category is broken down into two subcategories, as shown below.

Financial instruments held for trading
The “financial instruments held for trading” subcategory covers financial assets and financial 
liabilities that are acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the 
near term, that are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed to-
gether and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, 
or that are derivatives, except for derivatives that are designated and effective hedging instru-
ments.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss
All financial assets and financial liabilities may be designated to the “financial instruments 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss” subcategory by exercising the fair value op-
tion, provided that the application of this option eliminates or significantly reduces a meas-
urement or recognition inconsistency (accounting mismatch), the financial assets and liabili-
ties are managed as a portfolio on a fair value basis or they include one or more embedded 
derivatives required to be separated from the host contract. The DZ BANK Group uses this 
category on the basis of all the specified application criteria.

» 05
FinAnciAl  
instruments

Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method and  
reported under investments. With two exceptions, the separate financial statements of the 
companies accounted for using the equity method are prepared to the same balance sheet date 
as that of the parent company.

Intragroup assets and liabilities, as well as intragroup income and expenses, are eliminated in 
full. Intragroup profits or losses resulting from transactions within the group are also eliminated 
in full.
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HELD-TO-MATURITy INvESTMENTS
The “held-to-maturity investments” category consists of non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an entity has the positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity. These investments are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, including the allocation of premiums and discounts over the  
expected life of the instrument. The DZ BANK Group does not use the “held-to-maturity  
investments” category.

LOANS AND RECEIvABLES
“Loans and receivables” are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market or classified as “available-for-sale financial 
assets”. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, including the allocation of premiums and discounts over the expected life of the  
instrument.

AvAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
“Available-for-sale financial assets” are all financial assets that cannot be classified in any other 
category. They are measured at fair value. Gains and losses in fair value between two balance 
sheet dates are recognized directly in equity in the revaluation reserve until the financial assets 
are derecognized. Equity instruments in this category are measured at cost if a fair value  
cannot be reliably determined.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST
These financial liabilities comprise all financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital repayable on demand is also assigned to the category “financial liabilities meas-
ured at amortized cost” and exists for minority interest in partnerships. In accordance with 
IAS 32, shares in partnerships are normally classified as financial liabilities. Given its subordi-
nated status compared with the liabilities of the partnerships concerned, minority interest in 
this case is reported as subordinated capital. Non-subordinated minority interest in profit is 
generally recognized under other liabilities. 

OThEr FINANCIAL INSTruMENTS

LIABILITIES UNDER FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
Liabilities under financial guarantee contracts measured in accordance with IAS 39 must be 
recognized as a liability at fair value by the issuer of the guarantee at the time of issue. The fair 
value is normally equivalent to the present value of the consideration received for issuing the 
financial guarantee contract. In any subsequent remeasurement, the obligation must be meas-
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ured at the higher of a provision recognized in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount ini-
tially recognized less any cumulative amortization. To present financial guarantee contracts, the 
guarantee commission receivables due from the beneficiary to the DZ BANK Group as the is-
suer of the guarantee are offset against guarantee obligations (net method).

LIABILITIES UNDER SETTLEMENT PAyMENT OBLIGATIONS
Liabilities to the minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries arise in connection with  
settlement payment obligations if DZ BANK or another company controlled by DZ BANK 
has entered into a profit transfer agreement under section 291 (1) German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG). These liabilities are recognized at the discounted amount of the obligation on the 
balance sheet date. 

RECEIvABLES AND PAyABLES UNDER FINANCE LEASES
Receivables and payables under finance leases are within the scope of IAS 17 and are ex-
plained in note 11.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SPECIFIC TO INSURANCE BUSINESS
In addition to financial instruments within the scope of IAS 39, financial assets and financial  
liabilities are held in connection with insurance business. In compliance with IFRS 4.25(c), 
these assets and liabilities are recognized and measured in accordance with the provisions of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and other German accounting standards applicable to  
insurance companies. 

Deposits with ceding insurers, deposits received from reinsurers, receivables and payables  
arising out of direct insurance operations, and receivables and payables arising out of reinsur-
ance operations are recognized at their nominal amounts. Appropriate impairments are recog-
nized in the carrying amount to account for doubtful receivables arising out of reinsurance  
operations. Any necessary impairments are also recognized in the carrying amount in the case 
of receivables arising out of direct insurance operations. Investments related to unit-linked 
contracts are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Deposits received from reinsurers, receivables and payables arising out of direct insurance  
operations, and receivables and payables arising out of reinsurance operations are recognized 
under other assets or other liabilities. Deposits with ceding insurers as well as investments re-
lated to unit-linked contracts are recognized on the balance sheet under investments held by in-
surance companies.
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INITIAL rECOgNITION AND DErECOgNITION OF FINANCIAL  
ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized on the trade date. Regular way pur-
chases and sales of non-derivative financial assets are recognized and derecognized using 
 settlement date accounting. Changes in fair value between the trade date and settlement 
date are recognized in accordance with the category of the financial instrument.

All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In the case of  
financial assets or financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, initial 
recognition includes transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset or  
issue of the liability concerned.

Differences between transaction prices and fair values determined using measurement models 
for the most part based on observable market data are recognized in profit or loss on initial  
recognition. This means there are no remaining differences to be recognized in future fiscal 
years.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are derecognized if there are no further rights to future 
cash flows or these rights have been transferred to third parties and substantially no risks or 
rewards of ownership of the financial assets or financial liabilities remain. If the derecognition 
criteria for financial instruments are not satisfied, the sale or transfer of financial instruments 
to third parties must be recognized as a secured loan to the extent of the remaining risks 
(continuing involvements).

IMpAIrMENT LOSSES AND rEvErSALS  
OF IMpAIrMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets must be assessed at each balance sheet date to establish whether there is any  
objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss for financial instruments in the category 
“loans and receivables” must be determined as the difference between the carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. Estimated future cash flows include  
payments of interest, repayments of principal, and cash flows from the realization of  
collateral. Specific allowances in the amount of the determined impairment loss requirement 
are recognized for individual financial assets. Changes in the present value of estimated future 
cash flows between two balance sheet dates (unwinding) are recognized as interest income as 
required by IAS 39.

In addition, financial assets with similar features for which impairment losses are not recognized 
on an individual basis are grouped into portfolios and assessed collectively for possible impair-
ment. Impairment losses are calculated on the basis of historical default rates for comparable 
portfolios. If any impairment is identified, the portfolio loan loss allowances are recognized.
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Uncollectible loans and advances for which no specific impairment losses have been recognized 
are impaired directly. Any receipts in respect of impaired loans and advances are recognized in 
the income statement. If a default materializes in respect of a  financial asset for which a loan 
loss allowance has already been recognized, any existing associated loan loss allowance is derec-
ognized against the financial asset and reported as a utilization.

If there is a negative revaluation reserve as at the balance sheet date for individual available- 
for-sale financial assets, an impairment test is carried out to establish whether there is any  
objective evidence that the assets concerned are impaired. In this case, the cumulative negative 
revaluation reserve must be derecognized and a corresponding amount recognized in profit  
or loss.

If an impairment test shows that an impairment loss previously recognized in profit or loss  
for assets measured at amortized cost in the “loans and receivables” category no longer exists, 
the impairment loss must be reversed. The reversal must not result in a carrying amount for 
the asset greater than the amortized cost for the asset that would have been reported if the  
impairment loss had not been recognized. Similarly, in the case of debt instruments in the  
category “available-for-sale financial assets”, any impairment loss must be reversed through 
profit or loss if the reasons for the impairment loss no longer apply. The reversal of impairment 
losses in respect of equity instruments measured at fair value in the “available-for-sale financial 
assets” category is not permitted. Any subsequent increase in fair value is recognized in equity 
under the revaluation reserve. In addition, impairment losses may not be reversed for equity 
instruments measured at cost.

EMbEDDED DErIvATIvES

Embedded derivatives that are combined with a non-derivative financial instrument (host 
contract) in a hybrid (combined) instrument must be separated from the host contract and 
accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative and the hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. If these conditions are not met, the embedded derivative may not be separated from 
the host contract. If an embedded derivative has to be separated, the individual components 
of the hybrid instrument are recognized and measured in accordance with the rules for the 
original financial instruments. Non-derivative financial instruments with embedded deriva-
tives are predominantly classified under “financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss”. As a result, there is no requirement to separate and individually measure the embedded 
derivatives in these instruments.

CLASSES OF FINANCIAL INSTruMENTS

The classes to be defined for the purpose of the disclosures on financial instruments  
correspond to the line items presented in the balance sheet.
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gENErAL INFOrMATION ON hEDgE ACCOuNTINg

As an integral part of its risk management strategy, the DZ BANK Group hedges against inter-
est-rate and currency risks by entering into contracts for various kinds of derivative financial in-
struments. IAS 39 includes special accounting provisions for recognizing these hedges in finan-
cial statements to reflect their economic significance. These provisions are intended to eliminate 
or reduce inconsistencies in recognition and measurement between the hedged items and the 
hedging instruments.

hEDgED ITEMS

Loans and advances to banks and customers, investments, deposits from banks and amounts 
owed to other depositors, debt certificates including bonds, subordinated capital, and cur-
rency risks on financial assets and financial liabilities are designated as hedged items in fair 
value hedges of exposures to interest-rate risks. Interest payments subject to floating rates of 
interest are hedged against interest-rate risk and expected receipts from interest payments in 
foreign currency are also hedged against currency risks.

DESIgNATED hEDgINg INSTruMENTS

The following are designated as the main hedging instruments for fair value hedges on inter-
est-bearing assets and liabilities: interest-rate swaps, swaptions, interest-rate floors, interest-
rate caps, interest-rate collars, and cross-currency swaps. Interest-rate swaps and forward forex 
transactions are used to hedge interest-rate risks and currency risks on interest payments in 
foreign currency.

FAIr vALuE hEDgES

A fair value hedge is intended to ensure that changes in the fair value of the hedged item are 
offset by changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument. Changes in the fair value of the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument – insofar as they relate to the hedged risk – are recog-
nized in profit or loss. Risks may be hedged by designating hedges either on an individual or on 
a portfolio basis.

Hedged items under “loans and receivables” are measured at amortized cost in accordance 
with the general measurement principles for this category, that are adjusted for the change in 
fair value attributable to the hedged risk. Hedged items under “available-for-sale financial  
assets” are also measured at fair value, although only changes in fair value not attributable to 
the hedged changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity in the revaluation reserve.  
Interest income or expense arising from the hedged items or the hedging instruments is  
recognized under net interest income.

» 06
hedGe AccountinG
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If the fair value is hedged against interest-rate risks on a portfolio basis, the cumulative 
changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk are reported on the face of the balance 
sheet under fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk,  
either under assets or liabilities depending on whether the portfolio comprises financial assets 
or financial liabilities.

In fully effective hedges, the changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss over the  
maturity of the hedge balance each other out exactly. Any changes in fair value recognized in 
the carrying amount of the hedged items must be amortized through profit or loss at the  
latest after the termination of the hedging relationship.

CASh FLOw hEDgES

The purpose of cash flow hedges is to ensure that changes in uncertain future cash flows 
from hedged items are offset by changes in cash flows from hedging instruments.

Hedging instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value attributable to the  
effective portion of the hedge must be recognized directly in equity under the cash flow hedge 
reserve. Changes in fair value attributable to the ineffective portion of the hedge must be rec-
ognized in profit or loss under gains and losses arising on hedging transactions. Hedged items 
are recognized and measured in accordance with the general principles for the relevant meas-
urement category. At the maturity of a hedging relationship, any changes in fair value recog-
nized directly in equity must be reclassified to profit or loss on the date on which the previ-
ously hedged items are also recognized in profit or loss. 

hEDgES OF A NET INvESTMENT IN A FOrEIgN OpErATION

Hedging relationships for a net investment in a foreign operation are generally designated if 
these net investments are held in foreign currency and economically hedged by liabilities or 
derivatives denominated in foreign currency. A hedge of a net investment in a foreign opera-
tion is accounted for similarily to a cash flow hedge. Currently, there are no designated hedges 
of net investments in foreign operations in the DZ BANK Group.

ASSESSMENT OF hEDgE EFFECTIvENESS

The prerequisite for the designation of a hedging relationship under IAS 39 is that the hedge 
must be highly effective on both a prospective and retrospective basis. Highly effective in 
this case means that the changes in fair value or expected cash flows for the hedged items 
must be offset by the changes in fair value or expected cash flows for the hedging instruments 
within a range of 80 percent to 125 percent specified by IAS 39. Hedge effectiveness must be 
tested and documented at every balance sheet date. If this test identifies that a hedge has not 
achieved the required effectiveness, the hedge must be reversed retrospectively to the balance 
sheet date of the last test in which the hedge was found to be effective.
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Sale and repurchase agreements (repos) are transactions in which the parties simultaneously 
agree the sale and subsequent repurchase of securities at a fixed price and time. The risks and 
rewards of ownership of the sold securities therefore remain with the original seller, provided 
that the buyer is under an obligation to sell back the securities.

If the DZ BANK Group enters into repos as the original seller, the sold securities continue  
to be recognized on the consolidated balance sheet because the derecognition criteria in 
IAS 39 are not satisfied. A liability is recognized for the price received. If the group enters into 
reverse repos as a buyer, the purchased securities must therefore not be recognized on the  
consolidated balance sheet. The amount paid for the securities is recognized as a receivable. 
The DZ BANK Group only enters into genuine repo agreements, i.e. agreements in which 
the buyer is under an obligation to sell back the securities.

The DZ BANK Group also enters into transfers in connection with the securitization of  
finance lease receivables. These transfers do not meet the derecognition criteria specified by 
IAS 39. The entire amount of the receivables continues to be recognized and a financial  
liability is recognized equivalent to the consideration received for the transfers.

» 08
sAle And  
repurchAse  
AGreements And 
continuinG  
involvements

All monetary assets and liabilities, together with unsettled spot transactions, are translated  
at the closing rate (spot rate on the balance sheet date) into the relevant functional currency  
of the companies in the DZ BANK Group. Cash in foreign currency is translated using the 
buying rate for cash on the balance sheet date. The translation of non-monetary assets and 
liabilities depends on the way in which these assets and liabilities are measured. If non- 
monetary assets are measured at amortized cost, they are translated using the historical ex-
change rate. Non-monetary assets measured at fair value are translated at the closing rate. In-
come and expenses are generally translated using the spot rate on the date they are recognized  
in the income statement.

If the functional currency of subsidiaries consolidated in the DZ BANK Group is different 
from the group’s reporting currency Euro, all assets and liabilities are translated at the closing 
rate and equity is translated at the historical exchange rate. Income and expenses are also trans-
lated at the closing rate. If average rates had been used, the impact would only have been minor.  
The resulting difference is reported in the currency translation reserve. In most cases, the  
functional currency of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is the 
Euro, i.e. the group reporting currency.

» 07
currency  
trAnslAtion

Prospective effectiveness is predominantly tested by using simulations and sensitivity  
analyses based on the basis point value method. The dollar offset method is normally used to 
test retrospective effectiveness. In this method, the cumulative changes in the fair value of the 
hedged items attributable to the hedged risk are compared with the changes in the fair value 
of the hedging instruments.

Both the retrospective and prospective effectiveness of cash flow hedges is determined by 
comparing the expected interest payments for the hedged item against the cash flows from  
the hedge. 
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Securities lent as part of securities lending transactions are retained on the balance sheet in  
accordance with the accounting of collateral. Borrowed securities do not meet the recognition 
criteria set out in IAS 39 and must therefore not be recognized on the balance sheet.

Receivables are recognized for assets pledged as collateral in the form of cash deposits. The issuer 
of collateral continues to account for any transferred receivables and securities. 

Where collateral is received, and this collateral is in cash, a liability for a corresponding amount 
is recognized. Other financial or non-financial assets received as collateral are not recognized  
unless the assets are obtained in connection with the realization of collateral or a bailout  
purchase of real estate.

» 09
securities lendinG 
And collAterAl

Insurance business in the DZ BANK Group is reported under specific insurance items on  
the face of the income statement and balance sheet. Material components of the specific  
insurance items are described below.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES

The financial assets and liabilities reported under investments held by insurance companies, 
other insurance company assets, and other insurance company liabilities are described  
in note 5.

INvESTMENT prOpErTy

The investment property included in the investments held by insurance companies is meas-
ured at amortized cost in accordance with the cost model. 

INSurANCE LIAbILITIES

Under IFRS 4.13, insurance companies are permitted to continue applying existing account-
ing policies to certain insurance-specific items during a transition period. In compliance with 
IFRS 4.25(c), insurance liabilities are therefore recognized and measured in accordance with 
the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and other German accounting stand-
ards applicable to insurance companies. Liabilities that do not meet the criteria for insurance 
contracts under IFRS 4 are reported under other liabilities. Insurance liabilities are shown be-
fore the deduction of the share of reinsurers, which is reported as an asset.

The provision for unearned premiums represents premiums that have already been collected 
but that relate to future periods. The provision for unearned premiums in non-life insurance 
in the direct insurance business is calculated from the gross premiums using the 360-day 
system. Calculation of non-transferable earned premium income is based on the letter from 
the German Federal Ministry of Finance dated April 30, 1974. For life insurance, unearned 
premiums are calculated taking into account the starting date of each individual policy after 

» 10
insurAnce  
Business
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deduction of non-transferable earned premiums. In the case of participation agreements, the 
prorated unearned premiums are calculated by the lead companies. The reinsurance amount 
within unearned premiums is calculated as specified in the individual reinsurance contracts.

The purpose of the benefit reserve is to ensure that guaranteed entitlements to future  
insurance benefits can be satisfied on a permanent basis. Guaranteed entitlements for  
insured persons in respect of life insurance and casualty insurance with premium refund as 
well as the provision for increasing age in health insurance are reported under the benefit  
reserve. The benefit reserve for direct casualty insurance with premium refund is meas-
ured for each individual policy on the basis of the approved business plans and taking into 
account section 341f HGB and section 65 German Supervision of Insurance Companies 
Act (VAG). The benefit  reserve for life insurance is calculated on the basis of individual 
policies taking into account starting dates in accordance with approved business plans and 
the principles declared to the relevant regulatory authorities. The prospective method is 
used except in the case of unit-linked insurance. In health insurance, benefit reserves are  
calculated on an individual policy basis using the technical parameters for calculating rates.

The provision for claims outstanding represents benefit obligations arising from claims  
in which it is not yet possible to reliably determine the amount and/or the timing of the 
payment. The provision is recognized for claims that have already been reported and also 
for insured events that have occurred but have not yet been reported. It includes both inter-
nal and external expenses as well as the cost of settling claims. The provision for claims out-
standing in direct non-life insurance business is determined on a case-by-case basis for all 
known claims. Based on claims reports in previous years, an additional claims provision is 
recognized for claims that occur or are caused before the balance sheet date but have not yet 
been reported by this date. Statistical estimates are used in this measurement. The provision 
for claims outstanding in direct life insurance business is determined on a case-by-case basis. 
The provision is recognized for claims that have already been incurred and reported by the 
balance sheet date, but have not yet been settled. It also includes an estimate for claims al-
ready incurred but not yet reported. In health insurance, the provision for claims outstand-
ing is determined on the basis of the cost of claims over a year. The calculation is based on 
claims experience over the three previous fiscal years.

The reserve for deferred policy holder participation represents obligations not yet due for 
settlement on the balance sheet date relating to premium refunds to insured parties in the 
life insurance and health insurance business and in casualty insurance business with pre-
mium refunds. It includes amounts allocated to policyholders under statutory or contractual 
arrangements for bonuses and rebates as well as provisions resulting from time-restricted  
cumulative recognition and measurement differences between items in the financial state-
ments prepared in accordance with IFRS and those prepared in accordance with HGB. In 
the case of measurement differences recognized directly in equity, such as unrealized gains 
and losses on available-for-sale financial assets, an appropriate reserve for deferred policy 
holder participation is recognized in equity. 
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» 11
leAses 

Other insurance liabilities are recognized in the amount of the estimated requirement.  
Cancellation and premium deficiency provisions are calculated on the basis of past  
experience.

When investment risk is borne by employees, employers and life insurance policyholders, 
pension fund provisions and insurance liabilities represent an item corresponding to invest-
ments for the benefit of life-insurance policyholders provided that the investments in ques-
tion arise out of contracts to be reported in accordance with IFRS 4. They are similarly 
measured at fair value on the basis of the attributable investments.

Insurance liabilities must be regularly reviewed and subjected to an adequacy test. The adequacy 
test determines, on the basis of a comparison with estimated future cash flows, whether the 
carrying amount of insurance liabilities needs to be increased. For the life insurance compa-
nies, the test is carried out, for example, using the loss recognition test; for property insurance 
companies, the premium deficiency test is used. To review the insurance liabilities in the 
health insurance companies, a regular comparison is made between the present values of 
estimated future insurance benefits as well as administrative and settlement costs on the one 
hand, and the present values of estimated future premium payments on the other. In the 
event of any deficits, the insurance company has the option of adjusting premiums. The 
 basis of the calculations is regularly reviewed to ensure adequate safety margins, taking into 
account the recommendations of the Deutsche Aktuarvereinigung e.V. and the Bundesan-
stalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht as well as any observed trends in the portfolio.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the 
ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee. If the risks and rewards remain substantially 
with the lessor, the lease is an operating lease.

ThE Dz bANK grOup AS LESSOr

If a lease is classified as a finance lease, a receivable due from the lessee must be  recognized. 
The receivable is measured at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease at the incep-
tion of the lease. Lease payments are apportioned into a payment of interest and repayment 
of principal. The interest portion based on the lessor’s internal discount rate for a constant 
 periodic rate of return is recognized as interest income, whereas the repayment of principal 
 reduces the carrying amount of the receivable. 
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Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and balances with central banks and other  
government institutions.

Cash on hand comprises euros and foreign currencies. Cash in euros is measured at nominal 
value. Foreign currency cash is translated at the buying rate. Balances with central banks and 
other government institutions are classified as “loans and receivables” and measured at amortized 
cost. Interest income on these balances is recognized as interest income from lending and money 
market operations.

» 12
cAsh And cAsh 
equivAlents

All receivables attributable to registered debtors not classified as “financial instruments held for 
trading” are recognized as loans and advances to banks or to customers. In addition to fixed-
term receivables and receivables payable on demand in connection with lending, lease, and 
money market business, loans and advances to banks or to customers include promissory notes 
and registered bonds.

Loans and advances to banks or to customers are measured at amortized cost using the 
 effective interest method. In hedge accounting, the carrying amounts of hedged receivables 
are adjusted for the change in fair value attributable to the hedged risk. To avoid accounting 
mismatches, certain loans and advances are designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

» 13
loAns And  
AdvAnces to 
BAnks And to 
customers

If a lease is classified as an operating lease, the DZ BANK Group retains beneficial ownership 
in the leased asset. These leased assets are reported as assets. The leased assets are measured at 
cost less depreciation and any impairment losses. Unless another systematic basis is more  
representative of the pattern of income over time, lease income is recognized in profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and presented as current income in net  
interest income.

ThE Dz bANK grOup AS LESSEE 

If a lease is classified as a finance lease, the DZ BANK Group is the beneficial owner of the 
leased asset. The leased asset must therefore be recognized as an asset on the group’s balance 
sheet. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at the lower of fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, and a liability of an equivalent amount is also 
recognized. The lease payments made must be broken down into an interest portion and a  
repayment portion.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease and reported as administrative expenses.

144 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES



Impairment losses on loans and advances are recognized by using an allowance account shown 
as a separate line item on the balance sheet. 

There are also provisions for loan commitments (for which an appropriate risk provision is  
recognized if the credit facility is drawn down) and other provisions in the lending business. 
Liabilities are recognized for financial guarantee contracts and certain loan commitments; 
these liabilities are reported under other liabilities. Additions and reversals under these items 
are recognized in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in an effective and docu-
mented hedging relationship are recognized in these balance sheet items. 

These derivatives are measured at fair value. In the case of hedging instruments in a fair 
value hedge, changes in fair value between two balance sheet dates are recognized in the  
income statement under other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments. If 
the hedging instruments are intended as a cash flow hedge, changes in fair value attributable 
to the effective portion of the hedge are recognized directly in equity in the cash flow hedge  
reserve. Changes in fair value attributable to the ineffective portion of the hedge are included 
in other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments. 

» 14
AllowAnces For 
losses on loAns 
And AdvAnces

» 15
derivAtives used 
For hedGinG (posi-
tive And neGAtive 
FAir vAlues) 

Finance lease receivables are initially recognized on the balance sheet at an amount equal to  
the net investment in the lease. In subsequent measurement, the receivable is reduced by the 
repayment portion of the lease payments.

Interest income on loans and advances to banks or to customers is recognized as interest income 
from lending and money market operations. This also includes gains and losses on the sale of 
such loans and advances classified as “loans and receivables” and the amortization of hedge 
adjustments to carrying amounts due to fair value hedges. Hedge adjustments are recognized 
within other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments under gains and losses 
arising on hedging transactions. Gains and losses on the remeasurement of receivables 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss are also shown under the same item as part of 
other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading comprise solely financial assets and  
financial liabilities that fall within the measurement category “financial instruments held for 
trading”.

Apart from securities, promissory notes, registered bonds and money market receivables,  
financial assets held for trading include derivatives with positive fair values that were entered 
into for trading purposes or that do not meet the requirements for an accounting treatment  
as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities held for trading include share- and index-linked certificates, money market 
certificates and certificates of deposit, delivery commitments arising from shortsales of securi-
ties and money market deposits, together with derivatives with negative fair values that were 
entered into for trading purposes or that do not meet the requirements for a hedging instru-
ment.

Financial instruments reported as financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading are  
always measured at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses on remeasurement, inter-
est income and expense, and dividends arising from these financial instruments are recognized 
under gains and losses on trading activities, provided that there is an actual intent to trade the 
instruments concerned.

Gains and losses on the remeasurement of derivative financial instruments entered into for 
hedging purposes, but that do not meet the requirements for classification as a hedging instru-
ment, are recognized under other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments as 
gains and losses on derivative financial instruments not held for trading. If, to avoid account-
ing mismatches, hedged items are classified as “financial instruments designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss”, remeasurement gains and losses are recognized under gains and losses 
on financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income and 
expense arising in connection with derivatives not held for trading is reported under net inter-
est income.

» 16
FinAnciAl Assets 
And FinAnciAl  
liABilities held For 
trAdinG

The following are recognized as investments: bearer bonds and other fixed-income securi-
ties, shares and other variable-yield securities, and other bearer or registered shareholdings in 
companies in which the DZ BANK Group has no significant influence, provided that these 
securities or shares are not held for trading purposes. Investments also include shares in non-
consolidated subsidiaries and shares in joint ventures and associates.

Investments are initially recognized at fair value. Shares and other shareholdings, and  
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates for which a fair value cannot be  
reliably determined or which are accounted for using the equity method are initially recog-
nized at cost. These investments are subsequently measured in accordance with the principles 
applicable to the relevant measurement category. In the case of investments in joint ventures 
and associates, the equity method is generally used for subsequent measurement.

» 17
investments

146 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES



Property, plant and equipment and investment property comprises land and buildings, office  
furniture and equipment, and other fixed assets with an estimated useful life of more than  
one reporting period used by the companies in the DZ BANK Group. This item also includes  
assets subject to operating leases. Investment property is real estate held for the purposes to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation.

Property, plant and equipment and investment property is measured at cost less cumulative  
depreciation and impairment losses in subsequent reporting periods.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment and investment property is recognized as  
administrative expenses. Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are reported  
under other net operating income.

» 18
property, plAnt 
And equipment,  
investment  
property

Investments are subjected to regular impairment tests. The impairment testing procedure for 
investments classified as “loans and receivables” is the same as for loans and advances. Debt 
instruments quoted in an active market and classified as investments under “available-for-sale 
financial assets” are generally deemed to be impaired if the loss exceeds 25 percent of amor-
tized cost at any one time or exceeds 15 percent of amortized cost continuously during a six-
month period. Equity instruments in this category quoted in an active market or measured at 
fair value using measurement models are deemed to be impaired if the fair value is more than 
20 percent below cost on the balance sheet date or remains below cost continuously for a six-
month period. Equity instruments measured at cost (specifically investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures, and associates) are subject to strict ongoing monitoring. An impairment loss is 
recognized in respect of these instruments if there is objective evidence of a permanent dete-
rioration in future financial performance. If the reasons for a previously recognized impair-
ment loss on investments no longer apply and this can be attributed to an event that occurred 
after the impairment was identified, any such impairment loss on debt instruments must be 
reversed through profit or loss. The reversal of impairment losses through profit or loss is not 
permitted for equity instruments.

Interest income on investments is recognized under net interest income. Premiums and dis-
counts are amortized over the maturity of the investment using the effective interest method. 
Dividends from shares and other variable-yield securities, subsidiaries, joint ventures and  
associates measured in accordance with IAS 39 are recognized as current income under net in-
terest income. This also applies to gains or losses on investments accounted for using the  
equity method. Impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses, and gains and losses realized 
on the sale of investments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are reported under 
gains and losses on investments.
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Current and deferred tax assets are shown under the income tax assets balance sheet item;  
current and deferred tax liabilities are reported under income tax liabilities. Current income 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the amount of any expected refund or future pay-
ment. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the carry-
ing amounts recognized in the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and those in the 
financial statements for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are also recognized in respect of as 
yet unused tax loss carryforwards, provided that utilization of these loss carryforwards is  
sufficiently probable. Deferred tax assets are measured using the national and company- 
specific tax rates expected to apply at the time of realization. A uniform tax rate is applied in 
the case of group companies forming a tax group with DZ BANK. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Where temporary differences arise in  
relation to items recognized directly in equity, the resulting deferred taxes and liabilities are 
also recognized directly in equity. Current and deferred tax income and expense to be  
recognized through profit or loss is reported under income taxes in the income statement.

» 19
income tAx Assets 
And liABilities

Other assets comprise other assets held by insurance companies, intangible assets, other receiva-
bles, and residual other assets. 

Intangible assets are recognized at cost. In the subsequent measurement of software and other in-
tangible assets with a finite useful life, carrying amounts are reduced by cumulative amortization 
and impairment losses. Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not 
amortized but are subject to an impairment test at least once during the reporting period.

The amortization of intangible assets is recognized as administrative expenses. Impairment losses 
and reversals of impairment losses are reported under other net operating income.

» 20
other Assets

The carrying amount of non-current assets or disposal groups for which a sale is planned is  
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through their continuing use. 
These assets and disposal groups therefore need to be classified as held for sale if the criteria 
set out below are satisfied. 

To be classified as held for sale, the assets or disposal groups must be available for immediate 
sale in their present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales 
of such assets or disposal groups, and it must be highly probable that a sale will take place. A 
sale is deemed to be highly probable if there is a commitment to a plan to sell the asset or  
disposal group, an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan has been initiated, 
the asset or disposal group is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in  
relation to the current fair value, and a sale is expected to be completed within one year of the 
date on which the asset or disposal group is classified as held for sale.

» 21
non-current  
Assets clAssiFied 
As held For sAle 
And disposAl  
Groups
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All liabilities attributable to registered creditors not classified as “financial instruments held 
for trading” are recognized as deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors. In 
addition to fixed-maturity liabilities and liabilities payable on demand arising from the de-
posit, home savings and money market businesses, these liabilities also include, in particular, 
registered bonds and promissory notes.

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors are generally measured at  
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Where deposits from banks and amounts 
owed to other depositors are designated as a hedged item in an effective hedging relationship, 
the carrying amount is adjusted for any change in the fair value attributable to the hedged 
risk. If, to avoid accounting mismatches, the fair value option is applied for deposits from 
banks and amounts owed to other depositors, the liabilities are measured at fair value as at the 
balance sheet date.

Interest expense on deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors are recognized 
separately under net interest income. Interest expense also includes any income and expense 
associated with early repayment. Hedge adjustments to the carrying amount due to fair value 
hedges are reported within other gains and losses on measurement of financial instruments 
under gains and losses arising on hedging transactions. If liabilities are classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss, the resulting gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized 
under the same item as part of other gains and losses on measurement of financial instru-
ments.

» 22
deposits From 
BAnks And 
Amounts owed to 
other depositors 

Debt certificates including bonds cover “Pfandbriefe”, other bonds and money market  
certificates. 

Debt certificates and gains and losses on these certificates are measured and recognized in the 
same way as deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors. 

» 23
deBt certiFicAtes 
includinG Bonds

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. The assets are no longer depreciated from the date on which they are classified as 
held for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups are shown separately on the face of the  
balance sheet under non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups and liabili-
ties included in disposal groups. Gains and losses arising on measurement at the lower of car-
rying amount and fair value less costs to sell and gains and losses on the sale of these assets or 
disposal groups are recognized in the income statement under gains and losses on non-current 
assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups. 
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In addition to provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits, provisions include 
provisions for onerous contracts, restructuring costs, loan commitments, and other uncertain 
liabilities to third parties.

prOvISIONS FOr pENSIONS AND OThEr pOST-EMpLOyMENT bENEFITS 

Pension plans agreed with the employees of the DZ BANK Group are based on various types 
of pension schemes that depend on the legal, economic and tax situation in each country and 
include both defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans.

Where a commitment is made to defined contribution plans, fixed contributions are paid to 
external pension providers. The amount of the contributions and the income earned from the 
pension assets determine the amount of future pension benefits. No provisions are recognized 
for these indirect pension commitments. The contributions paid are recognized as pension  
expenses as incurred in each period.

Pension obligations arising from defined benefit plans are measured on the basis of the pro-
jected unit credit method. The measurement of the obligation depends on various actuarial 
assumptions. These include, in particular, assumptions about long-term salary and pension 
trends and average life expectancy. Assumptions about salary and pension trends are based on 
past trends and take into account expectations regarding future changes in the labor market. 
Recognized biometric tables (Richttafeln published by Professor Dr. Klaus Heubeck) are used 
to estimate average life expectancy. The discount rate used to discount future payment obliga-
tions is an appropriate market interest rate for long-term monetary investments with a matu-
rity equivalent to the pension obligations. The estimated long-term growth in existing plan  
assets is determined on the basis of the fund structure taking into account historical experi-
ence. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions or from unexpected 
changes in the performance of plan assets are recognized directly in equity in the fiscal year in 
which they occur.

The existing plan assets for funded pension commitments consist primarily of the plan  
assets of DZ BANK. These assets predominantly comprise shares and other variable-yield 
securities and are managed as assets held in trust by DZ BANK Pension Trust e.V. and 
DZ BANK Mitarbeiter-Unterstützungseinrichtung GmbH.

For liabilities in association with the termination of employment provisions are recognized for 
early retirement and partial retirement agreements.

» 24
provisions
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OThEr prOvISIONS

Provisions for onerous contracts, restructuring costs, loan commitments, and other uncertain  
liabilities to third parties are measured on a basis of the best estimate using the present value 
of the estimated amount of the obligation. The expense arising from the unwinding of the 
discount on these provisions is recognized as interest expense under net interest income.

Other liabilities comprise other liabilities held by insurance companies, liabilities from finan-
cial guarantee contracts and loan commitments, accruals, other payables and residual other  
liabilities.

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments that are within the scope 
of IAS 39 are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In any subsequent remeasurement, 
liabilities from financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of a provision recog-
nized in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognized less any cumulative  
amortization.

» 25
other liABilities

Subordinated capital comprises all registered or bearer debt instruments that, in the event of 
insolvency or liquidation, are repaid only after settlement of all unsubordinated liabilities but 
before distribution to shareholders of any proceeds from the insolvency or liquidation.

Subordinated liabilities largely comprise subordinated bearer bonds, registered bonds, and 
promissory notes. Capital contributions from typical dormant partners are recognized as 
 liabilities to dormant partners. The profit-sharing rights are broken down into issued bearer 
and registered profit participation certificates. Regulatory core capital which does not meet 
IFRS equity criteria is recognized as other hybrid capital. The share capital repayable on 
 demand comprises the minority interest in partnerships controlled by companies in the  
DZ BANK Group. This minority interest must be classified as subordinated.

Subordinated capital and gains and losses on this capital are measured and recognized in the 
same way as deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors.

» 26
suBordinAted 
cApitAl

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events. The existence of these 
obligations will only be confirmed by future events outside the control of the DZ BANK 
Group. Present obligations arising out of past events but not recognized because of the im-
probability of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or because the amount 
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability also constitute contingent liabilities. 

The amount of contingent liabilities is disclosed in the notes unless the probability of an  
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are measured at the best estimate of possible future outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits.

» 27
continGent  
liABilities
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b  Income statement disclosures

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

interest income And current income 12,161 10,973 10.8

interest income from 11,820 10,708 10.4

Lending and money market operations 8,550 8,009 6.8

of which: relating to local authority loans 1,199 1,076 11.4

relating to mortgage loans 1,177 1,248 -5.7

relating to home savings loans 286 282 1.4

relating to advance and interim financing 530 522 1.5

relating to other building loans 43 46 -6.5

relating to finance leases 372 323 15.2

Fixed-income securities 3,226 2,693 19.8

Portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk 44 6 > 100.0

current income from 279 238 17.2

Shares and other variable-yield securities 70 49 42.9

Investments in subsidiaries 21 4 > 100.0

Investments in joint ventures 46 40 15.0

Investments in associates 69 86 -19.8

Operating leases 73 59 23.7

income from profit-pooling, profit-transfer or partial  
profit-transfer agreements 62 27 > 100.0

interest expense on -9,261 -8,270 12.0

Deposits from banks and amounts owed to other depositors -5,890 -5,256 12.1

of which: relating to home savings deposits -606 -735 -17.6

Debt certificates including bonds -3,030 -2,659 14.0

Subordinated capital -309 -354 -12.7

Portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk -14 11 > 100.0

Provisions and other liabilities -18 -12 50.0

total 2,900 2,703 7.3

Current income from investments in joint ventures and associates include the shares of profit  
accounted for using the equity method amounting to €37 million (2007: €31 million) and 
€68 million (2007: €68 million) respectively.

Interest income from continued measurement at present value of impaired financial assets  
under IAS 39.AG93 (unwinding) amounts to €18 million (2007: €52 million).

» 28
net interest 
income
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€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Fee and commission income 2,358 2,458 -4.1

Securities business 1,432 1,633 -12.3

Asset management 39 54 -27.8

Transaction banking including credit card business 140 129 8.5

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 34 25 36.0

Foreign commercial business 15 15 –

Lending business and trust activities 204 160 27.5

Home savings business 339 302 12.3

Other 155 140 10.7

Fee and commission expenses -1,496 -1,496 –

Securities business -599 -621 -3.5

Asset management -13 -19 -31.6

Transaction banking including credit card business -73 -72 1.4

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments -2 -4 -50.0

Lending business -144 -170 -15.3

Home savings business -557 -482 15.6

Other -108 -128 -15.6

total 862 962 -10.4

The net fee and commission income from securities business and asset management in-
cludes income of €1,471 million (2007: €1,687 million) and expenses of €-584 million 
(2007: €-594 million) for trust and other fiduciary activities. Fee and commission income 
from lending business and trust activities also includes further income from trust activities 
amounting to €3 million (2007: €4 million).

» 29
impAirment  
losses on loAns 
And AdvAnces

» 30
net Fee And  
commission 
income

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Allowances for losses on loans and advances to banks -185 -66 > 100.0

Additions -247 -70 > 100.0

Reversals 62 4 > 100.0

Allowances for losses on loans and advances to customers -402 -107 > 100.0

Additions -735 -487 50.9

Reversals 380 434 -12.4

Directly recognized impairment losses -68 -74 -8.1

Receipts from loans and advances previously impaired 21 20 5.0

changes in provisions for loan commitments, in other  
provisions for loans and advances, and in liabilities from  
financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 42 -36 > 100.0

total -545 -209 > 100.0
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» 31
GAins And  
losses on  
trAdinG  
Activities€ million

2008 2007 change   
(%)

Gains and losses on non-derivative and embedded  
derivative financial instruments -174 -1,492 -88.3

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments -795 1,170 > 100.0

Exchange differences -198 75 > 100.0

total -1,167 -247 > 100.0

» 32
GAins And  
losses on  
investments

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Gains and losses on bonds and other fixed-income 
securities -340 -61 > 100.0

Disposals -51 -57 -10.5

Impairment losses -293 -4 > 100.0

Reversals of impairment losses 4 – –

Gains and losses on shares and other variable-yield securities -294 -37 > 100.0

Disposals -7 16 > 100.0

Impairment losses -287 -53 > 100.0

Gains and losses on investments in subsidiaries -7 -4 75.0

Disposals -1 -4 -75.0

Impairment losses -6 – –

Gains and losses on investments in joint ventures – -1 –

Impairment losses – -1 –

Gains and losses on investments in associates 1 – –

Disposals 1 – –

total -640 -103 > 100.0

In the year under review, investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and other sharehold-
ings in companies, in which the group had no significant influence, measured at cost with a 
total carrying amount of €29 million (2007: €4 million) were sold. This resulted in a gain on 
disposal of €2 million. In 2007, there had been losses on disposal of €-2 million.
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» 34
premiums  
eArned

» 33
other GAins  
And losses on 
meAsurement  
oF FinAnciAl  
instruments

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

GAins And losses ArisinG on hedGinG trAnsActions -4 -2 100.0

Fair value hedges -7 -3 > 100.0

Gains and losses on hedging instruments 296 -411 > 100.0

Gains and losses on hedged items -303 408 > 100.0

portfolio fair value hedges 2 – –

Gains and losses on hedging instruments -526 -69 > 100.0

Gains and losses on hedged items 528 69 > 100.0

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges 1 1 –

GAins And losses on derivAtive FinAnciAl instruments 
concluded without trAdinG purpose -87 16 > 100.0

GAins And losses on FinAnciAl instruments desiGnAted As  
At FAir vAlue throuGh proFit or loss -568 -49 > 100.0

Gains and losses on non-derivative and embedded  
derivative financial instruments 444 147 > 100.0

Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments -1,012 -196 > 100.0

total -659 -35 > 100.0

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

net premiums written 9,386 8,890 5.6

Gross premiums written 9,451 9,045 4.5

Reinsurance premiums ceded -65 -155 -58.1

change in provision for unearned premiums 2 36 -94.4

Gross premiums 20 23 -13.0

Reinsurers‘ share -18 13 > 100.0

total 9,388 8,926 5.2
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€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Gross expenses -1,583 -1,477 7.2

Reinsurers‘ share 27 39 -30.8

total -1,556 -1,438 8.2

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

claims expenses from insurance business -6,408 -5,802 10.4

Gross claims expenses -6,487 -5,891 10.1

Reinsurers‘ share 79 89 -11.2

changes in insurance liabilities -1,938 -3,469 -44.1

Changes in gross liabilities -1,902 -3,468 -45.2

Reinsurers‘ share -36 -1 > 100.0

total -8,346 -9,271 -10.0

» 36
insurAnce  
BeneFit pAyments

» 37
insurAnce  
Business  
operAtinG  
expenses

» 35
GAins And losses 
on investments 
held By insurAnce 
compAnies And 
other insurAnce 
compAny GAins 
And losses

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

income from investments held by insurance companies 3,985 3,041 31.0

Interest income and current income 2,185 2,080 5.0

Income from reversal of impairment losses and unrealized gains 126 18 > 100.0

Gains on remeasurement through profit or loss 820 101 > 100.0

Gains from disposals 854 842 1.4

expenses in connection with investments held by insurance companies -3,533 -894 > 100.0

Administrative expenses -96 -79 21.5

Depreciation/amortization expense, impairment losses and  
unrealized losses -1,905 -459 > 100.0

Losses on remeasurement through profit or loss -766 -163 > 100.0

Losses from disposals -766 -193 > 100.0

other gains and losses of insurance companies 203 106 91.5

Other insurance gains and losses 220 159 38.4

Other non-insurance gains and losses -17 -53 -67.9

total 655 2,253 -70.9

The income and expenses relating to investments held by insurance companies and  
other gains and losses include losses on exchange differences amounting to €-158 million  
(2007: loss of €-186 million).
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€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

staff expenses -1,278 -1,320 -3.2

wages and salaries -1,045 -1,085 -3.7

Social security contributions -136 -139 -2.2

Pension and other post-employment benefit expenses -97 -96 1.0

General and administrative expenses -1,098 -1,130 -2.8

Expenses for temporary staff -26 -23 13.0

Contributions and fees -47 -59 -20.3

Consultancy -176 -185 -4.9

Office expenses -181 -180 0.6

IT expenses -223 -218 2.3

Property and occupancy costs -153 -150 2.0

Information procurement -43 -39 10.3

Public relations/marketing -154 -174 -11.5

Other general and administrative expenses -90 -97 -7.2

Expenses for admistrative bodies -5 -5 -

depreciation and amortization expense -111 -135 -17.8

Property, plant and equipment, investment property -59 -70 -15.7

Other assets -52 -65 -20.0

total -2,487 -2,585 -3.8

The following table shows a breakdown of pension and other post-employment benefit expenses:

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

expenses for defined benefit obligations -74 -65 13.8

Current service cost -34 -38 -10.5

Interest cost -79 -71 11.3

Expected return on plan assets 41 39 5.1

Past service cost – 2 –

Transfer payments -2 3 > 100.0

expenses for early retirement and partial retirement schemes -5 -11 -54.5

Expenses for early retirement schemes -1 -3 -66.7

Expenses for partial retirement schemes -4 -8 -50.0

expenses for defined contribution obligations -9 -15 -40.0

expenses for other pension and post-employment benefits -9 -5 80.0

total -97 -96 1.0

» 38
AdministrAtive 
expenses
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€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Current tax expense -217 -214 1.4

Deferred tax income 634 43 > 100.0

total 417 -171 > 100.0

Deferred tax income includes expenses of €-346 million (2007: €-240 million) arising from 
the appearance and disappearance of temporary differences.

» 40
income tAxes

» 39
other net  
operAtinG income

The breakdown of other net operating income is as follows:

€ million
2008 2007 change  

(%)

Other income from leasing business 8 25 -68.0

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses on property,  
plant and equipment and investment property, and disposals thereof -6 -3 100.0

Impairment losses on software and other intangible assets -3 -12 -75.0

Restructuring – -21 –

Other changes in provisions and accruals 85 79 7.6

Other taxes -18 26 > 100.0

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries and partial sale  
of investments in consolidated subsidiaries -5 26 > 100.0

Transfer of losses 1 -18 > 100.0

Miscellaneous net operating income 59 10 > 100.0

total 121 112 8.0

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and investment property amounted to  
€-7 million (2007: €-5 million). In 2007, there had been income from the reversal of impair-
ment losses amounting to €2 million. 

In the year under review, expenses related to the deconsolidation of subsidiaries amounted  
to €-5 million. In 2007, there had been income from the partial sale of investments in consol-
idated subsidiaries of €26 million.
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Current taxes in relation to the German limited companies in the group are calculated using 
an effective corporation tax rate of 15.825 per cent (2007: 26.375 percent) based on a corpo-
ration tax rate of 15.0 percent (2007: 25.0 percent) plus the solidarity surcharge. The effective 
rate for trade tax is 14.910 percent (2007: 13.078 percent) for DZ BANK and subsidiaries 
being members of the tax group. The change in the rate for trade tax is largely attributable to 
the fact that trade tax is no longer deductible for the purposes of calculating corporation tax 
and to the fact that there has been a reduction in the “multiplier” used to determine trade tax.

Deferred taxes must be calculated using tax rates expected to apply when the tax asset or liability 
arises. The tax rates used are therefore those that are valid or have been announced for the  
periods in question as at the balance sheet date. As a result of this requirement, the reduction in 
the corporation tax rate and the associated changes in the calculation of trade tax had already 
been taken into account in 2007 in the calculation of deferred taxes. 

The following table shows a reconciliation from expected income taxes to reported income 
taxes applying the current tax law in Germany: 

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

profit/loss before taxes -1,472 1,068 > 100.0

Group income tax rate 30.735 % 39.453 %

expected income taxes 452 -421 > 100.0

tax effects -35 250 > 100.0

Impact of tax-exempt income and non-deductible expenses -71 50 > 100.0

Adjustments resulting from other types of income tax,  
other trade tax multipliers, and changes in tax rates 8 9 -11.1

Impact from components of net profit subject to taxation  
in other countries at different rates 10 60 -83.3

Current and deferred taxes relating to prior periods 93 123 -24.4

Impairment losses on deferred tax assets -125 – –

Other effects 50 8 > 100.0

recognized income taxes 417 -171 > 100.0

159DZ BANK 
2008 ANNUAL REPORT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES



By Business seGment

2008

€ million

Bank Retail Property 
Finance

Insurance Consoli-
dation/

reconcili-
ation

total

Net interest income 1,643 488 1,125 – -356 2,900

Impairment losses on loans and advances -252 -70 -223 – – -545

Net fee and commission income 401 717 -193 – -63 862

Gains and losses on trading activities -1,129 -30 -14 – 6 -1,167

Gains and losses on investments -439 -70 -131 – – -640

Other gains and losses on measurement  
of financial instruments -28 -150 -516 – 35 -659

Premiums earned – – – 9,388 – 9,388

Gains and losses on investments held by  
insurance companies and other insurance  
company gains and losses – – – 814 -159 655

Insurance benefit payments – – – -8,346 – -8,346

Insurance business operating expenses – – – -1,625 69 -1,556

Administrative expenses -1,371 -779 -490 – 153 -2,487

Gains and losses on non-current assets classified as 
held for sale and disposal groups – – 1 1 – 2

Other net operating income 240 41 -11 -3 -146 121

profit/loss before taxes -935 147 -452 229 -461 -1,472

Segment assets 280,569 23,345 113,002 55,800 -45,626 427,090

Segment liabilities 271,845 21,357 109,032 53,108 -36,935 418,407

Cost/income ratio (%) > 100.0 78.2 > 100.0 – – > 100.0

By reGion

2008

€ million

Germany Rest of 
Europe

Rest of 
world

Consoli-
dation/

reconci-
liation

total

Profit/loss before taxes -1,439 146 -68 -111 -1,472

Segment assets 395,028 43,077 26,666 -37,681 427,090

Segment liabilities 396,285 42,633 14,461 -34,972 418,407

» 41
seGment  
inFormAtion
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By Business seGment

2007

€ million

Bank Retail Property 
Finance

Insurance Consoli-
dation/

reconcili-
ation

total

Net interest income 1,375 430 1,185 – -287 2,703

Impairment losses on loans and advances -4 -90 -115 – – -209

Net fee and commission income 351 905 -198 – -96 962

Gains and losses on trading activities -279 18 14 – – -247

Gains and losses on investments -96 2 -9 – – -103

Other gains and losses on measurement  
of financial instruments 16 1 -51 – -1 -35

Premiums earned – – – 8,926 – 8,926

Gains and losses on investments held by  
insurance companies and other insurance  
company gains and losses – – – 2,357 -104 2,253

Insurance benefit payments – – – -9,271 – -9,271

Insurance business operating expenses – – – -1,533 95 -1,438

Administrative expenses -1,383 -860 -516 – 174 -2,585

Other net operating income 206 80 -27 -5 -142 112

profit/loss before taxes 186 486 283 474 -361 1,068

Segment assets 276,307 22,967 120,014 53,015 -40,966 431,337

Segment liabilities 266,636 20,663 115,891 49,708 -32,564 420,334

Cost/income ratio (%) 87.9 59.9 56.5 – – 66.9

By reGion

2007

€ million

Germany Rest of 
Europe

Rest of 
world

Consoli-
dation/

reconci-
liation

total

Profit/loss before taxes 709 434 92 -167 1,068

Segment assets 387,327 48,103 25,291 -29,384 431,337

Segment liabilities 378,487 45,820 23,386 -27,359 420,334
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gENErAL DISCLOSurES ON SEgMENT INFOrMATION

Segment information has been prepared using the management approach in accordance with 
IFRS 8. According to this standard, external reporting must include segment information that 
is used internally for the management of the company and for the purposes of reporting to the 
chief operating decision maker. The DZ BANK Group’s segment information has therefore 
been prepared on the basis of the internal management reporting system. 

DEFINITION OF SEgMENTS

The Group Coordination Committee is responsible for business and risk management as  
well as capital allocation in all major companies in the DZ BANK Group. The members of 
this committee are the entire Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK and the chief ex-
ecutive officers of the following companies: R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden, Union Asset 
Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main, Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG (BSH), 
Schwäbisch Hall, Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG (DG HYP), Hamburg, 
TeamBank AG Nürnberg (TeamBank), Nuremberg, and VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn. A co-
ordination model is used to harmonize activities throughout the group. For the purposes of 
segment reporting, four segments have been identified on the basis of this model.

The Bank segment brings together the activities of the DZ BANK Group in the Verbund 
division, and in its corporate customers and institutional customers, and investment banking. 
The segment focuses on corporate customers. The subgroups VR LEASING and DVB Bank 
(DVB) and the following companies are reported under this segment: DZ BANK Ireland plc 
(DZ BANK Ireland), Dublin, VR Kreditwerk Hamburg-Schwäbisch Hall AG (VR Kredit-
werk AG), Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall, ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main, and 
DZ BANK. The Bank segment also includes consolidated companies that are not a part  
of the core operating businesses of the DZ BANK Group.

The Retail segment covers the DZ BANK Group’s private banking operations and activities 
relating to asset management. The segment focuses on private clients. The companies included 
in this segment are primarily DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich, DZ BANK Interna-
tional S.A. (DZI), Luxembourg-Strassen, and TeamBank, as well as the Union Asset Manage-
ment Holding (UMH) subgroup.

The Property Finance segment encompasses the group’s building and mortgage lending 
business. The companies assigned to this segment include BSH and DG HYP. 

The DZ BANK Group’s insurance business is reported under the Insurance segment. The 
segment comprises solely the R+V Versicherung subgroup.

There were no material changes to the organizational structure of the DZ BANK Group 
during the year under review. The decision by the DZ BANK Board of Managing Directors 
to restructure DG HYP as a commercial real estate bank and transfer DG HYP’s private 
customer portfolio to BSH only affects the Property Finance segment and therefore has no 
material impact on segment information.
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prESENTATION OF SEgMENT INFOrMATION

Interest income and associated interest expenses generated by the segments are netted and  
reported as net interest income in segment information because, from a group perspective, the 
segments are managed solely on the basis of the net figure. 

The presentation of segment profit, assets and liabilities by region is based on the principle of 
country of domicile for the companies included in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets comprise all financial and non-financial assets for the group companies aggre-
gated within a segment. The segment information by region does not include the separate 
disclosure of certain non-current (largely tangible) assets because these assets are of minor 
significance in the DZ BANK Group’s business model.

MEASurEMENT STANDArDS

Internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker in the DZ BANK Group is primarily 
based on the generally accepted accounting and measurement principles applying to the 
DZ BANK Group. 

Intragroup transactions between segments are carried out on an arm’s-length basis. These trans-
actions are reported internally using the accounting standards applied to external financial  
reporting.

The key indicators for assessing the performance of the segments are profit/loss before taxes 
and the cost/income ratio. The cost/income ratio shows the ratio of administrative expenses 
to operating income and reflects the cost efficiency of the segment concerned.

CONSOLIDATION/rECONCILIATION

The adjustments shown under Consolidation/reconciliation to reconcile segment profit/loss 
before taxes to consolidated profit/loss before taxes were solely attributable in both 2008 and 
2007 to the elimination of intragroup transactions. 

The adjustments to net interest income were primarily the result of the elimination of intra-
group dividend payments and profit distributions in connection with intragroup dormant 
partners and were also attributable to the early redemption of issued bonds and money  
market instruments that had been acquired by companies in the DZ BANK Group other 
than the issuer.

The figure under Consolidation/reconciliation for net fee and commission income relates  
specifically to the fee and commission business of TeamBank and BSH with R+V Versicherung.

The other adjustments are mainly attributable to the consolidation of income and expense 
and, to a small extent, to gains and losses arising at group level on the deconsolidation of 
subsidiaries or the partial sale of investments in consolidated subsidiaries.
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» 43
loAns And  
AdvAnces  
to BAnkspayable  

on demand
other loans  

and advances
total

€ million
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

domestic  
banks 1,236 334 58,464 57,030 59,700 57,364 4.1

Affiliated 
banks 311 166 43,746 39,286 44,057 39,452 11.7

Other  
banks 925 168 14,718 17,744 15,643 17,912 -12.7

Foreign  
banks 796 909 9,540 9,258 10,336 10,167 1.7

total 2,032 1,243 68,004 66,288 70,036 67,531 3.7

The following table shows the breakdown of loans and advances to banks by type of business:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change 
(%)

Local authority loans 2,204 4,313 -48.9

Mortgage loans 133 159 -16.4

Home savings loans 41 26 57.7

Finance leases – 49 –

Other loans secured by mortgages 3 – –

Money market placements 3,927 4,572 -14.1

Other loans and advances 63,728 58,412 9.1

total 70,036 67,531 3.7

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Cash on hand 48 50 -4.0 

Balances with central banks and other government institutions 2,139 1,392 53.7 

of which: with Deutsche Bundesbank 1,981 1,075 84.3 

total 2,187 1,442 51.7

The average target minimum reserve for the year under review was €1,196 million  
(December 31, 2007: €1,025 million).

» 42
cAsh And  
cAsh equivAlents

C  balance sheet disclosures
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» 44
loAns And  
AdvAnces to  
customers

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change 
(%)

Loans and advances to domestic customers 83,937 83,359 0.7

Loans and advances to foreign customers 33,084 22,948 44.2

total 117,021 106,307 10.1

The following table shows the breakdown of loans and advances to customers by type of 
business:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Local authority loans 17,762 19,711 -9.9

Mortgage loans 21,807 22,397 -2.6

Building loans advanced by building society 19,310 18,100 6.7

of which: from allotment (home savings loans) 6,967 6,403 8.8

for advance and interim financing 11,521 10,872 6.0

other building loans 822 825 -0.4

Finance leases 4,962 4,676 6.1

Other loans secured by mortgages 231 141 63.8

Money market placements 144 28 > 100.0

Other loans and advances 52,805 41,254 28.0

total 117,021 106,307 10.1

The changes in allowances for losses on loans and advances recognized under assets were as 
follows:

Allowances for losses  
on loans and advances 

to banks

Allowances for losses  
on loans and advances 

to customers

total

€ million

Specific  
loan loss 

allowances

Portfolio 
loan loss 

allowances

Specific  
loan loss 

allowances

Portfolio 
loan loss 

allowances

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2007 6 18 1,661 363 2,048

Additions – 70 456 31 557

Utilizations – – -288 – -288

Reversals -4 – -311 -158 -473

Other changes – – -22 – -22

Balance as at Dec. 31, 2007 2 88 1,496 236 1,822

Additions 221 26 584 151 982

Utilizations – – -222 – -222

Reversals – -62 -344 -54 -460

Other changes – – 8 – 8

Balance as at dec. 31, 2008 223 52 1,522 333 2,130

» 45
AllowAnces For 
losses on loAns 
And AdvAnces
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change 
(%)

derivatives used for fair value hedges of 694 546 27.1

Financial assets 12 34 -64.7

Financial liabilities 678 237 > 100.0

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities 4 275 -98.5

derivatives used for hedges of cash flows from forecast transactions – 11 –

total 694 557 24.6

» 46
derivAtives used 
For hedGinG  
(positive  
FAir vAlues)

» 47
FinAnciAl Assets 
held For trAdinG

In addition to the allowances for losses on loans and advances recognized under assets, the  
following items are also recognized to cover credit risks: provisions for loan commitments, other 
provisions for loans and advances, as well as liabilities from financial guarantee contracts and 
loan commitments.

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change 
(%)

Bonds And other Fixed-income securities 52,837 67,389 -21.6

money market instruments 2,094 4,314 -51.5

from public-sector issuers 1 198 -99.5

from other issuers 2,093 4,116 -49.1

Bonds 50,743 63,075 -19.6

from public-sector issuers 3,345 3,059 9.3

from other issuers 47,398 60,016 -21.0

shAres And other vAriABle-yield securities 375 929 -59.6

Shares 248 699 -64.5

Investment fund units 20 83 -75.9

Other variable-yield securities 107 147 -27.2

derivAtives (positive FAir vAlues) 28,433 16,064 77.0

Interest-linked contracts 20,834 13,076 59.3

Currency-linked contracts 1,618 692 > 100.0

Share-/index-linked contracts 1,010 1,018 -0.8

Other contracts 1,784 532 > 100.0

Credit derivatives 3,187 746 > 100.0

promissory notes And reGistered Bonds 2,823 2,501 12.9

from banks 1,335 1,212 10.1

from customers 1,488 1,289 15.4

money mArket plAcements 29,975 43,142 -30.5

with banks 24,744 36,504 -32.2

with customers 5,231 6,638 -21.2

total 114,443 130,025 -12.0
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Bonds And other Fixed-income securities 62,415 69,497 -10.2

money market instruments 20 539 -96.3

from public-sector issuers - 206 -

from other issuers 20 333 -94.0

Bonds 62,395 68,958 -9.5

from public-sector issuers 18,110 22,043 -17.8

from other issuers 44,285 46,915 -5.6

shAres And other vAriABle-yield securities 1,702 1,478 15.2

Shares and other shareholdings 241 546 -55.9

Investment fund units 1,457 922 58.0

Other variable-yield securities 4 10 -60.0

investments in suBsidiAries 1,205 1,122 7.4

of which: in banks 98 78 25.6

in financial services institutions 6 10 -40.0

investments in joint ventures 393 235 67.2

of which: in banks 271 100 > 100.0

investments in AssociAtes 607 625 -2.9

of which: in banks 426 476 -10.5

total 66,322 72,957 -9.1

As at the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of investments in joint ventures and  
associates accounted for using the equity method were €363 million (December 31, 2007: 
€229 million) and €605 million (December 31, 2007: €622 million) respectively.

Investments also include shares and other variable-yield securities, investments in subsidiaries, 
investments in joint ventures, and investments in associates measured at cost with a total carry-
ing amount of €700 million (December 31, 2007: €625 million). There are no active markets 
for these investments, nor can their fair value be reliably determined by using a valuation tech-
nique based on assumptions that are not based on available observable market data. Further-
more, there are no other markets for these instruments. The purpose of these investments is 
largely to support the business operations of the DZ BANK Group permanently.

» 48
investments
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FINANCIAL DATA ON INvESTMENTS IN JOINT vENTurES ACCOuNTED  
FOr uSINg ThE EquITy METhOD

The presentation of the cumulative data for joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method is disclosed in respect of the DZ BANK Group’s proportion of ownership interest.

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Assets 4,512 3,787 19.1

Liabilities 4,195 3,580 17.2

Income 797 315 > 100.0

Expenses 761 280 > 100.0

FINANCIAL DATA ON INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES ACCOuNTED  
FOr uSINg ThE EquITy METhOD

The presentation of the cumulative data for associates accounted for using the equity method  
is based on the figures reported by the associates for the items concerned i.e. regardless of the  
DZ BANK Group’s proportion of ownership interest.

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Assets 80,788 70,928 13.9

Liabilities 77,310 67,441 14.6

Income 6,291 6,221 1.1

Net profit 259 246 5.3
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Investment property 991 956 3.7

Investments in subsidiaries 283 204 38.7

Investments in associates 82 177 -53.7

Mortgage loans 3,847 3,581 7.4

Promissory notes and loans 10,648 8,706 22.3

Registered bonds 9,358 8,824 6.1

Other loans 1,038 985 5.4

variable-yield securities 5,116 8,482 -39.7

Fixed-income securities 12,419 11,182 11.1

Money market placements 225 131 71.8

Derivatives (positive fair values) 859 74 > 100.0

Deposits with ceding insurers 180 167 7.8

Investments related to unit-linked contacts 3,994 3,907 2.2

total 49,040 47,376 3.5

As at the balance sheet date, the fair value of the investment property was €1,074 million 
(December 31, 2007: €1,037 million).  

» 49
investments  
held By insurAnce  
compAnies

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Land and buildings 367 378 -2.9

Office furniture and equipment 121 126 -4.0

Assets subject to operating leases 1,329 1,041 27.7

Investment property 83 96 -13.5

Payments in advance 74 71 4.2

total 1,974 1,712 15.3

As at the balance sheet date, the fair value of the investment property was €91 million  
(December 31, 2007: €107 million).

» 50
property, plAnt 
And equipment,  
investment  
property
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» 51
income tAx Assets 
And liABilities

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

income tax assets 2,922 2,029 44.0

Current income tax assets 953 953 –

Deferred tax assets 1,969 1,076 83.0

income tax liabilities 1,195 1,088 9.8

Current income tax liabilities 403 354 13.8

Deferred tax liabilities 792 734 7.9

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are also recognized for temporary differences in respect of the items shown below:

deferred  
tax assets

deferred  
tax liabilities

€ million
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31,   

2007

Tax loss carryforwards 1,417 437

Loans and advances to banks and to customers (net) 71 61 774 632

Financial assets and liabilities held  
for trading, derivatives used for hedging  
(positive and negative fair values) 860 504 693 27

Investments 515 388 336 136

Investments held by insurance companies 93 17 179 255

Property, plant and equipment, investment property 4 1 25 25

Deposits from banks and amounts owed  
to other depositors 768 565 336 467

Debt certificates including bonds 29 1 196 238

Provisions for pensions  
and other post-employment benefits 116 210 28 16

Other provisions 65 32 14 82

Insurance liabilities 265 225 422 381

Other balance sheet items 109 390 132 230

total (gross) 4,312 2,831 3,135 2,489

Netting of deferred tax assets  
and deferred tax liabilities -2,343 -1,755 -2,343 -1,755

total (net) 1,969 1,076 792 734

Deferred tax assets for temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards are only recognized  
if it is sufficiently probable that the asset can be realized in the future. No deferred tax  
assets are recognized for corporation tax loss carryforwards amounting to €172 million  
(December 31, 2007: €30 million), which can be carried forward indefinitely, and for trade tax 
loss carryforwards amounting to €714 million (December 31, 2007: €10 million). In future 
years, it will be possible to realize deferred tax assets of €1,427 million (December 31, 2007:  
€672 million), provided there are taxable profits of the same amount.
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Other assets held by insurance companies 3,255 2,266 43.6

Goodwill 101 32 > 100.0

Software and other intangible assets 178 147 21.1

Other receivables 282 247 14.2

Residual other assets 534 359 48.7

total 4,350 3,051 42.6

» 52
other Assets

Deferred tax assets of €365 million (December 31, 2007: €185 million) and deferred tax  
liabilities of €42 million (December 31, 2007: €83 million) are taken to equity.

The following deferred tax amounts are only expected to be realized after a period of  
twelve months: deferred tax assets of €1,230 million (December 31, 2007: €839 million)  
and deferred tax liabilities of €765 million (December 31, 2007: €712 million).

The breakdown of other assets held by insurance companies is as follows:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

intangible assets 167 56 > 100.0

reinsurance assets 443 327 35.5

Provision for unearned premiums 24 29 -17.2

Benefit reserve 174 81 > 100.0

Provision for claims outstanding 245 217 12.9

insurance company receivables 647 786 -17.7

Receivables arising out of direct insurance operations 340 319 6.6

Receivables arising out of reinsurance operations 101 66 53.0

Other receivables 206 401 -48.6

credit balances with banks, checks and cash on hand 669 56 > 100.0

residual other assets held by insurance companies 1,329 1,041 27.7

Property, plant and equipment 305 303 0.7

Prepaid expenses 621 558 11.3

Remaining assets held by insurance companies 403 180 > 100.0

total 3,255 2,266 43.6
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The following table shows the changes in investment property included in the investments held 
by insurance companies, the changes in property, plant and equipment and investment property, 
as well as the changes in intangible assets included in other assets:

investments held by 
insurance companies

property, plant and equipment, investment property other assets

€ million

Investment 
Property 

Land and 
buildings

Office furniture 
and equipment

Assets subject  
to operating 

leases

Investment 
Property

Payments in 
advance

Goodwill Software  
and other 
intangible  

assets

Carrying amounts as at Jan. 1, 2007 1,028 391 138 818 109 37 11 159

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2007 1,054 574 607 1,014 154 37 11 540

Additions 2 2 42 588 26 61 – 66

Reclassifications 1 – 14 -8 – -8 – 3

Disposals -23 -3 -64 -309 -40 -19 -3 -72

Changes attributable to currency translation – – -2 -52 – – – -1

Changes in scope of consolidation – – 1 6 – – 24 1

cost as at dec. 31, 2007 1,034 573 598 1,239 140 71 32 537

Reversals of impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2007 8 – – – 2 – – –

Additions – – 2 – – – – –

Reclassifications – – – – -2 – – –

reversals of impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2007 8 – 2 – – – – –

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2007 -34 -183 -469 -196 -47 – – -381

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year -33 -14 -51 -110 -5 – – -65

Impairment losses for the year -19 – – – -5 – – -12

Reclassifications – – -5 5 2 – – –

Disposals – 2 50 98 11 – – 68

Changes attributable to currency translation – – 1 5 – – – –

depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2007 -86 -195 -474 -198 -44 – – -390

Carrying amounts as at Dec. 31, 2007 956 378 126 1,041 96 71 32 147

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2008 1,034 573 598 1,239 140 71 32 537

Additions 12 9 44 828 9 100 2 90

Additions in respect of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization – – – 20 – – – –

Reclassifications 16 4 1 – -4 -82 – 1

Reclassifications to non-current assets held for sale – -3 – – – – – –

Disposals -4 -7 -78 -613 -36 -15 – -47

Changes attributable to currency translation – – 1 105 – – – 2

Changes in scope of consolidation 62 – 1 18 – – 67 3

cost as at dec. 31, 2008 1,120 576 567 1,597 109 74 101 586

Reversals of impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2008 8 – 2 – – – – –

reversals of impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2008 8 – 2 – – – – –

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2008 -86 -195 -474 -198 -44 – – -390

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year -32 -13 -44 -131 -2 – – -53

Impairment losses for the year -19 -6 – – -1 – – -3

Disposals – 5 72 84 21 – – 42

Changes attributable to currency translation – – -2 -15 – – – -2

Changes in scope of consolidation – – – -8 – – – -2

depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2008 -137 -209 -448 -268 -26 – – -408

carrying amounts as at dec. 31, 2008 991 367 121 1,329 83 74 101 178

» 53
chAnGes in non-
current Assets
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The following table shows the changes in investment property included in the investments held 
by insurance companies, the changes in property, plant and equipment and investment property, 
as well as the changes in intangible assets included in other assets:

investments held by 
insurance companies

property, plant and equipment, investment property other assets

€ million

Investment 
Property 

Land and 
buildings

Office furniture 
and equipment

Assets subject  
to operating 

leases

Investment 
Property

Payments in 
advance

Goodwill Software  
and other 
intangible  

assets

Carrying amounts as at Jan. 1, 2007 1,028 391 138 818 109 37 11 159

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2007 1,054 574 607 1,014 154 37 11 540

Additions 2 2 42 588 26 61 – 66

Reclassifications 1 – 14 -8 – -8 – 3

Disposals -23 -3 -64 -309 -40 -19 -3 -72

Changes attributable to currency translation – – -2 -52 – – – -1

Changes in scope of consolidation – – 1 6 – – 24 1

cost as at dec. 31, 2007 1,034 573 598 1,239 140 71 32 537

Reversals of impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2007 8 – – – 2 – – –

Additions – – 2 – – – – –

Reclassifications – – – – -2 – – –

reversals of impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2007 8 – 2 – – – – –

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2007 -34 -183 -469 -196 -47 – – -381

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year -33 -14 -51 -110 -5 – – -65

Impairment losses for the year -19 – – – -5 – – -12

Reclassifications – – -5 5 2 – – –

Disposals – 2 50 98 11 – – 68

Changes attributable to currency translation – – 1 5 – – – –

depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2007 -86 -195 -474 -198 -44 – – -390

Carrying amounts as at Dec. 31, 2007 956 378 126 1,041 96 71 32 147

Cost as at Jan. 1, 2008 1,034 573 598 1,239 140 71 32 537

Additions 12 9 44 828 9 100 2 90

Additions in respect of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization – – – 20 – – – –

Reclassifications 16 4 1 – -4 -82 – 1

Reclassifications to non-current assets held for sale – -3 – – – – – –

Disposals -4 -7 -78 -613 -36 -15 – -47

Changes attributable to currency translation – – 1 105 – – – 2

Changes in scope of consolidation 62 – 1 18 – – 67 3

cost as at dec. 31, 2008 1,120 576 567 1,597 109 74 101 586

Reversals of impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2008 8 – 2 – – – – –

reversals of impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2008 8 – 2 – – – – –

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at Jan. 1, 2008 -86 -195 -474 -198 -44 – – -390

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year -32 -13 -44 -131 -2 – – -53

Impairment losses for the year -19 -6 – – -1 – – -3

Disposals – 5 72 84 21 – – 42

Changes attributable to currency translation – – -2 -15 – – – -2

Changes in scope of consolidation – – – -8 – – – -2

depreciation/amortization and impairment losses as at dec. 31, 2008 -137 -209 -448 -268 -26 – – -408

carrying amounts as at dec. 31, 2008 991 367 121 1,329 83 74 101 178
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The non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups largely comprise shares  
in companies and the real estate and liabilities of a special fund that are to be gradually sold 
as part of the liquidation of the fund.

» 54
non-current  
Assets clAssiFied 
As held For sAle 
And disposAl  
Groups

payable  
on demand

with agreed maturity 
or notice period

total

€ million
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

domestic  
banks 1,786 844 51,884 50,626 53,670 51,470 4.3

Affiliated  
banks 247 168 14,244 13,115 14,491 13,283 9.1

Other 
banks 1,539 676 37,640 37,511 39,179 38,187 2.6

Foreign  
banks 552 286 5,410 6,179 5,962 6,465 -7.8

total 2,338 1,130 57,294 56,805 59,632 57,935 2.9

The following table shows the breakdown of deposits from banks by type of business:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Home savings deposits 105 153 -31.4

Money market deposits 7,620 7,892 -3.4

Other deposits 51,907 49,890 4.0

total 59,632 57,935 2.9

» 55
deposits  
From BAnks

As in prior years, the useful lives assumed for assets are as follows: buildings, 25 to 50 years; 
office furniture and equipment, 3 to 25 years; assets subject to operating leases, 3 to 25 years; 
and, investment property, 25 to 50 years. Software is amortized over a useful life of 1 to 10 
years (2007: 3 to 10 years).

The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitali-
zation is 3.8 percent on average. 

Disclosures regarding the changes in goodwill are included in note 82.
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Amounts owed to other domestic depositors 71,286 72,335 -1.5

home savings deposits 30,241 31,428 -3.8

other amounts owed to other depositors 41,045 40,907 0.3

Payable on demand 5,179 4,231 22.4

with agreed maturity or notice period 35,866 36,676 -2.2

Amounts owed to other ForeiGn depositors 6,230 5,260 18.4

home savings deposits 277 252 9.9

other amounts owed to other depositors 5,953 5,008 18.9

Payable on demand 2,935 2,197 33.6

with agreed maturity or notice period 3,018 2,811 7.4

total 77,516 77,595 -0.1

The following table shows the breakdown of amounts owed to other depositors by type of 
business:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Home savings deposits 30,518 31,680 -3.7

Money market deposits 4,920 8,153 -39.7

Other deposits 42,078 37,762 11.4

total 77,516 77,595 -0.1

The other amounts owed to other depositors are broken down by customer group as follows:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

domestic customers 41,045 40,907 0.3

Retail customers 1,134 1,147 -1.1

Corporate customers 39,770 38,822 2.4

Public sector 141 938 -85.0

Foreign customers 5,953 5,008 18.9

Retail customers 237 132 79.5

Corporate customers 5,674 4,831 17.4

Public sector 42 45 -6.7

total 46,998 45,915 2.4

» 56
Amounts owed to 
other depositors
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Bonds issued 62,160 60,304 3.1

Mortgage Pfandbriefe 7,535 10,265 -26.6

Public-sector Pfandbriefe 22,256 26,097 -14.7

Other bonds 32,369 23,942 35.2

other debt certificates 3,365 2,692 25.0

total 65,525 62,996 4.0

The other debt certificates are all money market certificates.

» 57
deBt certiFicAtes 
includinG Bonds

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

derivatives used for fair value hedges of 969 622 55.8

Financial assets 391 55 > 100.0

Financial liabilities 27 262 -89.7

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities 550 305 80.3

Loan commitments 1 – –

derivatives used for hedges of cash flows from 23 – –

Financial liabilities 15 – –

Forecast transactions 8 – –

total 992 622 59.5

» 58
derivAtives  
used For hedGinG 
(neGAtive FAir 
vAlues)

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

share- and index-linked certificates 11,603 14,763 -21.4

money market certificates and certificates of deposit 1,883 6,184 -69.6

derivatives (negative fair values) 33,541 17,972 86.6

Interest-linked contracts 23,525 14,819 58.7

Currency-linked contracts 1,176 712 65.2

Share-/index-linked contracts 4,391 1,648 > 100.0

Other contracts 1,053 383 > 100.0

Credit derivatives 3,396 410 > 100.0

delivery commitments arising from shortsales of securities 4,140 4,169 -0.7

money market deposits 101,562 120,108 -15.4

from banks 75,636 102,188 -26.0

from customers 25,926 17,920 44.7

total 152,729 163,196 -6.4

» 59
FinAnciAl  
liABilities held  
For trAdinG
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 783 920 -14.9

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 701 812 -13.7

Provisions for early retirement schemes 41 53 -22.6

Provisions for partial retirement schemes 41 55 -25.5

other provisions 691 797 -13.3

Provisions for onerous contracts 14 18 -22.2

Provisions for restructuring costs 42 67 -37.3

Provisions for loan commitments 42 59 -28.8

Remaining provisions 593 653 -9.2

total 1,474 1,717 -14.2

prOvISIONS FOr DEFINED bENEFIT ObLIgATIONS

The following table shows the breakdown of provisions for defined benefit obligations:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Present value of defined benefit obligations  
not funded by plan assets 705 810 -13.0

Present value of defined benefit obligations funded by plan assets 774 919 -15.8

less fair value of plan assets -878 -925 -5.1

Defined benefit obligations (net) 601 804 -25.2

Recognized surplus 100 8 > 100.0

recognized provisions for defined benefit obligations 701 812 -13.7

Reimbursement rights recognized as assets 16 18 -11.1

The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at Jan. 1 1,729 1,716 0.8

Current service cost 34 38 -10.5

Interest costs 79 71 11.3

Employee contributions 5 3 66.7

Pension benefits paid -73 -69 5.8

Unrecognized past service cost – -2 –

Actuarial gains -303 -25 > 100.0

Changes attributable to currency translation 4 -1 > 100.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation 3 – –

Transfer payments 1 -2 > 100.0

present value of defined benefit obligations as at dec. 31 1,479 1,729 -14.5

» 60
provisions
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The breakdown of funding for pension plans is as follows:

€ million
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007
dec. 31,  

2006

Present value of the defined benefit obligations 1,479 1,729 1,716

less fair value of plan assets -878 -925 -897

total 601 804 819

The following experience adjustments were applied in the year under review in the measurement 
of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets:

€ million 2008 2007 2006

Experience adjustments to present value of the defined benefit 
obligations (gains(-)/losses(+)) 9 -1 24

Experience adjustments to plan assets (gains(+)/losses(-)) -59 -11 3

The changes in recognized reimbursement rights were as follows:

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

Reimbursement rights recognized as assets as at Jan. 1 18 2 > 100.0

Actuarial losses -5 – –

Contributions to reimbursement rights 3 16 -81.3

of which: employer contributions 3 16 -81.3

reimbursement rights recognized as assets as at dec. 31 16 18 -11.1
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The following table shows the changes in plan assets:

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

Fair value of plan assets as at Jan. 1 925 897 3.1

Expected return on plan assets 41 39 5.1

Actuarial losses -60 -11 > 100.0

Contributions to plan assets 8 40 -80.0

of which: employer contributions 6 39 -84.6

employee contributions 2 1 100.0

Pension benefits paid -41 -38 7.9

Changes attributable to currency translation 4 -2 > 100.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation 1 – –

Fair value of plan assets as at dec. 31 878 925 -5.1

Additional contributions to plan assets of €5 million are expected in 2009.

The breakdown of the actual return on plan assets is as follows:

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

Actual return on plan assets -19 28 > 100.0

Actual return on reimbursement rights recognized as assets -5 1 > 100.0

The breakdown of plan assets as at the balance sheet date was as follows:

€ million

dec. 31,  
2008

dec. 31,  
2007

change  
(%)

Shares and other variable-yield securities 772 821 -6.0

Land and buildings 13 14 -7.1

Other assets 93 90 3.3

total 878 925 -5.1
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The following actuarial assumptions were used:

(%)
dec. 31, 

2008
dec. 31, 

2007

Discount rate 6.00 4.75

Expected rate of return on plan assets 4.59 4.19

Expected rate of return on reimbursement rights recognized as assets 4.52 4.34

Salary increases 2.50 – 3.50 3.00 – 4.00

Pension increases 1.00 – 2.25 1.00 – 2.00

Staff turnover 0.00 – 10.00 0.00 – 6.00

OThEr prOvISIONS

The following table shows the changes in other provisions:

€ million

Provisions 
for onerous 

contracts

Provisions 
for restruc-
turing costs

Provisions 
for loan 
commit-

ments

Remaining  
provisions

total

Balance as at Jan. 1, 2008 18 67 59 653 797

Additions 2 12 14 167 195

Utilizations -4 -25 -2 -174 -205

Reversals -2 -1 -29 -58 -90

Interest expense – – – 11 11

Other changes – -11 – -6 -17

Balance as at dec. 31, 2008 14 42 42 593 691

The expected maturities of other provisions are shown in the tables below.

BAlAnce As At decemBer 31, 2008

€ million
≤ 3 months > 3 months

– 1 year
> 1 year 

– 5 years
> 5 years indefinite

Provisions for onerous contracts – – 2 12 –

Provisions for restructuring costs 2 18 22 – –

Provisions for loan commitments – 4 38 – –

Remaining provisions 47 115 337 89 5

total 49 137 399 101 5
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€ million

dec. 31, 
2008

dec. 31, 
2007

change  
(%)

Provision for unearned premiums 1,061 1,039 2.1

Benefit reserve 34,251 30,545 12.1

Provision for claims outstanding 5,079 4,651 9.2

Reserve for deferred policy holder participation 4,322 5,778 -25.2

Other insurance liabilities 58 72 -19.4

Reserve for unit-linked insurance contracts 3,434 3,239 6.0

total 48,205 45,324 6.4

chAnGes in provision For uneArned premiums

€ million 2008 2007

Balance as at Jan. 1 1,039 1,064

Additions 1,139 1,120

Utilizations/reversals -1,144 -1,141

Other changes in measurement -17 -4

Changes in the scope of consolidation 44 –

Balance as at dec. 31 1,061 1,039

chAnGes in BeneFit reserve

€ million 2008 2007

Balance as at Jan. 1 30,545 28,903

Additions 3,926 3,525

Interest component 1,088 1,049

Utilizations/reversals -3,367 -3,001

Other changes in measurement -10 -7

Changes attributable to currency translation – -1

Changes in the scope of consolidation 2,069 77

Balance as at dec. 31 34,251 30,545

» 61
insurAnce  
liABilities

BAlAnce As At decemBer 31, 2007

€ million
≤ 3 months > 3 months

– 1 year
> 1 year 

– 5 years
> 5 years indefinite

Provisions for onerous contracts 1 1 2 14 –

Provisions for restructuring costs 2 35 30 – –

Provisions for loan commitments – – 59 – –

Remaining provisions 80 63 205 298 7

total 83 99 296 312 7
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€ million

dec. 31. 
2008

dec. 31. 
2007

change  
(%)

Other liabilities held by insurance companies 4.059 3.535 14.8

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 99 106 -6.6

Accruals 720 835 -13.8

Other payables 609 331 84.0

Residual other liabilities 476 414 15.0

total 5.963 5.221 14.2

Other payables include compensation payment obligations of €52 million (December 31. 
2007: €44 million) to the minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries with which there is a 
profit transfer agreement.

» 62
other liABilities

chAnGes in the provision For clAims outstAndinG

€ million 2008 2007

Balance as at Jan. 1 4,651 4,415

Claim expenses 3,605 3,358

less payments -3,305 -3,108

Changes attributable to currency translation -4 -14

Changes in the scope of consolidation 132 –

Balance as at dec. 31 5,079 4,651

chAnGes in reserve For deFerred policy holder pArticipAtion

€ million 2008 2007

Balance as at Jan. 1 5,778 5,593

Additions 450 913

Utilizations/reversals -700 -595

Changes resulting from unrealized gains and losses on investments  
(directly in equity) -1,058 -194

Changes resulting from other remeasurements (through profit or loss) -383 60

Changes in the scope of consolidation 235 1

Balance as at dec. 31 4,322 5,778
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The breakdown of other liabilities held by insurance companies is as follows:

€ million

dec. 31. 
2008

dec. 31. 
2007

change  
(%)

other provisions of the insurance companies 224 223 0.4

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 127 164 -22.6

Remaining provisions of insurance companies 97 59 64.4

other liabilities of the insurance companies 3,835 3,312 15.8

Subordinated capital 33 33 -

Deposits received from reinsurers 192 96 100.0

Payables arising out of direct insurance operations 1,995 1,611 23.8

Payables arising out of reinsurance operations 158 139 13.7

Debt certificates including bonds 23 22 4.5

Deposits from banks 129 130 -0.8

Derivative financial instruments (negative fair values) 49 17 > 100.0

Other payables of insurance companies 862 1,233 -30.1

Residual other liabilities of insurance companies 394 31 > 100.0

total 4,059 3,535 14.8

Other payables of insurance companies mainly comprise liabilities of €785 million  
(December 31, 2007: €781 million) resulting from capitalization transactions. They also  
include trade payables and finance lease liabilities.

» 63
suBordinAted 
cApitAl

€ million

dec. 31. 
2008

dec. 31. 
2007

change  
(%)

Subordinated liabilities 2,697 2,117 27.4

Liabilities to dormant partners 600 806 -25.6

Profit-sharing rights 1,589 1,492 6.5

Other hybrid capital 358 340 5.3

Share capital repayable on demand 64 59 8.5

total 5,308 4,814 10.3
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» 64
equity

SubSCrIbED CApITAL

The subscribed capital of DZ BANK consists of 1,164,779,707 registered non-par value 
shares each with an imputed value of €2.60. All shares in issue are fully paid. For the year 2007 
DZ BANK paid a dividend of €0.13 per share in the year under review (2007: €0.13).

AuThOrIzED CApITAL

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK is authorized, subject to the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by August 31, 2011 on one or more occasions 
by up a total of €50 million by way of issuing new registered non-par value shares in return 
for cash or non-cash contributions. The Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject 
to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscripion right of shareholders 
both in the case of capital increases in return for non-cash contributions and in the case of 
capital increases in return for cash contributions if the capital is increased for the purpose of 
–  issuing new shares to employees of the company (employee shares), 
–  issuing new shares to one or more cooperative banks which, measured in terms of their  

total assets, directly and indirectly have a below-average stake in the corporation’s share  
capital, i.e. less than 0.5 percent of their total assets (using the nominal value of €2.60 per  
DZ BANK share), 

–  acquiring companies, equity investments in companies or for granting equity investments in 
the corporation in order to back strategic partnerships.

The Board of Managing Directors is also authorized, subject to the approval of the Super- 
visory Board, to exclude fractions from the subscription right of shareholders (“Authorized  
Capital I”).

In addition the Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject to the approval of the  
Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by August 31, 2011 on one or more occasions 
by up to a total of €200 million by issuing new registered non-par value shares in return for 
cash contributions. The Board of Managing Directors is authorized, subject to the approval  
of the Supervisory Board, to exclude fractions from the subscription right of shareholders  
(“Authorized Capital II”).

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK did not make use of any of these authorized 
actions in the year under review.

DISCLOSurES ON ShArEhOLDErS

At the end of the year under review, approximately 95.6 percent (December 31, 2007:  
95.4 percent) of shares were held by cooperative enterprises. These cooperative enterprises  
include the cooperative banks, the cooperative central institutions and other legal entities and 
trading companies economically associated with the cooperative movement or cooperative 
housing sector. 
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CApITAL rESErvES

Capital reserves comprise the amounts from the issue of DZ BANK shares in excess of the 
imputed par value of the shares. 

rETAINED EArNINgS

Retained earnings comprise earned, undistributed consolidated profit together with actuarial 
gains and losses on defined benefit obligations and plan assets after taking into account deferred 
taxes. 

rEvALuATION rESErvE

The revaluation reserve shows changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets  
after allowing for deferred taxes. Gains and losses are only recognized in profit or loss when 
the relevant asset is sold or an impairment has been identified.

CASh FLOw hEDgE rESErvE

The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the gains and losses on the remeasurement of hedging 
instruments attributable to the effective portion of the hedge after taking into account deferred 
taxes. Cash flows hedged in this way comprise cash inflows and cash outflows projected to 
take place over the years 2009 to 2012. Reclassifications from the reserve are recognized in net 
interest income and in income taxes.

CurrENCy TrANSLATION rESErvE

The currency translation reserve is the result of the translation of financial statements of  
subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency into Euro (the group reporting currency).

MINOrITy INTErEST

Minority interest comprises the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to DZ BANK. 
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D  Financial instruments disclosures 

Financial assets as at December 31, 2008

measured at fair value measured at
(amortized) cost

Other  
financial  

instruments

€ million

Held for 
trading

Fair value 
option

Available-  
for-sale

Loans  
and 

receivables

Available-  
for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents – – – 2,139 – –

Loans and  
advances to banks1 – 3,523 – 66,238 – –

Loans and advances to 
customers1 – 6,165 – 104,050 – 4,951

Derivatives used  
for hedging  
(positive fair values) – – – – – 694

Financial assets held  
for trading 114,443 – – – – –

Investments – 20,298 32,103 12,253 700 968

Investments held by 
insurance companies 1,084 787 17,774 24,230 – 4,174

Other assets – – – 1,157 – 441

Fair value changes  
of the hedged items in 
portfolio hedges of 
interest-rate risk – – – 161 – –

total 115,527 30,773 49,877 210,228 700 11,228

 
1 Carrying amounts less allowances for losses on loans and advances

Financial liabilities as at December 31, 2008

measured at fair value measured at
amortized 

cost

Other  
financial  

instruments

€ million

Held for 
trading

Fair value 
option

Deposits from banks – 10,235 49,397 –

Amounts owed to other depositors – 12,744 64,772 –

Debt certificates including bonds – 12,777 52,319 429

Derivatives used for hedging  
(negative fair values) – – – 992

Financial liabilities held for trading 152,729 – – –

Other liabilities 49 – 1,620 2,480

Subordinated capital – 766 4,542 –

Fair value changes of the hedged items in 
portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk – – -145 –

total 152,778 36,522 172,505 3,901

» 65
categOrizatiOn  
OF Financial  
instruments
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Financial assets as at December 31, 2007

measured at fair value measured at
(amortized) cost

Other  
financial  

instruments

€ million

Held for 
trading

Fair value 
option

Available- 
for-sale

Loans  
and 

receivables

Available-  
for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents – – – 1,392 – –

Loans and  
advances to banks1 – 4,553 – 62,839 – 49

Loans and advances to 
customers1 – 4,177 – 95,728 – 4,670

Derivatives used  
for hedging  
(positive fair values) – – – – – 557

Financial assets held  
for trading 130,025 – – – –

–

Investments – 21,578 41,535 8,368 625 851

Investments held by 
insurance companies 205 805 19,930 21,406 – 4,074

Other assets – – – 704 – 385

total 130,230 31,113 61,465 190,437 625 10,586
 
1 Carrying amounts less allowances for losses on loans and advances

Financial liabilities as at December 31, 2007

measured at fair value measured at
amortized 

cost

Other  
financial  

instruments

€ million

Held for 
trading

Fair value 
option

Deposits from banks – 11,287 46,648 –

Amounts owed to other depositors – 12,348 65,247 –

Debt certificates including bonds – 9,421 53,018 557

Derivatives used for hedging  
(negative fair values) – – – 622

Financial liabilities held for trading 163,196 – – –

Other liabilities 17 – 1,713 1,988

Subordinated capital – 254 4,560 –

Fair value changes of the hedged items in 
portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk – – -190 –

total 163,213 33,310 170,996 3,167
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» 66
Financial  
instruments  
DesignateD as at 
Fair value thrOugh 
prOFit Or lOss 

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

maximum exposure to credit risk of loans and receivables designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss 10,555 9,539 10.7

Loans and advances to banks 3,523 4,553 -22.6

Loans and advances to customers 6,165 4,177 47.6

Investments 206 117 76.1

Investments held by insurance companies 661 692 -4.5

mitigation of credit risk 4,612 7,221 -36.1

Credit derivatives 36 63 -42.9

Other instruments to mitigate credit risk 4,576 7,158 -36.1

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equivalent to fair value and therefore to the carrying 
amount of loans and receivables. Other instruments to mitigate credit risk comprise financial  
guarantees provided by affiliated banks. These financial guarantees are not recognized on the 
balance sheet.

The following changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss are attributable to changes in 
the credit risk and from credit derivatives:

changes during the 
reporting period

cumulative changes

€ million
2008 2007 Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Loans and receivables -64 – -64 –

Credit derivatives -2 3 8 10

Financial liabilities 84 24 108 24

The changes in fair value resulting from credit risks are determined by gathering the changes 
in fair value not attributable to changes in market conditions or by using credit spreads, 
which form part of the calculation of fair value as a separate input.
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During the course of the year under review, important securities markets became inactive or 
became paralyzed to the extent that any possible sale proceeds were significantly below the  
estimated future cash inflows. The crisis in the financial markets also resulted in defaults on 
securities from Lehman Brothers and a number of Icelandic issuers. As a consequence of  
the inactivity in the markets, some of the assets held for trading are no longer held with the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in near term and therefore the financial instruments con-
cerned were reclassified. Available-for-sale financial assets were also reclassified because the 
DZ BANK Group now intends to hold these financial instruments for the foreseeable future.

In the year under review, financial instruments with a carrying amount of €2,949 million at 
the date of reclassification were reclassified from the “available-for-sale financial assets” cate-
gory to the “loans and receivables” category. Financial instruments were also reclassified from 
“financial assets held for trading” to “loans and receivables” and to “available-for-sale financial 
assets”, the carrying amounts concerned being €135 million and €45 million respectively.

As at the balance sheet date, the reclassified financial instruments still recognized on the bal-
ance sheet had a total carrying amount of €3,254 million and a total fair value of €2,797 mil-
lion.

A net loss of €-303 million was recognized in the income statement in respect of gains and 
losses on the fair value measurement through profit or loss of reclassified financial instruments. 
The gains and losses on the remeasurement of these financial instruments in 2007 produced a 
net loss of €-67 million. In the year under review, a net loss of €-297 million was taken to  
equity in respect of gains and losses on the fair value measurement of available-for-sale finan-
cial assets.  In 2007, the fair value measurement of these financial instruments produced a net 
loss of €-212 million, which was taken to equity. 

If these reclassifications had not been carried out, an additional net loss of €-28 million would 
have been recognized in the income statement from gains and losses on fair value measure-
ment. In addition, without the reclassification of available-for-sale financial assets, a further 
net loss of €-548 million from remeasurement gains and losses would have been taken to  
equity. 

» 67
reclassiFicatiOns

The following overview shows the fair value of financial liabilities designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss compared with the amounts contractually required to be paid at matu-
rity to the holder of the obligation:

Fair value amount repayable

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

Deposits from banks 10,235 11,287 10,133 11,492

Amounts owed to other depositors 12,744 12,348 12,338 12,397

Debt certificates including bonds 12,777 9,421 13,243 9,776

Subordinated capital 766 254 716 244

total 36,522 33,310 36,430 33,909
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Under sale and repurchase agreements (repo transactions) in which the bank acts as a seller, 
bonds and other fixed-income securities that form part of financial assets held for trading  
and investments are temporarily sold with a commitment to repurchase the assets at a later 
date. As at the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of securities subject to such sale and 
repurchase agreements were:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change  

(%)

Financial assets held for trading 10,162 30,187 -66.3

Investments 4,761 8,435 -43.6

total 14,923 38,622 -61.4

The carrying amounts of liabilities arising from sale and repurchase agreements in which the 
bank acted as a seller were: 

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change  

(%)

Deposits from banks 4,689 8,089 -42.0

Amounts owed to other depositors 249 453 -45.0

Financial liabilities held for trading 9,728 30,012 -67.6

total 14,666 38,554 -62.0

The liabilities under sale and repurchase agreements included in financial liabilities held for 
trading are money market deposits.

As at the balance sheet date, the fair value of bonds and other fixed-income securities pur-
chased under reverse repo transactions amounted to €17,011 million (December 31, 2007: 
€22,980 million). The receivables under reverse repo transactions amounted to €16,884 mil-
lion (December 31, 2007: €22,980 million) and are recognized as money market placements 
within financial assets held for trading.

» 68
sale anD  
repurchase  
agreements

A net loss of €-63 million recognized in the income statement was attributable to the  
reclassified financial instruments.

The range of effective interest rates for the reclassified financial instruments at the time of re-
classification was 2.7 to 79.0 percent. At the time of reclassification, cash flows amounting to 
€4,164 million were estimated to be achievable for the reclassified financial instruments.
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» 69
cOntinuing 
invOlvements

» 70
securities  
lenDing

» 71
cOllateral

As at the balance sheet date, loans and advances to customers of €448 million (December 31, 
2007: €574 million) had been transferred, but these transfers did not meet the derecognition 
criteria in IAS 39. The loans and advances to customers are finance lease receivables.  
Significant risks are retained in connection with these leases in the form of credit risk. The  
finance lease receivables continue to be recognized on the balance sheet in their entirety. There 
are debt certificates amounting to €429 million (December 31, 2007: €557 million) associated 
with these receivables.

The carrying amount of securities within financial assets held for trading that have been lent 
under securities lending arrangements is as follows:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change  

(%)

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 25 70 -64.3

Shares and other variable-yield securities 7 156 -95.5

total 32 226 -85.8

The fair value of securities borrowed under securities lending arrangements is as follows:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change  

(%)

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 632 1,197 -47.2

Shares and other variable-yield securities 465 8 > 100.0

total 1,097 1,205 -9.0

Collateral pleDgeD

As at the balance sheet date, the breakdown of the carrying amount of assets pledged as  
collateral by the group was as follows:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change  

(%)

Loans and advances to banks 25,690 23,802 7.9

Financial assets held for trading 9,519 3,961 > 100.0

Investments 8,595 22,007 -60.9

total 43,804 49,770 -12.0

191DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAL repOrt
CONSOLIDAteD FINANCIAL StAtemeNtS
NOteS



» 72
items OF incOme,  
expense, gains 
anD lOsses

The loans and advances to banks pledged as collateral are primarily loans passed on to  
affiliated banks as part of development program loans from Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau. 
Securities and money market placements recognized as financial assets held for trading are 
pledged as collateral for exchange-traded forward transactions and non-exchange-traded de-
rivative financial instruments. Open market transactions with domestic and foreign central 
banks are secured by investments, as shown in the table above.

Collateral helD

DZ BANK Group holds foreign mortgage rights with a fair value of €60 million (Decem-
ber 31, 2007: €34 million) as collateral for loans and advances to customers, which are per-
mitted to be sold in absence of default by the owner. 

Net gaiNs aND losses

The breakdown of net gains or net losses on financial instruments by IAS 39 category for  
financial assets and financial liabilities is as follows.

€ million
2008 2007 change 

(%)

Financial instruments as at fair value through  
profit or loss -1,093 -812 34.6

Financial instruments held for trading -1,671 -964 73.3

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through  
profit or loss 578 152 > 100.0

available-for-sale financial assets 667 3,101 -78.5

loans and receivables 9,062 8,414 7.7

Financial liabilities measured at  
amortized cost -7,800 -6,850 13.9

Net gains or net losses comprise gains and losses on fair value measurement through profit or 
loss, impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses, and gains and losses on the sale or 
early repayment of the financial instruments concerned. These items also include interest  
income and expense, current income, income from profit-pooling, profit-transfer agreements, 
partial profit-transfer agreements, and expenses from the transfer of losses.

iNterest iNCome aND expeNse

The following total interest income and expense arose in connection with financial assets and 
financial liabilities that are not as at fair value through profit or loss:
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If financial assets and financial liabilities are quoted in an active market, the fair value is based 
on the relevant market price as at the balance sheet date. For example, this applies to exchange-
traded options and futures as well as the vast majority of quoted shares, investment fund units, 
government bonds, bank bonds, corporate bonds, and Pfandbriefe held by the DZ BANK 
Group. As at the balance sheet date, there were no longer any active markets for some financial 
instruments as a result of market disruption. Various valuation techniques were used instead to 
determine the fair value of the financial instruments affected. In the case of investment fund 
units recognized as financial assets held for trading or as investments, the fair value is taken 
from the redemption prices published by the relevant fund management companies.

The fair value of receivables, securities and liabilities not quoted in an active market, of un-
quoted derivatives, and of financial instruments quoted in partially inactive markets is deter-
mined on the basis of recognized measurement models. For the purposes of measurement, 
structured products are broken down into their constituent components. The discounted 
cash flow method is usually used as the measurement model for non-derivative financial in-
struments. In this method, discount rates are customized in order to take into account credit 
risks. Options are measured using recognized option pricing models such as the Black-Scholes 
model. The measurement models rely on measurement parameters that are primarily based 
on observable market data, such as interest rates, and credit and liquidity spreads. In the case 
of unreliable market prices in illiquid markets, non-observable parameters or substitute values 
are estimated for use in measurement models.

This does not apply to selected individual transactions forming part of a product launch that 
have not yet been fully integrated into the standard measurement process, nor to packaging 
transactions that are fully hedged against volatility by means of an offsetting transaction of 
identical design.  

A consequence of the deepening crisis in the financial markets during 2008 was that available 
pricing indicators for asset-backed securities were no longer appropriate, or at least the useful-
ness of such indicators became extremely limited. Against this background, the fair value of 
asset-backed securities was determined using a discounted cash flow approach appropriate for 
use in illiquid markets. This approach requires the determination of key parameters including 
the total spread to be used for discounting purposes. This spread includes components taking 
into account credit risk and liquidity risk. The measurement of the spread appropriate to  
the current circumstances is initially based on the last values observed in an active market.  
If there are no observable changes in the probability of default in the market, then the spread 
is retained. Otherwise, any changes in the probability of default are taken into account,  
provided that these changes are observable on the basis of changes in the external rating of the 
securities concerned. If a rating migration has taken place, the credit risk and liquidity risk  
components used in the measurement are those applicable to the new rating class.

In the case of financial instruments payable on demand, the fair value is equivalent to the  
carrying amount. This applies specifically to current account balances and demand deposits.

» 73
Fair values

€ million

2008 2007 change  
(%)

Interest income 10,774 9,733 10.7

Interest expense -7,801 -6,852 13.8

193DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAL repOrt
CONSOLIDAteD FINANCIAL StAtemeNtS
NOteS



The following table shows fair values determined as at the balance sheet date:

Fair value carrying amount

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,139 1,392 2,139 1,392

Loans and advances to banks1 71,127 66,323 69,761 67,441

Loans and advances to customers1 117,818 105,722 115,166 104,575

Derivatives used for hedging  
(positive fair values) 694 557 694 557

Financial assets held for trading 114,443 130,025 114,443 130,025

Investments2 64,807 71,939 65,354 72,106

Investments held by insurance companies2 43,983 42,186 43,875 42,346

Other assets2 1,157 704 1,157 704

Fair value changes of the hedged items  
in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk 161 –

liabilities

Deposits from banks 59,895 56,369 59,632 57,935

Amounts owed to other depositors 77,892 77,795 77,516 77,595

Debt certificates including bonds 65,966 62,544 65,525 62,996

Derivatives used for hedging 
(negative fair values) 992 622 992 622

Financial liabilities held for trading 152,729 163,196 152,729 163,196

Other liabilities2 1,804 1,872 1,804 1,872

Subordinated capital 5,521 5,089 5,308 4,814

Fair value changes of the hedged items  
in portfolio hedges of interest-rate risk -145 -190

1 Carrying amounts less allowances for losses on loans and advances  
2 Fair value and carrying amount only include financial instruments within the scope of IFrS 7

The fair values shown do not include assets and liabilities resulting from the home savings 
business. Given the complex structure of home savings contracts, these fair values cannot be 
reliably determined using either comparable market values or suitable option pricing  models. 
The purpose of the building society management models developed in practice is solely to 
support the overall management of the bank; these models do not provide an adequate basis for 
the measurement of fair values as required by IFRS. On the basis of the management model 
of the building society the overall performance of the home savings business in the year under 
review was positive.

The fair value reported under investments held by insurance companies relates to fixed- 
income securities matched as cover for long-term insurance-related obligations as part of  
insurance operations. These instruments are normally held to maturity and interest-rate- 
related changes in fair value have no impact on profit or loss. The reported fair values take 
into account potential tax effects and the recognition of a reserve for deferred policy holder 
participation.
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» 74
Fair value  
hierarchy

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into three levels in a fair value  
hierarchy.

In level 1, fair value is measured using quoted prices in active markets for the financial instru-
ment concerned (quoted market prices). Fair values in level 2 are based on prices in active 
markets for comparable financial instruments or are determined using a measurement method 
in which the measurement parameters are based on observable market data (measurement 
method predominantly based on market data). Level 3 involves the measurement of fair value 
using measurement methods based on non-observable market data (measurement method not  
predominantly based on market data).

In the year under review, the breakdown by hierarchy level of the carrying amounts of finan-
cial instruments recognized on the balance sheet at fair value was as follows:

€ million

Quoted 
market 

prices

measu-
rement 

method  
predo-

minantly 
based on 

market data

measu-
rement 

method 
not predo-

minantly 
based on 

market data

Financial assets measured at fair value 74,796 108,740 13,335

Loans and advances to banks – 3,523 –

Loans and advances to customers – 6,161 4

Derivatives used for hedging (positive fair values) – 694 –

Financial assets held for trading 44,364 62,787 7,292

Investments 13,834 32,536 6,031

Investments held by insurance companies 16,598 3,039 8

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 33,569 153,578 3,145

Deposits from banks – 10,235 –

Amounts owed to other depositors – 12,744 –

Debt certificates including bonds 1,854 8,466 2,457

Derivatives used for hedging (negative fair values) 16 976 –

Financial liabilities held for trading 31,580 120,461 688

Other liabilities 7 42 –

Subordinated capital 112 654 –

The net gains or net losses recognized on the fair value measurement of financial instruments 
in level 3 in 2008 was €755 million (2007: €1 million).

The DZ BANK Group uses derivatives primarily for hedging of changes in interest rates, ex-
change rates, and market prices, as well as for trading purposes. As at the balance sheet date, the 
breakdown of the portfolio of derivative financial instruments was as follows:

» 75
Derivatives  
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nominal amount market value 

time to maturity total amount positive Negative

€ million
≤ 1 year > 1 year 

– 5 years
> 5 years Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007

interest-linkeD  
cOntracts 265,970 406,157 362,966 1,035,093 1,135,600 21,543 13,633 24,330 15,440

Otc products

FrAs 17,679 – – 17,679 18,775 20 2 26 4

Interest-rate swaps 195,690 357,433 327,512 880,635 956,596 20,138 12,819 20,958 13,444

Interest-rate options – call 8,549 19,976 13,677 42,202 52,910 1,369 810 – –

Interest-rate options – put 12,690 26,025 21,777 60,492 82,376 – – 3,342 1,987

Other interest-rate contracts 486 73 – 559 693 14 1 2 4

exchange-traded products

Interest-rate futures 30,876 2,650 – 33,526 23,522 2 – 2 –

Interest-rate options – – – – 728 – 1 – 1

currency-linkeD  
cOntracts 66,915 4,821 40 71,776 70,810 1,655 737 1,196 716

Otc products

Forward forex transactions 56,672 3,128 27 59,827 55,018 1,352 566 912 505

Forex options – call 5,071 932 13 6,016 8,190 300 171 – –

Forex options – put 5,127 761 – 5,888 7,583 – – 283 211

exchange-traded products

Forex futures 28 – – 28 18 – – – –

Forex options 17 – – 17 1 3 – 1 –

share-/inDex-linkeD  
cOntracts 102,855 14,365 472 117,692 31,176 1,726 1,025 4,398 1,649

Otc products

Share/index options – call 695 923 – 1,618 5,058 184 237 – –

Share/index options – put 1,171 771 – 1,942 4,350 – – 656 134

Other share/index  
contracts 2,861 6,940 393 10,194 12,958 208 642 944 879

exchange-traded products

Share/index futures 1,338 2 – 1,340 471 – – 3 –

Share/index options 96,790 5,729 79 102,598 8,339 1,334 146 2,795 636

Other cOntracts 6,438 17,346 5,325 29,109 19,315 1,808 547 1,070 395

Otc products

Cross-currency swaps 5,180 16,660 5,325 27,165 18,648 1,767 483 1,025 358

precious metal contracts 29 – – 29 51 1 5 1 –

Commodities contracts 113 579 – 692 434 38 48 36 16

Other contracts – – – – 6 – 2 – 2

exchange-traded products

Futures 42 1 – 43 52 – – – –

Options 1,074 106 – 1,180 124 2 9 8 19

creDit Derivatives 19,504 72,476 17,925 109,905 72,852 3,254 753 3,588 411

protection buyer

Credit default swaps 6,067 35,051 8,990 50,108 37,341 3,208 648 88 63

protection seller

Credit default swaps 13,437 37,425 8,575 59,437 35,171 26 55 3,377 348

total return swaps – – 360 360 340 20 50 123 –

total 461,682 515,165 386,728 1,363,575 1,329,753 29,986 16,695 34,582 18,611
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» 76
nature anD 
extent OF risks 
arising FrOm 
Financial  
instruments

» 77
cOntractual  
maturity  
analysis

With the exception of the contractual maturity analysis as required by IFRS 7.39(a), the dis-
closures on the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments (IFRS 7.31-42) 
are included in the risk report within the group management report. The contractual maturity 
analysis can be found in note 77.

as at December 31, 2008

€ million

≤ 1 month > 1 
month – 

 3 months

> 3 
months
– 1 year

> 1 year 
– 5 years

> 5 years indefinite

Financial assets 54,250 23,373 47,081 175,906 164,353 11,773

Cash and cash equivalents 2,139 – – – – –

Loans and advances to banks 4,967 3,111 11,764 28,642 32,459 108

Loans and advances to customers 20,249 7,958 14,960 57,382 34,089 1,110

Derivatives used for hedging  
(positive fair values) 27 -5 140 436 170 –

Financial assets held for trading 24,168 8,538 11,981 38,712 29,183 2,393

Investments 1,106 1,956 4,704 31,154 32,712 2,512

Investments held by insurance companies 480 1,648 3,421 19,431 35,740 5,580

Other assets 1,114 167 111 149 – 70

Financial liabilities -87,297 -30,878 -50,948 -98,654 -85,380 -36,055

Deposits from banks -7,792 -6,938 -7,323 -20,518 -23,227 -130

Amounts owed to other depositors -11,272 -2,368 -4,342 -10,776 -26,712 -30,542

Debt certificates including bonds -4,963 -4,662 -12,361 -34,949 -15,019 –

Derivatives used for hedging  
(negative fair values) -12 -14 -44 -323 -603 –

Financial liabilities held for trading -62,116 -16,617 -26,158 -28,445 -16,439 -4,185

Other liabilities -630 -224 -265 -935 -1,199 -802

Subordinated capital -512 -55 -455 -2,708 -2,181 -396

Financial guarantee contracts  
and loan commitments -27,897 -3 -15 -24 -38 -2

As at the balance sheet date, the financial instruments held by the DZ BANK Group involved 
the following counterparties:

market value 

€ million

positive Negative

Dec. 31, 
2008

Dec. 31, 
2007

Dec. 31, 
2008

Dec. 31, 
2007

OeCD central governments 55 11 16 25

OeCD banks 26,535 15,742 32,561 17,801

OeCD financial services institutions 754 388 37 22

Other companies, private individuals 2,577 535 1,767 751

Non-OeCD banks 65 19 201 12

total 29,986 16,695 34,582 18,611
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as at December 31, 2007

€ million

≤ 1 month > 1 
month –  

3 months

> 3 
months
– 1 year

> 1 year
– 5 years

> 5 years indefinite

Financial assets 50,832 26,617 51,855 171,250 160,073 13,198

Cash and cash equivalents 1,392 – – – – –

Loans and advances to banks 4,266 3,810 10,590 27,048 27,528 –

Loans and advances to customers 13,389 7,338 15,410 54,657 34,772 210

Derivatives used for hedging  
(positive fair values) -1 17 24 301 233 –

Financial assets held for trading 28,654 11,686 16,459 43,485 29,350 1,237

Investments 1,809 2,583 6,902 31,073 38,078 2,656

Investments held by insurance companies 883 855 2,447 14,474 30,100 9,021

Other assets 440 328 23 212 12 74

Financial liabilities -104,037 -38,869 -46,689 -87,745 -78,127 -33,051

Deposits from banks -17,431 -5,551 -7,297 -12,935 -15,205 -158

Amounts owed to other depositors -10,658 -2,291 -2,948 -11,845 -27,035 -31,680

Debt certificates including bonds -2,569 -4,196 -14,149 -32,203 -17,096 –

Derivatives used for hedging  
(negative fair values) -1 -17 -89 -177 -395 –

Financial liabilities held for trading -71,692 -26,629 -21,233 -27,241 -16,631 -531

Other liabilities -1,038 -143 -274 -1,061 -801 -309

Subordinated capital -648 -42 -699 -2,283 -964 -373

Financial guarantee contracts and loan 
commitments -28,537 -4 -11 -50 -18 –

In the contractual maturity analysis, contractually agreed cash inflows are shown with a plus 
sign, and contractually agreed cash outflows with a minus sign. In the case of financial  
guarantee contracts and loan commitments, the potential cash outflows are shown.

The remaining contractual maturities do not match the estimated actual cash inflows and 
cash outflows, especially in the case of financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments. 
The DZ BANK Group’s liquidity risk management system is described in the risk report 
within the group management report.
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€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

Financial guarantee contracts 5,972 6,740 -11.4

Loan guarantees 2,774 3,439 -19.3

Letters of credit 351 547 -35.8

Other guarantees and warranties 2,847 2,754 3.4

loan commitments 22,007 21,880 0.6

Credit facilities to banks 2,495 2,428 2.8

Credit facilities to customers 6,857 6,593 4.0

Guarantee credits 81 54 50.0

Letters of credit 121 158 -23.4

Global limits 12,453 12,647 -1.5

total 27,979 28,620 -2.2

The amounts shown for financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments are the nominal 
values of the exposure in each case.

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

Contingent liabilities from placement and underwriting obligations 5 – –

Other contingent liabilities 13 13 –

total 18 13 38.5

e  other disclosures

Assets and liabilities held as part of trust activities do not satisfy the criteria for recognition on 
the balance sheet. The following table shows the breakdown for trust activities:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

trust assets 2,550 2,927 -12.9

Loans and advances to banks 708 1,037 -31.7

Loans and advances to customers 708 725 -2.3

Other 1,134 1,165 -2.7

trust liabilities 2,550 2,927 -12.9

Deposits from banks 883 886 -0.3

Amounts owed to other depositors 1,667 2,041 -18.3

» 78
cOntingent  
liabilities

» 79
Financial  
guarantee  
cOntracts  
anD lOan  
cOmmitments

» 80
trust activities
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€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

Fund assets 132,730 158,972 -16.5

Other types of asset management 63,190 18,702 > 100.0

unit-linked asset management 28 2,673 -99.0

Institutional asset management 2,116 3,971 -46.7

Advisory and outsourcing 59,352 9,279 > 100.0

private banking 1,694 2,779 -39.0

accounts managed by third parties -51,745 -3,167 > 100.0

total 144,175 174,507 -17.4

As at the balance sheet date, Union Investment Group (through Union Asset Management 
Holding AG) had total assets under management of €144,175 million (December 31, 2007: 
€174,507 million). The fund assets comprise equity funds, fixed-income funds, money market 
funds, mixed funds, other securities funds, capital preservation funds, hedge funds, real estate 
funds and funds of funds issued by Union Investment Group. 

Union Investment Group also manages assets as part of the following operations: unit-linked 
asset management, institutional asset management, advisory and outsourcing, and private 
banking. The fund value of funds not managed by the issuing fund management company is 
shown as a deduction. The definition of assets under management is based on the aggregate 
statistics from the Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management e.V. (BVI).

Under the amended BVI presentation for 2008, advisory and outsourcing within Union In-
vestment Group are shown under both advisory and outsourcing and accounts managed by 
third parties. The 2007 figures using the present BVI system were as follows: advisory and out-
sourcing, €70,477 million; accounts managed by third parties, €-64,365 million.

Assets managed on behalf of group companies are included in the above figures. Some of 
these assets are accounted for in accordance with SIC-12. To avoid discrepancies compared 
with the BVI aggregate statistics, the fund values for IPConcept Fund Management S.A., 
Luxembourg-Strassen, a non-consolidated company, have also been included in the figures 
presented above.

Effective September 30, 2008, the DZ BANK Group acquired control over the companies in 
the Condor Insurance Group via its R+V Versicherung subgroup. The principal companies  
in this group are: Condor Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG (all shares and voting rights acquired), 
Condor Lebensversicherungs-AG (95 percent of shares and voting rights acquired), and  
Optima Versicherungs-AG (all shares and voting rights acquired). The registered offices of all 

» 81
asset manage-
ment by uniOn 
investment grOup 

» 82
business  
cOmbinatiOns

Trust assets and trust liabilities include loans on a trust basis amounting to €988 million  
(December 31, 2007: €1,033 million).
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these companies are in Hamburg. The acquisition cost incurred by the R+V subgroup amounted 
to €208 million. This figure includes transaction costs of €2 million directly attributable to 
the acquisition. 

The acquired assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities were recognized on the date of acqui-
sition at fair value. The following table shows a comparison of these fair values against the  
corresponding carrying amounts immediately prior to the business combination.

€ million
Fair value carrying 

amount

Investments held by insurance companies 3,098 3,098

Other assets held by insurance companies 450 363

Insurance liabilities 2,549 2,549

Other liabilities held by insurance companies 837 811

In terms of the multiplicative shareholding of the DZ BANK Group, this business combination 
resulted in a goodwill of €37 million.

The goodwill is fully allocated to the Insurance cash-generating unit, which is the same as the  
Insurance segment.

Since the acquisition, the Condor Insurance Group has increased the net profit of the  
DZ BANK Group by €2 million. 

In the year under review, VR LEASING acquired additional shares in VR FACTOREM GmbH, 
Eschborn, as a result of which the DZ BANK Group acquired control over this company.  
The acquisition led to the recognition of a goodwill of €12 million in the DZ BANK Group. 

Further goodwill was recognized in 2008 as a result of the acquisition of additional shares in 
existing consolidated subsidiaries and following business combinations at subgroup level.

In 2007, there had been additions to goodwill in connection with three business combinations 
at R+V Versicherung subgroup and DVB subgroup levels and following the acquisition of  
additional shares in DVB Bank SE, a company already fully consolidated in the group.

The main factors leading to the recognition of goodwill are expectations of future income and 
synergies as well as the acquisition of intangible assets that do not satisfy the criteria for recog-
nition under IFRS and therefore have to be allocated to goodwill.

Goodwill arising from business combinations or increases in investments in consolidated sub-
sidiaries is allocated to cash-generating units. The cash-generating units are the segments. The 
allocation of goodwill to the cash generating units is as follows: Bank, €50 million (Decem-
ber 31, 2007: €20 million); Insurance, €49 million (December 31, 2007: €12 million); and 
Retail, €2 million (December 31, 2007: €0 million).
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FiNaNCe leases

the Dz bank grOup as lessOr

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

gross investment 5,787 5,391 7.3

up to 1 year 1,847 1,786 3.4

more than 1 year up to 5 years 3,371 3,221 4.7

more than 5 years 569 384 48.2

less unearned finance income -825 -666 23.9

Net investment 4,962 4,725 5.0

less present value of unguaranteed residual values -53 -42 26.2

present value of minimum lease payment receivables 4,909 4,683 4.8

up to 1 year 1,584 1,532 3.4

more than 1 year up to 5 years 2,885 2,828 2.0

more than 5 years 440 323 36.2

As at the balance sheet date, the accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimum lease pay-
ments at lessor companies amounted to €11 million (December 31, 2007: €7 million).

Within the DZ BANK Group, the DVB and VR LEASING subgroups are active as lessors. 
The companies in the DVB subgroup focus primarily on finance leases for ships, ship 
containers, aircraft, and aircraft engines. As in 2007, the leases in existence in 2008 were for 

» 83
leases

Goodwill is regularly tested for possible impairment in the last quarter of the fiscal year. If 
there are any indications of possible impairment, more frequent impairment tests are also  
carried out. In an impairment test, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the goodwill is allocated is compared with the relevant recoverable amount. For the purposes 
of the test, the goodwill is notionally increased by the minority interest. If the recoverable 
amount exceeds the carrying amount, no impairment of the goodwill is recognized. The  
recoverable amount is determined as the value in use of the cash-generating unit. Value in use 
is based on the group’s five-year plan, from which estimated future cash inflows can be  
derived. Cash inflows beyond the end of the planning period are estimated using a constant 
rate of growth. The value in use for a cash-generating unit is produced by discounting these 
cash flows back to the date of the impairment test. As in 2007, no impairment was identified 
in the year under review. 

Sensitivity analyses are also carried out in which parameters relevant to the calculation of 
value in use (cash flows, discount rate, growth rate) are modified within a plausible range of 
values. No impairment was identified within any of these scenarios.
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terms of up to 12 years. The leases entered into by the companies in the VR LEASING 
subgroup for the most part comprise partial-payout leases, full-payout leases, and cancelable 
leases; these companies also enter into hire purchase agreements.

the Dz bank grOup as lessee

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

total future minimum lease payments 64 70 -8.6

up to 1 year 3 4 -25.0

more than 1 year up to 5 years 14 14 –

more than 5 years 47 52 -9.6

less discount -29 -29 –

present value of future minimum lease payments 35 41 -14.6

up to 1 year 2 3 -33.3

more than 1 year up to 5 years 7 12 -41.7

more than 5 years 26 26 –

Some of these leases include arrangements for the purchase of the leased asset at the end of 
the lease term (purchase option). In addition, the lease payments in some leases are subject to 
a review on a specified date based on the situation in capital markets on that date.

Remaining other assets held by insurance companies include leased property, plant and  
equipment amounting to €32 million (December 31, 2007: €35 million). As in 2007, other 
payables of insurance companies include finance lease liabilities of €36 million.

operatiNg leases

the Dz bank grOup as lessOr

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

total future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases 891 980 -9.1

up to 1 year 224 186 20.4

more than 1 year up to 5 years 447 462 -3.2

more than 5 years 220 332 -33.7

In 2008, contingent minimum lease payments of €6 million (2007: €6 million) were recognized 
as income.

Companies in the DVB subgroup enter into operating leases for ships and aircraft as the  
lessor. As at the balance sheet date, lease terms for ship leases were up to 10 years (December 31, 
2007: up to 10 years), and for aircraft leases up to 19 years (December 31, 2007: up to 21 years). 
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In the case of two banks included in the consolidated financial statements – DZI and  
DZ BANK Ireland – as well as one non-consolidated bank – DZ BANK International  
Singapore Ltd., Singapore – DZ BANK has undertaken to ensure, in proportion to its share-
holding in the companies, that these banks have the ability to fulfill their contractual obligations, 
although political risk is excluded from the arrangements. Obligations arising from letters of 
comfort are only valid as long as DZ BANK continues to hold a direct or indirect equity  

The leases entered into by the companies in the VR LEASING subgroup for the most part 
comprise partial-payout leases, full-payout leases, and cancelable leases; these companies also 
enter into hire purchase agreements. R+V Versicherung enters into standard commercial leases.

the Dz bank grOup as lessee

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

total future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases 500 500 –

up to 1 year 126 84 50.0

more than 1 year up to 5 years 295 302 -2.3

more than 5 years 79 114 -30.7

As at the balance sheet date, the total future minimum lease payments expected to be received 
under non-cancelable subleases amounted to €38 million (December 31, 2007: €42 million).

In the year under review, minimum lease payments of €-144 million (2007: €-84 million) and 
contingent rents of €-12 million (2007: €-11 million) were recognized as expense. 

Operating leases in the DZ BANK Group are largely leases for properties and business 
premises. There are also a smaller number of standard leases for office furniture and equip-
ment.

sale aND leasebaCk traNsaCtioNs

Some companies in the DZ BANK Group, particularly individual companies in the 
VR LEASING subgroup, enter into sale and leaseback transactions. The classification of such 
leases as finance leases or operating leases depends on the structure of each individual trans-
action.

In the year under review, some group companies entered into sale and leaseback transactions 
that could not be classified as a lease because of the economic substance of the transaction. 
The power to use the leased assets and the economic rewards remained with the seller. These 
leases are structured as full-payout leases with an expiration date of 2015. Income from the 
non-repayable element of the consideration amounting to €7 million is recognized under 
other net operating income.

» 84
letters  
OF cOmFOrt
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The fee for the auditors of the consolidated financial statements, Ernst & Young AG Wirt-
schaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, broken down by type of 
service is as follows:

€ million
2008 2007 change 

(%)

Audits of financial statements 6.9 6.4 7.8

Other audit and assessment services 2.3 1.2 91.7

tax consultancy services 0.2 0.1 100.0

Other services 1.1 0.4 > 100.0

total 10.5 8.1 29.6

Auditor fees comprise expenses relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and group management report of DZ BANK as well as the statutory audits of the annual  
financial statements and management report of DZ BANK and consolidated subsidiaries  
carried out by the auditors of the consolidated financial statements. In the year under review, 
the fees for other audit and assessment services largely comprised the fees in connection with 
the due diligence, the audit in accordance with section 36 German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG), and the review by the auditor of the condensed interim consolidated financial  
statements and interim group management report. Tax consultancy fees relate to fees paid by 
domestic group companies for services in accordance with section 1 German Tax Consultancy 
Act (StBerG). The fees for other services mainly resulted from the provision of  consulting 
services.

» 85
emplOyees

» 86
auDitOr Fees

investment in the companies covered by the letter of comfort concerned. DZ BANK has also 
issued subordinated support undertakings in respect of DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC I,  
DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC II and DZ BANK Capital Funding LLC III, all based  
in Wilmington, Delaware, USA. In addition, DZ BANK has issued six subordinated sup-
port undertakings in respect of DZ BANK Perpetual Funding (Jersey) Limited, St. Helier, 
Jersey,  Channel Islands, each relating to different classes of preferred shares.

Average number of employees by employee group:

2008 2007 change 
(%)

Female employees 11,384 11,178 1.8

Full-time employees  8,126 8,021 1.3

part-time employees 3,258 3,157 3.2

male employees 13,258 13,032 1.7

Full-time employees  12,908 12,699 1.6

part-time employees 350 333 5.1

total employees 24,642 24,210 1.8
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DZ BANK enters into transactions with related parties as part of its ordinary business  
activities. All of these transactions are conducted on an arm’s-length basis and mainly involve 
typical banking products and financial services. 

Relationships with non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates are shown in 
the following table:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

loans and advances to banks  
(including insurance company receivables) 157 311 -49.5

to subsidiaries 2 1 100.0

to joint ventures and associates 155 310 -50.0

loans and advances to customers 446 67 > 100.0

to subsidiaries 446 67 > 100.0

Deposits from banks  
(including insurance company liabilities) 748 200 > 100.0

from subsidiaries 1 166 -99.4

from joint ventures and associates 747 34 > 100.0

amounts owed to other depositors 118 479 -75.4

to subsidiaries 113 478 -76.4

to joint ventures and associates 5 1 > 100.0

Financial guarantee contracts – 64 –

in respect of joint ventures and associates – 64 –

loan commitments 176 – –

to subsidiaries 176 – –

» 88
relateD party 
DisclOsures

In the year under review, the overall compensation in the group for the DZ BANK Board of 
Managing Directors in accordance with IAS 24.16 amounted to €7.0 million (2007: €10.9 mil-
lion). This total is broken down into short-term employee benefit of €6.1 million (2007:  
€7.2 million), post-employment benefits of €0.9 million (2007: €1.1 million), and termination 
benefits of €0.0 million (2007: €2.6 million). Supervisory Board compensation amounted to 
€0.8 million (2007: €0.9 million) and comprised entirely payments due in the short term. 

As in 2007, the Board of Managing Directors compensation included contributions of  
€0.1 million to defined contribution plans. DZ BANK has defined benefit obligations for the 
members of the Board of Managing Directors amounting to €5.4 million (2007: €7.2 million).

Pursuant to section 314 (1) no. 6a HGB, the total compensation paid in 2008 to the Board 
of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK for the performance of their 
duties in DZ BANK and its subsidiaries was €6.1 million (2007: €7.2 million) and €0.8 million 
(2007: €0.9 million) respectively. Pursuant to section 314 (1) no. 6b HGB, the total compen-
sation paid to former members of the Board of Managing Directors and their surviving  
dependants amounted to €8.2 million (2007: €10.8 million).

» 87
Dz bank bOarD  
OF managing  
DirectOrs anD  
supervisOry bOarD 
cOmpensatiOn
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The declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code required by 
section 161 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) has been issued by the Board of Manag-
ing Directors and Supervisory Board of DVB Bank SE, a publicly traded company, and has 
been made available to the shareholders on a permanent basis via the company’s website.

At the meeting of the Supervisory Board held on February 18, 2009, the Board of Managing  
Directors of DZ BANK presented schemes to strengthen the capital base of the bank. The 
investors of DZ BANK will be requested to provide Tier I capital amounting to €500 million. 
DZ BANK plans to implement the placement during the first six months of 2009.

In addition, following preliminary discussions, the Bundesverband der Deutschen Volks- und 
Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR), Berlin, has proposed to make available instruments to reduce the 
regulatory capital requirement in DZ BANK, for example by providing cover for securities 
portfolios at arm’s-length market rates.

WOLFGANG KIrSCH
(Chief Executive Officer)

LArS HILLe

ALBreCHt merZ

FrANK WeStHOFF

Dr. tHOmAS DuHNKrACK

WOLFGANG KöHLer

DIetrICH VOIGtLäNDer
(up to June 30, 2008)

» 89
cOrpOrate  
gOvernance

» 90
events aFter  
the balance  
sheet Date

» 91
bOarD OF  
managing  
DirectOrs

Loans and advances to banks and deposits from banks include amounts in respect of cooperative 
central banks, as follows:

€ million
Dec. 31, 

2008
Dec. 31, 

2007
change 

(%)

Loans and advances to cooperative central banks 336 269 24.9

Deposits from cooperative central banks 106 215 -50.7
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rOLF HILDNer
(Chairman from July 23, 2008)
(Deputy Chairman up to July 23, 2008)
Chief Executive Officer
Wiesbadener Volksbank eG

WOLFGANG ApItZSCH
(Deputy Chairman)
Attorney

Dr. CHrIStOpHer pLeISter
(Chairman up to July 15, 2008)
President
Bundesverband der Deutschen Volks- und 
Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR) 
(up to July 15, 2008)

HeLmut GOttSCHALK
(Deputy Chairman from July 23, 2008)
Spokesman of the Board of  
Managing Directors
Volksbank Herrenberg-Rottenburg eG

» 92
supervisOry 
bOarD

rüDIGer BeINS
Employee
DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

WerNer BöHNKe
Chief Executive Officer
WGZ BANK AG 
Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank

CArL-CHrIStIAN eHLerS
Chief Executive Officer
Kieler Volksbank eG

uWe FröHLICH
President
Bundesverband der Deutschen Volks- und 
Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR) 
(from November 2, 2008)

HANS-JOSeF HOFFmANN
Chief Executive Officer
Bank 1 Saar eG
(up to May 28, 2008)

rItA JAKLI
Senior manager
R+V Versicherung AG

WILLy KöHLer
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank Rhein-Neckar eG

uLrICH BIrKeNStOCK
Employee
R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG

HeNNING DeNeKe-JöHreNS
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank eG Lehrte-Springe- 
Pattensen-Ronnenberg

KArL eICHeLe
Employee
VR Kreditwerk Hamburg -  
Schwäbisch Hall AG

Dr. rOmAN GLASer
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Baden-Baden · Rastatt eG
(from May 28, 2008)

GerHArD HOFmANN
Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Bundesverband der Deutschen Volks- und 
Raiffeisenbanken e.V. (BVR) 
(from July 16, 2008 up to November 1, 2008)

SIGmAr KLeINert
Employee
DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

rAINer mANGeLS
Employee
R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG
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WithiN DZ baNk:

As at the balance sheet date, members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees also 
held mandates on the statutory supervisory bodies of major companies. These and other  
notable mandates are listed below. Mandates in companies included in the consolidation are 
indicated with an asterisk (*).

members oF the boarD oF maNagiNg DireCtors

WOLFGANG KIrSCH
(Chief Executive Officer)

Banco Cooperativo Español S.A., Madrid,
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna,
Member of the Supervisory Board

R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Südzucker AG, Mannheim,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Union Asset Management Holding AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

» 93
supervisOry   
manDates helD  
by members OF  
the bOarD OF  
managing  
DirectOrs anD 
emplOyees

WALter müLLer
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Fürstenfeldbruck eG

mArK rOACH
Secretary
ver.di Bundesverwaltung

WINFrIeD WILLer
Employee
VR Kreditwerk Hamburg -  
Schwäbisch Hall AG

DIeter remBDe
Member of the Board of Managing Directors
VR-Bank Schwalm-Eder eG
(from May 28, 2008)

GuDruN SCHmIDt
Regional Group Director
ver.di Landesbezirk Hessen

Dr. H. C. uWe ZImpeLmANN
Former Spokesman of the  
Board of Managing Directors
Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank
(up to May 28, 2008)
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Dr. tHOmAS DuHNKrACK

LArS HILLe

Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo  
del Nord Est S.p.A., Trento,
Member of the Board of Directors

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

DVB Bank SE, Frankfurt am Main,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

DZ BANK Polska S.A., Warsaw,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

EDEKABANK AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Österreichische Volksbanken-AG, Vienna,
Member of the Supervisory Board

VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board

DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen,
Member of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich,
Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A., 
Luxembourg-Strassen,
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Asset Management Holding AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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WOLFGANG KöHLer

ALBreCHt merZ

DZ BANK International S.A., Luxembourg-Strassen,
Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich,
Member of the Board of Directors (*)

DZ Private Wealth Managementgesellschaft S.A.,  
Luxembourg-Strassen,
Member of the Board of Directors (*)

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

BayWa AG, Munich,
Member of the Supervisory Board 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG, 
Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,
Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR-LEASING AG, Eschborn,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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FrANK WeStHOFF BAG Bankaktiengesellschaft, Hamm,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board

DVB Bank SE, Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

DZ BANK Ireland plc, Dublin,
Chairman of the Board of Directors (*)

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Volksbank International AG, Vienna,
Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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DZ baNk employees

iN the DZ baNk group:

As at the balance sheet date, members of the Boards of Managing Directors and employees also 
held mandates on the statutory supervisory bodies of the following major companies in Ger-
many. Mandates in companies included in the consolidation are indicated with an asterisk (*).

Dr. LuIS-eSteBAN  
CHALmOVSKy

tHOmAS KALtWASSer

ANDreAS KutSCH

Dr. ALtFrIeD LütKeNHAuS

KArL-HeINZ VON OppeNKOWSKI

NICCOLO rAVANO

GreGOr rOtH

Banco Cooperativo Español S.A., Madrid,
Member of the Board of Directors

DZ BANK Ireland plc, Dublin,
Member of the Board of Directors (*)

ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Raiffeisen-Warenzentrale Kurhessen-Thüringen GmbH,  
Kassel,
Member of the Supervisory Board

DZ BANK Polska S.A., Warsaw,
Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Cassa Centrale Banca - Credito Cooperativo  
del Nord Est S.p.A., Trento,
Member of the Board of Directors

CardProcess GmbH, Karlsruhe,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Equens SE, Utrecht,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

ReiseBank AG, Frankfurt am Main,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)
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Dr. mAttHIAS metZ
Chief Executive Officer 
(Bausparkasse Schwäbisch  
Hall AG)

GerHArD HINterBerGer
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG)

HANS-tHeO mACKe
Chief Executive Officer
(Deutsche Genossenschafts- 
Hypothekenbank AG)

Dr. FrIeDrICH CASperS
Chief Executive Officer
(R+V Versicherung AG)

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,
Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,
Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG, Schwäbisch Hall,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

VR Kreditwerk Hamburg - Schwäbisch Hall AG,
Hamburg and Schwäbisch Hall,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG,  
Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Raiffeisendruckerei GmbH, Neuwied,
Member of the Supervisory Board 

R+V Allgemeine Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Asset Management Holding AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)
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HeINZ-JürGeN KALLerHOFF
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

Dr. CHrIStOpH LAmBy
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

HANS-CHrIStIAN mArSCHLer
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

rAINer NeumANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

R+V Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG,  
Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG,  
Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

CHEMIE Pensionsfonds AG, Munich,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

GWG Gesellschaft für Wohnungs- und Gewerbebau 
Baden-Württemberg AG, Stuttgart,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG,  
Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Protektor Lebensversicherungs-AG, Berlin,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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rAINer SAuerWeIN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

peter WeILer
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(R+V Versicherung AG)

tHeOpHIL GrABAND
Chief Executive Officer
(TeamBank AG Nürnberg)

Dr. rüDIGer GINSBerG 
Chief Executive Officer
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

uLrICH KöHNe
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

CHEMIE Pensionsfonds AG, Munich,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

GWG Gesellschaft für Wohnungs- und Gewerbebau 
Baden-Württemberg AG, Stuttgart,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

TeamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Condor Lebensversicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-ALLGEMEINE Versicherungs-AG,  
Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

KRAVAG-LOGISTIC Versicherungs-AG, Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Pensionskasse AG, Wiesbaden,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

R+V Rechtsschutzversicherung AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

SCHUFA Holding AG, Wiesbaden,
Member of the Supervisory Board

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Real Estate AG, Hamburg,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Service Bank AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)
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Dr. WOLFGANG mANSFeLD
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

HANS JOACHIm reINKe
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

ALexANDer SCHINDLer
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

Dr. reINHArD KutSCHer
Spokesman of the Board 
of Managing Directors
(Union Investment Real  
Estate AG)

SONJA ALBerS
Employee
(Union Asset Management  
Holding AG)

reINHArD GöDeL
Chief Executive Officer
(VR-LEASING AG)

Union Investment Institutional GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main, 
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Real Estate AG, Hamburg,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Institutional GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main, 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Service Bank AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Institutional GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (*)

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG, 
Hamburg,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Union Investment Service Bank AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board (*)

Eintracht Frankfurt Fussball AG,  
Frankfurt am Main,
Member of the Supervisory Board
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles,  
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,  
financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the group management report includes a 
fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, 
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the group.

Frankfurt am Main, March 11, 2009

DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank

The Board of Managing Directors

Kirsch Dr. Duhnkrack Hille

Köhler Merz Westhoff

respoNsibility  
statemeNt
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossen-
schaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main, comprising the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of recog-
nized income and expense, the cash flow statement, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, to-
gether with the group management report for the fiscal year from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008. The 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of Ger-
man commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is the responsibility 
of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with section 317 HGB and the gen-
erally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(German Institute of Public Auditors) (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such 
that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework 
and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities 
and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group man-
agement report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes as-
sessing the annual financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements, the 
determination of the companies to be included in the consolidated financial statements, the accounting and con-
solidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit pro-
vides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) 
HGB, and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the group in ac-
cordance with these requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development.

Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, March 12, 2009

Ernst & Young AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Müller-Tronnier  Binder
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer

auDit opiNioN 
(traNslatioN)
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As far as the banking industry was concerned, 2008 was largely characterized by the fallout 
from the international financial crisis, which was triggered by the turmoil in the US mortgage 
market. The worldwide collapse of the wholesale money markets, an acute shortage of liquidity 
in the money and capital markets, and the insolvency of major international commercial and 
investment banks were some of the key challenges facing the banks during the year under  
review. DZ BANK AG also focused on advancing the project for its planned merger with 
WGZ BANK AG in 2009.

Consequently, the financial crisis and the merger project were also the most important issues 
dealt with by the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK AG in 2008.  

Composition of the supervisory Board and its Committe

In 2008 the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK AG monitored the management activities of the 
Board of Managing Directors in accordance with applicable legal provisions and the Articles of 
Association and decided on items of business presented to it that required approval. In order to 
discharge its responsibilities, the Supervisory Board has set up a Personnel Committee, an Audit 
Committee, a Risk and Investment Committee, and a Mediation Committee pursuant to  
section 27 (3) of the German Codetermination Act (MitbestG). 

Hans-Josef Hoffmann and Dr. h.c. Uwe Zimpelmann stepped down from the Supervisory 
Board at the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2008. The Annual General Meeting elected 
Dr. Roman Glaser and Dieter Rembde as new members of the Supervisory Board with effect 
from May 28, 2008.

The Supervisory Board Chairman, Dr. Christopher Pleister, resigned from the Supervisory Board 
with effect from July 16, 2008. The Federal Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR) 
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exercised its right pursuant to section 11 (1) sentence 3 of the Articles of Association of 
DZ BANK AG and appointed Gerhard Hofmann to the Supervisory Board to replace Dr. Pleister 
with effect from July 16, 2008. The Supervisory Board elected Rolf Hildner to replace Dr. Pleister 
as Supervisory Board Chairman and as Chairman of the Supervisory Board’s Mediation Com-
mittee and Personnel Committee with effect from July 23, 2008 until the end of the Annual 
General Meeting held in 2010. Helmut Gottschalk was elected as a further Deputy Chair of the 
Supervisory Board until the end of the Annual General Meeting held in 2011. Walter Müller  
was elected Chairman of the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee until the end of the Annual 
General Meeting held in 2011.

The BVR appointed its president, Uwe Fröhlich, to replace Gerhard Hofmann on the  
Super visory Board of DZ BANK AG with effect from November 2, 2008 until the end  
of the Annual General Meeting held in 2011.

Cooperation with the Board of managing direCtors

The Board of Managing Directors provided the Supervisory Board with regular, timely and 
comprehensive written and oral reports on the position and performance of the Bank and 
the Group, general business developments, and the effects of the financial crisis and measures 
taken to mitigate them. The Board of Managing Directors also regularly informed the Super-
visory Board about ongoing operations, significant loan and investment exposures, future 
 business policy, and the corporate strategy and organizational structures of DZ BANK AG. 
Furthermore, the Board of Managing Directors regularly notified the Supervisory Board about 
the status and progress of the project to merge with WGZ BANK AG.

In addition, the Supervisory Board reviewed the Bank’s and the Group’s risk position as well 
as the development of systems and procedures used to manage market, credit and operational 
risks and examined other material banking-specific risks.

The Supervisory Board discussed these issues with the Board of Managing Directors, advised it 
and monitored its management activities. The Supervisory Board was involved in decisions of 
fundamental importance.

supervisory Board meetings

Seven Supervisory Board meetings were held during the year under review, two of which were 
non-scheduled meetings. The Personnel Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Risk and 
Investment Committee each met on several occasions in 2008. The Mediation Committee did 
not need to meet in 2008. 

The Board of Managing Directors notified the Supervisory Board in writing or by telephone of 
important events between Supervisory Board meetings. In urgent cases, the Supervisory Board 
approved significant transactions by adopting resolutions in writing. In addition, the Super-
visory Board Chairman and the Chairs of the Audit Committee and the Risk and Investment 
Committee discussed key decisions and important transactions in regular meetings with the 
Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK. 
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With only a few exceptions, all members of the Supervisory Board attended the meetings held 
and participated in the written resolutions adopted by the Supervisory Board in 2008.

Cooperation with the auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 
Stuttgart, who issued a declaration of independence to the Supervisory Board, confirmed  
that the single-entity financial statements – together with the bookkeeping system – and the 
management report of DZ BANK AG as well as the consolidated financial statements and  
the group management report submitted by the Board of Managing Directors for the 2008 
financial year complied with the applicable legal provisions. The auditors issued an unqualified 
opinion for each of these sets of financial statements. The audit reports were submitted to the 
members of the Supervisory Board, who discussed them in detail. The Supervisory Board agrees 
with the findings of the audit.

adoption of the finanCial statements

The Supervisory Board and its Audit Committee scrutinized the single-entity financial statements 
of DZ BANK AG and the consolidated financial statements as well as the management report 
for DZ BANK AG and the group management report at their meetings. Representatives of the 
auditors attended the Supervisory Board meeting convened to adopt the financial statements as 
well as the preparatory meetings held by the Audit Committee and by the Risk and Investment 
Committee so that they could report in detail on the material findings of their  audit. They were 
also available to answer questions from the members of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board did not raise any objections to the financial statements.

The Supervisory Board approved the single-entity financial statements of DZ BANK AG and 
the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board of Managing Directors for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 at its meeting on April 1, 2009. The financial statements have 
therefore been adopted. The Supervisory Board approved the Board of Managing Directors’ 
proposal for the appropriation of distributable profit.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of Managing Directors and all employees of 
DZ BANK AG for their valuable contribution in 2008.

Frankfurt am Main, April 1, 2009

DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank AG, 
Frankfurt am Main

Rolf Hildner
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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memBers of the loCal 
BanK advisory CounCils 
of the dZ BanK group

CoRpoRAte BANKiNG

DR. thomAS DuhNKRACK
(Coordinator)
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
DZ BANK AG
Frankfurt am Main

ReiNhARD GÖDel
(Deputy Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
VR-LEASING AG
Eschborn

DR. KoNRAD BAumÜlleR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Erlangen-
Höchstadt eG
Erlangen

holGeR fRANZ
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Ostfriesische Volksbank eG
Leer

WolfGANG mÜlleR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Chemnitz eG
Chemnitz

fRitZ SChÄfeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Pforzheim eG
Pforzheim

ReiNholD SChReCK
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank Südpfalz eG
Landau

JÜRGeN timmeRmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Grafschafter Volksbank eG
Nordhorn

iNveStmeNt BANKiNG

WolfGANG KÖhleR
(Coordinator)
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
DZ BANK AG
Frankfurt am Main

WAlteR Alt
Chief Executive Officer
LIGA Bank eG
Regensburg

ulf BRothuhN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Helmstedt eG
Helmstedt

JÖRG liNDemANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Groß-Gerauer Volksbank eG
Groß-Gerau

BeRNhARD liNK
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Münchner Bank eG
Munich

dZ BanK  
advisory CounCils 

ReiNhARD SChlottBom
Chief Executive Officer
PSD Bank Westfalen-Lippe eG
Münster

RAlf SChmitt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank eG Villingen
Villingen-Schwenningen

pRoCeSS mANAGemeNt

fRANK WeSthoff
(Coordinator)
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
DZ BANK AG
Frankfurt am Main

eRWiN DeuSeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Wiesbadener Volksbank eG
Wiesbaden

eRhARDt fellmiN
Chief Executive Officer
PSD Bank Rhein-Ruhr eG
Düsseldorf

uWe fRÖhliCh
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Berliner Volksbank eG
Berlin
(up to January 2008)

WilfRieD GeRliNG
Chief Executive Officer
Hallertauer Volksbank eG
Pfaffenhofen
(from April 2008)
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GeRhARD J. RAStetteR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Karlsruhe eG
Karlsruhe

JÜRGeN RieCKe
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Hannoversche Volksbank eG
Hanover
(from February 2008)

RAlph ZolleNKopf
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Varel- 
Nordenham eG
Varel

ASSet mANAGemeNt

DR. RÜDiGeR GiNSBeRG
(Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
Union Asset Management  
Holding AG
Frankfurt am Main

WeRNeR AlBeRS
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Nordheide eG
Buchholz

ClAuS JÄGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Aschaffenburg eG
Aschaffenburg

KARlheiNZ lÖBl
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR-Bank Bayreuth eG
Bayreuth

AlfReD meSSmeR
Chief Executive Officer
Fellbacher Bank eG
Fellbach

StefAN SChiNDleR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Sparda-Bank Nürnberg eG
Nuremberg

JÜRGeN WAChe
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Hannoversche Volksbank eG
Hanover

RetAil & pRivAte BANKiNG

lARS hille
(Coordinator)
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
DZ BANK AG
Frankfurt am Main

theophil GRABAND
(Deputy Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
TeamBank AG Nürnberg
Nuremberg

DR. KlAuS eBeRhARDt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Sparda-Bank Berlin eG
Berlin

ANDReAS hAAG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
BBBank eG
Karlsruhe

JÜRGeN KiKKeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Ganderkesee-Hude eG
Hude

mANfReD RoCKeNfelleR
Chief Executive Officer
Genossenschaftsbank  
Unterallgäu eG
Bad Wörishofen

KARlheiNZ SANWAlD
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Vereinigte Volksbank AG
Sindelfingen

DR. WolfGANG  
thomASBeRGeR
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR Bank Rhein-Neckar eG
Mannheim

ReAl eStAte

DR. mAtthiAS metZ
(Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
Bausparkasse Schwäbisch Hall AG
Schwäbisch Hall

hANS-theo mACKe
(Deputy Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
Deutsche Genossenschafts- 
Hypothekenbank AG
Hamburg

eBeRhARD heim
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Tübingen eG
Tübingen

peteR heRBSt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Nordthüringer Volksbank eG
Nordhausen
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peteR KNuSt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank
Eichstätt eG
Eichstätt

WAlteR KoNRAD
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Kreis Bergstraße eG
Lampertheim

hANS-WeRNeR ReuteR
Chief Executive Officer
Dithmarscher Volks- und  
Raiffeisenbank eG
Heide

mANfReD SteveRmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Sparda-Bank West eG
Düsseldorf

iNSuRANCe

DR. fRieDRiCh CASpeRS
(Coordinator)
Chief Executive Officer
R+V Versicherung AG
Wiesbaden

DR. Rolf fleChSiG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Berliner Volksbank eG
Berlin

KlAuS fRey
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Pforzheim eG
Pforzheim
(up to December 2008)

uWe GutZmANN
Chief Executive Officer
Volks- und Raiffeisenbank eG, 
Wismar
Wismar

ANDReAS hof
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank Main-Kinzig eG
Langenselbold

GeRhARD l. Ruf
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG
Rosenheim
(up to January 2008)

JoAChim SChluChteR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Augusta-Bank eG
Raiffeisen-Volksbank
Augsburg
(from January 2009)

JÜRGeN ZAChmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Pforzheim eG
Pforzheim
(from January 2009)

memBers of the BanKing 
advisory CounCil of  
dZ BanK ag for Baden-
wÜrttemBerg 

ChAiRmAN:
RiChARD BRuDeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Offenburg eG
Offenburg

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
ClAuS hepp
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Allgäu-West eG
Isny im Allgäu

DR. peteR AuBiN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Göppingen eG
Göppingen

RAlph BlANKeNBeRG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Heilbronn eG
Heilbronn

KlemeNS BoGeNRieDeR
Chief Executive Officer
Federseebank eG
Bad Buchau

elmAR BRAuNSteiN
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Strohgäu eG
Korntal-Münchingen

WolfGANG BuRGeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank  
Bruhrain-Kraich-Hardt eG
Oberhausen
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ANDReAS eCKl
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Heuberg eG
Messstetten

ANDReAS feiNAueR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR-Bank Weinstadt eG
Weinstadt-Endersbach

heiNZ fRANKeNhAuSeR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Nagoldtal eG
Nagold

hoRSt GAuGGel
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Donau-Iller eG
Erbach

DR. RomAN GlASeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Baden- 
Baden · Rastatt eG
Baden-Baden

JeNS Gomille
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Heidelberger Volksbank eG
Heidelberg
(up to April 2008)

miChAel hÄCKeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Heidenheimer Volksbank eG
Heidenheim

eBeRhARD heim
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Tübingen eG
Tübingen
(from January 2009)

mARtiN heiNZmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Kinzigtal eG
Wolfach

hoRSt helleR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Hochrhein eG
Waldshut-Tiengen

mAtthiAS hilleNBRAND
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Rosenstein eG
Heubach

KlAuS holDeRBACh
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Franken eG
Buchen

hANS KiRCheR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Bretzfeld-Neuen-
stein eG
Bretzfeld

ReiNhARD KRumm
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Lahr eG
Lahr
(from February 2009)

hARAlD KuhN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Kirchheim- 
Nürtingen eG
Nürtingen

DR. RAiNeR KuNADt
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Pforzheim eG
Pforzheim

mANfReD KuNeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Triberg eG
Triberg

fRitZ lehmANN
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Ehingen- 
Hochsträss eG
Ehingen

GuNtRAm leiBiNGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Donau-Neckar eG
Tuttlingen

hANS-GeoRG leute
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Tübingen eG
Tübingen
(up to December 2008)

WeRNeR luZ
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Region Leonberg eG
Leonberg

WAlteR mAuCh
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank eG
Überlingen

DR. WolfGANG mÜlleR
Chief Executive Officer
BBBank eG
Karlsruhe

JÜRGeN NeiDiNGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Heidelberger Volksbank eG
Heidelberg
(from April 2008)
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memBers of the BanKing 
advisory CounCil of  
dZ BanK ag for Bavaria

ChAiRmAN:
DietmAR KÜSteRS
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Straubing eG
Straubing
 

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
KoNRAD iRtel
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR Bank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG
Rosenheim

AloiS AtZiNGeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Am Goldenen  
Steig eG
Waldkirchen

BeRND BiNDRum
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Hammelburg eG
Hammelburg

AlfReD foiStNeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank  
Oberschleißheim eG
Oberschleißheim

GeRhARD J. RAStetteR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Karlsruhe eG
Karlsruhe

mARtiN ReiCheNBACh
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Breisgau Nord eG
Emmendingen

BeRND-DieteR ReuSCh
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Metzingen -  
Bad Urach eG
Metzingen

WolfGANG RieDliNGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Baiersbronn eG
Baiersbronn

pAul eRiCh SChAAf
Chief Executive Officer
Untertürkheimer Volksbank eG
Stuttgart

WeRNeR SChmiDGAll
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Backnang eG
Backnang

DR. StefAN SChWAB
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Wiesloch eG
Wiesloch

KARlheiNZ uNGeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Ludwigsburg eG
Ludwigsburg

eDmuND WAhl
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Hohenlohe eG
Öhringen

helmut WiDmANN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Ravensburg eG
Horgenzell

ulRiKe WiNteRBAueR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Schwarzbachtal eG
Waibstadt

AlfReD WoRmSeR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank  
Riedlingen eG
Riedlingen
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JoSef fRAueNloB
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Oberbayern Südost eG
Bad Reichenhall

WilfRieD GeRliNG
Chief Executive Officer
Hallertauer Volksbank eG
Pfaffenhofen/ Ilm

mANfReD GÖhRiNG
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Altdorf-Feucht eG
Feucht

miChAel hAAS
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Dachau eG
Dachau

JÜRGeN hANDKe
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank Hof eG
Hof
(from February 2009)

DiRK helmBReCht
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Nürnberg eG
Nuremberg

fRieDRiCh heRtle
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank  
Donauwörth eG
Donauwörth

huBeRt KAmml
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Mangfalltal-Rosenheim eG
Rosenheim

KARlheiNZ KipKe
Chief Executive Officer
VR-Bank Coburg eG
Coburg

mANfReD KlAAR
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank im Oberland eG
Miesbach

JoSef muRR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Parkstetten eG
Parkstetten

ReiNholD NAStvoGel
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Haßberge eG
Haßfurt

heRmANN ott
Deputy Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Weiden eG
Weiden

peteR polliCh
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Gaimersheim- 
Buxheim eG
Gaimersheim

eRiCh pRÖpSteR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Neumarkt  
i. d. OPf. eG
Neumarkt

fRieDRiCh ReiSeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisen-Volksbank  
Isen-Sempt eG
Isen

JoSef RieDlBeRGeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Rehling eG
Rehling

RAiNeR SChAiDNAGel
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG
Kempten

RolAND SCheeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Bad Windsheim eG
Bad Windsheim

GReGoR SChelleR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Forchheim eG
Forchheim

WolfGANG SChReieR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR-Bank Lech-Zusam eG
Gersthofen
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mANfReD BeRNhARt
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Montabaur -  
Höhr-Grenzhausen eG
Montabaur

KuRt BletZeR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Ried eG
Bürstadt

hANS-peteR BoRN
Chief Executive Officer
Groß-Gerauer Volksbank eG
Groß-Gerau

GeRhARD BRAuN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Kur- und Rheinpfalz eG
Speyer

ANDReAS Dill
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Sparda-Bank Hannover eG
Hanover

eRWiN fAiliNG
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Heuchelheim eG
Heuchelheim

mANfReD GeRhARD
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR Genossenschaftsbank Fulda eG
Fulda

peteR hAffelt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Dresdner Volksbank
Raiffeisenbank eG
Dresden

memBers of the BanKing 
advisory CounCil of  
dZ BanK ag for Central 
germany

ChAiRmAN:
pAul-heiNZ SChmiDt
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank HessenLand eG
Alsfeld

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
peteR heRBSt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Nordthüringer Volksbank eG
Nordhausen

uWe ABel
Chief Executive Officer
Mainzer Volksbank eG
Mainz

GÜNtheR ARNDt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Daaden eG
Daaden

DR. DR. ClAuS BeCKeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Darmstadt eG
Darmstadt

WolfGANG BehR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Schupbach eG
Beselich

mAtthiAS BeRKeSSel
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Rhein-Lahn eG
Diez

ClAuDiuS SeiDl
Chief Executive Officer
VR-Bank Rottal-Inn eG
Pfarrkirchen

elmAR StAAB
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Aschaffenburg eG
Aschaffenburg

RuDolf veitZ
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Holzheim eG
Holzheim

JohANN WeiGele
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Pfaffenhausen eG
Pfaffenhausen

RAiNeR WieDeReR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank  
Würzburg eG
Würzburg

helmut WÖlfel
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisen-Volksbank  
Kronach-Ludwigsstadt eG
Kronach
(up to August 2008)

GÜNtheR ZollNeR
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank Cham- 
Roding-Furth im Wald eG
Cham
(up to December 2008)

229229DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
ADviSoRy CouNCilS
memBeRS of the BANKiNG ADviSoRy CouNCil



othmAR heCK
Plenipotentiary
Vereinigte Volksbank
Griesheim-Weiterstadt eG
Griesheim

BeRND hell
Chief Executive Officer
levoBank
Vereinte Volksbanken Lebach  
Eppelborn eG
Lebach
(from February 2009)

ulRiCh JAKoBi
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Wetzlar-Weilburg eG
Wetzlar

GÜNteR JeSSWeiN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Trendelburg eG
Trendelburg

DieteR JuRGeit
Chief Executive Officer
PSD Bank Nord eG
Hamburg

hANS-JoSef KReiS
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Saarlouis eG
Saarlouis

GÜNtheR lAmBReCht
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Glan-Münchweiler eG
Glan-Münchweiler

eCKhARD leNZ
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank eG, Wolfhagen
Wolfhagen

heiNeR lÖhl
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Bank 1 Saar eG
Saarbrücken

RAlf mARQuiS
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Dudweiler eG
Saarbrücken-Dudweiler
(up to September 2008)

miChAel meNGleR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VVB Vereinigte Volksbank  
Maingau eG
Obertshausen

pAul meueR
Chief Executive Officer
Rheingauer Volksbank eG
Geisenheim

hARRo meuReR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Riesa eG
Riesa
(up to December 2008)

KARl oppeRmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Waldecker Bank eG
Korbach
(from September 2008)

DieteR RemBDe
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR-Bank Schwalm-Eder eG
Homberg
(up to May 2008)

tilmAN RÖmpp
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Bautzen eG
Bautzen

mANfReD Roth
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
VR Bank Weimar eG
Weimar

JÜRGeN SChleSieR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Vogelsberg eG
Birstein

peteR SChmitt
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisenbank eG Großenlüder
Großenlüder

eRNSt-KoNRAD SChNeiDeR
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Wißmar eG
Wettenberg

ReiNholD SChReCK
Chief Executive Officer
VR Bank Südpfalz eG
Landau

BeRNhARD SlAvetiNSKy
Chief Executive Officer
PSD Bank Karlsruhe-Neustadt eG
Karlsruhe

DieteR SteffAN
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Alzey eG
Alzey

JÜRGeN WeBeR
Chief Executive Officer
Sparda-Bank Hessen eG
Frankfurt

hoRSt WeyAND
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Nahetal eG
Bad Kreuznach

230230 DZ BANK 
2008 ANNuAl RepoRt
ADviSoRy CouNCilS
memBeRS of the BANKiNG ADviSoRy CouNCil



memBers of the BanKing 
advisory CounCil of  
dZ BanK ag for north/
east germany 

ChAiRmAN:
ReiNhARD SChooN
Chief Executive Officer
Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG
Aurich

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
Detlef KeNtleR
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank eG
Seesen

hANS-NiSSeN ANDeRSeN
Chief Executive Officer
Evangelische  
Darlehensgenossenschaft eG
Kiel

mARtiN BRÖDDeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volks- und Raiffeisenbank  
Prignitz eG
Perleberg

ulf BRothuhN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Helmstedt eG
Helmstedt
(up to February 2009)

DR. ReiNeR BRÜGGeStRAt
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Hamburger Volksbank eG
Hamburg

JohANNeS BRuNS
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Ostfriesische Volksbank eG
Leer

lÜBBo CReutZeNBeRG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank Fresena eG
Norden

JoSef DAhl
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Ostharzer Volksbank eG
Quedlinburg

DR. pAul AlBeRt Deimel
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Helmstedt eG
Helmstedt
(up to December 2008)

helmut Dommel
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Mecklenburger 
Seenplatte eG
Waren

luDGeR elleRt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Vechta eG
Vechta

BeRtholD eNGelKe
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank eG
Steyerberg

heiKo eRNSt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Lüneburger Heide eG
Lüneburg

heiNZ feiSmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Süd-Emsland eG
Spelle
(from January 2009)

heiNRiCh feNNe
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Osnabrück eG
Osnabrück

AlfoNS feNNeN
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Bösel eG
Bösel
(up to June 2008)

DR. Rolf fleChSiG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Berliner Volksbank eG
Berlin

ANDReAS fRye
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Bösel eG
Bösel
(from July 2008)

uWe heiNemANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank
Varel-Nordenham eG
Varel

JohANN heiNS
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Zevener Volksbank eG
Zeven
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miChAel hietKAmp
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG
Greifswald

KlAuS hiNSCh
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank eG
Hagenow

heRmANN iSeNSee
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Wolfenbüttel- 
Salzgitter eG
Wolfenbüttel

WAlteR JAeGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Wittenberg eG
Wittenberg
(up to March 2009)

uli JeliNSKi
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Kalbe-Bismark eG
Kalbe

GeRD KÖhN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Jever eG
Jever

JohANN lANDSBeRG
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Lübeck Landbank  
von 1902 eG
Lübeck

NoRBeRt lohmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Süd-Emsland eG
Spelle
(up to December 2008)

hANS-JoAChim lohSKAmp
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Uelzen-Salzwedel eG
Uelzen

hARAlD lott
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank eG Westrhauderfehn
Rhauderfehn

KlAuS mehReNS
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank eG
Todenbüttel

WAlteR J. meyeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Elsterland eG
Jessen (Elster) 
(from February 2009)

GeRhARD oppeRmANN
Deputy Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Hannoversche Volksbank eG
Hanover

GeRD pott
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Spar- und Kreditbank eG Hammah
Hammah

eCKhARD RAve
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank-Raiffeisenbank eG
Husum

GÜNtheR SCheffCZyK
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Hümmlinger Volksbank eG
Werlte

ChRiStiAN SCheiNeRt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank eG
Elmshorn

JÜRGeN voN SeGGeRN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Ganderkesee-Hude eG
Hude

miChAel SieGeRS
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Hildesheim eG
Hildesheim

JÜRGeN timmeRmANN
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Grafschafter Volksbank eG
Nordhorn

Rolf WAGNeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank eG,  
Neumünster
Neumünster

heiNZ-WAlteR WieDBRAuCK
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Hameln-Stadthagen eG
Hameln

holGeR WilluhN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Volksbank Eichsfeld-Northeim eG
Duderstadt
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advisory CounCil  
of dZ BanK ag 

ChAiRmAN: 
DR. DR. h. C. ulRiCh BRixNeR †
Former Chairman  
of the Board of Directors
DZ BANK Stiftung
Karlsruhe
(up to February 2009)

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
DR. Wilhelm BeNDeR
Chief Executive Officer
Fraport AG
Frankfurt am Main

Deputy ChAiRmAN:
pRof. DR. WolfGANG KÖNiG
Johann Wolfgang Goethe  
University Frankfurt
Institute of Business Informatics
Chief Executive Officer
E-Finance Lab
Frankfurt am Main

CARl fRitZ BARDuSCh
Managing Director
Bardusch GmbH & Co.
Ettlingen

DR. WolfGANG BAuR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Schuler AG
Göppingen

DR. WeRNeR BRANDt
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
SAP AG
Walldorf

GeRhARD eRWiN  
BRuCKeRmANN
Former Chairman and  
Chief Executive Officer
DEPFA BANK plc
Dublin
(up to August 2008)

hANS-JÜRGeN BuRKeRt
Former Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Management Board
Hymer AG
Bad Waldsee
(up to August 2008)

DR. mARCuS DAhmeN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank
Frankfurt
(from May 2008)

WolfGANG Deml
Former Chief Executive Officer
BayWa AG
Munich
(up to June 2008)

StefAN DuRACh
Managing Director
Develey Senf + Feinkost GmbH
Unterhaching

KoNSul ANtoN-WolfGANG 
GRAf voN fABeR-CAStell
Chief Executive Officer
Faber-Castell AG
Stein

mANfReD fiNGeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Villeroy & Boch AG
Mettlach

uWe e. flACh
Former Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral- 
Genossenschaftsbank
Frankfurt am Main

AlfoNS fReNK
Former Chief Executive Officer
EDEKA AG & Co. KG
Hamburg
(up to December 2008)

DR. hANS-JÖRG GeBhARD
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Südzucker AG
Mannheim/Ochsenfurt

DR. h. C. StephAN GÖtZl
Association President
Chief Executive Officer
Genossenschaftsverband  
Bayern e.V.
Munich

DR. JoCheN GutBRoD
Deputy Chairman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Verlagsgruppe Georg von  
Holtzbrinck GmbH
Stuttgart

DR. ReiNeR hAGemANN
Former Chief Executive Officer
Allianz-Versicherungs AG
Munich

DR. JÜRGeN heRAeuS
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Heraeus Holding GmbH
Hanau

WilfRieD hollmANN
President
Zentralverband Gewerblicher  
Verbundgruppen e.V.
Berlin

WolfGANG JeBloNSKi
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
STADA ARZNEIMITTEL AG
Bad Vilbel

fReD KoGel
Managing Director
Fred Kogel GmbH
Grünwald
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pRofeSSoR DR.  
JAN pieteR KRAhNeN
Johann Wolfgang Goethe  
University Frankfurt
Chair of Corporate Finance
Frankfurt am Main

ANDReAS lApp
Chief Executive Officer
LAPP HOLDING AG
Stuttgart

JohANN C. liNDeNBeRG
Former Chief Executive Officer  
and National Chairman
Unilever Deutschland GmbH
Hamburg

KlAuS JoSef lutZ
Chief Executive Officer
BayWa Aktiengesellschaft
Munich
(from September 2008)

RolAND mACK
Managing Partner
EUROPA-PARK Freizeit- und 
Familienpark Mack KG
Rust

WlADimiR p. mAtWeJeW
Envoy of the Embassy  
of the Russian Federation
Berlin

luDWiG meRCKle
Former Chief Executive Officer  
Merckle/Ratiopharm  
Arzneimittel GmbH
Ulm

mARKuS moSA
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
EDEKA  
AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT
Hamburg
(from December 2008)

StefAN mÜlleR
Member of the German Parliament
Berlin

mANfReD NÜSSel
President
Deutscher Raiffeisenverband e.V.
Berlin

pRofeSSoR DR.  
Rolf peffeKoveN
Director
Institut für Finanzwissenschaft
Johannes Gutenberg-Universität 
University Mainz
Mainz

fRANZ piNKl
Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank AG
Vienna

GÜNteR pReuSS
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Deutsche Apotheker- und  
Ärztebank eG
Düsseldorf

mANfReD ReNNeR
Chief Executive Officer
Sanacorp Pharmahandel AG
Planegg

JÜRGeN RuDolph
Managing Partner
Rudolph Logistik Gruppe/Rudolph 
Holding GmbH
Baunatal

DR. Wolf SChumACheR
Chief Executive Officer
Aareal Bank AG
Wiesbaden

DR. eRiC SChWeitZeR
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
ALBA AG
Velten / Berlin

GeRD SoNNleitNeR
President
Deutscher Bauernverband e.V.
Berlin

DR. theo SpettmANN
Spokesman of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Südzucker AG
Mannheim/Ochsenfurt

StephAN StuRm
Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors
Fresenius AG
Bad Homburg

hANS WAll
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Wall AG
Berlin

pAul-heiNZ WeSJohANN
Chief Executive Officer
PHW Group
Visbek
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BankS

name/Registered office Consolidated1 Shareholding (%)

Bausparkasse Schwäbisch hall AG, Schwäbisch hall (indirectly) • 81.8

Ceskomoravská stavebni sporitelna a.s., prague 45.0

fundamenta-lakáskassza Zrt., Budapest 51.2

prvá stavebná sporitel'na, a.s., Bratislava 32.5

Raiffeisen Banca pentru locuinte S. A., Bucharest 33.3

Sino-German-Bausparkasse ltd., tianjin 24.9

vR Kreditwerk hamburg – Schwäbisch hall AG,  
hamburg and Schwäbisch hall2 • 100.0

Cassa Centrale Banca – Credito Cooperativo del  
Nord est S.p.A., trento 25.0

DZ pRivAtBANK (Schweiz) AG, Zurich (indirectly) • 80.0

Deutsche Genossenschafts-hypothekenbank AG, hamburg • 100.0

Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, frankfurt am main 50.0

DvB Bank Se, frankfurt am main • 95.4

DZ BANK polska S.A., Warsaw 99.9

DZ BANK international S.A., luxembourg-Strassen (indirectly)3 • 89.7

DZ BANK ireland plc, Dublin3 • 100.0

magyar takarékszövetkezeti Bank Zártkörüen müködö 
Részvénytársaság, Budapest 37.0

teamBank AG Nürnberg, Nuremberg • 91.1

Österreichische volksbanken-AG, vienna (indirectly) 25.0014

volksbank international AG, vienna (indirectly) 16.44

1 Consolidated in accordance with iAS 27 and total shareholding held by DZ BANK AG or relevant parent
2 of which 40% held directly by DZ BANK AG
3 letter of comfort from DZ BANK AG
4 Share of voting power

prinCipal  
shareholdings  
of dZ BanK
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OTHER SpEcializEd SERVicE pROVidERS

name/Registered office Consolidated1 Shareholding (%)

DZ equity partner Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0

euRo Kartensysteme Gmbh, frankfurt am main 19.6

equens Se, utrecht 33.5

vR-leASiNG AG, eschborn • 83.5

Bfl leasing Gmbh, eschborn • 72.8

vR-BAuReGie Gmbh, eschborn • 100.0

vR DiSKoNtBANK Gmbh, eschborn • 100.0

vR-fACtoRem Gmbh, eschborn • 74.9

vR-immoBilieN-leASiNG Gmbh, eschborn • 100.0

vR·medico leASiNG Gmbh, eschborn • 100.0

1 Consolidated in accordance with iAS 27 and total shareholding held by DZ BANK AG or relevant parent

FUnd ManaGEMEnT cOMpaniES

name/Registered office Consolidated1 Shareholding (%)

union Asset management holding AG, frankfurt am main • 73.4

Defo Deutsche fonds für immobilienvermögen Gmbh, 
frankfurt am main • 90.0

GvA GeNo-vermögens-Anlage-Gesellschaft mbh,  
frankfurt am main • 100.0

union investment Real estate Aktiengesellschaft, hamburg • 94.5

union investment institutional Gmbh, frankfurt am main • 100.0

union investment luxembourg S.A., luxembourg • 100.0

union investment privatfonds Gmbh, frankfurt am main • 100.0

1 Consolidated in accordance with iAS 27 and total shareholding held by DZ BANK AG or relevant parent

inSURancE cOMpaniES

name/Registered office Consolidated1 Shareholding (%)

R+v versicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 74.0

Condor Allgemeine versicherungs-AG, hamburg • 100.0

Condor lebensversicherungs-AG, hamburg • 95.0

KRAvAG-Allgemeine versicherungs-AG, hamburg • 76.0

KRAvAG-loGiStiC versicherungs-AG, hamburg • 51.0

R+v Allgemeine versicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 95.0

R+v Krankenversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

R+v lebensversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

R+v pensionsfonds AG, Wiesbaden 
(together with union Asset management holding) • 51.0

R+v Rechtsschutzversicherung AG, Wiesbaden • 100.0

1 Consolidated in accordance with iAS 27 and total shareholding held by DZ BANK AG or relevant parent
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DZ BANK AG  
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank,  
frankfurt am main 
platz der Republik  
60265 frankfurt am main, Germany  
www.dzbank.com 
 
telephone: +49 (0)69 744 701 
fax: +49 (0)69 744 71685 
email: mail@dzbank.de  

Board of managing Directors:  
Wolfgang Kirsch (Chief executive officer)  
Dr. thomas Duhnkrack  
lars hille  
Wolfgang Köhler  
Albrecht merz  
frank Westhoff  

this Annual Report is also available in German.
the German version of this Annual Report is the 
original and authoritative version.
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